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Adjusted operating profit Oparating {loss)/profit

52200 5(29.0)

2019 2020 2021

179.9ic

Adjusted basic earnings per share Basic earnings par share

60.6 (799).

S143.1m

$48.7m

2019

Dividend par share Closing arder book

449c 51 431 m

The Directors believe that adjusted performance measures provide a useful compansen of business
trends and performance. The adjusted performance measures relate to continung aperatians and
exclude exceptional items including, costs associated with acquisitions, amortisation of acquired
ntangibles, net charges related 1o armor assets, discentinued operations and the unwind of the
discount on the net pension liability, The term adjusted 1s not defined under [FRS and may not be
comparable with similarty nted measures used by other corrpanies. The Group uses these measures
far planning, budgenng, and reparting purposes and for its mnteinal assessment of the operational
performance of the Group Further details on the Adjustment Performance Measures including
reconciliations to the statutory results can be found on page 181. 2020 has been retranslated
foliowing the change in reporting currency to U5 dollars.
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At a Glance

OUR PURPOSE

Our job is to protect people.

We build a level of trust with our customers so that they know our products will keep them safe and
secure when they put their lives at risk.

This is achieved by looking through the eyes of our customer, understanding their needs and
developing solutions that enhance their performance, efficiency and capability, whilst providing
ever-increasing levels of protection thus relentlessly advancing the future of protection.

QOur purpose unites us, guides us, inspires us and is underpinned by our culture to be:

-
Pre-emptive Fearless Targeted
We use our ingenuity 1o design We are leaders in our field, pushing We set a Clear strateqy, identifying key
next-generation protection, constantly the boundaries of what others think priorities and the resources we require
anticipating and adapting to the is possible. for success - and then work to make

everincreasing needs of cur custamers. this a rezlity ta grow and evolve
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We deliver our purpose through
our strategy, which is built on
three fundamental steps:

a ' &

-—
Growing the core Selective product Value enhancing
development acquisitions
We are recognised as the leader within our We have a reputation for technological We target carefully selected, value
chosen market segments. There are further excellence and innovation, with a strong enhancing acquisitions 1o complement
opportunities to maximise growth from our tradition of new product development. our organic growth and enable us to enter
praduct portfolio. adjacent product and market segments.

>

Read more / page 27 Read mare / page 28 Read more / page 29

This is supported by:

Qur peaple Robust risk Responsible approach Effective
and culture management to sustainability governance
Our people are ar the heart of We have an establisked We have a fundamental role (o We are committed to
everything we do. pracess for the identification play in mirimising our impact on high stardards of corporate
and management of risk. the world. governance as set eut in

the UK. Corporate
Governance Code,

2 > 2 >

Read more / page 33 Read more / page 52 Read more / page 30 Read mare / page 61
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WE DESIGN LIFE
CRITICAL PERSONAL
PROTECTION SYSTEMS

sites

Products sold in

countries employees
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Our Focus Product Categories

Respiratory Protection

Our leading range of respiratory protection
includes respirators, powered and
supplied air systems, filters,

spares and accessories,

68 % of revenue

>

Read mere / page 22

=
Head Protection

Qur head protection portfolio is focused
on next-generation ballistic helmers and
bump protection helmets, as well as

helmet liner and retention systems.

29% of revenue

>

Read more / page 24

Our Focus Markets

Dl

Military

We are a leading provider of respiratory and head
protection to the U.S. DOD and other
Rest of World Military customers.

>

Read more / page 18

v

First Responders

We are a trusted supplier of respiratory and head protection
and have a robust network of distributers and agents selling to
first responder agencies, correctional facilities, SWAT and other

tactical police units.

>

Read mare / page 20

Our Brands

Avon Protection is a leading provider of life critical
personal protection systems with leading positions
in the global rospiratory and head protection markets for the
world's militaries and first responders.

As a leading global supplier of ballistic and bump protection
helmets and heimet liner and retention systems for Military and
First Responder markets, Team Wendy is dedicated to providing

exceptional head protection systems, designed from the inside out,
for those who risk their fives every day.
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Demonstrating our Purpose

PRE-EMPTIVE

We use our ingenuity to design
next-generation protection,
constantly anticipating and
adapting to the ever-increasing
needs of our customers.
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2021

Section 7 — Other continued
7.2 Acquisitions and divestments continued
Divestrment — milkrite | InterPuls business

In September 2020, the Group disposed of milkrite | InterPuls to Delaval Holding BY for a cash consideration of $227.3 million after
customary closing adjustments. Further details are given in note 2.2.

$m
Total consideration recejved - 2273
Net assets disposed T ; (44.3)
Costs of divestment (11.3)
Translation reserve recycled to profit and loss on divestment 07
Gain on divestment 1724
Tax on gain on divestment m7z
Gain on divestment after tax 1607
Assets and liabilities at the date of divestment were:
Sm
Intangible assets ) 18.2
Property, plant and equipment 7 ) 17.8
Inventories 7 76
Cash 34
Receivables o B ) 01
Payables ©0)
Cther liabilities (5.8
Total net assets disposed 443
7.3 Other financial commitments
2021 2020
sm $m
Capital expenditure committed 28 1.0

Capital expenditure committed represents the amount contracted in respect of property, plant and equipment at the end of the financial
year for which no provision has been made in the financial statements.

7.4 Group undertakings
Country in which
Registered Office Address Activity incorporated

Held by Parent Company
Avon Polymer Products Limited Hampton Park West, Melksham, SN12 6NE, UK. The manufacture and distribution UK.

- of respiratory protection systerns

Avon Protection Holdings Limited Hampton Park West, Melksham, SN12 6NB, UK. Investment holding company UK.
Avon Rubber Pension Trust Limited Hampton Park West, Melksham, SN12 6NB, UK. Pension fund trustee Uk

Held by Group undertakings

Avon Protection Systems, In¢, 503 8th St, Cadillac, MI 4860, United States The manufacture and distribution Us
of respiratory and batlistic
protection systemns

Avon Rubber & Plastics, Inc. 503 8th &, Cadillac, MI 4860, United States Investment holding company US.

Avon Pratection Ceradyne, LLC 4000 Barranca Parkway, Suite 100, Irvine, The manufacture and distribution Us.
CA 92604, United States of ballistic protection systems

Team Wendy LLC 17000 St Clair Ave, Cleveland, CH 44110, The manufacture and distribution us.
United States ofihelmet systems

Avon Technologies Limited Hampton Park West, tMelksham, SN12 6NB, UK. Dormant company UK

Avon Pratection UK. Limited Hampton Park West, Melksham, SN12 6NB, UK. Dormant campany UK.

Shareheldings are ordinary shares and all undertakings are wholly owned by the Group and operate primarily in their country of
incorporation. All companies have a year ending in September, Avon Polymer Products Limited and Avon Protection Holdings Limited are
exempt from the reguirement to file audited accounts by virtue of Section 4784 of the Companies Act 2006 (the Act’). All remaining UK.
subsidiaries are exempt from the requirement to file audited accounts by virtue of Section 480 of the Act.
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Goodwill of $58.3 million was recognised in respect of this acquisition, representing the amount paid for future saies growth from beoth
new customers and new products, operating cost synergies and employee know-how. 100% of the value of goodwill is expected 1o be
deductible for tax purposes.

From the date of acquisition to 30 September, Team Wendy generated $41.0 miflion of revenue (including $0.7 million from other Group
companies) and reported an operating profit of $4.6 million. The operating profit is stated after amortisation of acquired intangibles of
$4.0 million and expensing the $2.4 million inventory fair value step up following the sell through of the acquired inventory. Had Team
Wendy been acquired on the first day of the financial year, then estimated contribution to revenue would have been $44.7 million and
operating profit of $5.0 million.

Acquisition costs of $2.2 million were expensed in the year, following the recognition of $7.4 million of such costs in 2020. Acquisition
costs of $4.4 million were paid in the period (2020 $4.8 million}.

Acquisition — 3M's ballistic protection business
The acquisition of the 3M ballistic protection business and the rights to the Ceradyne brand completed on 2 January 2020. The

acquisition took the form of a trade and assets purchase.

The total acguisition consideration of $107.2 million comprised initial consideraton agreed of $31 miltion less an initial closing adjustrnent
of $1.6 million, resulting in a payment on completion of $89.4 mithon (£70.8 million), a further post completion adjustment of $2.2 million
(£1.7 million} resulting from the clasing inventory being lower than the targeted level, plus fair value of contingent consideration of

$20.0 million (£15.2 million).

Set out below is an analysis of the assigned fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed relating to this acquisition:

Fair value
sm
Customer relationships ) 259
Brand ' - ] 24
QOther intangible assets ‘ 10
Property, plant and equipment B 372
Invemtories i ~ ] ) 162
Lease liability ~ (11.5}
Accruals ) {14}
Dilapidations provisions ’ ) 7 - | ©.8)
Deferred tax ) 04
Net assets acquired 782
Goodwil ' 280
107.2
Cash paid excluding acquisition expenses i 894
Post completion inventory true up due from 3M ) 7 (2.2}
Deferred contingent consideration payable* 200
Total consideration 107.2

.

$3.4 mullion of the deferied contingent consideration payable was paid during the prior year sLbsequant to the acquisition. 53 5 mitien of the deferred contingent
consideration payable s expected to be paid n Q1 F¥22

Goedwill of $28.0 million was recognised in respect of this acquisition, representing the amount paid for future sales growth from both new
customers and new products, operating cost synergies and employee know-how. All of the value of goodwill is deductible for tax purposes.

A further 504 millien of deal and transimon costs were recognised in the year to 30 September 2021 and are included within general and
administrative expenses (2020: $6.2 million).
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued
fFor the year ended 30 September 2021

Section 7 - Other continued

7.1 Provisions for liabilities and charges continued

Property obligations relate 1o leased premises of the Group which are subject to dilapidation risks and are expected to be utilised within
the next 10 years. In the prior year, movements in respect of dilapidations provisions during the year included release of provisions on

exit of lease (50.3 million), provisions released as a result of the divestment of the milkrite | InterPuls business (50.8 million), and provisions
created on the acquisition of the Helmets & Armor business {50.8 million), and in respect of other sites $0.3 million. Property provisions are
subject to uncertainty in respect of any final negotiated settlement of any dilapidation claims with landlords,

The purchase consideration in relation to the 3M ballistic protection business acguisition included contingent consideration up to a
maximum of $25.0 million depending an the outcome of certain tenders which were pending at the acquisition date and the level of
sales which were generaled on Uhiese contracts if secured. At acquisition the fair value of the contingent consideration was recognised
as $20.0 million based on the expected value and timing of those payments after applying a discount rate of 12% to reflect the risk in the
cash flows at that date.

The contract that triggered the contingent consideration was awarded shortly after the acquisition date and an initial order has
subsequently been received resulting in the first payment of $3.4 million being made in 2020.

At the balance sheet date, the remaining contingent consideration has a fair value of $6.0 million, being the present value of the future
expected cash flows relating to the contract. This is expected to be settled over the next two years.

The release of $15.7 million in the year is due 1o reduced expectations of the timing and amount of orders that will arise under this
contract {5149 miliion), and an increase ta the discount rate applied to expected future payments (50.8 million). The range of possible
autcormnes could resultin additional payments between $3.2 million and $21.6 million.

7.2 Acquisitions and divestments

Acquisition — Team Wendy

The results of the Team Wendy business are consolidated for the first time in the current period's financial statements as the acquisition
was completed and contro! passed on 2 November 2020.

The Group acguired 100% of the equity for a total consideration of $132.0 million, being the $130.0 million initial consideration and
purchase price adjustments of $2.0 million reflecting the cash and working capital position at close. The net assets acquired had a book
value of 522.3 million before fair value adjustments.

Set out below is an analysis of the assigned fair values of the assets acquired and liabilites assumed refating to this acquisition:

Fair value
$m
Custorner relationships 282
Brand B R ] 104
Other intangible assets N 13.1
i()_p_e_rtr)iﬂ!aﬁt and equipment 8.6
Inventories 12.2
Trade and other recevables 58
Cash L 1.1
Lease liability o (3.
Trade and other payables L (2.6}
Net assets acquired 737
Goodwill 58.3
Total consideration 132.0
Initial cash consideration ) 130.0
Past completion working capital adjustment o 08
Cash acquired 11

Total consideration 1320
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The table below summarises the movements in the number of share options outstanding for the Group, all of which are nil cost options:

Numberof options Number of options

2021 2020
Outstanding at 1 October 423 491
Forfeited during the year (13) (80)
Exercised during the year {159) {108)
Granted during the year 121 120
Outstanding at 30 September 372 423

The weighted average remaining contractual life of outstanding share options is 14 months (2020: 10 months). All the share options that
vested in the year vested on 13 January 2021 at a share price of $47.74 (£35.02).

A Monte Carlo simulation was used to calculate the fair value of awards granted that are subject to a Total Shareholder Return performance
condition. The fair value of other awards was calculated as the market price of the shares at the date of grant reduced by the present value
of the dividends expected to be paid over the vesting period. The principal assumptions used were:

2021 2020
Weighted average fair value [$) 16.84 2446
_Key assumptions used: )
Closing share price at date of grant (5) 43.08 272
Expected volatility (%) _ ) 367 N2
Risk-free interest rate (%) - 03
Expected option term (yrs) 28 27
Dividend yield (%) - -
Volatility is estimated based on actual experience over the last three years.
Section 7 - Other
7.1 Provisions for liabilities and charges
Property Contingent
obligations consideration Total
$m $m $m
Balance at 30 September 2019 28 - 28
Provision reversed during the ygar 0.3 - {0.3)
Pravision released dunng the year due to divestment 038 - 08
Provision created during the year 03 - 03
Property provision assumed on acquisition 0.8 - 08
Prevision for contingent consideration created during the year - 200 200
Unwind of discount on provisions - 29 29
Payments in the year - 34) (3.4)
Foreign exchange movements (oA )] - {1
Balance at 30 September 2020 27 195 222
Provision created during the year Q1 - 0.1
Release of contingent consideration - (157} (157)
Unwind of discount on provisions - 22 22
Fareign exchange movements 0.1 - 0.1
Balance at 30 September 2021 29 60 89
2021 2020
Analysis of total provisions $m $m
Current 3 35 96
Nan-current 54 126

89 222
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 September 2021

Section 6 - Key management and employee benefits continued

6.2 Pensicns and other retirement benefits continued

Changes in assumptions

At 30 September 2021, the methodology for calculating the discount rate has been refined to include longer duration corporate bonds,

The impact of this change in methodology reduced the year-end defined benefit obligation by approximately $8.1 million,

The conclusion of the joint consultation between the UK. Government and the UK. Statistics Authority in Novemnber 2020 was that RPI
I5 intended to be aligned with CPIH from February 2030 and therefore the margin between RPland CPlwill reduce over time. As a result,
the Company has reduced the long-term gap between RPI and CPl by 10 basis points {from 0.9% to 0.8%), compared with the prior
year. The impact of this change in methodology when setting the CPl assumption increased the year-end defined benefit obligation by
approximately 51.4 million.

Mortality rate

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on advice, published statistics and experience.

The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 65 on the balance sheet date is as follows:

202% 2020
Male 217 n7
Female 238 237

The average hfe expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date is as follows:

20 2020
Male 234 234
Female 256 255

No adjustments have been to mortality assumptions at year end 1o reflect the potential effects of COVID-19 as the actual plan experience
is not yet available and as it is too soon to make a judgement on the impact of the pandemic on future mortality improvements. The
mortality experience analysis for the schemes will be carried out as a part the next full actuarial valuation.

Sensitivity analysis

Defined benefit obligation

Increase/(decrease)

$m

inflation (0.1% increase) ) _ 8.1
Discount rate for scheme Mab‘\\ﬁi(m% increase} 8.1
Future mortality (one year increase) - 253

The above sensitivity analysis shows the impact on the defined benefit abligation only, not the net pension liability as it does not take
into account any impact on the asset valuation, Each sensitivity analysis disclosed in this note is based on changing one assumption
while holding all other assumptions constant. in practice, this s unlikely to occur.

6.3 Share-based payments

The Group operates an equity-settied share-based performance share plan (PSP). Details of the plan are set out in the Remuneration
Report, section ‘Long-Term Incentive Plan’ on page 83. An expense of $0.7 millson (2020: $2.2 million) was recognised in the year relating
to share-based payments.



Plan assets

The fair value of the assets of the pension scheme analysed by asset category are shown below.

Financial
Statements

201 2020

Sm sm

Equities and other securities 180.7 158.6
Liability Driven Investment 1229 122.5
Secured income fund 695 639
Infrastructure fund 676 66.8
Cash 257 349
Total fair value of assets 4664 446.7

Equity securities are valued using quoted prices in active markets where available, The Liability Driven Investment {(LDI) comprises an
investment in a level 2 pooled investment vehicle which combines a series of LIBOR-earning cash deposits combined with contracts to

hedge interest rate and inflation risk, The LDl is valued using a Net Asset Value published on the Irish Stock Exchange.

$194.8 rnitlion {20620: 5173.0 million) of the rernaining investments are dassified aslevel 3 within the fair value hierarchy. Holdings unquoted
securities are valued at fair value which is typically the Net Asset Value provided by the fund administrator at the most recent quarter
end. Holdings in the infrastructure fund are valued by an independent valuer using a model-based valuation such as a discounted cash

flow approach.

The significant assumptions used in the valuation are the discount rate and the expected cash flows, both of which are subject to

estimation uncertainty.

The Avon Rubber Defined Benefits Pension Scheme has an investment strategy which is targeted at maximising fnvestment
returns with a low risk strategy which still represents a prudent approach to meeting the Plan’s liabilities and ensuring that
members benefits are protacted. The strategy considers the need for appropriate asset class diversification to balance the risks
and rewards acioss a range of alternative asset classes. The investments held by the pension scheme include both quoted and
unquoted securities, the latter which by their nature involve assumptions and estimates to determing their fair value. Where there
isn't an active market for the unquoted securities the fair value of these assets are estimated by the pension trustees based on
advice recelved from the investrnent manager whilst also using any available market evidence of any recent transactions for an
identical asset. The target weightings under the current asset allocation strategy are 40% to matching investments, 50% to cash

flow driven investments and 10% to return-seeking investments.

Actuarial assumptions

The main financial assumptions used by the independent qualified actuaries to calculate the habilities under IAS 16 {revised) are set

out below:
2021 2020
% p.a. % p.a.
Inflation (RPI) 3.55 100
nflation {CPI) 275 210
Pension increases post August 2005 230 2.20
Pension increases pre August 2005 340 295
Discount rate for scherﬁe liabilities 200 155
1009 of S2NA 100% of S2NA

Base mortality

tables, based of
members’ year
of birth

tables, based of
members’ year
of birth

Future improvements in longevity

CMI 2020
projections with a
long-term trend of
1.50% pa.

2019
projections with a
long-term trend of

1.50% p.a.




Avon Protection plc/ Annua! Repart and Accounts 2021

Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued

For the year ended 30 September 2021

Section 6 - Key management and employee benefits continued
6.2 Pensions and other retirement benefits continued

Defined benefit pension scheme

Retirement benefit assets and liabilities can be analysad as follows:

on 2020
$m $m
Net pension lability 683 796

Full disclosures are provided in respect of the UK. defined benefit pension scheme below.

The Group operated a contributory defined benafits plan to provide pension and death benefits for the empl
plc and its Group undertakings in the UK. employed prior to 31 January 2003, The plan was closed to future accrual of benefit on

1 October 2009 and has a weighted average maturity of approximately 15 years. The assets of the plan are held in separate trustee
administered funds and are invested by professional investment managers. The Trustee is Avon Rubber Pension Trust Limited, the

ovees of Avnon Protectinn

QY

Directors of which are members of the plan. Three of the Directors are appointed by the Company and two are elected by the members.

The funding of the plan is based on regular actuarial valuations, The most recent full actuarial valuation of the plan was carried out at
31 March 2019 when the market value of the plan’s assets was £335.8 million. The fair value of those assets reprasented 83% of the value

of the benefits which had accrued to members, after allowing for future increase in pensions,

Durning the year the Group made payments 1o the fund of $2.9 million (2020: $27.8 million) in respect of scheme expenses and deficit
recovery plan payments. In accordance with the deficit recovery plan agreed following the 31 March 2019 actuarial valuation, the Group
will make paymentsin FY22 of $4.6 million and $4.9 million in FY23 in respect of deficit recovery plan payments and scheme expenses.

The Group made two additional one-off payments to the fund during the prior year in addition to the norrmal deficit recovery payments.

A payment of $0.4 million was made in relation to additional past service costs recognised in 2019 and a ane-off additional funding

contribution of $25 6 million was made from the proceeds of the divestment of the milknte | InterPuls business.

The defined benefit plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as longewvity risk, inflation risk and investment risk.

The Directors have confirmed no additional liability is required to be recognised as a consequence of minimum funding requiremertts.

The trustees have no rights to wind up the scheme arimprove benefits without Company consent.

An updated actuarial valuation for |AS 19 (revised) purposes was carried out by an independent actuary at 30 September 2021 using the

projected unit credit method.

Movement in net defined benefit liability

Defined benefit obligation

Defined benefit asset

Net defined benefit liability

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
$m $m $m $m $m $m
At 1 October (526.3) (496.6) 446.7 430.0 (79.6) (66 6)
Included in profitorloss -
Administralive expenses (1.2} @ - 1.2} o9
Past service cost - ‘. - - - -
Netinterest cost {8.6) {8.8) ’3 78 (1.3} (1.0
{9.8) 8.7) 73 7.8 (2.5} (1.9
Included in other comprehensive income
Remeasurement (lass)/gain: o
- Actuarial {loss)y/gain arising from:
- Demographic assumptions 0.4 (6.0) - - 04) (6.0
- Financial assumptions 36 (7.7) - - 36 (77
- Experience adjustment 73 {11 - - 73 (11 3)
— Return on plan assets excluding interest Income - 57 (11.7) 57 1.7
105 (250 57 (11.7) 16.2 (36.7)
Other
Contributions by the employer - 29 278 29 278
‘Net benefits paid out 24.5 215 {24 5) 21.9) - -
F¥ gaindloss) {33.6} (16.9) 283 4.7 (53) 2.4
At 30 September {534.7) (526.3) 4664 4467 (68.3) 179.6}
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Section 6 — Key management and employee benefits

Recruiting and retaining the right people is key to the success of the business. The remuneration policies in place are aimed at ensuring
this is possible and to celebrate and reward the contribution that the Group's employees make to the perforrmance of the Group.

The following pages include disclosures om wages and salaries and share option schemes which allow employees of the Group to take
an equity interest In the Group.

This section also includes full disciosures in relation to both the UK. defined benefit scheme which was closed to future accrual of benefit
in 2009, and the contributicns made to current defined contribution schemes.

6.1 Employees

The total remuneration and associated costs incurred during the year, in relation to both continuing and discontinued operations, were:

2021 2020

$m $m

Wages and salaries 630 671

Social security costs 5.6 7
Other pensicn costs N 29 27

U5, healthcare costs 58 57

"S-Eare—based payments (note 6.3} - i 07 23

78.0 849

Detailed disclosures of Directors’ remuneration and share options, including disclosure of the highest paid Director, are given on page 87,

The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors) during the year was:

2021 2020
Number Number
By reporting segment -
Avon Protection - 1,043 820
milkrite | InterPuls - - 273
1043 1,093
At the end of the financial year, the total number of employees in the Group was 1,057 (2020: 870).
Key management compensation
2021 2020
$m $m
Salaries and other employee benefits 7 33 3.7
Post employment benefits B 02 ol
Share-based payments 15 1.8
50 5.6

The key management compensation above includes the executive Directors plus 13 (2020: 11) others who were members of the Group
Executive during the year,

6.2 Pensions and other retirement benefits

Defined contribution pension scheme

The charge in respect of defined contribution pension schemes was $2.9 million (2020: $2.7 million).
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued

For the year ended 30 September 2021

Section 5 -~ Funding continued
5.5 Equity
Share capital

Ordinary Share Ordinary Share
No. of shares premium No. of shares premium
shares 2021 2021 shares 2020 2020
2021 $m $m 2020 Sm Sm
Called up allotted and fully
paid ordinary shares of £1 each
At the beginning of the year 31,023,292 503 543 31,023,292 503 543
At the end of the year 31,023,292 50.3 543 31,023,292 50.3 543
Details of cutstanding and movements in share options during the year are given in note 6.3 Share-based payments.
Ordinary shareholders are entitled to receive dividends and to vote at meetings of the Company.
Own shares held
2021 2020
No. of shares No.of shares
Balance at 1 October 398,560 506,274
Acquired ini the period 95,855 -
Disposed of on exercise of options (159482) {1072.714}
At 20 September 334,933 398,560

At 30 Septemnber 2021, 334,933 {2020 398,560 ) ordinary shares were held by a trust in respect of obligations under the 2010 Performance
Share Plan. Dividends on these shares have been waived. The market value of the shares held in the trust at 30 September 2021 was
$8.8 million (2020: $21.5 million). These shares are held at cost as treasury shares and deducted from sharehclders” equity. 95,855 shares

were acquired by the trust during the period for $4.3 million.

159,482 (2020: 107,714) shares were used to satisfy awards following the vesting of shares relating to the 2010 Performance Share Plan.
1,874 (2020: 1,753} ordinary shares of £1 each were awarded in relation to the annual incentive plan.

5.6 Dividends

On 29 January 2021, the shareholders approved a final dividend 23.5¢ per qualifying ordinary share in respect of the ycar ended
30 September 2020. This was paid on 12 March 2021 utilising 57.7 million of shareholders funds (2020: $5.5 million).

The Board of Directors declared an interim dividend of 14.3¢ (2020: 11.0 ¢} per qualifying ordinary share in respect of the year ended
30 September 2021. This was paid on 3 September 2021 utilising $4.4 million (2020 $3.4 millien) of shareholders funds.

The Board is recommending a final dividend of 30.6 cents per share (2020: 23 5 cents) which tegether with the 14.3 cents per share
interim dividend gives a total dividend of 44.9 cents (2020: 34.5 cents), up 30% on last year. The final dividend will be paid on 11 March
2022 1o shareholders on the register at 11 February 2022 with an ex-dividend date of 10 February 2022,

Dividend cover

2021 2020
$ cents § cents

Interim dividend 14.3 ne
Final dwvidend T 30.6 235
Total dividend 449 345
Basic earnings per share - continuing operations (79.9) 125
Dividend cover ratio {1.8) times 04 umes
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The Group’s net debt at the balance sheet date, excluding lease liabilities, was:

2021 2020
S5m $m

Bank loans (409 (39.5)
Cash and cash equivalents 14 1872
Group net {debt)/cash (26.8) 1477
Market capitalisation of the Group at 30 September 8159 16793
Gearing ratic ’ 0.03 n/a

{vii) Fair values
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, are as follows:

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fairvalue

2021 2021 2020 2020

$m $m $m $m

Trade receivables ) 394 394 284 284

Other receivables 09 05 13.9 139

£§_§!’| and cash equivalens . 141 141 1872 1872
_Bankloans and overdrafts ) 40.9) ) {(40.9) B (39.5) (393}
Trade and other payables (39.2) (39.2) (389) (36.9)

Contingent consideration [GX4)] 60 (19.5) (195}

Basis for determining fair value
The following summarises the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments reflected
in the table above,

Derivatives

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined by using valuation technigues using year-end spot rates, adjusted for the
forward points to the contract’s value date. No contract's value date is greater than one year from the year end. These instruments are
included in level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as the valuation is based on inputs that are either directly or indirectly observable.

Secured loans

As the loans are floating rate borrowings, amortised cast is deermed to reflect far value.

Trade and other receivables/payables
As the majority of receivables/payables have a remaining life of less than one year, the notional amount is deemed 1o reflect the

fair vaiue.

Contingent consideration

The estimated fair value is calculated as the present value of the future expected cash flows relating to the contract discounted using

a risk-adjusted discount rate. Key uncbservable inputs into the fair value calculation are the expected future cash flows and the risk-
adjusted discount rate. The estimated fair value would change if the expected cash flows were lower than expected or the discount rate
applied was higher or (lower). Contingent consideration is classified as level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. Further details can be found
in note 71
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Section 5 - Funding continued
5.4 Financial instruments continued
Deal contingent forwards

Cn signing the agreement to acquire the Ceradyne Ballistic Protection business in 2015 the Group entered into a deal contingent
forward to hedge the foreign exchange risk on the USD equivalent of the cash funded eiement of the purchase price. The contract was
designated as a cash flow hedge in line with the Group’s hedging policy with fair value movements recognised through the consolidated

staterment of comprehensive income.

The contract crystallised on completion of the acquisition in January 2020 at which point the fair value movements recognised to date
($3.5 million) were reclassified to Goodwili as an adjustment to censideration paid.

During 2020 an additional deal contingent forward was entered into to hedge the foreign currency nsk on the US. pertion of the
milkrite | InterPuls divestment proceeds. The contract crystallised on divestment in September 2020 at which point fair value movements
recognised to date of $2.8 million were reclassified to profit as an adjustment to the profit on divestment of the milkrite | InterPuls business,

The following table provides a reconciliation by risk categary of components of equity and analysis of OCl items, net of tax, resulting from

historical cash flow hedge accounting.

2021 2020
Hedging reserve 5m $m
Balance at 1 October - (1.4}
Cash flow hedges: e
Changes in fair value relating to foreign currency risk - 05
Amount reclassified to profit or loss relating to fareign currency risk - 2.3}
Armount reclassified to goodwill o 35
- 0.3)

Tax on movernents on reserves during the year

Balance at 30 September

Sensitivity analysis

It is estimated that, with all other variables held equal (in particular other exchange rates), a one cent increase in the value of the US.

dollar against sterling would have increased the Group's current year profit before interest and tax by $0.2 million {20620: $0.4 million),
increased Group's profit after tax 50.2 million (2020: 504 million) and increased sharcholders” funds by $0.6 million (2020: 50.5 million).

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

Averagerate Closing rate Average rate Closing rate
2021 2021 2020 2020
Pound sterling ¢.73n 0.7384 0.7842 07851

{v) Interest rate risk

The Group does not undertake any hedging activity in this area, The main element of interest rate risk concerns borrowings which are
made on a floating LIBOR-based rate and short-term overdrafts in foreign currendies which are also on a floating rate.

A 1% increase in interest rates would increase interest payable on bank laans and overdrafts by $0.2 million (2020: $0.5 million).

All cash deposits are on floating rates based on the relevant LIBOR or equrvalent rate.

(vi) Capital risk management
The Group's cbjectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in crder to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to sharcholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratig, calculated as net debt divided by capital. Net debt is calculated as total
borrowings (excluding lease liabilities) less cash and cash equivalents, Total capital is measured by the current market capitalisation of

the Group, pius net debt.
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(i) Liquidiity risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's approach 1o managing
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilitles when due, under both nermal and
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group uses weekly cash flow forecasts to manitar cash requirements and to aptimise its borrowing positien. Typically the Group
ensures that it has sufficient borrowing facllities to meet foreseeable operational expenses and at the year end had net debt, before lease
liabilities, of $26.8 million (2020: net cash of $147.7 million} and undrawn facilities of $164.1 millicn {2020: $165.1 million).

The following shows the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments, where applicable, and excluding the
impact of netting agreements and on an undiscounted basis:

Carrying Contractual Less than
amount cash flows 12 months 2-S5years  After 5years
Analysls of contractual cash flow maturities Sm Sm $m Sm Sm
30 September 2021 - A
Bank loans and overdrafts 409 445 14 431 -
Trade and other payables 7 39.2 Y 392 - B
Lease lizbilities 291 366 50 177 139
atingem consideration F 60 - 72 35 3.7 -
1152 1275 491 64.5 139
Carrying Contractual Less than
amount Cash flows 12 months 2-5Syears After 5 years
Analysis of contractual cash flow maturities Sm Sm im 5m $m
30 September 2020
_Bank loans and overdrafts ) - 395 ‘ 395 395 - -
Trade and other payables 389 389 339 - -
Lease liabilities ' 90 367 22 16.7 158
Fmingenr consideration 18.5 o 215 100 1.5 -
12659 1366 928 28.2 15.8
(i) Market risks

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as currency rates and interest rates, will affect the Group’s results. The objactive
of market risk management is to manage and control risk within suitable parameters.

{iv) Currency risk
The Group is exposed to transactional foreign exchange risk 1o the extent that there 1s a mismatch between the currencies in which

sales and purchases are denominated and the respective functional currencies of Group companies. The functional currencies of Group
companies are steriing and U.S. dollars.

Transactional risk is minimised through natural hedging of sales and purchase currencies at a Company level. The Group monitors net
transactional exposure and can utilise forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the remaining currency risk These contracts are
generally designated as cash flow hedges. At the end of the reporting period there were no forward contracts outstanding (2020: $nil).

The Group is also exposed to translaticnal foreign exchange risk arising when the results of sterling denominated companies are
consclidated into the Group presentational currency, U.S. dellars, Group policy is not to hedge translational foreign exchange risk.

In respect of monetary assets and liabilities that are not dénominated in Company functional currencies, the Group regularly reviews net
exposure and ensures this is kept to an acceptable level by monitaring intercompany funding structures arnd buying or selling foreign
currencies where necessary to address short-term imbalances.
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Section 5 - Funding continued

5.4 Financial instruments continued
Financial risk and treasury policies continued
(i) Credit risk continued

Exposiure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting

date was:
2021 2020
Carrying amount of financial assets sm $m
Trade receivables 7 394 284
Other receivables G9 139
Cash and cash eguivalents 4.1 1872
544 2295
The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets at the reporting date by currency was:
201 2020
Carrying amount of financial assets sm $m
Pound sterling - 59 2121
US. dollar 472 174
Euro o 12 -
Other currencies 0.1 -
544 229.5
The ageing of trade receivables and associated provision for impairment at the reporting date was:
Gross Provision Net Gross Provision Net
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020
$m $m $m $m $m $m
Not pastdue 366 - 366 227 - 227
Past due 0-30 days ) 25 - 25 - 46 - 46_
Past due 31-60 days 03 - 03 05 - 05
Past due 61-90 days o on 7 - 0.1 - 01
Past due more than 91 days 03 {03 - 11 7 {08) Q5
39.3 {0.4) 394 250 ©6) 284

The total past due receivables, net of provisions is $2.8 million (2020: 5.7 million).

The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to a number of independent customers, Provisions for impairment are based on
expected credit losses and are estimated based an knowledge of customers and historic experience of losses. A portion of these
receivables is expected to be recovered.

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2021 2020

$m $m

At 1 October B 0.6 07

i"r‘owsion fdr \mpa\'ément of trade receivables ©.2) 0.1
EDVIS\'OH for impairment reversed in relation to divestment of milkrite | InterPuls - - (027)

At 30 September 04 0.6

At the balance sheet date the only significant concentration of credit risk was with the U.S. Government Department of Defense, due to
cutstanding trade receivables of $17.6 milhon.

The credit risk in relation to trade recervables is managed via credit evaluatiens for all non-Government customers requiring credit above
a certain threshold, with varying approval levels set above this depending on the value of the sale. Where possible, letters of credit or
payments in advance are received for significant export sales.
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5.3 Analysis of net cash/(debt)

At 1 Cctober Non cash Exchange At 30 September
2020 Cash flow movements moveinents 2021
Sm $m $m $m $m
Cash at bank Eand in hand 187.2 {173.7} - 06 141
Bank loans (39.5} (1.4 - ) - {40.9)
Interest due on bank loans - 13 (1.3) - -
Cash net of bank loans and interest 1477 (173 8} {i.3) 0.6 (26.8)
Lease liabilities (290) (4.8) 42 0.5 (281
Net cash/(debt) 118.7 (178.6) 29 11 (55.9)
Ar1 October Non cash Exchange At 30 September
2019 Cash flow moeverments movements 2020
$m $m $m $m $m
Cash at bank and in hand 596 1253 - 2.3 1872
7_Bank loans ) ] on (%9_4) - - B (32.5)
Interest due on bankloans - 1.1 (1. - -
Cash net of bank lsans and interest 59.5 570 [\ 23 147.7
Lease liabilities (15.9) 3.0 (15.2) {0.9) (250}
Net cash/{debr) 436 900 (16 3) 14 187

5.4 Financial instruments
Financial instruments by category

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) and cash and cash equivalents are classified as “financial assets’ Borrowings and
trade and othes payables are dlassified as "other financial habilides at amoertised cost’. Both categories are inally measured at fair value
and subsequently held at amortised cost.

Derivatives (forward exchange contracts) are classified as ‘derivatives used for hedging’ and accounted for at fair value with gains and
losses taken to reserves through the Consclidated Staternent of Comprehensive Income.

Contingent consideration arising from the 3M ballistic protection business acquisition is accounted for at fair value. For further details see
naote 71,

Financial risk and treasury policies

The Group's finance tearm maintains liguidity, manages relations with the Group's bankers, identifies and manages foreign exchange risk
and provides a treasury service 1o the Group's businesses. Treasury dealings such as investments, borrowings and foreign exchange are
conducted only to support underlying business transactions.

(i) Crediit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial Joss to the Group if a customer or counterparty 10 a financial instrurnent fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Group's receivables fram customers and monies on deposit with financial institutions.

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured at amortised cost and contract
assets (as defined In IFRS 15).

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls
(1.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company
expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount egual to lifetime FCL

When determining whether the credht risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recogninon and when estimating
ECL, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Campany’s historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-locking infarmation.

Lifeurne ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
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Section 5 - Funding continued
5.1 Borrowings continued

The table below presents the maturity analysis in respect of lease liabilities and bank loans:

As at Asat

30 September2021 30 September 2020

$m $m

In one year or less, or on demand 40 427
Twoe to five years o 55.8 o 14.0
Mare than five years 10.2 1.8
Total Group borrowings 70.0 68,5

Lease liabilities relate 10 land and bulldings {right of use assets) leased by the Group for its office space and manufacturing facifities.
The leases typically run for a period of 5-15 years. Most leases include an option to renew the lease for an additional period of 3-10
yoars after the end of the contract term. Where practicable, the Group sceks to include extensicn options in new leases to provide
operational flexibility. The extension options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the lessors. The Group assesses at lease
commencement wheather it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. It reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to
exercise the options If there is a significant change in circumstances within its control and discloses any potential future lease payments
not iIncluded in lease liabilities where it 1s reasonably certain extension options will be exercised.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense
in the income staterment. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT and
orrer equipment.

5.2 Net finance costs

2021 2020
$m sm
Finance Costs o
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 4 RE
Interest payable in respect of leases - (1.1} {1.1}
Amortisation of finance fees {0.6)
31 (2.4}
Cther Finance Expenses i
Net Interest cost: U K. defined benefit pension scheme (n;)te6 2) {13} (1.0
Reﬂnancin;_?‘ c-osts N - 0.4
Unwinding of discount on contingent consideration {nate 7.1} (2.2 o (2.9}
(4.3}
Net Finance Costs 6.6} 6.7)
The effective interest rates at the balance sheet dates were as follows:
2021 2020
Sterling Dollar Sterling Collar
% % % %
Bank loans - 160% - 185%

Lease liabilities 6.5% 2.5% 6.5% 2.5%
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Section 5 - Funding

The Group has maintained & strong balance sheet in order to fund its growth strategy. Additional funding is available via undrawn
committed facilities. The following section provides disclosures about the Group's funding pesition, including borrowings, finance costs,
exposure to financial risks and its capital management policies.

5.1 Borrowings

2023 2020
5m sm
Lurrent
Bankloans - 395
Lease liabilities 40 32
4.0 427
Non Current )
Bank loans ) 405 -
Lease liabilities i - 25 2—5?
66.0 258
Total Group borrowings 70.0 68.5
Bank loans comprise drawings under the revolving credit facility,
The Group has the following undrawn committed facilities:
2021 2020
$m $m
Expiring beyond one year
Total undrawn committed borrowing faclities 1641 1651
Bankloans and overdrafts utiiised 7 - ) 7 408 39i
“Uti|ISE‘d n respect of guarantees - 04
Total Group facilities 205.0 2050

The Group has a revelving credit facility (RCF) with a total commitments of $200 million across six lenders with an accordion option of an
additional $50 millicn. The facility matures on 8 September 2024 with a one-year extension option to 8 September 2025 !

The RCF is subject to financial covenants measured on a bi-annual basis. These include a limit of 3.0 umes for the ratio of net debt,
excluding lease liabilities, to adjusted EBITDA {leverage). The Group was in compliance with all financial covenants during the current and
prior financial years.

The RCF is drawn in shert to medium-term tranches of debt which are repayable within 12 months of draw-down. These tranches of debt
can be rolled over provided certain conditions are met, including covenant compliance. The Group considers that it is highly unlikely it
would be unable to exercise its right to roll-over the debt based on forecast covenant compliance. Even in a severe downside scenario
there are mitigating actions {within the control of the Group) that could be taken to maintain compliance with these conditions, including
future covenant requirements. The Directors therefore believe that the Group has the ability and the intent 1o roll-over the drawn RCF
amounts when due and consequently has presented the RCF as a non-current liability.

The RCF is floating rate priced on dollar LIBOR plus a margin of 145-2 35% depending on leverage. The Group has provided the lenders
with a negative pledge in respect of certain shares in Group companies.

In addition to the revolving credit facility cur U.S. operations have access to a $5.0 million overdraft facility.
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Section 4 - Working capital continued
4.3 Cash and cash equivalents continued

The Group generates cash from its operating activities as follows:

201 2020
sm Sm
Continuing operations
(Loss)/profit for the year o [24.5) B.ET
Adjustments for:
Taxation R mmn {16) )
Lepreciation ) 10.4 0.5
Amortisation of intangible assets 7 i 19.0 12.3_
Impairment of non-current assets B 46.2 -
Defined benefit pension scheme cost o 12 0.9__
Finance costs o 31 24
Cther finance expense 35 43
ammigaggc}nsideraﬂon (15.7) - -
Fair value of share-based payments 07 B 18
Acquisition and integration costs expensed ' 26 36
{Increase) in nventories ’ 9.7} (2.4
Decrease/(increase in receivables - 54 (1.9
Increase in payables and provisions 0.2 03
Cash flows from continuing operations before acquisition and integration costs 313 400
Acguisition and integration costs paid 4.4) (10.3)
Cash flows from continuing operations 269 293
Discontinued operations N .
{Loss)/profit for the year o (1.1 1676
Adjustments for
Taxation T (1.0) 10
Depreciation L - ~ 33
Amortggaa;\z?mtangible asse"tms‘ o - i 38
”F‘mance COStS h - 01
Gain on divestrnent o - {160.7}
{Increase) in inventories o - (1.0)
{Increase) in receivables - (83)
(Decrease)/increase in payables and provisions B 1.2 32
Cash flows from discontinued operations (3.3) 90
Cash flows from operations 236 381
4.4 Trade and other payables
2021 2020
sm $m
Trade payables 229 13.6
Contract liabilities o 33 17
Other taxation and social security 08 ) 0.6
Other payables o 02 6.5
Accruals 12.8 23.17
400 385

Contract liabilities represents amount invoiced under contracts with customers but not recognised as revenue at the balance sheet date
and cash received in advance. $0.9 million (2020: $2 4 million) of the balance in contract liabilities at the start of the year was recognised as
revenue in the current year. Other payables comprise sundry itemns which are not individually significant for disclosure.



Section 4 - Working capital

This section presents disclosures around the Group's working capital balances; inventories, trade receivables, payables and cash. Careful
management of working capital remains a key focus of the business.

4.1 Inventories

Financial
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2021 2020

$m $m

Raw materials 330 164
Work in progress o 175 13.8
Finished goods 1.8 6.1
62.3 36.3

Provisions for inventory write downs were $12.5 million (2020: $5.2 million}, including $1.7 million related to the write-down of VTP armor
compenents to net realisable value (note 7.6),

The cost of inventeories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amounted te 592.0 million (2020; $81,5 million). The amount
of inventary carried as falr value less costs to sell is nil (2020: $3.4 million).

4.2 Trade and other receivables

2021 2020

$m $m

Trade receivables o 398 290
Less: provision for impairment of receivables 0.4 {06}
Trade receivables - net 394 284
Prepayments o 44 37
Other receivables 09 139
447 460

In the pricr year, other receivables included $3.8 million due in relation to the divestment of milkrite | InterPuls which was settled shortly
after the prior year end, $7.5 million net receivable due from 3M under the transitional service agreement in relation to the ballistic
protection business and 31.3 million recoverable from HMRC in relation to VAT, The Group has no contract assets in the current or

prior pericd.

See note 5.4 (ii) Crecht risk for further details in relation to the Group provision for impairment of receivables. Changes in provisions for
impaired receivables are included within general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income,

4.3 Cash and cash equivalents

2021 2020
Sm $m
Cash at bank and in hand 141 1872

Cash at bank and in hand balances are denominated in U.S. dollars, pound sterling and eurc and earn interest based on national rates.
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Section 3 - Non-current assets continued
3.2 Property, plant and equipment

Rightofuse Plant and Leasehold
Freeholds assets machinery improvements Total
5m $m Sm $m sm
_At1O<tober 2019 o o
Cost 7 155 252 878 - 1285
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 5.4) {13.99 {71.5) - {90.8}
Net book amount 10 113 16.3 - 37.7
Year ended 30 September 2020 ) L
Opening net bogk amount ) 101 N3 163 - 377
Exchange differences 04 (0.3) 0.1 - 02
Transfers B - 05 {0.5) -
Additions - /8 23 - 171
Acquisition - 126 247 13 386
Disposal B - 1) - ©1)
Divestment milkrite | InterPuls B4 (2.9) 6.5) - (178}
Depreciation charge 04 (3.3) 6.1) - (9.8)
Closing net book amount 1/ 25.7 372 13 659
At 30 September 2020 )
Cost o 28 375 83.8 13 1254
Accumulated depreciation and impairrnent (1.1} (11.8) {46.6) - (59.5)
Net book amount 17 257 3/2 13 659
Year ended 20 September 2021 B
Qpening net book amount ) v 257 372 13 659
Exchange differences - 0.5 0.5 - 1.0
Additions ' 02 16 50 25 123
Acquisition L - A 5.4 0.1 86
Reclassification - - (4.0} = {4.0)
Armnor review impairments - ma {13.9) e (257
Other impairment ) - - (SR} - (N
Depreciation charge T {01} {4.2) 5.8} 0.3} (104}
Closing net book amount 1.8 15.0 283 35 486
At 30 September 2021
Cost o 3.0 427 94.7 38 144.3
Accurnulated depreciation ar@?@éirmem 1.2 (277) (66.4) [OF)] (95.7)
Netbook amount 1.8 150 28.3 3.5 486

12020 533 milhon of the deprecianon charge related to discontinued operancns.

2 Followmng an internal review of a5sets acquired in the prior period as part of the acquisiton of the 3M ballistic piotection business, the Group has re-classified 540 million
from fixed assets to nventory due to the underlying nature of such assets being consumable and having a short Lseful economac ife,

Property, plant and equipment of $61.2 million is located within the United States of America (2020: $54.0 million). The balance is located

in the United Kingdom.

Armor review related impairments

The Group performed an impairment review of assets at 30 Septermnber 2021 following the failure of the VTP £5AP1 body armor product

(note 3.1). As a result of this review impairments totalling $25.7 milllon were recognised on property, plant and equipment,

The right of use asset impairment of $11.7 million fully writes down amounts relating the three U5, lease hold properties that will be

vacated following the expected closure of the armor business.

The piant and machinery impairment of $13.9 million writes down assets related to the armor business located at these facihities to their

estimated recoverable amount following closure of the operations.
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Acquired intangibles

Acquired intangibles include brands, customer relationships and other intangibles:

At

At1 Qctober 30 September

2020 2021

Net book Net book

amount Additions  Divestments Amortisation Impairment amount

Sm Sm Sm sm $m $m

Brand 22 104 - (1.0 - 1.5
Customer relatianships 200 282 - o om (9.8} 284
Qther intangibles 10.5 13 - (3.1) (1.5) 19.0
32.7 517 - {14.2) (11.3) 589

At

At 1 October 30 September

2019 Foreign 2020

Netbook Exchange Net book

amount Additions Divestments Amortisation Difference amount

Sm $m $m 5m 5m m

Brand 21 24 {1.5) (0.8) - 2.2
Customer relationships _ 118 259 9.7} {8.2) 0.2 200
Cther Intangibles 44 101 22) (e} 04 105
183 384 {134) (11.2) 06 327

The valuation of acquired assets is determined at peint of acquisition, using complex valuation technigues including forecasting and
discounting of future cash flows. This includes assurnptions such as discount rates, rovalty rates and estimates for growth rates, weighted
average cost of capital and useful lives.

In the current perod, the Group acquired additional intangibles through the acquisition of the Team Wendy business (see note 7.2) which
related to trade names ($10.4 million), technology ($13.1 million) and customer contracts (528.2 millior). External experts were engaged
to support the Group in establishing appropriate estmates for the fair values of these assets. Trade names and technology were valued
using the relief from royalty method, whilst customer contracts were valued using the excess earnings method. Assumptions adopted
for the valuation of the individual assets included average annual growth rates of 4.7%-5 4% for revenue forecasts, royalty rates between
1%-7.5% depending on the individual assets, relevant qualitative factors and comparable market data as well discount factors of
10.6%—12.6%, based on current market data and the risks associated with each of the individual assets.

Sensitivity analysis has shown that a reduction of assumed growth rates by 2% would lead to a reduced value of 1.6 million across the
acquired intangibles with a corresponding increase in value of Goodwill. A change in assumed discount factors by 1% would lead to a
change in value of $2.1 million and a 10% variance in assumed royalty rates would lead to a change in value of $2.4 million across acquired
intangibles with a corresponding change in the valuation of Goodwil!

Custamer relationships

Customer relationships include two separately identifiable individually material contracts one with the National Industries for the Blind
(NIB) and one with the Defense Loqistics Agency (DLA). The NIB contract was acquired in the current period through the acquisition of
Team Wendy at a fair value of $14.9 million. As at 30 September 2021, this acquirad intangible had a carrying value of $13.7 million and a
remnaining amorntsation period of 10 years.

The DLA contract was acgquired in the prior period through the acquisition of the 3M ballistic protection business at a fair value of

$200 million and an initial amortisation period of three years. As a result of lower revenue expectations from this contract, an impairment
of $8.3 million was recognised in the year within general and administrative expenses 1o reduce the carrying value to $nil as at the 30
September 2021.

Other customer relationships include those associated with the acquisition of the 3M ballistic protection business originally recognised at
a fair value of $5.9 million amortised over five years. The remaining carrying value of these assets is $2.3 million, after amortisation charges
and a $1.5 milhon impairment as a result of the armor review.

Gther customer relationships alse Included other Team wWendy custamer relationships acquired at fair value of $13.3 million. As at
30 Seprember 2021, trese zcquired intangibles had a carrying value of $12.4 million and a remaining amort sation period of 13 years.
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Section 3 - Non-current assets continued

3.1 Intangible assets continued

Armor related impairments continued

Impairment testing at 30 September 2021 for assets related to the armor business has been performed at multiple levels as these assets

generate cash inflows along with assets in other parts of the Group. The levels the impairment testing has been performed as follows:

1} Product level - VTP ESAPI and DLA ESAPI are both separate products. Included in these CGUs are development expenditure, tangible
assets related to the product group, inventary and acquired intangibles where associated with the development project.

N

At the armor business level — this includes the VTP ESAPI and DLA ESAPI CGUs, and other armaor specific assets such as acquired
intangitles as well as PPE (including Right of Use Assets) which solely relate to the entire armor business.

»

Ballistic level - this includes the armor business assets, and the assets related to the acquired Ceradyne helmet business.

=

Avon Protection business level — this includes ballistic assets and other assets that make up the Avon Protection operating segment,
including goodwill relating to the Ceradyne acquisition (see below).

The impairment review resulted in total non-current asset impairment of 345.1 million in respect of assets relating 1o the Ceradyne armor
business acquired from 3M as part of the ballistic protection acquisition - these arcse at the individual product level and the armor
business level, In addition, inventory provisions of 51.7 million were recognised against VTP ESAP| armoer materials. Offsetting these
charges, a gain of $15.7 million was recognised to reduce the net present value of the contingent consideration payable t© 3M as a result
of the reduced revenue expectations from the DLA ESAPI body armor contract.

The pre tax discount rates used in determining the value in use at each level were between 8.5% on the Avon Protection business level
and 62.3% at the product level, reflecting the level of uncertainty associated with each of the asset groups reviewed for impairment.

There was no further impairment when subseguently testing Ballistic protection level assets and finally Avon Protection CGU assets against
expected values in use, Goodwill relating to the Ceradyne acquisition of $28.0 million and the Ceradyne heimet intangible assets with a
carrying value of $28.9 million have therefore been unaffected by the impairment review.

The impairments have fully written down armor assets to recoverable amounts. The averall armor asset base, impairments charged and
remaining recoverable amounts are summarised as follows:

Recoverable

Carrying Value Impairment amounts
Armor-specific assets $m §m Sm
Acquired intangibles 1.3 (11.3) -
Development expenditure A (8.1) _ -
Right of use assets n.7 s —
Plant and machinery 14.4 113.8) 0.5
Leaseheld improverments o 0.1 0.1} -
Inventory 13.3 (1.7) 116
Total 5849 {46.8) 12

Recoverabie amounts for plant and machinery are based on fair value less costs 10 sefl These are considered level 2 assets in a fair value
hierarchy, vaiued based an market data for resale values on disposal. The recoverable amount for all other assets is based upon the
relevant value in use. Remaining non-current assets have bath fair value less costs to sell and value in use of nil.

Changes in the discount rate or growth rate utilised in the product level and armor level reviews would not materially change the
total impairment. Impairments were recognised through general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

The failures in testing within the armor business do not impact respiratery and head protection products, and the Group remains
confident future regulatory approvals will be obtained for these businesses as required.

Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the groups of cash generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from that
business combination. During the year additionat Goodwill of $58.3 million was recognised on the acquisition of the assets of Team Wendy
(2020: 528.0 million recognised on acguisition of the 3M ballistic protection business less $1.8 million deracognised on the divestment of

the milkrite | InterPuls business). Subsequent to these transactions the full carrying value of $58.3 million associated with Team Wendy was
recognised in the Team Wendy CGU with the full carrying value of $28.0 million associated with the acquisition of the 3M ballistic protection
business being recognised in the Avon Protection CGU, following the incorporation of the 3M biallistic protection business into the Avon
Protection operating segment,
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Impairment review
Development costs (excluding armor related development costs)
The Group tests development cost assets not yet ready for use annually for impalrment, or more frequently if there are indications of impairment.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment by grouping development assets into the smallest identifiable group of assets generating
future cash flows largely independent from other assets (CGUs). Included in these CGUs are development expenditure, tangible assets
related to the product group and acquired intangibles where associated with the development project. The CGUs have been tested
against their recoverable amount deemed to be their value in use. Cash flows were discounted to give a present value using pre-tax
discount rates ranging between 10.4% and 37.2% depending on the deemed associated risk profiles of each CGU.

At the year end $13.0 million of development costs relate to technology under development, including $3.9 million subject to final
feasibility tests and $3.5 millon with future cash flows reliant on key customers. If final feasibility tests are unsuccessfut or delayed such
that the projected economic benefit will not be achieved in the asset’s lifetime these costs, along with associated assets, could be subject
to impairment. Key customer reliance includes assumptions of contractual extensions and future contract wins.

Specifically $3.9 millon subject to final feasibility tests relates to the next generation Integrated Head Protection Systemn (IHPS). It is
assumed successful first article testing and product approval will be achieved for this praduct.

Where reliant on key custamers if those customers choose not to renew or awards contracts to the Group, and there is no alternative use
for the developed technology, approximately 159% of capitalised development cast ($3.5 mitlion} could be subject to impairment, along
with associated assets. New product development in its early development stages is subject to assumptions made regarding demands
in the market. If such demand did not materialise approximately 4% of capitalised development costs (51.0 million) would be subject to
impairment, along with associated assets.

Goodwill impairment testing

Separately, goodwill was tested forimpairment by comparing the carrying values against the value in use of the retevant CGU groups, being
the Avan Protection and Team Wendy operating segments The value in use calculations were based on projected cash flows derived from
the latest three-year plan approved by the Board. Cash flows for beyond three years for the Avon Protection CGU were projected to grow by
2.0% p.a. and for the Team Wendy CGU by 4.0% p.a. Cash flows were discounted to give a present value using a pre-tax discount rate of 8 9%
(2020: 8.6%) for the organic Avon Protection business and 10.9% for the Team Wendy business. These discount rates were derived at using
external expert zdvice taking into consideration curren: market conditions basad on US. market data.

Sensitivity analysis demaonstrates that a decrease in forecast revenue of more than 58% (2020: 60%} in relation to the organic Avon
Protection business and 28% in relation to the Team Wendy business could be sustained before an impairment was required. In addition,
increasing the discount rate by 2% would not lead to any indications of impairment.

Armor related impairments

On 12 November 2021 the Group announced the next-generation VTP ESAPI body armar product had failed first article testing. This
followed a similar result in December 2020 for the legacy DLA ESAPE body armor product. It was also announced that the Group 1s
experiencing further delays in achieving final product approval for the DLA ESAPI product following the successful completion of ballistic
testing In August 2021, thereby pushing expected revenues from the second quarter into the third quarter of FY22.

The failure of the VTP ESAPI body armor product is considered an adjusting event that provides evidence of conditions that existed at the
end of the reporting pericd (see note 7.6). As such the Group's impairment review of assets at 30 September 2021 included the removal
of all future revenue for VTP ESAPI bady armor. The impairment review also incorporated reduced revenue expectations for DLA ESAPI

in line with minimurm volumes for the base and two extension years, given the increased uncertainty of timing of the approval following
the already experienced delays during FY21, and uncertainty over whether the customer would extend the contract. The DLA revenue
assumed reflects the Group's expectations at 30 September 2021, and is not related to post balance sheet events.
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Section 3 - Non-current assets
3.1 Intangible assets

Acquired Development Computer
Goodwill intangibles expenditure software Total
$m $m sm Sm $m

At 1 October 2019
Cost 41 294 471 6.5 871
Accumulated amortisation and impairment - .y (270 (5.5} 43.6)
Net book amount 41 183 201 10 435
Yearended 30 September 2020 B
Opening net book amount o 4.1 18.3 201 10 435
Exchange differences - 06 07 02 15
Additions - - 66 57 123
Acquisitions o 280 384 - - 664
Divestment of milkrite | Inte_rPuIs {1.8) 1134 29 0.1 (18.2)
Amortisation - 1.2 4n 0.3 {16.1y
Closing net book amount 30.3 327 204 6.0 894
At 30 September 2020 -
Cost 303 46.5 494 02 136.4
Accumulated amortisation
and impairment - (13 8) (29.0) 4.2} {47.0)
Netbook amount 303 327 204 6.0 894
Yearended 30 September 2021 B o
Opening net book amount 303 327 204 &0 864
Exchange ditferences 0.2 - 0.2 06 10
Additions - - 150 49 199
Acguisitions 583 51.7 - G 1noa
Armor related impairiments - (1.3 @1 - 0s4)
(ther impairment - - 0.3 © (109
Arnortisation B {14.2) 40 0.8 (19.0)
Closing net book amount 333 589 23.2 101 181.0
At 30 September 2021 -
Cost 828 98.2 64.6 151 2667
Accumulated amortisation
and impairment - {39.3} (41.4) (5.0 (857}
Net book amount 288 589 23.2 101 181.0

1 2020. %3.8 million of the arortisation charge in the year relates to discontinued aperation.

2 Anongeing development project was witten off during the year as a tender 1o obtain additional third party funding was not successful.

3 Compater software ncludes the wiite down of $0.7 millian brought forward capitabsed costs relanng to the configuration and custormisation costs in cloud computing

arrangements, see adjusted performance measures.

The remaining useful economic life of the development expenditure is between four and ten years.
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Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets where it is probable that
these assets will be recovered.

Retirement Accelerated Qther
benefit Share capital Tax Pension Rightof temporary
obligation options  allowances lesses  spreading Intangibles Use Assets differences Total
Sm $m $m $m Sm $m sm Sm $m
_At 30 September 2019 1.3 1. 0.1 - - 04 05 489 183
Provided on acquisition - - - - - - - 0.6 0.6
(Charged)/credited against
profit for the year 4.3 - - 1.2 37 21 - (1.3 1.4
Credited/(charged) to Other
Comprehensive Income 8.9 - - - - - - 0.5} 64
Impact of change in tax
rates credited to Other
Cornprehensive Income 1.2 - - - - T - - 12
Credited to equity - 1.8 - - - - - - 18
At 30 September 2020 151 29 01 1.2 37 25 05 37 o297
Credited/{charged) against
profit for the vear - o1 0.1 34 (1.3 5.0 28 (1.0 8.0
Impact of change in tax rates
credited to profit for the year - - = 0.6 02 - 01 - 09
Credited/charged) ta Other
Comprehensive Income 3.0 - - - - ) - - 03 (2.8}
Impact of change in tax
rates credited to Other
Comprehensive Income 41 - - - - B - - 4.1
Exchange differences offset
inreserves . 10 02 - 0.1} 0.2 - - - 13
Charged to equity - (1.9 - - - - - - ]
At 30 September 2021 171 13 - 51 2.8 75 34 30 40.2

The standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. is 19%. The Group has unrecognised deferred tax assets of 34.7 million (2020: $3.3 million)
In respect of capital losses where it is not considered that there wili be sufficient available future profits to utilise these losses. The gross
amaount of unrecognised deferred tax assets 15 $18.7 million and has no expiry date

Deferred tax on pension spreading relates to excess pension contributions made in the previous year for which tax relief is spread across
four years.

$1.6 million of the deferred tax asset within other ternporary differences refates to inventory reserves and differing cost capitalisation rules
for accounting and tax purposes, with the remainder of other temporary differences relating to a number of smalier timing differences
between the tax and accounting treatment.
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Section 2 - Results for the year continued

2.6 Taxation

2021 2020

Sm $m

LK, current tax 04 (0.5

Overseas current tax - (2.7} (1.8)

Overseas adjustment in respect of previous periods {0.6) (1.7}

Total current tax credit _ . 2.9 4.0}
Deferred tax — current year 6.5 28

Deferred tax — adjustment in respect of previous periads (1.7} 104

Total deferred tax charge 8.2 2.4

Total tax credit mn (1.6)

The overseas adjustment in respect of the prior period of $0.6 million {2020: $1.7 million) includes a $0.3 million credit in connection with

the resolution of a number of prior year uncertain tax positions (2020: $1.0 miilion)

The above table excludes tax on discontinued cperations which amounted to a credit of $1.0 million in the current period (2020: charge

of $1.0 million on profit from discontinued operations and capital gains tax on the divestment of mitkrite | InterPuls of $11.7 million).

The UK. Budget Announcement on 3 March 2021 stated that the corporation tax rate would increase to 25% (effective 1 April 2023), this
increase was substantively enacted on 14 May 2021 and will increase the Company's future current tax charge accordingly. The impact of

this increase is also reflected in these financial statements for al! UK. deferred tax assets.

The tax on the Group's (loss)/profit before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the standard UK. tax rate

applicable to profits of the consclidated entities as follows:

2021 2020

5m sm

{Lossi/profit before taxation (35.6) 22
{Loss)/profit before taxation at the average standard rate of 19.0% {2020: 19.0%} 6.8 04

Tax allowances (UK. and U.S) B 0.3 (0.8)

Non deductible expenses 0.2 03

Changes in tax rates 09 -

__Differences in averseas tax rates R 0.7 16

Adjustment in respect of previous periods (2.6) 29

Total tax credit

(1.6

The income tax credited directly o equity during the year was $1.2 million (2020 5nil). The deferred tax credited directly to Other

Comprehensive Income during the year was $2.6 million (2020: $7.6 million). The deferred tax charged directly 1o equity during the year

was $19 million (2020: credit of $1.8 million).

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated Other tempoerary
capital allowances differences Total
$m $m $m

At 1 October 2019 18 49 6.7
Charged/icredited) to profit for the year 38 {15) 2.3
Charged to Other Comprehensive Income ) - 0.1 a1
Removed on divestment - (3.5) {3.5)
At 30 September 2020 56 5.6
Charged/{credited) to profit for the year 0.5 - 0.5
At 30 September 2021 6.1 - 5.1
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2.4 Expenses by nature

2021 2020
$m $m

Changes in inventories ofﬁm’_shed goods and work in progress B (9.4 (1.8
Raw materials and consumables used ) ) 1014 833
Employce benefit expense (note 81y 780 668
Depreciation and amortisation charges {notes 31 and 3.2) . 294 18.7
Impairment of non-current assets (notes 3.1 and 3.2) - 46.2 -
Pelease of contingent consideration ) (157 -
Transportation expenses ) 0 24
Travelling costs 03 1.5
Legal and professional fees ) B ¥ 40
Acquisition costs - 3M ballistic protection business® ) 04 3.3

Acquisition costs — Team Wendy” B 2.2 74
Exceptional transitionﬁcostsz - 29
Other expenses 278 162
Total cost of sales, selling and distribution costs and general and administrative expenses 2773 204.7

1 Note 2415 presented on a conunuing basis whilst note 6115 presented on a total basis, the pror year reconciling tem being employee benefit expense in relation to

discontinued operations.
2 Please refer 1o Adjusted Performmance measure section for further detalls

Expenses include $1.8 million (2020: $2.4 million) of staff costs and overheads in relation to expensed research and development expenditure.

2.5 (Loss)/profit before taxation

2021 2020
$m im
(Loss)/profit before taxation is shown after charging/(crediting):
Loss on foreign exchange L ) 19 04
Loss on disposal of property. plant and equipment - 01
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment {note 3.2} 104 98
Repairs and maintenance of property, plant and equipment o 0.5 19
Amortisation of development expenditure and software {note 3.1) 4.8 49
Amortisation of acguired intangibles (note 3.1) 14.2 .2
Impairment of non-current assets (notes 31 and 3.2} B 46.2 -
_Research and development ~ ) 18 24
Impairment of inventories 7 62 04
Impairment of trade receivables (note 54) 0.2 )
Services provided 1o the Group {including its ovarseas subsidiaries) by the Company's auditors: ~
Audit fees in respect of the audit of the accounts of the Group including subsidiaries 06 05
Audit fees in respect of the audit of the accounts of the Parent Company 0.2 0.1
Total fees 0.8 0.6
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Section 2 - Results for the year continued
2.2 Discontinued operations continued

Cash flows from discontinued operations included in the cash flow staternent are as foilows:

2021 2020

sm $m

Net cash flows from operating activities (3.3) o 5.0
Net cash flows from investing activities 28 2054

Net cash flows from financing activities — {0.8)

Net cash flows from discontinued oprerations 0.5} 2136

2.3 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year, excluding those held in the employee share ownership trust. The Company has dilutive potential
ordinary shares in respect of the Performance Share Plan.

Reconciliations of the earnings and weighted average number of shares used in the calculations are set aut below.

Weighted average number of shares 2021 2020
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in1ssue used in basic calculations (thousands) 30669 30,576
_Potentially dilutive shares (weighted average) {thousands) 189 423
Diluted number of ardinary shares {weighted average) {thousands) 30858 30999
2021 2020
Earnings $m Sm
Basic ) ) (256} 1714
Basic - continuing operations ) - (24.5) 38
Basic - discontinued operations T n 1676
201 2020
Earnings per share $ cents $ cents
Basic o {835) 560.5
Basic - continuing operations o (799 12,5
Basic - discontinued operations 13.6) 5480
Dilgted 83.0) 5529
Diluted - continuing operations (79.4) R
Diluted - discantinued cperations {3.6) 5406
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Revenue by line of business - restated'

Year ended 30 September 2021 Year ended 30 September 2020
Respiratory Ballistic® Total Respiratory Ballistic* Total
$m Sm m $m $m $m
Military 1135 34.0 147.5 1048 450 1539
First Responder 551 54 60.5 56.7 3.0 597
Avon Protection ) 1686 394 2080 161.6 520 2136
Team Wendy - 41.0 41.0 - - -
Eliminations - Q.7) 0.7 - - -
1086 787 248.3 161.6 52.0 2136

1 Following the change in operating segments, any revenues formerly generated through the Ceradyne balfistrc protection business are subsumed into Avon Protection and
hawe been allocated in hine with the rest of the Group

2 Miltary Ballistic revenue includes armaor revenues of $6.5 rillion (2020 5137 million).

Revenue by nature of performance obligation

2021 2020

$m 3m

E\e of goods! } 2465 2105
Provision of services? 18 31
2483 2136

1 Preducts ransferred 1o the customer and therefore revenue recognised at a pont in time
2 Peoducts and services tansferred over tire and thevetare revenue reccgnised aver that penod of time

2.2 Discontinued operations

In Septernber 2020 the Group disposed of the entire milkrite | interPuls business. As a result of the divestment the milkrite | InterPuls
business has been classified as discontinued. As part of the sale and purchase agreement, the Group entered inte @ Manufacturing
Service Agreement with the purchasers of milkrite | InterPuls to provide ongoing manufacturing whilst arrangements are made to
relocate manufacturing eguipment from our UK. facility. The Group also entered into agreements to provide certain other information
technelogy and administrative services under a 12-manth Transitional Services Agreement. As the activities under these agreements are
not part of the continuing operations of the Group, the revenue and costs during the year associated with these agreements have been
classified as discontinued operations.

The sesults of discomtinued cperations are as follows:

2021 2020

sm $m

_Revenue 4.1 653.6
Castof Sales (5.3) (357)
Gross {lossi/profit (1.2) 329
Selling and distribution costs - (1200
General and administrative expenses 09 129
Operating (lossi/profit 2.1) 8.0
Finarice costs - 01}
{Loss)/Profit before taxation 20 79
Taxation 10 (.0
{Lossy/Profit for the period n 69
Gain on divestment (note 7.2) - 1724
Tax on gain on divestrment - 01.7)
Gain on divestment - 160.7
{Loss)/Profit fram discontinued operations i [{R}] 1676
Basic earnings per share {3 6c] 548 De

Difuted earnings per share {3.5¢ 540.6¢
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Section 2 - Results for the year

Within this section you will find disclosures explaining the Group's results for the year, segmental information, earmings per share and
taxation, as well as details of the discontinued operations.

2.1 Operating segments

The Group Executive team 15 responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments. Gperating
segments are therefore reported In a manner consistent with the internal reparting provided to the Group Executive team.

Following the divestment of milkrite | InterPuls the Group has one clearly defined reportable segment, which is made up of two
aggregated operating segments Avon Protection and Team Wendy, and operates primarily out of Europe and the US. In the prior pericd,
the Ceradyne ballistic protection business was also treated as a separate operating segment. This has now been fully integrated into
Avon Protection. The presentation of the two operating segments as a single repartable segment is considered appropriate due 10 the
very close alignment of customers, markets, manufacturing processes, distribution methods and regulatory environment across the
underlying lines of business.

2020
2021 Sm
5m restated’
Revenue 2483 - N3s
Segmental result adjusted EBITDA)? 376 490
Depreciation o 104 5.5}
Otherimpairment charges i ) 43 -
Other amortsation charges - {4.8) (4.0
Iterns related 10 armor assets (31.1) -
Amortisation of acquired intangibles {14.2) B3
COther adjusting items? {5.7) (213)
Operating {loss)/profit (230 89
Net finance casts (6.6) 16.7)
(Loss)/profit before taxation {35.6) 22
Taxation B 11 16
{Lossy/profit for the year from continuing operations 24 5) 3.8
Discontinued operations - (loss)/profit for the year {11 1676
{Lass)/profit for the year {256) 1714
Segrrent assets 3987 4545
Segrment liabil ties 1193.3) 1225.0)
Other segment items
Capital expenditure )
- Intangible assets - 188 123
- Property, plant and equipment 1.7 23

1 On 1 October 2020, the Group changed its reporting currency from sterling ro U $ dollars. See page 12310 accounting pelicies for further details

2 Other adjusting rterms are outlined in the Adjusted Performance Measures section, which shows a full breakdown of adjusted measJres, including a reconailiation between
segmrental adjusted EBITDA and statutory operating profit by line wtem an page 103 Other adjusting items for the prior year include a 577 mithor mventory pro-farma
acquisinon accounung adjustment which is unaudited.

Revenue includes $130.8 million (2020: $127.5 million) of revenues from the U.S. DOD, sold directly and through indirect channels, the only
custamer which individually contributes more than 10% to Group revenues.

Revenue analysed by gecgraphic origin

2021 2020

$m $m

_Europe 323 B 183
Us. 216.0 1943

Total 2483 2136




Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of financiat statements requires the use of
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts

of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. It also requires
management to exercise its Judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies.

The key areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the financial statermenits are disclosed below.

Judgements and estimates
Development costs

The Group capitalises the development costs of new products and
processes as intangible assets or property, plant and equipment,
Inftial capitalisation and any subsequent impairment are based
on management's judgement of technological and economic
feasibility, including regulatory approvals required and forecast
customer demand. In determining the amounts to be capitalised
the Group makes estimates regarding the expected future cash
generation of the project, discount rates to be applied and the
expected period of benefits. If either technological or economic
feasibility is not demonstrated then the capitalised costs will be
written off 1o the income statement.

Significant judgements in the period included:

« A judgernent on technical feasibility and therefore future
successful first article testing and product approval for the next
generation Integrated Head Protection System (‘IHPS),

A judgement that following the failure of first article testing on
the DLA ESAPI body armer, it remained appropriate to continue
recognising the previously capitalised costs and further costs o
achieve final product approval werc appropriate to capitalise.

« Ajudgement that it remained technically feasible to achieve first
article testing and product approval for VTP ESAPI body armar,
given the failure on the DLA £5API, and thercfore continue
capitalise costs, prior to the failure in testing post year end.

significant estimates made and sensitivity in respect of the
assumptions used that could have a significant impact on the
carrying value of assets in determining the carrying amount of
development costs at the balance sheet date are disclosed in
note 3.1,

Adjusting events

The Group considers when events after the end of the reporting
period shouid be adjusted in the financial statements. Adjusting
events are those providing evidence of conditions existing at the
end of the reporting period, whereas non-adjusting events are
indicative of conditions arising after the reporting period.

The treatment of the VTP ESAPI bady armor product failure as an
adjusting event was considered a significant judgement in the
period. See note 76 for further details and note 3.1 for the impact
of this event,
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Impairment review asset grouping

lntangtble assets are tested for impairment by grouping
development assets into the smallest identifiable group of assets
generating future cash flows largely independent from other assets
(CGUs). included in these CGUs are development expenditure,
tangible assets related to the product group and acquired
intangibles where associated with the development project.

The identification of the levels at which to group assets for the
purpose of impairment testing in relation to those associated with
the amor business is considered a significant judgement in the
period as It reguired the Group to exercise judgment in respect of
what assets were solely used in the armor business, See note 3.1
for further details.

Identification and valuation of acquired intangibles

Acquisitions may result in the recognition of acquired intangibles
which include customer relationships, brands and trademarks,
patents and order books, the identification of which are
Inherently judgemental,

The fair value of assets acguired is determined using complex
valuation techniques including forecasting and discounting of
future cash flows. This includes assumptions such as discount rates,
royalty rates and estimates for growth rates, weighted average
cost of capital and usefut lives. Changes in these assumptions
could have a significant impact on the carrying value of assets.

The Group engages with external experts to support the valuation
of acquired intangibles and validate the assumptions made in
this process.

See note 3.1 for further details including sensitivity analysis.

Estimating the defined benefits pension scheme assets
and obligations

Measurement of defined benefit pension obligations requires
estimation of future changes in inflation and mortahty rates,
and the selection of a suitable discount rate.

The investments held by the pension scheme incfude both
quoted and unquoted securities, the latter which by their
nature involve assumptions and estimates to determine their
fair value. Where there isn't an active market for the unquoted
secunties the fair value of these assets are estimated by the
pension trustees based on advice received from the investment
manager whilst also using any available market evidence of any
recent transactions for an identical asset. The assumptions used
in valuing unquoted investments are affected by current market
conditions and trends which could resultin changes in fair value
after the measurement date.

See note 6.2 for further detalls.
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Deferred tax liabilities arise where the carrying amount of an

asset is higher than the tax value (more tax deduction has been
taken). This can happen where the Group invests in capital assets,
as governments often encourage investment by allowing tax
depreciation to be recognised faster than accounting depreciation.
This reduces the tax value of the asset relative to its accounting
carrying amount. Deferred tax liabilities are generally provided

on alltaxable temporary differences. 1he periods over which such
temporary differences reverse will vary depending on the life of
the related asset or liability.

Deferred tax assets arise where the carrying amount of an asset

is lower than the tax value (less tax benefit has been taken). This
can happen where the Group has trading losses, which cannot be
offsetin the current period but can be carried forward. Deferred
tax assels are recognised only where the Group considers it
probable that it will be able to use such losses by offsetting them
aganst future taxable profits.

However the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Taxable temporary differences can also arise on investments in
foreign subsidiaries and assccrates, and interests in joint ventures.
Where the Group is able to contral the reversal of these differences
and it is probable that these will not reverse in the foreseeable
future, then no deferred tax is provided. Deferred tax is calculated
using the enacted or substantively enacted rates that are expected
to apply when the asset is realised or the liability is settled. Similarly
to current taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only
when there is a legal right to settle them net and the entity intends
to de so. This normaliy requires both assets and liabilities to have
arisen in the same country.

Income tax expense reported in the financial statements comprises
current tax as well as the effects of changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities. Tax expense/credits are generally recognised in

the same place as the iterns to which they relate. For example,

the tax associated with a gain on disposal is recognised in the
income staternent, in line with the gain on disposal. Equally, the

tax associated with pension obligation actuarial gains and losses

is recognises in other comprehersive income, in line with the
actuarial gains and losses.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability in the Group's financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by
shareholders, while interim dividends are recognised in the period
in which the dividends are paid.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

Where any Group company purchases the Company equity

share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes),

is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s equity
halders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed

of Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any
consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in
equity attributable to the Company's equity holders.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
accounting method. Identifiable assets and liabilties acquired

are measured at fair value at acquisition date. Costs related tothe
acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt

or equity securities, are expensed as incurred. Any contingent
consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. If the contingent consideraticn is classified as equity, 1t is

not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity.
Otherwise, subseguent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognised in prefit or loss. Unwinding of
discount on contingent consideration is included within finance
costs. Changes to the fair value arising from changes in the
contingent element, for example, expected cash to e paid, or
timing of when payments will be made, are included in general
and administrative expenses.



Financial instruments
Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated
and measured at the transaction price.

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers and are initiafly recognised at fair value. All other financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument and measured at fair value.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Trade and other receivables and Trade and other payables are
classified as measured at amertised cost.

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
(ECLS) on financial assets measured at amortised cast and contract
assets (as defined in IFRS 15).

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are
always measured at an amount equal te lifetime ECL, see note 5.4
for more details.

Accounts pavable are classified as current liabilities if payment is
due within one year or lss {or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer). If nat, they arc presented as non-current
liabilities.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand and
highly liguid interest-hearing securities with maturities of three
manths or less. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities on the balance sheet.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The Group classifies its forward exchange contracts hedging
forecasted transactions as cash flow hedges and states them at
fair value through the Censolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income, Any ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised

immediately in the incorne statement. See note 5.4 for more details.

Impairment

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial
assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial
asset is ‘credit-impaired” when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (aither
partizlly or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect
of recovery. See note 5.4 for details.
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Provisions

Provisions are recognised when:

» the Group has a legal or constructive abligation as a result
of a past event.

« itis probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably
estimated.

Where there are a number of similar ebligations, for example
where a warranty has been given, the likelihood that an outfiow
will be required in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if
the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one ftern included
in the same class of obligation may be small.

Pravisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred and subsequently stated at amortised cost.
Borrowing costs are expensed using the effective interest method.

Taxation

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and
deferred tax.

Taxable profit differs from accounting profit because it excludes
certain items of income and expense that are recognised in the
financial statements but are treated differently for tax purposes.
Current tax is the amount of tax expected to be payable or
receivable on the taxable profit or loss for the current period.
This amount 1s then amended for any adjustments in respect
of prior periods.

Current tax is caiculated using tax rates that have been written

into law (enacted’) or irrevocably anncunced/committed by the

respective Government {‘substantively enacted’) at the period-end I
date. Current tax recelvable (assets) and payabie (liabilities) are

offset only when there is a legal right to settle them net and the

entity intends to do so. This is generally true when the taxes are

levied by the same tax authority.

Because of the differences between accounting and taxable
profits and {osses reported in each penod, temporary differences
arise on the amount certain assets and labilities are carried

at for accounting purposes and their respective tax values.
Deferred tax is the amount of tax payable or recoverable on
these tempgcrary differences.
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Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Judgements continued

For the year ended 30 September 2021

Computer software

Computer software is included in intangible assets at cost and
amortised over its estimated life of three to 10 years.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group as part
of business combinations are stated at cost fess accumulated
amortisation and impairment {osses. The useful lives take
acceunt of the differing natures of each of the assets acquired.

The lives used are:

+ Brands and trademarks - four to 15 years
Customer relationships — three to 14 years
Order backlog - three months to cne year
Technolegy and licence agreements - two 10 10 years

Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets through generat and
administrative expenses.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost or

deerned cost where IFRS 1 exemptions have been applied, less
accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment 10sses.

Costs include the original purchase price of the asset and the
costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condiion
for its intended use including any qualifying finance expenses.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation is provided on other assets
estimated to write down the depreciable amount of relevant
assets by equal annual instalments over their estimated useful lives.

In general, the lives used arer

Freehold - 40 years
Leasehold property - over the period of the lease

Plant and machinery

— Computer hardware and motor vehicies - three years
— Presses — 15 years

— Other plant and machinery - five to 10 years

The residual values and useful lives of the assets are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately

to its recoverable amount if its carrying amount is greater

than its estimated net realisable value. Gains and losses on
disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying
amounts. These are included in the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income,

Leases

Right of use assets and lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the contract for all leases conveying
the nght to control the associated asset for a period of time,

The right of use assets are initally measured at cost, which
comprises the initial measurement of the lease liability plus an
estimate of dilapidation provisions {note 7.1) where required.
Subsequently the right of use assets are measured at cost less
accumnulated depreciation, any accumulated impairment losses
and adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease liability.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the life of the
lease. In general the lives used are:

Leaschold property - period of the lease

The lease liability is initialty measured at the present value of the
lease payments due over the life of the lease. The lease payments
are discounted at the rate implicit in the lease orif that is not readily
determined using the Group's incremental borrowing rate.

The lease term is determined with reference to any non-cancellable
period of tease contracts plus any periods covered by an option

to extend/terminate the lease if it is considered reasonably certain
that the option will/will not be exercised. In concluding whether

or not it is reascnably certain an option will be exercised for new
leases management has considered the three-year strategic
outlook for the Group and other operational factors.

Subseguently the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying value 1o reflect interest on the liability and reducing
the carrying value to reflect lease payments made.

The carrying value of lease lizbilities and associated assets will
be re-measured to reflect any changes to the lease or other
assumptions applied.

The Group is a lessee and does not act as lessor.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable valuc.
Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFQ). The cost of
finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials,
direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads
{based on normal operating capacity). it excludes borrowing costs.
Net rezalisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable incremental selling expenses.



Share-based compensation

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans, under which the entity receives service from
employees as consideration for equity instruments {options) of the
Group. The fair value of the employee service received in exchange
for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total
amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted:

+including any market based performance conditions;
excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

+ including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example,

the requirement for employees to save).

Nen-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of options that are expected to vest. The total expense
is recognised over the vesting periad, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are 10 be satisfied. At
the end of each reporting period, the entity revises its estimates

of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the
non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, If any, In the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income, with a corresponding adjustment

10 equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
casts are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premiurm when the options are exercised.

Exceptional items

Transactions are classified as exceptional where they relate 1o
an event that falls outside of the underlying trading activities
of the business and where individually or in aggregate they
have a rraterial impact on tre financial statements,

Intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over
the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets
of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Identifiable
net assets include intangible assets other than goodwill. Any
such intangible assets are amortised over their expected future
lives unless they are regarded as having an indefinite life, in
which case they are not amortised, but subjected to annual
impairment testing in a similar manner to goodwill.

Financial
Statements

125

Since the transition to IFRS, goodwill arising from acquisitions of
subsidiaries after 3 October 1998 is included in intangible assets.
itis not amortised but is tested annually for impairment and carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and lasses on
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill arising from acquisitions of subsidiaries before 3 October
1998, which was set against reserves in the year of acquisition
under UK. GAAP, has not been reinstated and is not included

in determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal of the
related entity.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually or whenever
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Goodwill is
allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment
testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units

or groups of cash-generating units that are expected 10 benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

Any impairment is recognised immediately in the Consolidated
Staternent of Comprehensive Income. Subsequent reversals of
impairment losses for goodwill are not recognised.

Development expenditure

Expenditure in respect of the development of new products where
the outcome is assessed as being reasonably certain as regards
viability and technical feasibility is capitalised and amortised over
the expected useful life of the development (between five and

15 years). Expenditure that does not meet these criteria is expensed
as incurred. The capitalised costs are amortised over the estimated
period of sale for each product, commencing in the year in which
the product is available for sale. Development costs capitalised

are tested for impairment annually where not yet ready for use

or whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
Any impairment is recognised immediately in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Subsequent reversals of
impairment losses for development are not recognised.

UK. development costs have not been treated as a realised loss
by the Directors as they relate ta specific R&D projects from which
the Group is expected to obtain significant economic benefitin
the future
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Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Judgements continued

For the year ended 30 September 2021

Revenue
Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration which
is expected to be received in exchange for goods and services
provided, net of trade discounts and sales-related taxes.

Revenue is recegnised when all of the following conditions are
satisfied:

A contract exists with a customer.

The performance obligations within the contract have

been identitied.

The transaction price has been determined.

The transaction price has been allocated to the performance
obligations within the contract.

Revenue 1s recognised as or when a perfermance obligation
is satisfied.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when control of
the goods has transferred to the customer, usually being when
the goads have been shipped 1o the customer in accordance
with the contracted shipping terms.

Provision of services

Revenue from a contract to provide services, including customer
funded research and development and training, is recognised over
time as those services are provided. The Group recognises the
amount of revenue from the services provided under a contract
with reference to the costs incurred as a proportion of total
expected costs.

Contract assets and liabilities

Assets and liabilities arising from contracts with customers are
separately identified. Contract assets relate to consideration
recognised for work completed but not billed at the balance sheet
date. Contract liabilities relate to consideration received but not
recognised as revenue at the balance sheet date. See notes 4.2
and 4.4 for further detals.

Segment reporting

Segments are identified based on how management monitors
the business,

An operating segmentis a component of an entity:

that engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and
expenses relating to transactions with other components
of the same entity};

whose operating results are reqularly reviewed by the
entity's chief operating decision maker to make decisions
about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess
its performance; and

for which discrete financiat information is avaitable.

Operating segments are aggregated into a single reportable
segment only when the segments have similar economic
characteristics, and the segments are similar in each of the
following respects:

- The nature of the products and services; the nature of the
production processes.
The type or class of customer for their products and services;
the methods used to distribute therr products or provide
their services.
The nature of the regulatory environment,

The Group Executive team assesses the performance of operating
segments based on measures of revenue, adjusted EBITDA and
adjusted operating profit, as well as other measures not detined
under IFRS including orders received, closing crder book, organic
revenue growth, EBITDA margin, cash conversion and Return on
Capital Employed. Further details on these measures can be found
in the Adjusted Performance Measures section.

Following the divestment of milkrite | InterPuls in September 2020,
the Group has one clearly defined reportable segment, which is
made up of two aggregated operating segments, Aven Protection
and Team Wendy. In the prior year, the Group defined Helmets

and Armor as a separate operating segment which has now been
fully integrated into Avon Pratection. The presentation of the two
operating segments as a single reportable segment is considered
appropriate due to the very close alignment of customers, markets,
manufacturing processes, distribution methods and regulatory
environment across the underlying business.

Employee benefits
Pension obligations and post-retirement benefits

The Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution
plans.

The defined benefit plan’s asset or lability as recognised in

the balance sheet is the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan
assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined
by discounting the estimated cash outflows using interest rates of
high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency
in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity
approximating to the terms of the related pension liability. Actuarial
gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes
in actuarial assumptions are recognised in full in the period in
which they occur, as part of other comprehensive income. Costs
associated with Investment management are deducted from the
return on plan assets. Other expenses are recognised in the income
staternent asincurred.

For the defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributicns
to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on
a mandatory, contractuzl or voluntary basis. Contributions are
expensed asincurred.
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Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Judgements

For the year ended 30 September 2021

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adepted in the preparation

of these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

Avon Protection plc is a public limited company incerporated and
domiciled in England and Wales and its ordinary shares are traded
on the London Stock Exchange,

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with international accounting standards in confermity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and in accordance

with international financial reporting standards pursuant to
Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union
(IFRSs as adopted by the EU). The financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention except for derivative
instruments which are held at fair value through profit or loss.

Change in presentational currency

On 1 October 2020 the Group changed its reporting currency
to LS. dollars. As such, these financial statements including the
prior year comparatives are presented in U.S. dollars with figures
rounded to the nearest 0.1 miilion.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis, which the Directors believe to be appropriate for the
following reasons:

The Directors have prepared a going concern assessment covering
the 12 month period from the date of approval of these financial
statements, The assessment, which takes account of the impact

of the strategic review of Armor (see note 7.6), indicates that the
Group will have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities as they fall
due for that perind.

As part of their assessment, the Directors considered a base case,
which reflects the impact of the strategic review cf the Armor
business and a severe downside scenario involving a 25% decline
in bank-determined adjusted EBITDA against the base case. Even
in this severe downside scenario, the assessment indicates that
the Group will have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities as they
fall due, and will continue to comply with its loan covenants,
throughout the forecast period. The Group has committed RCF
facilities of $200 million (see note 5.1} and related loan covenants
include a limit of 3.0 times for the ratio of net debt, excluding
lease liabilities, to bank-determined adjusted EBITDA (leverage).

On this basis, the Directors are confident that the Group and
Company will have sufficient funds 1o continue to meet its
liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the approval
of these financial statements. Accordingly the Group and Company
continue to adopt the gaing concern basis in preparing their
financial statements

Recent accounting developments

In March 2021, the IFRS Interpretation Committee issued further
guidance for the accounting treatment of configuration and
customisation costs relating to dloud computing arrangements.
This guidance included a requirement to re-evaluate the
accounting for such costs incurred in previous reporting periods.
Following an internal review during the year in line with the
updated guidance, the Group expensed 507 million of cost
capitalised in pricr years.

Basis of consolidation

The consclidated financial statements Incorporate the financial
results and position of the Group and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are those entities over which the Group has power,
exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvernent with the
entity and the ability to use its power 1o affect the amount of the
Groug's returns.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group until the date that control ceases.

Inter-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Where
necessary, accounting pelicies of subsidiaries have been changed
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Foreign currencies

On 1 October 2020, the Group changed its reporting currency
from sterling to US. dollars. The results and financial position

of all subsidiaries and associates that have a functional currency
different from U.S. dollars are translated into U.S. dollars as follows:

+ assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the
balance sheet date; and

« Income and expenses are translated at an average exchange
rate for the month where the relevant rate approximates to the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.

All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate
component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the transtation
of the net investment in entities with a functional currency

other than US. dollars, and of borrowings and other currency
instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken
to sharehelders' equity. When an entity with a functional currency
other than U.S. dollars is sold, the cumulative amount of such
exchange difference is recognised in the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded in an entity's
functional currency accounts at the exchange rate ruling at

the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange gams and losses
resulting from settlernent of such transactions and from the
translation at exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date of
manetary assets or Habilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Incorme, except when deferred in equity as qualifying hedges.

123
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 30 September 2021

Share Share Hedging Other Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserves earnings equity
Note $m $m $m $m $m $m
At 30 September 2019 restated’” 503 543 (1.4) (13.2) 26 926
Profit for the year - - - 1714 1714
Net exchange differences offset in reserves - - - - {17} - (1.7}
Translation reserve recycled to P&L on divestrmont 26 - - - {0.7) - 0.7)
Cash flow hedges 54 - - 1.7 - 17
Deferred tax relating to cash flow hedges 26 - - 0.3) - 0.3)
Remeasurement loss recognised on retirement
_benefit scheme - 62 - ) - - 136.7) (36.7)
Deferred tax relating to change in tax rates _ 1.2 1.2
Deferred tax relating to retirement benefit scheme 26 - - - - 69 89
Total comprehensive income for theyear - - 14 {2.4) 142.8 1418
Dividends paid 56 - - - (2.9) 89
Fair value of share-based payments 6.3 - - - - 2.2 2.2
Deferred tax relating to employee share schermes 26 - - - - 1.8 1.8
At 30 September 2020 restated™’ 50.3 543 - (15.6) 140.5 2295
Loss for the year - - - - {25 6) [25.6)
Net exchange differences offsetin reserves - - - 08 - 0.6
_Deferred tax relating to other temporary differences 26 - - - 0.3 0.3
Remeasurement gain recagnised en retirement
benefit scheme 62 - - - -2 - 16.2
Deferred tax refating to change in tax rates 26 - - - 41 41
Deferred tax relating to retirement benefit scheme 26 - - - - (3.1} 3n
Total comprehensive {expensel/income for the year - - - 0.6 8.1) {75)
Dividends paid 56 - - - - (12.1) 4l 2.1)m
Own shares acquired 55 - - - - 43 43
Fair value of share-based payments 63 - - - - 05 0.5
Current tax relating 1o employee share schemes
charged to equity 26 - - - - 1.2 12
Deferred tax relating to employee share schemes
charged directly to equity 26 - - - - (1.9) {1.9)
At 30 September 2021 50.3 543 - {15.0) 1158 2054

1 On 1 {ctober 2020, the Group changed its reperting carrency from sterling to L.S. dallars See page 123 in accounning pohces for further detarls
2 The Group has disaggregated the hedging reserve from retained earnings where 1t was previovsly included Priar year retained earnings have been restated accordingly for

this disaggregaton,

Other reserves consist of the capital redemption reserve of $0.6 million (2020: $0.6 million) and the translation reserve of ($15.6 million}

(2020: (516.2 milhonl).

Allmovements in other reserves relate to the translation reserve.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 September 2021

2020
2021 5m
Note Sm restated’
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from continuing operations 43 269 291
Cash flows from discontinued operations 43 {33 9.0
Cash flows from operations 4.3 236 381
Retirement benefit deficit recovery contributions 6.2 (29 (27.8)
Tax paid 113.3) 13.5)
Net cash flows from operating activities 74 6.8
Cash flows used in investing activities
Praceeds from disposal of discontinued operations 7.2 34 2172
Costs of divestment 72 0.6 (100)
Furchase of property, plant and equipment 32 1.7 {7.8)
Capitalised developrment costs and purchased software EA (19.9) (12.1)
Acquisition of business, net of acquired cash of $1.1 million (2020: nil} 72 {1309) ©91.2)
Investing cash flows used in discontinued operations - (1.8]
Net cash (used in}/from investing activities {159.7) 94.3
Cash flows used in financing activities B
Proceeds from loan drawdowns 53 420 670
Loan repayments 53 406) {276)
Finance costs paid in respect of bank loans and overdrafts (1.6} 2.5
Finance costs paid in respect of |eases (1.0 {1.0)
Repayment of lease liability 3.7 120
Dividends paid to shareholders 5.6 {121 89)
Purchase of own shares 55 (4.3) -
Financing cash flows used in discontinued operations - 10.8)
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (214 24.2
Net {decrease)/ increase in cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts {173.7) 1253
Cash, cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts atbeginning of the year 187.2 596
Effects of exchange rate changes 06 23
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 4.3 141 187.2

1 On 1 October 2020, the Group changed its reporting currency from sterling to U.S dollars, See page 123 in accounting policies for further details.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

At 30 Septermnber 2021
2020 2019
2021 $m $m
Note $m restated’ restated’
Assets
Non-currentassets ~
Intangible assets o o o 31 181.0 894 o 435
Property, plant and equipment 32 48.6 659 377
Deferred tax assets 26 40.2 297 183
B 2608 1850 995
Currcnt asscts
Inventories 4.1 623 363 255
Trade and other receivables 42 447 46.0 436
Current tax receivables 78 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 43 141 187.2 596
1289 2695 1287
Liabilities B
Current liabilities o
Borrowings 51 40 427 1.7
Trade and other payables 44 40.0 395 68
Dervative financial instruments 54 - - 16
Provisions for liabilities and charges 71 35 9.6 -
Current tax liabilities 96 51
475 1014 452
Net current assets 814 1681 B35
Non-current liabilities )
Borrowings 51 660 258 143
Deferred tax liabilities 26 6.1 56 67
Retirement benefit obligations 6.2 683 796 666
Provisions for labilities and charges Al 54 126 28
1458 1236 904
Net assets 2054 2295 926
Shareholders’ equity o
Ordinary shares 5.5 s03 503 503
Share premium account 5.5 543 543 543
Other reserves {15.0) (15.6) {132)
Hedging reserve - - 04
Retained earnings 15.8 140.5 26
Total equity 2054 229.5 926

1 Cn 1 October 2020, the Group changed its reporting currency from sterhng to U'S dollars See page 123 1in accounting policies for further details

These financial statements on pages 119 10 159 were approved by the Board of Directars on 14 December 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Lot HPmokl  \or. et

Paul McDonald Nick Keveth
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 September 2021

2020
201 $m
Note $m restated’

Continuing operations )
Revepue 21 2483 2136
Cost of sales (162.5) {1301}
Gross profit - 78.8 835
Selling and distribution costs o (22.2) {174}

Eémera! and administrative expenses (85.6) (57.2)
Cperating {lossi/profit 21 (29.0) 89
Net finance costs ) 52 6.6} 67)
(Lass)/profit before taxation 25 (35.6} 2.2
Taxation 26 ni 15
(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations (245) 38
Discontinued operations
Gain on divestment 7 ' 72 - 150.7
{Lossi/profit from discontinued operations 22 o “El-.l) 69
(Lass)/profit for the year {256} 1714
Other comprehensive income/{expense) o
Iterns that are not subsequently reclassified to the income statement )

_Remeasurement gain/{loss) recognised on reti rerent benefit schemﬁe 62 716‘2 (36.7)
Deferred tax relating to retirement benefit scheme 26 Bn 69
Deferred tax refating to change in tax rates 26 4] 1.2
Deferred tax relating to other temporary differences B 03 -
iterns that may be subsequently reclassified to the income staterment
Translation reserve recycled on divestment i - 0N

“Net exchange differences offset in reserves 06 (1.7}
Cash flow hedges’ i - 17
Deferréalﬁje\ating 1o cash flow hedges - (0‘3)7
Other comprehensive income/{expense) for the year 18.1 (28,6}
Total comprehensive (expense)/income fortheyear {75) 1418
Earnings per share o 23 .
Basic . . (83.5¢) 560.5¢
Diluted (83 0} 5529¢
Earnings per share from continuing operations i 23
Basic {799¢) 12.5¢
Diluted (79.4¢) 12 3¢

1 On 1 October 2020, the Group changed its reporting currency from sterling to US dollars See page 123 in accounting policies for further details.

2 Inthe pnor year the net cash flow hedge credit of $1.7 milkan included a $3.5 milhen credit in respect of goodwill rectassification {note 5.4) The credr relating tc the goadwall
reclassification should however have been included directly in equity rather than presented within other canrprehensive iIncome The Drrectars consider this error immatenal
for prior pencd restatemrent, and as s.chit has not been conected The error in preseniation has noimpact on the Group's 013! eguity
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Independent Auditor’s Report continued
to the Members of Avon Protection plc

6. We have nothing to report on the other information in the Annual Report continued
Corporate governance disclosures continued

Based on those procedurcs, we have concluded that each of the following 15 materially consistent with the financial statements and our
audit knowledge:

+ The Directors’ statement that they consider that the annual report and financial statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable, and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's position and performance, business
model and strategy,

« The section of the annual report describing the work of the Audit Committee, including the significant issues that the Audit
Committee considered in relation to the financial statements, and how these issues were addressed; and

« The section of the annual report thal describes e review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

We are required to review the part of the Carporate Governance Statement relating to the Group's camplance with the provisions of the
UK. Corporate Governance Code specified by the Listing Rules for our review. We have nothing to report in this respect.

7. We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

Adeguate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

- The Parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with
the accounting records and returns; or
Certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are nat made; or

We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

8. Respective responsibilities

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 98, the Directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial
statements including being satisfled that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of finzncial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and
Parent Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liguidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an Auditor's Report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with I5As (UK. will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstaternents can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the ecanomic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at www.frc org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

9, The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006, Qur
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required 1o state to them in an
Auditor's Report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by faw, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Cornpany and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

A Gl

Andrew Campbell-Orde (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants, 66 Queen Square, Bristol, BS1 4BE

14 December 2021
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Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some material misstaternents
in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For
exarnple, the furthier removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial
staternents, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it

In addition, as with any audit, there remained & higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may invelve collusion, forgery, intenticnal
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls, Qur audit procedures are designed to detect material misstatement.
We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect nan-compliance with all laws and
regulations,

6. We have nothing to report on the other information in the Annual Report

The Directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with the financial statements. Our
opinicn on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except
as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Qur responsibility is to read the cther information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial statements audit work, the
information therein |s materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work
we have not identified material misstatements in the other information.

Strategic report and Directors' report

Based solely on our work on the other information:

- We have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the Directors' report;
It our opinicn the information given In those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements, and

«+ In our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ remuneration report

In our opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies At 2006.

Disclosures of emerging and principal risks and longer-term viability

We are required to perform procedures to identify whether there is a material inconsistency between the Directors’ disclosures in respect
of emerging and principal risks and the Viability Statement, and the financial statements and our audit knowledge.

Based on those procedures, we have nothing material to add or draw attention t in relation to:

+ the Directors' confirmation within the Viability Statement on page 67 that they have carried out a robust assessment of the emerging
and principal risks facing the Group, including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency and
liquidity;

« the Principle risks disclosures describing these risks and how emerging nisks are identified, and explaining how they are being
managed and mitigated; and

« the Directors’ explanation in the Viability Statement of how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what period they have
done so and why they considered that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation
that the Group will be able to continue in aperation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment,
including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications ar assumptions.

We are alsc required 1o review Viability Statement, set out on page 67 under the Listing Rules. Based on the above procedures, we have
conduded that the abave disclosures are materially consistent with the financial statements and our audit knowledge.

Our work is limited 1o assessing these matters in the context of only the knowledge acquired during our financial statements audit, As we
cannct predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements
that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of anything to report on these statements Is not a guarantee as 1o the
Group's and Company's longer-term viability,

Corporate governance disclosures

We are required to perform procedures to idenufy whether there s a material inconsistency between the Directors’ corporate
governance disclosures and the finanaial statements and our audit knowledge.
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Independent Auditor’s Report continued
to the Members of Avon Protection plc

5. Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due te fraud

To identify risks of material misstaternent due to fraud (fraud risks’) we assessed events or conditions that could indicate an incentive
or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included:

Enquiring of Directors, the Audit Committee, internal audit and inspection of policy documentation as to the Group's high-
level policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud, including the internal audit function, and the Group's channel for
“whistleblowing”, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud,

Reading Board and Audit Cormmittee minutes.

Considering remuneration incentive schemes (annual bonus scheme and performance share plan) and performance targets for
managemaent and Dircctors including the total sharcholder return target and EPS target for management remuneration.

Using analytical procedures 1o identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit tearn and remained alert to any indications of fraud throughout the audit.
This included communication from the Group to the compaonent audit team of relevant fraud risks identified at the Group level.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud continued

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures to meet profit targets and recent revisions in market
guidance and our overall knowledge of the control environment, we perform procedures to address the risk of management override of
controls and the risk of fraudulent revenue recognition, in particular the risk that revenue is recorded in the wrong pericd and the risk that
Group and component management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries.

We also identified a fraud risk related to inappropriate capitalisation of development costs in response to possible pressures to meet profit
targets and rmarket guidance.

In determining the audit procedures we took into account the results of our evaluation and testing of the operating effectiveness of
some of the Group fraud risk management controls.

We also performed procedures including:

ldertifying journal entries and other adjustments to test for all full scope components based on risk criteria and comparing the
identified entries te supporting documentation. These included those posted to unusual or unexpected accounts.
Evaluating the business purpose of significant unusual transactions.
For a sample of capitalised developrment costs, assessing whether the costs had been capitalised against the correct project, measured
correctly, and were eligible for capitalisation.
For a sample of invoices raised around the year end date, assessing whether revenue had been recognised in the appropriate pericd
by comparing to dispatch notes or terms of specific sale agreements.

« Assessing significant accounting estimates for bias.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasanably be expected to have a material effect on the financial statements from
our general commercial and sector experience and through discussion with the directeors (as reguired by auditing standards), and from
inspection of the Group's requlatory and legal correspondence and discussed with the dircctors the poticies and procedures regarding
compliance with laws and regulations.

As the Group is regulated, our assessmenit of risks involved gaining an understanding of the control environment including the entity’s
procedures for complying with regulatory requirements. We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout cur team and
remained alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout the audit. The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the
financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial reporting legislation
lincluding related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation, taxation legislation, and pensians requlation and we assessed
the extent of compliance with these laws and requlations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the Group is subject 1o many other laws and regulaticns where the consequences of non-compliance could have 3 material effect
on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the impaosition of fines or litigation. We identified the following
areas as those most likely to have such an effect: export control legislation and anu-bribery and corruption legislation, recognising the
Governmental nature of many of the group’s customers, product regulation, health and safety, employment law, envirgnmental fegistation,
recognising the nature of the Group's activities. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures 1o identify non-compliance with
these laws and regulations to enguiry of the directors and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Thereforeif a breach
of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.
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Of the Group's eight (2020: six continuing) reperting components, we subjected five (2020: three) to full scope audits for Group purposes
and one (2020: two) to specified risk-focused audit procedures over cash and cash equivalents (2020: revenue, development costs, and
cash and cash equivalents). The latter was not individually financially significant enough to require a full scope audit for Group purposes,
but did present specific individual risks that needed to be addressed. The components within the scope of our work accounted for the
percentages illustrated opposite, For the residual two components, we perfermed analysis at an aggregated group leve! to re-examine
our assessment that there were no significant risks of material misstaternent within these.

The Group team instructed compoenent auditors as to the significant areas to be covered, including the relevant risks detailed above
and the information to be reparted back. The Group team approved the component materialities, which ranged from $0.15 million to
$11 million (2020: $0.5 million to $1.4 million), having regard to the mix of size and risk profile of the Group across the components. The
work on one of the components (2020: None of the components) included procedures performed by component auditors and the
rest, including the audit of the Parent Company, was performed solely by the Group team. The Group audit team had planned to visit
four compenent iocations in U.S. and UK. (2020: four locations in U.S. and U.K) as part of the group team’s work on those components.
However, these visits were prevented by movement restrictions relating to the COVID-19 pandemic. Instead virtual visits (2020: virtual
visits) to four component locations in the U.S. and UK. (2020: four locations in US. and UK} were performed to assess audit risk and
strategy, including virtual conference calls with key members of component staff,

4. Going concern

The Directors have prepared the financial staterments on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the Group or the
Company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the Group's and the Company’s financial position means that
this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability
to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements {the going concern period').

We used our knowledge of the Group, its industry, and the general economic environment to identify the inherent risks 1o its business
model and analysed how those risks might affect the Greup's and Company’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over
the going concern period. The risks that we considered most likely to adversely affect the Group's and Company's available financial
resources and metrics relevant to debt covenants over this period were:

- The managed exit from the Armor business
« Disruption to the Group's supply chain

« Dependence on a large customer or market

We considered whether these risks could plausibly affect the liquidity or covenant compliance in the going concern pericd by assessing
the degree of downside assumption that, individually and collectively, could result in a iquidity issue, taking into account the Group's
current and projected cash and facilities {a reverse stress test).

Our procedures alse included:

- Comparing past budgets to actual resuits to assess the Directors’ track recerd of budgeting accurately.
- Inspecting the confirmation from the lender of the level of committed financing, and the associated covenant requirements

« We assessed the completeness of the going concern disclosure.
Cur conclusions based on this work:

- We consider that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
apprapfiate;

- We have not identified, and concur with the Directors’ assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty related to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's or Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern for the going concern period,

« We have nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to the Directors’ statement on page 123 to the financial statements
on the use of the going concern basks of accounting with no material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt over the Group and
Company's use of that basis for the going concern period, and we found the going concern disclosure on page 123 10 be acceptable; and

«+ The related statement under the Listing Rules set out on page 67 is materially consistent with the financial staternents and our audit
knowledge.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are inconsistent
with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are not a guarantee that the Group or the
Company will continue in operation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report continued

to the Members of Avon Protection plc

3. Qur application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit

Materiality for the Group financtal statements as a whole was set at $1.5 millian (2020: 51.8 million), determined with reference to a
benchmark of total revenue, of which it represents 0.6% (2020: 0.8% of revenue). We consider total revenue to be the mast appropriate
benchmark as it provides a more stable measure year on year than Group loss before tax.

Materiality for the Parent Company financial statements as a whale was set at £0.8 million (2020: £1.1 million), which Is the component
materiality for the Parent Company determined by the Group audit engagement team. This is lower than the materiality we would
otherwise have determined with reference ta a benchmark of Parent Company total assets, of which it represents 0.4% (2020: 0.4%).

In line with our audit methedolagy, our procedures on individual account balances and disclosures were performed to a lower threshald,
performance materiality, 5o as 1o reduce to an acceptable level the risk that individually immaterial misstatements in individual account
balances add up to a material amount across the financial statements as a whole.

Performance materiality was set at 65% (2020: 75%) of materiality for the Group financial staternents as a whole, which equates to $0.975
rnilfion (2020: $1.3 million). We applied this percentage in our determination of performance materiality based on the level of identified
misstaternents and control deficiencies during the prior period.

Performance materiality was set at 75% (2020 75%) of materiality for the Parent Company financial statements as a whole which equates
to £0.6 million (2020: £0.825 million). We applied this percentage in our determination of perfarmance materiality because we did not
identify any factors indicating an elevated level of risk.

We agreed to report to the Audit Committee any carrected or uncarrecied identified misstaternents exceeding 575,000 (2020: $85000),
in addition to other identified musstaternents that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

Revenue
$248m (2020; $214m Revenue)

Revenye

TOTAL
REVENUE

$248m

Group revenue
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Group Materiality
$1.5m (2020: $1.8m)

$1.5m
Whele financial statements
materiality {20200 £ Bm])

$0.975m
Whole financial staterments performance
materiality (2020 $1.3m)

$1.1m
Range of materiality at six components
(50.15m=51.1m)] (2020: 50.5m to $1.4m}

Group profit before tax

100%

(2020 100%")
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$0.075m
Misstatemnents reported to the audit
committee (2620: $0.09m)

Group total assets
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Full scope for Group
audit purposes 2021

specified risk-focused
audit procedures 2021

Fult scope for Group
audit purposes 2020

Specified risk-focused
audit procedures 2020

Residual compeonents

" In 2021, audht coverage 1s calculated on the above measures to Include all operaticns classed as confinuing or discontinued In 2020 audit coverage was calculated on the
abave measures to only include continging aperations In 2020, for two of the Group's six discontinued reparting components, we perfermed specific procedares other than
awdits for group reportng purposes i order to pravide further coverage over the Group's resuits



The risk

(AL ELTLE]
Statements

13

Ourresponse

Business
combination
accounting

(Valuation of intangible
assets acquired

of $51.7 millon in
respect of the Team
Wendy acquisition
(2020:538.7 million in
respect of the ballistic
protection acguisition)

Risk vs 2020 &

Refer to pages 71 and
72 (Audit Committee
Report), pages 125,
126,128 and 129
{accounting policy)
and pages 156 and 157
(financial disclosures).

Subjective estimate

+ The acquisition of Team Wendy LLC on
2 Movember 2020 tequired the nel assels
acquired 1o be recorded at fair value and for
intangifle assets to be separately idertified
fromr goodwill.

« The fair value of intangible assets acquired
are determined through complex valuation
methods including by forecasting and
discounting future cash flows (based on
assumptions such as discount rates, growth
rates, and royalty rates), which are inherently
highly judgemental.

+ "beeffect of these matters is that, as part
of our rsk assessment, we determined that
the valuation of irtangible assets acquired
on acquisition of the Team Wendy business
cortains a high degree of estimation
uncertainty, with a potential range of
reasonably pessible outcomes greater thar
our materiality as a whole, and possibly
rrany times that amount.

« The sk has increased year-on-year due to the
size of the acguired intangibles in the “eam
Wendy acquisitior relative to matanality and
therefore the potential range of reasorably
possible outcomes is larger and more
sensitive to small changes corrpared to the
ballistic protection acquisition.

Qur procedures included:

- Assessing the valuer's credentials: We evaluated the competence
and independence of the expert engaged by the directors and whether
they had been appropriataly instructed and were provided with complete,
accurate data or which to base therr valuations.

» Our corporate finance expertise and our sector knowledge:

We evaluated, with the assistance of our own valuation specialist, the
basis upen which the Directors identified the irtangible assets acquired
We assessed whether the measurement bases used to estimate the

fair values of the intangible assets were reasonable, taking accourt

of our experience of similar assets in other cornparable situations

and our assessment of the work performed by the third party expert.

« Benchmarking assumptions: We challenged the appropriateress of
discount rates, growth rates, and royalty rates which have been used to
value acquired intangible assets with reference to assumptions developed
by our own valuation specialists, the due dilgerce providers report, post
acquisition trading, and market data.

Assessing transparency: We 3ssessed whether the appropriate
disclosures have been provided on the judgements and estimates applied
ir arrving at the fair valdes

We performed the tests above rather than seeking to rely on any of the
Group's controls because the nature of the balance is such that we would
expect to obtain audit evidence primarily through the detalled procedures
described.

Our results

+ We found the fair values adopted for the intangible assets acquired to be
acceptable (2020: acceptabile).

Recoverability
of Parent
Company’s
investments

in subsidiaries
(£191.0 millton;
2020: £113.7 million)

Risk vs 2020

Refer to page 163
(accounting policy)
and page 166
ffirancial disclosures),

Low risk, high value

The carrying amount of the parent Conrpany’s
irvestrrents ir subsidiaries represenrts 93%
(2020: 43%}) of the Company’s total assets. Their
recoverabllity 15 not at a high nsk of significant
rrisstaternent or subyject to significant
Judgement, However, due to their materiality
in the context of the Parent Compary financial
staternerts, this is corsidered to be the area
that had the greatest effect or our averall
Parent Company audit.

Qur procedures included:

- Tests of detail: Cormparing the carrying armount of 100% of investments
with the relevant subsidiaries’ draft balarce sheet ta identify whether their
net assets, being an approximation of thair minimum recoverable amount,
were in excess of their carrying amount and assessing whether those
sJbsidiaries have historically been profit-making
Assessing subsidiary audits: Assessing the work perfarmed by the
subsidiary audit tearm and the Group team or all of those subsidiaries
and considering the results of that work, on those subisidiaries’ profits
and ret assets,

Where the carrying amourt of an investrrent was below the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets, our procedures also included:

Qur sector experience: Challenging the reverue growth and long-term
growth rates included in the budgets based on our knowledge of the
Group and the markets in which the subsidiary operates,

« Historical comparisons: Assessing the reasorableness of the
subsidiary’s budgets by considening the historical accuracy of the previous
forecasts, and

- Our sector axperience: tvaluating the current level of the subsidiary’s
trading, ncluding identifyirg ary mdicatiors of a downtern in actvity, by
exarrinirg the post year end managernent accounts and considerirg our
knowledge of the Group and the rmarket,

We performed the tests above rather than seeking to rely on ary of the
Company’s cortrols because the nature of the balance 15 such that we
would expect to abtain audit evidence primarily through the detailed
procedures described

Our results

We fourd the Company's corclusion that there is ro impairment of
its irvestments in subsidiaries to be acceprable (2020 acceptable),

We continue to perform procedures over the pension obligation. However, in the cantext of the increased nsk identified this year for
some of the key audit matters outlined above, we have not assessed this as one of the most significant risks in our current year audit and,
therefore, itis not separately identified in our report this year.
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Independent Auditor’s Report continued

to the Members of Avon Protection plc

2. Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement continued

Therisk

Qur response

Impairment of
Armor business
assets

Total Armor business
refated assets
impairment charges
ard inventory
impairment; $46.8
millior {2023 nify

Risk vs 2020: hew risk

Refer to page /2 (Audn
Cammittee Report),
pages 125,127,and 129
faccounting policy)
and pages 135,
137,138, and 140
(finarcial disclosdres).

Subjective estimate

On 12 November 2021 the Group arnounced
a strategic review of the Armor business
following the failure of the VTP ESAPI first
arucle test ard the delay ir the DLA ESAP
first article 1est approval. The outcorre of this
review was a decision to instigate a orderly
wind-down of the Arrror business

The key accounting Judgement is 1o what
extent the abave circamstances should be
corsidered in determining the estimated
recoverable amounts of the Armor business
related assets, ard the net realisable value
of associated inventory at the balance
sheet date,

Ir determrining the recoverable amounts
of the Armor business related assets,
judgement is required in determiring

the level at which to group assets for
Impairmert testing.

Subjective estimate:

« Thre estimated recoverable amourts of the
Armor business related assets ae supported
by discountad future cash flows (based on
assumptions such as discount rates and
revenue growth rates), which are inherently
Fighly judgerental.

- The effect of these matters is that, as part
of our risk assessment for audit plannirg
purpases, we deterrmired that the estimated
recoverable arraunts of the Armor
business related assets had a high degree
of estimatior uncertairty, with a potential
rarge of reasorable outcomes greater than
our materiality for the financial staterrerts as
awhale. In canducting aur final audit work,
we reassessed the degree of estimation
uncertainty to be less than that rrareriality.

Our procedures included:

+ Accounting analysis; We critically assessed the judgemerts made
in the Group's impairment assessments for the Armar business related
assets in relation to the extert that the post year-cnd events should be
ircorporated into the assessments, and the level at which assets have
been grouped for impairment testing with reference to the relevant
accounting standards,

For each level at which the Group performed irrpairment testing for the
Armor business related assets (Product level, Armor business level, Ballistics
business level and Avon Protection business level) we bave performed the
following procedures:

Historical comparison and our sector knowledge: YWe challerged
the detalled forecasts which support the estimated recoverable amount at
each level by reference to histoncal accuracy of previous forecasts. At the
praduct level, we also held discussions with operational maragemert on
the likelihood ard timing of when rew products are expected 1o receive
regulatory clearance as compared 1o what was assumed ir the forecasts
and the size of the potertial market.

- Benchmarking assumptions: We compared the Group's assumptions
to externally derived data ir relation to key inputs such as revenue growth
rates and discount rates.

- Sensitivity analysis: We performed sensitiity analysis to determine
if reasornably possible changes ir discaunt rates and growth rates would
result in material changes to the impairmerts recognised, or addinonal
impairments being recogrised.

- Assaessing transparancy: \We assessed the adequacy of the Group's
disclosures of the judgements irvelved in the impairmrent review
perfarmed, and the disclosure of the implications of the strategic review
on the business as a post balance sheet event.

we performed the tests above rather than seeking to rely on any of the
Group's controls because the nature of the batance 15 such that we would
expect to obtair audit eviderce primarily through the detalled procedures
descnbed.

Our results

« We fourd the extent to which the Group treated post year-end events as
adjusting to be acceptable.
We found the Armor business related assets balances, and the related
impairment charges, to be acceptable {2020 result: we found the Group’s
conclusion that there was no impairment of Armor business related assets
10 be acceptable).
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2. Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements
and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due t¢ fraud) identified by us, including those
which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the aliocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagement team. We summarise below the key audit matters, in decreasing order of audit significance, in arriving at our audit opinicn
above, together with our key audit procedures to address those matters and, as required for public interest entities, our resuits from those
procedures. These matters were addressed, and our results are based on procedures undertaken, in the context of, and solely for the
purpose of, our audit of the financial staternents as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and consequently are incidental to that
opinicn, and we do not provide a separate opinicn on these matters.

Therisk Our response
Development Subjective estimate: Qur procedures included:
costs exr.lu-ding - The esumated recoverable amount of these  *  Historical comparison:
Armor business We assessed the accuracy of the Group's forecasting by comparing actual

intangible assets is supported by forecasting

and discounting future cash flows (hased cash flows for products in the penod to the prior period forecasts.

related costs

Nonr-armor on assumptions sach as discount rates « For arnsk-based selection of products, aur procedures included:
i i h h hich .
mpawrme_n_‘c ChBrges and revenue: grovf't rates), which are - Our sector knowledge: We challenged the detailed forecasts which
of 50.3 million inherently highly judgemental. These ) . )

) X ) support the estimated recaverable amount by reference to discussions
(2020, nil} uncertainties, combined with the guantam

A ; with operational management on the likelibood and timing of when
of the intangibles balance, rmeans that the

recoverable amourt of development costs 15
subject to significant estimation urcertainty.

new DFOGU(TS alrg expect&-d to recelve customer or regulatory clearance
as compared 10 what was assurred in the forecasts and the size of the
potential market.

(Armor business
related development
costs are coverad The crirical . blish wheth
in the ‘Impairment € cr_mca \sslue 15 10 establish whether - Benchmarking assumptions: We compared the Group’s

. there is sufficient demard for the products .
of Armcr business assumptions to externally derived data in relation to key inputs

. which generate these cash flows and .
related assets’ key 1en gene these ¢ o such as revenue growth rates and disceunt rates.
) whether the product will meet the
audit ratter)

requirernents of the customer or required
Risk vs 2020: A regulatory approval and the timing of this
approval, which s inherently subjective
as this irvolves an assessment of the

- Sensitivity analysis: Ve performred sensitivity analysis to determine
if reascnably possible changes in discount rates ard growth rates
would result in additional impairments being recognised.

Refer 1o page 72

tAudit Committee

Report), page 125

ard 128 {accodrtung

policy) and pages _ )
136and 137 firancial | he effect of these matters is that, &s part We performed the tests above rather than seeking to rely on any of the

of our risk assessment, we determined that  company's controls because the nature of the balerce is such that we
the estimated recaverable amount of these  would expect to obtan audit evidence prmanly through the detailed
assets has a high degree of estirration procedures described.

uncertainty, with a potential range of
reasorable outcomes greater thar our

- Assess transparency: We assessed whether the Group's disclosures
about the sensitivity of the outcome of the Impairment assessment 1o
changes in key assdmptions reflect the risks inkerent in the estimation
of the recoverable arrount of the non-armor development costs.

probability of future outcomes. Uncertairties
with key project approvals have ircreased
the level of estimation uncertainty.

disclosures).

Qur results

materiality for the financial statements + We found the development costs excludirg Armaor busiress related

as a whole, and possibly rrany times that costs balance, and the related impairmert charge to be acceptabile
amount. The financial statements {page 137} (2020: we fourd the Group’s conclusion that there was no iImpairmeant
disclase the sensitivity estimated by the of the development costs excludirg Armor business related costs balarce

Group. to be acceptable).




Avon Protection plc/ Annuz Report and Accounts 2021

Independent Auditor’s Report

to the Members of Avon Protection plc

1. Our opinion is unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of Aven Protection ple (the Company’) for the year ended 30 September 2021 which comprise
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Cash
Flow Staternent, and the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity, and the related notes, including the
accounting policies sections in both the Group and Parent Cormpany financial staterments. In our opinion:

« the financial staterments give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 30 September
2021 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;
the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;
the Parent Campany financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK. accounting standards including
FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and
the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the reguirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the 1AS Regulation to the extent applicable.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit In accordance with International Standards on Auditing (U.K) (8As (UK and applicable law. Our responsibilities
are described below. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our apinion. Our audit
opinion is consistent with our report to the Audit Committee.

We were first appointed as auditor by the shareholders on 1 February 2019. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is for the three
financial years ended 30 September 2021, We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and we remain independent of the Group

in accordance with, UK. ethical requirernents including the FRC Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities. No nen-audit
services prohibited by that standard were provided.

Overview

Materiality: Group financial 15 million (2020. $1.8 millicn)

staternents as a whole
0.6% (2020: 0.8%} of revenue

Coverage 100% (2020 100%) of Group revenue

Key audit matters 2021vs 2020

Recurring risks Development costs excluding Armor business related costs ) A

Eventdriven Impairment of Armar business assets MNEW
Business combination accounting A

Parent Company Recoverability of Parent Company’s investment in subsidiaries <P
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We have continued to
see good commercial
momentum in 2021.
However, the results
for the year have been
impacted by delays
in the body armor
contracts. |y
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Performance Measures

The following tables outline the adjustments made in 2020 to remove the impact of the milkrite | interPuls divestment.

2020

2021 5m

Shareholders funds $m restated’
Shareholders funds N 205.4 2295
Less sales proceeds - {2273)
Add back net assets disposed L - 443
Add back casts of divestment - 113
Add back tax on gain - 1.7
Shareholders funds for ROCE 2054 695
2020

2021 $m

Current borrowings $m restated’
Current borrowings B 40 427
Current provisions for liabilities and charges ) 3.5 9.6
Current borrowings for ROCE 75 523
2020

2021 sm

Non current liabilities $m restated’
Non current liabilities 1458 1236
Add back labiliues disposed o - 78
Non current liabilities for ROCE 1458 1314
2020

2021 im

Adjusted operating profit for ROCE $m restated’
Adjusted continuing operating profit 220 385
Add back adjusted discontinued aperating profit (as below) - .__10e
Adjusted operating profit for ROCE 220 494
2020

$m

Adjusted discontinued operating profit restated’
Profit after tax from discontinued operations ) 69
Add back taxation 1.0
Profit befare tax from discontinued operations 79
Add back finance costs oAl
Add back amortisation of acquired intangibles within discontinued operations 29
Adjusted discontinued operating profit 109

1 On 1 Octeber 2020, the Groug changed its reporting currency fram sterling to U 'S dellars. See page 123 n accounting pohcres for further detarls

The ROCE for 2020 has been restated to correctimmaterial misstaternents identified following the FRC's review of the Group’s 2020
Annual Report and Accounts {page 73). The corrections reduce the 2020 ROCE to 22.3% from the previously reported 22.7%.
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Adjusted Performance Measures continued

Cash conversion
Cash conversion excludes the impact of exceptional items from operating cash flows and EBITDA,

2020

2021 $m

$m restated’

Cash flows from continuing operations before exceptional items 313 400
Adjusted EBITDA 376 490
Cash conversion 83.2% B16%
2020

2021 $m

Cash flows from continuing operations before exceptional items $m restated’
Cash flows from continuing operations 269 291
Acquisition and integration costs paid 4.4 109
31.3 40.0

Cash flows from continuing operations before exceptional items

1 On 1 Octeber 2020, the Group changed its reportng currency from stering to WS dollars See page 123 1n accownnng policies for further details

in the prior year the Group also presented organic cash conversion as an alternative performance measure. Given the significant
acguisitions in the current and prior years, a comparison against the historic base business was no longer considered relevant, and
also could not be presented consistently. Therefore this measure is no longer disclosed.

Organic revenue

2020

2021 sm
$m restated’
2073 2136

Fevenue, excluding Team Wendy

Organic revenue growth compares Current year revenue with prior year revenue, excluding the impact of acquisitions.

Return on capital employed (ROCE)
Return on capital employed (ROCE) is calculated as adjusted operating profit over average capital employed. The following shows the

ROCE calculations and reconciling tables:

2020

2021 $m

m restated’

Shareholders funds 2054 69.5
Current borrowings o 75 523
Mon current liabilities 1458 1314
Capital employed 3587 253.2
Average capital employed 3821 2220
_Adjusted operating profit 220 o 492
Return on capital employed 5 8% 22.3%
2020

201 Sm

Average capital employed $m restated’
Current year capital employed _ 3587 2532
Prior year capital employed o 4054 190.8
3821 2228

Average capital employed

In 2020, the Return on capital employed (ROCE) was adjusted to remove the impact of the milkrite | InterPuls divestment, including the
proceeds from this divestment which had not been reinvested at the end of the financial year. The Directors considered this provided a
fairer representation of the ROCE in 2020 given milkrite | InterPuls was held throughout the year.

The milkrite | InterPuls divestment procecds were reinvested in 2021, principally via the acquisition of Team Wendy on 2 November 2020.
This has resulted in an upwards rebasing of shareholders funds and capital employed due to the recognition of the gain of $167.6 million

arising on the divestment of milkrite | InterPuls,
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Performance Measures

5 Adjustments to (loss)/profit for the year

2020
2021 $m
$m restated’
{Loss)/profit for the year (25.6) 1714
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 14.2 83
Impairments related to armor assets 45.1 -
Armor inventory provisions 17
Release of contingent consideration as7n -
Defined benefit pension unwind discount 1.3 10
Contingent consideration unwind discount 2.2 29
Finance fees written off on refinancing - 04
Acquisition costs 26 107
Integration costs ) - 29
Inventory fair value acquisition accounting adjustment 24 -
Inventory pro-forma acquisition accounting adjustment (unaudited) - 27
Wirite down of brought forward capitalised cloud computing costs 0.7 -
Tax on exceptional items (114 (75)
Loss/(Prefit) from discontinued operations 11 (1676)
Adjusted profit for the year 18.6 302
1 On 1 October 2020, the Group changed its reporting currency frorm sterling to U.S. dellars, See page 123 in accounting policies for further details.
6 Adjusted earnings per share
Weighted average number of shares 2021 2020
Weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue used in basic calculation (thousands) 30,669 30,576
_Potentially dilutive shares {weighted average) (thousands) 189 423
Diluted number of ordinary shares fweighted average) (thousands) 30,858 30,999
2020
2021 § cents
Adjusted continuing earnings per share $ cents restated’
Basic o 60.6 986
Diluted 60.3 973
1 On 1 Octaber 2020, the Group changed its reporting cuirency from sterling to US dollars See page 12310 accounting polickes for further details.
Net debt/{cash}
2020
2021 sm
$m restated'
Net debt/cash) 55.9 Me7
Less lease liabilities 291 (290)
Net debt/(cash) excluding lease liabilities 268 (1477}
1 0n10October 2020, the Group changed its reporting carrency from sterhing to S dollars See page 123 in accounting pelicies for further detads.
Adjusted dividend cover ratio
2020
2021 % cents
$ cents restated'
Interim dividend 14.3 1no
Final dividend 306 235
Total dividend 449 345
Adjusted basic earnings per share 60.6 986
Adjusted dividend cover ratio 1.3 1imes 291tmes

1 On ¥ Ccrober 2020, the Group changed its reporting currency fram sterling 1o US daollars See page 123 i accounung pelicies for further detalls

105
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Adjusted Performance Measures continued

Acquisition costs, integration costs and acquisition accounting adjustments

These charges resulted from two significant acquisitions by the Group, which are considered exceptional items as they are material
and unrelated 1o the underlying trading activiues of the business.

Acquisition costs of $2.6 million (2020; $107 million) relating to the acquisition of Team Wendy and the 3M ballistic protection business.
In 2020, the exceptional costs also included transition costs of $2.2 million in relation to the acquisition of the 3M ballistic

prozection business.

Acquisition accounting adjustment of $2.4 million to account for acquired inventory at the underlying historic cost before the fair
value adjustments arising on acquisition.

In 2020, ar unaudited pro-forma acguisition accounting adjustment to inventory was made for $7.7 million. This reflected the
difference hetween fair value of inventory acquired from 3M and the estimated cost of that inventary based on the cost structure
assodiated with the business acquired. No such adjustments has been made in respect of the Team Wendy acquisition.

Other exceptional items

The write down of brought forward capitalised costs as at 1 October 2020 refating to configuration and customisation costs of cloud
computing arrangements 50.7 milion (2020: Nil), following newly issued guidance by the IFRS Interpretations Committee. This change in
guidance was unrefated to the underlying trading performance of the Group hence has been presented as exceptional. Costs associated
with canfiguration and customisation of cloud computing arrangements incurred in the 2021 finandial year have been expensed as
incurred and included within the adjusted performance measures.

2 Adjustments to net finance costs

Adjusted net finance costs excludes exceptional items considered unrelated to the underlying trading perfarmance of the Group.

2020

2021 im

$m restated’

Netfinance costs B 86 6.7

Defined benefit pension unwind discount o 1.3 {1.0)

Contingent consideration unwind discount (2.2) 29
Finance fees written offon refinancing - 04)

Adjusted net finance costs 3.1 24

1 Qr 1 Gerober 2020, the Group changed its reporung currency from stering to U S dollar, See page 123 1in accounting policies for further details,

+ $1.3 million (2020 51.0 million) unwind of discounting on the UK. defined benefit pension scheme liability is treated as exceptional
given the scheme relates to employees employed prior to 31 January 2003 and was closed to future accrual of benefits on 1 October
2009 {hote 6.2).
$2.2 million (2020: $2.9 milhion) unwind of discounting on contingent consideration relating to the acquisition of the 3M ballistic
protection business.
$0.4 million of finance fees written off in 2020 on refinancing have been treated as exceptional as the bank facility was refinanced early
to support the Team Wendy acguisition.

3 Adjustments to taxation

Adjustments 1o taxation represent the tax effects of the adjustments to operating profit and net finance costs, Adjusting items do not
have significantly different effective tax rates, with the overall effective rate of 21% (2020: 22%) approximating statutory rates applicable.

4 (Loss)/profit from discontinued operations
The adjusted profit measures exclude the result from discontinued operations relating to the divestment of milkrite | InterPuls.
During the year, the Group incurred a loss after tax of $1.1 million on these discontinued operations. The prior period contained a total

profit from discontinued operations of $167.6 millior, being the profit after tax of mitkrite | InterPuls operations of $6.9 millen and a
post-tax gain on disposal of $160.7 million.
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Performance Measures

1 Adjustments to operating profit

Adjusted operating profit excludes exceptional items considered unrelated to the underlying trading performance of the Group
Transactions are dlassified as exceptional where they relate to an event that falls outside of the underlying trading activities of the
business and where individually, or in aggregate, they have a material impact on the financial statements,

2020
2021 $m
$m restated’
Operating (loss)/profit (29.00 89
Amortisation of acquired intangibles” 142 8.3
Items related to armor assets -
Impairment of acquired intangibles 1.3
Impairment of development expenditure . 8.1 -
Impairment of right of use assets 117 -
Impairment of plant and machinery B 139 -
_Impairment of leasehold improvements 7 B 0.1 -
Inventory provisions N N 17 -
Release of contingent consideration {15.7]
Nat charge related to armor assets 311 -
Acquisition costs B 26 10.7
Integration casts - 29
Inventory fair value acquisition accounting adjustment . 24 -
_Inventory pro-forma acquisition accounting adjustment (unaudited} - 77
Write down of brought forward capitalised cloud computing costs 07 -
Other adjusting items 57 213
Adjusted operating profit 220 385
Depreciation ) 104 65
Other impairment charges 04 -
Other amaortisation charges 7 48 483
Adjusted EBITDA 376 480

1 On 1 October 2020, the Group changed 1ts reporting currency from sterling to U5, dollars. See page 123 in accounting policies for further details,
2 $73millicn of 2021 amortisation charges for acquired intangible assets relate to the armer business,

Amortisation of acquired intangibles
Amartisation charges for acquired intangible assets of $14.2 million (2020: $8.3 million) are considered exceptional as they do not change
each period based cn underlying business trading and performance.

Items related to armor assets

On 12 November 2021 the Group announced the next-generation VTP ESAP| bady armor product had failed first article testing. This
followed a similar result in December 2020 for the legacy DLA ESAPI body armor product. It was also announced that the Group is
experiencing further delays to achieving final product approval for the DLA ESAPI product, pushing expected revenues from the second
quarter into the third quarter of FY22.

The failure of the VTP ESAPI body armor product is considered an adjusting event that provides evidence of conditions that existed at
the end of the reporting period. As such the Group performed an impairment review of assets at 30 September 2021 removing all future
revenue for VTP ESAPI body armar. The review also incorporated reduced revenue expectations for DLA ESAPLin line wath minimum
volumes for the base and two extension years.

The review resulted in total non-current asset impairments of $45.1 million in respect of assets relating to the armor business acquired
from 3M as part of the ballistic protection acquisition. In addition, inventory provisions of $1.7 millien were recognised against VTP ESAPI
armor materials.

Offsetting these charges, a gain of $15.7 million was recognised to reduce the net present value of the contingent consideration payable
to 3M as a result of the reduced revenue expectations from the DLA ESAPI body armor contract.

The impairment charges, provisions and related release of contingent consideration resulted from changes in recoverable amounts and
expected future payments arising from assumptions of forecast trading. As such they are considered unrelated to 2021 trading performance
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Adjusted Performance Measures

Performance measurement

The Directors assess the operating performance of the Group based on adjusted measures of EBITDA, operating profit, net finance cost,
taxation and earnings per share, as well as other measures not defined under IFRS including orders received, closing order book, organic
revenue growth, EBITDA margin, cash conversion, Return on Capital Employed and net debt excluding lease liabilities. These measures
are collectively described as Adjusted Performance Measures (APMs) in this Annual Report.

The Directors believe that the APMs provide a useful comparison of business trends and performance. The APMs exclude exceptional
iterns considered unrelated 1o the underlying trading performance of the Group. The term adjusted is not defined under IFRS and may
rot be comparable with similarly titled measures used by other companies.

The Group uses these maasures for planning, budgeting, and reporting purpases and for its internal assessment of the operational

perfarmance within the Group.

Adjusted Performance Measures

The following table summarises the statutory and adjusted profit and lass account measures for the year together with the adjustments
made 1o each line itern.

2021 2020 - restated’
Adjusted Adjustments Total Adjusted Adjustments Total
$m $m $m $m 5m Sm

Continuing operations o
Revenue 2483 - 248.3 2136 - 2136
Costof sales (1654) {4 (1825 (1224 (72N (130.13
Gross profit 829 4.1} 78.8 12 (77 835
Selling and distribution costs 222y - 222 174 - 1174}
General and administrative expenses - 387 46.9) (85.6) (35.3) @y {57.2)
Operating (loss)/profit L 220 (51.00 (29.0) 385 (296) 29
Operating profit o o
EBITDA o 3/6 9.0 46.6 420 - 1213} 277
Depreciation, amortsation and impairment (15 6} {60.0) (75.6) {10.5) 83) (18.8)
Operating (loss)/profit (ncte 1) 220 (51.0) (29.0) 385 (296) 39
Net finance ¢osts {note 2) 3.1} (3.5 {6 6) 24 43 {6.7)
{Loss)/Profit before taxation j‘; (54.5) {35.6) 361 (339) 22
Taxation {note 3) 0.3} 114 1.1 (5.3 75 14
{Loss)/Profit for the year from continuing operations 186 3.0 245 302 {26.4) 38
Discontinued operations - gain on disposal (note 4) - - - - 160.7 160.7
Discontinued operations - (loss)/profit from
discantinued operations (note 4) - (1.1) (1.1} - 69 69
(Loss}/profit for the year (note 5) 186 (44 2) {256) 302 141.2 1714
Basic {loss)/earnings per share 60.6¢ (144.1c) {83 5¢) 98.6¢° 4615¢ 560.5¢
Diluted {loss)/earnings per share 60 3¢ {143 3¢] 183.00) 97.3C 455 &¢ 552.9¢

1 On 1 October 2020, the Group changed its reporung carrency from sterhng to U.S dollars See page 123 1n accounting policies for further details
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s+ use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either
intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do sc.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adeguate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Parent
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Parent Company and enable
thern to ensure that its financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006

They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent
and detect fraud and cther irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also
responsible for preparing a Strategic Report, Directors’ Report,
Directors’ Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance
Staterment that complies with that law and those regulations. The
Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information included on the Company's
website. Legislation in the UK. governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ confirmations

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed on
pages 62 and 63, confirms that to the best of their knowledge:

the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the
applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the
Company and the undertakings included in the consclidation
taken as a wholg;
the Strategic Report/Directors’ Report include a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the position
of the issuer and the undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties that they face; and

- the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, are fair,
balanced and understandable, and provide the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s position
and performance, business model and strategy.

The Directors’ Report and responsibility statement was approved
by the Board of Directors on 14 December 2021 and is signed on its
behalf by:

Vot 1Pkl

Paul McDonald
Chief Executive Officer

14 Decermnber 2021
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Directors’ Report continued

Employee share schemes and plans

The Graup encourages its employees to share in the future success
of the Group and operates three share based incentive plans. The
Avon Rubber Share Incentive Plan (SIP) is open to all eligible UK.
employees. Under the SIP participants are able to purchase shares
in the Company monthly using deductions from their pre-tax pay.
The Avon Rubber Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) is open to
all eligible LS. employees. Under the ESPP, participants are able 1o
purchase shares in the Company at a discounted rate from payrall
deductions. The Avon Rubber Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

is designed ta align Executive Directors’ and senior employees’
interests with those of shareholders and to incentivise the delivery
of sustainable earnings growth and superior shareholder returns,
Discretionary awards are granted under the LTIP over a fixed
number cf shares by reference to salary, with awards crdinarily
vesting, subject to meeting performance criteria, on the third
anniversary of the grant date.

Environmental and corporate social responsibility

Matters relating to Environmental and Corporate Social
Responsibility including reference to our pelicy on diversity
are set out in the new Sustainability Report on pages 30 to 37.

Greenhouse gas emissions

The disclosures concerning greenhouse gas emissions required
by law are included in the new Sustainability Report an page 31

Political and charitable contributions

No pelitical contributions were made during the year or the prior
year. Contributions for charitable purpeses amounted to $45,132
{2020: $46,965) consisting exclusively of numerous small donations
to various community charities in Wiltshire, Maryland, Michigan,
New Hampshire, California, Ohio and Kentucky.

Policy on employee disability

Avon Protection provides support, training and development
opportunities to all our employees irrespective of any disabilities
they may have. We give full and fair consideration to disabled
applicants, and where an existing employee becomes disabled
during their employment, we will make every effort to enabile
them to continue their employment with Avon Protection in
their original or an alternative role.

Financial instruments

An explanation of the Group policies on the use of financial
instruments and financial risk management objectives arc
contained in note 5.4 of the financial statements.

Independent auditors

The Cirectors who held office at the date of approval of this
Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there
is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor

is unaware; and each Direcror has taken all the steps that they
ought 1o have taken as a Director 10 make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to estabtish that the Company’s
auditors are aware of that information.

Auditor

KPMG LLP has expressed its willingness to continue in office as
independent auditor and a resalution 1o re-appoint them and
authorising the Board to agree their remuneration will be proposed
at the AGM.

Annual General Meeting

The Company’s AGM will be held at our Hampton Park West facility,
Semingten Road, Melksham, Wiltshire SN12 6NB on 28 January
2022 at 10.30am. Registration will be from 10.00am. The Notice of
the AGM anrd an explanation of the resolutions to be put to the
meeting are set out in the Notice of Meeting and can be found on
pages 169 10 174

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect
of the Annual Report and the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and
the Group and Parent Company financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Parent
Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law they are required 1o prepare the Group financiai statements in
accordance with international accounting standards in conformity
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and applicable
law and have elected to preparce the Parent Company financial
statements in accordance with UK. accounting standards and
applicable law, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.
In addition the Group financial statements are required under the
UK. Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules to be prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies
in the European Union (1FRSs as adopted by the EU').

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and Parent Company and of
their profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of the Group and
Parent Company financial statemenits, the Directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant
and reliable;

for the Group financial staternents, state whether they have
been prepared in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting Standards
adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies
in the Eurcpean Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU');

for the Parent Company financial statements, state whether
applicable UK. accounting standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in
the financial statements;

assess the Group and Parent Company's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and
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Significant agreements - change of control

The only significant agreements to which the Company is a party
which take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of
the Company following a takeover bid are the Company’s:

revolving credit facility agreement
Long-Term Incentive Plan ('the Plan’)

The unsecured revolving credit facility of $200 million provided by
Barclays Bank PLC, Comerica Bank Inc, Fifth Third Bank NA, National
Westminster Bank ple, CIC and Bank of Ireland contains a provision
which, it the event of a change of cantral of the Company, gives
each lending bank the right ta cancel its commitments to the
Company and to dedare all the outstanding amounts and accrued
interest owed to such lending bank immediately due and payable. If
a lending bank does not exercise this right within 15 business days of
being notified of the change of control, it shall not be able to cancel
its commitments or reguire repayment of its share of the amounts
outstanding under the facility in respect of such change of control.

A change of control will be deemed to have occurred if any person
or group of persons acting in concert {as defined in the City Code
on Takeovers and Mergers) gains direct or indirect control of

the Comgany.

Under the rules of the Plan, on a takeover a proportion of each
outstanding grant will vest. The number of shares that vest is to
be determined by the Remuneration Committee, including by
reference to the extent 1o which the performance condition has
been satisfied and the number of months that have passed since
the award was made.

Itis also possible that the trustee of the pension plan would seek to
review the current funding arrangements and deficit recovery plan
as part of or following a change of control, particularly if that
resulted in & weakening of the employer covenant.

The Company does not have agreements with any Director or
employee that would provide compensation for loss of office or
employment resulting from a change of control, except in relation
to the Long Term Incentive Plan as described above.

Directors

The current Directors gs at 14 December 2021 and their
biographies are shown on pages 62 and 63. David Evans and Pim
Vervaat stepped down from the Board on 2 December 2020 and
29 January 2021 respectively. Victar Chavez CBE was appointed as
an Independent Non-Executive Director and member of the Audit,
Nomination and Remuneration Committees on 1 December 2020.

As announced on 25 May 2021, after what will be five years,
Nick kKeveth will retire from the Board on or before the end of
March 2022

According 1o the Articles of Association, all Directors are subject
to election by shareholders at the first AGM following their
appointment, and to re-election thereafter atintervals of no mare
than three years. In line with best practice reflected in the UK.
Corporate Governance Code, all current Directors will be standing
for reappointment at the forthcoming AGM to be held on

28 January 2022.
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The remuneration of the Directors inchuding their respective
shareholdings in the Company is set out in the Remuneration
Report an pages 75 10 95,

The Company's rules about the appeintment and replacement of
Directors, together with the powers of Directors, are contained in
the Articles. Changes to the Articles must be approved by special
resalution of the shareholders.

Directors’ and Officers’ indemnity insurance

In accordance with the Company's Articles and subject to the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006 (‘the Act’), the Company
maintains, at its expense, Director's and Officer's insurance to
provide cover in respect of legal action against its Birectors. This
was in force throughout the financial year and remains in force as at
the date of this report.

The Company’s Articles allow the Company 1o provide the
Directors with funds to cover the costs incurred in defending
legal proceedings. The Company is therefore treated as providing
an indemnity for its Directars and Company Secretary which is

a gualfying third-party indemnity provision for the purposes of
the ACT.

Conflicts of interest

During the year no Director held any beneficial interest in any
contract significant to the Company’s business, other than a
contract of emplayment. The Company has pracedures set outin
the Articles for managing conflicts of interest. Should a Director
become aware that they, or their connected parties, have an
interestin an existing or proposed transaction with the Group, they
are required 1o notify the Board as scon as reasonably practicable.

Research and development

The Group continues to utilise its technical and materials expertise
to remain at the forefrant of innovative technology and produce
specialist products and services to maximise the performance and
capabilities of its customers, The Group maintains 11s links 1o key
universities in the U.S. and UK. and continues to work with new
and existing customers and suppliers 1o develop its knowledge
and product range. Total Group expenditure on research and
development in the year was $19.1 million (2020: $11.8 million),
further details of which are contained in the Strategic Report on
page 46.

Corporate governance

The Company's statement on corporate governance ¢an be
found in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 64 1o 67,
The Corporate Governance Report forms part of this Directors’
Report and is Incorporated into it by cross-reference.

Stakeholder engagement

The Board factors stakehelder opinions and feedback into thelr
decisions 1o ensure the Impact on key stakeholders’ needs and
concerns are considered. More information on how the Board
engages with stakeholders can be faund in the section 172 on
pages 58 and 58,
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Directors’ Report

The Directors submit the Annual Report and audited financial
statements of Avan Pratection plc (‘the Company’) and the

Avon Protection group of companies, ('the Group') for the vear
ended 30 September 2021. The Company is a public limited
cormpany incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales with
company registration number 32965. The Company's subsidiary
undertakings, including those located outside the UK, are listed
in note 74 of the financial statements. The Company changed its
name from Avon Rubber p.l.c.on 12 July 2021.

Strategic Report

Thie Strateyiv Repot L, which contains a review of the Group’s
business (including by reference 1o key performance indicators),
a description of the principal risks and uncertamnties facing the
Group, and commentary on likely future developments is set out
on pages 16 to 59 and is incorporated into this Directors’ Report
by reference.

Financial results and dividend

The Group statutory loss for the year after taxation amounts te
$25.6 miflion (2020 restated profit $171.4 million). Full details are
set out in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
on page 118.

An interim dividend of 14.3 U.5. cents per share (converted to
10.34p) was paid in respect of the year ended 30 September 2021
{2020: 9.02p).

The Directors recommend a final dividend of 30.6 US. cents per
share, which will be converted into GBP priar to payment to
shareholders {2020: 18.06p) resulting in a total dividend distribution
per share for the year to 30 September 2021 of 449 US. cents per
share (2020: 27.08p).

Share capital

The Company only has one class of share capital, which comprises
ordinary shares of £1 each. As at 14 December 2021 the Company
has 31,023,292 shares in issue and no shares were issued during
the year, All shares forming part of the ordinary share caprtal have
the same rights and carry one vote each. There are no unusual
restrictions on the transfer of a share. Further details of the shares
in issue during the financial year are set out in note 5.5 of the
financial staterments,

Substantial shareholdings

The full rights and obligaticns attaching to the Company’s shares as
well as the powers of Directors are set out in the Company's Articles
of Association (‘the Articles’), copies of which can be obtained

from Companies House or by writing to the Company Secretary.
Shareholders are entitled to receive the Company's reports and
accounts, to attend and speak at general meetings, to exercise
voting rights in person or by appointing a proxy and to receive a
dividend where declared or paid out of profits available for that
purpose. There are no restrictions on the transfer of issued shares
or on the exercise of voting rights attached to them, except where
the Company has suspended their voting rights or prohibited their
transfer following a failure to respond to a notice to shareholders
under section 793 of the Companies Act 2006, or where the holder
is precluded from transferring or voting by the Finandial Services
Authority’s Listing Rules or the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers,

The 334,933 shares held in the names of the two Employee Share
Ownership Trusts are held as a hedge against awards previously
made or to be made pursuant to the Long-Term Incentive Plan are
held on terms which provide voting rights to the Trustee, During
the year the trust acquired 95,855 shares at a cost of £3,099,869.

The Company is not aware of any agreements between its
sharcholders which may restrict the transfer of their shares or the
exercise of their voting rights, The only exception to this being that
the Trustees of the two Employee Share Ownership Trusts have
waived their rights to dividends.

At the Company’s last AGM held on 29 January 2021, sharehciders
authorised the Company to make market purchases of up to
3,102,329 of the Company’s issued ordinary shares. No shares were
purchased under this authority during the year. A resolution will be
put to sharehalders at the forthcoming AGM to renew this authority.

The Directors require authority to allot unissued share capital of
the Company and to disapply shareholders’ statutory pre-emption
nights. Such authorities were granted at the 2020 AGM and
resolutions to renew these authorities will be proposed at the 2021
AGM, see explanatory notes on pages 171 to 173. No shares were
allotted under this authority during the year.

As at 30 September 2021 the following shareholders held 3% or more of the Company’s issued share capital

Fidelity Management & Research Company {FMR} o 8.24%
Capital Research and Management Company ) 6.69%
Franklin Templeton Fund Management Ltd L _ 5.62%
Kernpen Capital Management o e 5.88%
BlackRock Investment Management . o 4.82%
vanguard GroupInc .~ _ 345%
Schroder Investment Management o 3.3%%
Hargreaves Lansdown Stockbrokers 314%
Wasatch Advisors Inc 311%
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As a result, the Company sought 1o engage with all those major shareholders who veted against the resolution to better understand their
reasons for doing so. Amongst the shareholders who engaged with us it appears there were two main reascns which explained their
decision to vote against. The first was due to the size of the salary increases applied to the Executive Directors for FY2021 (including the
fact that they were not phased over more than one year) and the second was in relation to the timing of the Executive Directors’ pension
reductions, where contribution rates are recucing 1o the workforce fevel from 1 Qctober 2023 and not fram 1 January 2023

The Cammittee understands the general sentiment towards increases to senior executives salaries but remains camfortable that the
revised salaries were not excessive and that the previous salaries were very modest. However, the Committee will consider the feedback
received when reviewing salaries over the life of the current policy.

In additicn, the Committee is supportive generally of the drive 1o align Executive Directors’ pension contributions with those of the
workfaorce, as evidenced by the cormmitment to daing so within the new remuneration policy. The timescale within which the transition
to the workforce Jevel will take place was considered carefully in the round alongside the other various changes to the policy we

were seeking approval for. While the Committee concluded that achieving alignment aver the life of the policy was a fair approach,
Paul McDonald has volunteered to reduce his pension to the workforce rate from the time a new CFO joins the Beard.

The Remuneration Committee would like to thank the shareholders that taok part in the engagement pracess and values the
feedback and insights it has gained, It remains committed to engaging proactively with shareholders and advisory bodies on
remuneration matters.

This Remuneration Report has been approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:
C}J.a’z‘ P U

Chloe Ponsonby
Chair of Remuneration Committee

14 December 2021
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Remuneration Report continued

Pension

The Executive Directors reccive a contribution towards pension of 15% of basic salary, paid either as a non-pensionable salary
supplement or delivered through the Group's money purchase scheme, Under the policy approved last year, the intention was for

the current contribution rates for the incumbents to be reduced to the UK. workforce rate of 7.5% of salary from 1 Qctober 2023.
Reflecting on feedback received from shareholders, Paul McDonald has voluntarily pledged to reduce his pension contribution rate from
15% to 7.5% from the time a new CFO is recruited, expected to be during FY22. The contribution rate for any new Executive Director
appeointment including a new CFQ, will be limited ta the workforce rate.

Annual bonus
For the year ending 30 September 2022, the maximum opportunity under the annual bonus plan wilt be 125% of base salary for both

Executive Directors. 25% of the total bonus payment will be deferred into shares for two years.

Bonuses will be based on Group Revenue (20%,), Group Operating Profit (40%), Cash Conversion {20%) and the achievement of strategic
objectives (20%).

The Committee will set the bonys targets in the New Year following the strategic review of the armor business. Retrospective disclosure
of the targets and performance against them will be made in next year's Annual Report on Remuneration to the extent the targets are
not commercially sensitive at that time.

2022 LTIP awards

The Committee expects 10 make LTIP awards Lo senior executives in 2022, Due to the strategic review of the armor business announced
on 12 November 2021, the exact terms of the award are yet to be determined. Full details of the award terms, including the performance
criteria, will be set out in the stock exchange announcement at the tme of grant.

Statement of shareholder voting on the remuneration report

The shareholder vote on the Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 September 2020 at the AGM which took place on
30 January 2021 was as follows:

Total {excluding

Votaes for (including Votes against withheld and third
Resolution discretionary) % for {excluding withheld) % against party discretionary  Withheld
Approval of the Directors’
Remuneration Policy 20,585,504 87.69% 2946955 12.319% 23,532,859 2684
Approval of the Directors'
Remuneration Report 16,787,428 76.30% 5,215,543 23.70% 22,002,971 1,932,572

In advance of last year's AGM, we undertook a comprehensive review of our Policy which included a wide-reaching consultation exercise,
While the Policy received 87.7% suppart, the Committee is aware that Resolution 2 to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report
received votes against from 23.79% of the votes cast.
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The 25th, 50th and 75th percentile ranked individuals have been identified using Option A in accordance with the reporting regulations,
selected on the basis that this provides the most robust and statistically accurate means of identifying the relevant employees. The day
by reference to which the 25th, 50th and 75th percennle employees were determined was 30 September 2021, The CEQ pay figure is the
total remuneration figure as set out in the single figure table and equivalent figures (on a full-time equivalent basis) have been calculated
for the refevant 25th, 50th and 75th percentile employees. The fower rate in 2021 reflects the reduced incentive payments for the year
ending 30 September 2025,

The total pay and benefits figures used to calculate the ratios for each of the 25th percentile, median and 75th percentile employees are
set out below:

Year 25th percentile Median 75th Percentile
2021 £235987 £29,975 £43,262

The salary element for each of these figures is set out below:

Year 25th percentile Median 75th Percentile
2021 £22,909 £28,500 £41,000

The Committee is satisfied that CEO remuneration is reasonable and consistent with Company’s wider policies on employee pay, reward
and progression, see page 85 for further details

Relative importance of spend on pay

The following table shows the change in Group expenditure between the current and previaus financial perfods on remuneration and
associated costs paid to all employees globally, set against distributions 10 shareholders and other uses of profit or cash flow being profits
retained within the business, investments in research and development and other capital expenditure.

2021 {5m) 2020 ($m) % change

Overall expenditure on pay (note 6.1) - 780 849 (8.1%)
_Dividends 121 89 36.0%
{Lossy/profit retained I 124 162.5 (123.2%)

R&D expenditure (including capitalised development costs) 191 1.8 61.9%

Other capital expenditure {excluding capitalised development costs) 156 13.1 26.7%

Implementation of policy for the year ending 30 September 2022
Basic salary

Paul McDonald's base salary will be £513,750 and Nick Keveth’s shall be £359,625, with the increases in line with the average employee
Increase of 2.75%.

2021 2022
Paul McDonald £500,000 £513,750
Nick Keveth £350,000 £359.625

Non-Executive Director fees

The supplementary Employee Engagement Director fee will no longer apply following a change to the workforce engagement
mechanism as described earlier in this report. There are no other changes to Non-Executive Director fees.

2021 2022
Chair £175,000 £175,000
Non-Executive Director £50,000 £50,000
Committee Chair £10,000 F10,000
Senior Independent Director £10,600* £10,000%
Employee Engagement Director £5,000

* There s a maxirrur addinenal fee of £15,000 1 the S0 also chairs a committee

Benefits

Benefits ramain unchanged and will include a car allowance, the cost of private health insurance, life insurance, critical illness insurance
and executive medical.
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Remuneration Report continued

Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration

The total remuneration figures, including annual bonus and vested LTIP awards {shown as a percentage of the maximum that could
have been achieved} for the Chief Executive Officer for each of the last 10 financial years are shown in the table below.

Peter Slabbert retired on 30 September 2015, Rob Rennie stood down from the Board and was replaced by Pau!l McDonald on
15 February 2017.

CEO single figure of Annual bonus pay
total remuneration out against maximum Long-term incentive
Year CEQ £000 opportunity vesting rates
2021 PaulMcDonald 1,026 ) 0% 50%
2020 Paul McDonald L 1686 . 66% 100%
e Paul McDonald L 28 55 30%
2018 Paul McDonald 734 80% 84%
2017 Paul McDonald” 663 81% 99%
2017 Rob Rennie . 213 ) 57% -
2016 Rob Rennie 484 52%
2015 Peter Slabbert 1676 N% 100%
2014 Peter Slabbert 1,529 N% . 95%
2013 Peter Slabbert 1,269 86% 100%
2012 - Peter Slabbert 1,244 40% 100%

1 Includes remuneration received in the peried priar to his appoatment as Director dunng the year

Percentage change in remuneration of Directors compared with other employees

The following table shows the percentage change in each Executive and Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration compared with the
average change for all employees of the Company for the year ended 30 September 2021. The prior year change is also shown and this
will build up over time ta cover a rolling five year period.

Salary/Fee Pension and othar benefits Annual Bonus

20 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Paul McDonald 220% 51% 15.2% 549%  (100.0%) 25.7%
NckKeveth 228% 5 6% 136% 2% (1000%) 264%
_Bruce Thampsen® 547 7% N N/A NZA N/A N/

Chloe Ponsonby” L 19.6% 8.8% _ N/ N/A N/A N/A

Bindi Foyle! ) 2353% N/A N/A N/A NA N/A,
Victor Chavez® N/A N/A N/A N/ZA N/A N/A -

_Pim Vervaat {58 9%) o 00% N/A N/A N/A _ NA

David Evans (82.8%) 0.0% N/A (100.0%) N/A N/A

All employees® 4 /% 6.0% 6.8% 6.9% {100.0%) 38.2%

Bruce Thompson was appainted 1o the Board as Non-Execunive Director on 1 March 2020 and appointed as Chair on 2 Cecember 2020,

The change in fee reflacts Chioe Ponsenby's respensitihity for workforce engagement From 1 July 2021 the workforce engagement mechanism changed to an erployee
engagement forum and Chlee's additicnal fee for workforce engagemerit sesponsibilities ceased Chloe Ponsonby was appointed Senor Independent Diector with effect
from 1 february 2021

Bindi Foyle was appainted to the Board as Non-Executive Director with effect from 1 May 2020 and took over as Chair of the Audit Committee on 29 January 2021

5

F-

Victor Chavez was appointed tc the Board with effect fram 1 Cecember 2020,

5 PaulvicDonald and Nick Keveth are the onfy employecs of dre Parent Campany, Avan Frotectian plc and therefore figures for all U K employees of the Group have instead been
set cut on g veluntary basis To aid comiparison, the group of employess selected are those full ire U K employecs who were employed over the complete two-year perod.

CEQ to employee pay ratio

The table below sets out the ratio between the total pay of the CEO and the wtal pay of the employees at the 25th, 30th {median) and
75th percentiles of the UK. workforce.

Year Method 25th percentile Median 75th Percentile
2021 A 4311 341 241
20207 A 72 60:1 371

T The 2020 figure has been Lpdated from the figure shown last year ta reflect the actual value of vested shares, rather than the estirated value Lsed 1o calcLlate the figures
last year
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Payments to past Directors and payments for loss of office (audited)

There were no payments for loss of office or 1o past Directors during the year. As mentioned in the Annual Statement, during the year we
announced that Nick Keveth will retire by 31 March 2022, Nick will be treated as a good leaver for incentive scheme purposes.

Service contracts and letters of appointment

The table below summarises key details In respect of each Executive Director’s contract.

Contract date Company notice period Executive notice period
Paul McDonald 14 February 2017 12 months 12 months
Nick Keveth S May 2017 12 months 12 months

The date of each Non-Executive appointment is set out below, together with the date of their last re-election by shareholders.

Date of initial appointment  Date of last re-election

Chloe Ponsonby - March2016 29 January 2021
Bruce Thampson 1 March 2020 29 January 2021 o
Bindi Foyle 1 May 2020 29 January 202
Victor Chavez CBE 1 December 2020 29 January 2021

All service contracts and letters of appointment are available for inspection at the Company's registered office.

Other appointments

Neither Paul McDonald nor Nick Keveth are currently appointed as a Non-Executive Birector of any company outside the Group.

Total shareholder return performance graph

The following graph iliustrates the total return, in terms of share price growth and dividends on a notional investment of £100 in the
Company over the last 10 years relative o the FTSE 250 index (excluding investment trusts} and the FTSE All-Share index (excluding
investment trusts). These indices were chosen by the Remuneration Committee as a competitive indicator of general UK. market
performance for companies of a similar size

Total shareholder return performance graph
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Remuneration Report continued

Outstanding LTIP awards (audited)

Outstanding awards are as follows:

Award held at Granted in Vested in Lapsedin  Outstanding awards at

Award Date 1 October 2020 the year the year the year 305eptamber 2021

Paul McDonald 0202.21 o 28,153 - - 28,153

o 17.03.20 31,734 - - - 31,734

20.03.19 3gLee - - - 38,599

06,1217 26,51 - 26,511 - -

Nick Keveth 02.02.2 o 19,707 - - 19,707
70320 22,059 - - o - 22059

200319 26722 - - ) - 26,722

061217 20,325 - 20,325 - -

The outstanding awards are subject to two perfarmance criteria. Half the awards are subject 10 a relative TSR measure and the other half
are subject tc an EPS growth condition.

Total Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 September 2021 under Schedule 5 (audited)

2021 2020
Aggregate remuneration 1,369 1,582
Aggregate gains on the exercise of share eptions 1,640 273
Aggregate contribution to defined cantribution pension scheme & 10

1 The LTIF amounts shown at the actual vatue of vested shares using the share price at the vesting date in 2021 and 2020

During the year pension contributions were paid to defined contributicn schemes for one Director (2020: one).

Dilution

The Company reviews the awards of shares made under the all employee and executive share plans in terms of their effect on dilution
lirmits in any rolling 10-year period. in respect of the 5% and 10% limits recommended by the Investment Association, the relevant
percentages were 8 3% and 8.3% respectively based on the issued share capital at 30 September 2021.

It remains the Company's practice to use an Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESCT) in order to meet its liability for shares awarded
under the LTIP. Two trusts have been established in connection with this. At 30 September 2027 there were 334,933 shares held in

the ESQTs which will either be used to satisfy awards granted under the LTIP 1o date, or in connection with future awards. A hedging
committee ensures that the ESOTs hold sufficient shares to satisfy existing and future awards made under the LTIP by buying shares in the
market or causing the Company to issue new shares. Shares held in the ESOTs do not receive dividends.

As at 30 September 2021, the market price of Avon Protection plc shares was £19.42 (2020: £42.50). During the year the highest and lowest
market prices were £46.25 and £17.63 respectively.

Share Incentive Plan

The Cormpany currently operates the Avon Rubber p.l.c. Share Incentive Plan (the 'SIP’), approved by shareholders at the AGM in February
2012 All UK. tax resident employees of the Company and its subsidiaries are entitled to participate. Under the SIF, participants purchase
shares in the Company monthly using deductions from their pre-tax pay. Paul McDonald is not a member of the SIP Nick Keveth is a member
and as at 30 September 2021 had purchased 470 shares through this scheme. The maximum contribution each month under the SIPis
currently £150, a sum which is set by the Government. Nick Keveth has participated in the SIP at the maximum level since July 2017.
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LTIP awards granted in the 2020/21 year (audited)

The table below provides details of share awards made to Executive Directors on 2 February 2021:

Number of Shares Face value of Y% vesting End of
Type of Award  Basis of Award under Award' award (£'000) atthreshold performance period
Paul McDonald Nil cost option  175% of salary 28,153 £875 20% _ 30September 2023
Nick Keveth Nil cost option  175% of salary 19,707 £612 20% 30 Septermnber 2023

1 The number of awards was based on a share price of £31.08 which was the Company's five-day average share price over 26 January 2021 1o 1 February 2021.
The performance conditions for this award will be measured over a three-year performance period and are as follows:

- The first performance condition for 50% of the award compares the Company's total shareholder return {TSR) performance over the
performance pericd relative to a comparator group. The comparator group for the TSR element is the constituents of the FTSE 250
Index {excluding investment trusts) as at the start of the performance period. No portion of the TSR element may vest unless the
Company's TSR perfarmance over the performance period at least equals the median TSR performance within the comparater group,
forwhich 20% of the TSR element may vest, rising on a straight-line basis 1o full vesting of the TSR element for upper quintile or better
relative TSR performance,

+ The second performance condition for the other 50% of the award measures the Company's compound annual growth rate (CAGR)
in the Company's adjusted basic earnings per share (EPS) aver the performance period. No portion of the [PS element may vest unless
the CAGR in £PS over the perfarmance period at least equals 5%p.a., Tor which 0% of the £EPS element may vest, rising on a straight-
line basis to full vesting of the EPS element for CAGR in EPS over the performance period of 14%p.a. or better. The base paint for such
CAGR calculation is the reported EPS for the 2020 financial year but with the full year 2020 earnings of the disposed milkrite | InterPuls
business added back - the base year EPS was 134.3 cents.

The EPS element of the awards is subject to a return on capital employed underpin in respect of which the Remuneration Committee
retains discretion to reduce the extent of vesting of the EPS element by regard to the Company's ROCE performance over the
performance period.

The Remuneration Committee also refains a general discretion to reduce the extent of vesting of the awards generally if it cansiders that
the underlying business performance of the Company does not justify vesting.

Directors’ shareholdings and share interests and position under shareholding guidelines (audited)

Beneficial interests of Directors, their families and trusts in ordinary shares of the Company at 30 September 2021 were:

No, of Shares owned Unvested shares Shareholding as a Shareholding
outright {including  subject ta pecformance % of salary as guidelines {200% of
connected persons) conditions’ 30 September 2021 safary) met?

Paul McDonald 50,999 08,486 198% NL
MKeveth i B ) 20,509 68,4828 114% ] No
Bruce Thompson ) 11,000 - N/A N/A
_Chice Ponsonby 4,550 - NAA N/A
Bindi Foyle 500 - N/A N/A
Victor Chavez 105 - N/A N/,

1 This figares includes 2,283 deferrad bonws shares
2 This figure includes 1,583 deferred bonus shares and 452 SIP shares.
3 Unvested LTIP shares

The only change in the interests set out above between 30 September 2021 and 14 December 2021 were the additional 30 shares
purchased by Nick Keveth under the Share incentive Plan, which increased his total sharehclding to 20,532
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Remuneration Report continued

Annual bonus for the year ending 30 September 2021 (audited)
The annual bonus opportunity for Executive Directors for 2021 was 125% of salary and this was based on targets relating to Group
revenue (20%), Group operating profit (40%) and Group cash conversion (20%) and the achievernent of strategic objectives (20%).

The targets applying to each measure and performance against them is set outin the table below:

Threshold Stretch Actual/ % Bonus payable

{0% payable) {100% payable) Reported achievement (% of salary}

Revenue (20%) i $264.0m 53200m $2483m 0.0% 0.0%
Adjusted operating profit (40%) o 548.7m 561.2m 5220m 0.0% 0.0%
Cash conversion (20%) 80.0% 100.0% 83.2% 16.0% 00%
Strategic objectives (209} Set out in more detail below N/A 0.0%
TOTAL 0.0%

However, while the threshold target under the cash conversion metric was exceeded and certain non-financial strategic objectives were
achieved, the Executive Directors waived any bonus earned for the year reflecting the fact that the profit and revenue metrics were
not mex.

The strategic element of the bonus for 2021 were based on five broad categories with objectives assigned to each. The categories were:

Develop communicate agreed ESG Policy, strategy and implementation plan

Confirm longer term [T strategy and implement key FY2021 projects from three year delivery plan

Develop HR strategic plan focusing on strengthening global HR resources, process and systems, talent management and diversity

M&A implementation - complete transition plans for Ballistic Protection, Tearmn Wendy and milkrite | InterPuls
+ Product development - secure approvals necessary o deliver the projected Ballistic Protection revenues in the FY22 strategic plan
The objectives underpinned each category were likely to have been either met or partially achieved but the Executive Directors waived
any bonus before a full assessment was undertaken.

Incentive awards vesting (audited)

Awards were granted on 20 March 2019 under the Performance Share Plan to the CEO and CFO and these are based on three-year
performance targets. Half of the award 15 subject to a relative TSR condition (measuring performance against the constituents of the FTSE
All-Share excluding investment trusts) and the other half subject to £PS growth targets.

The TSR measurement pericd ended on 30 September 2021. The Company's TSR over this period was confirmed as 67.7% which ranked
the Company in the upper quartile of the peer group and thercfore this part of the award will vest in full. The Company delivered an EPS
of 60.6¢, which was below the threshold growth target of 5%p.a. Therefore this element of the award will fapse. Cverall, 50% of the award
will vest being awards over 19,299 shares for Paul McDonald and 13,361 shares for Nick Keveth.

As these awards will vest after this report is signed off, the values of these awards as shown in the single figure table are based on an
average share price over the last quarter of the financial year ending 30 September 2021

While the Company’s performance was below expectations in 2021, the Committee considered that the overall share price performance
of the Company over the three year performance period justified this level of vesting. The Committee did not consider it necessary to
apply any discretion to adjust the outcome for these awards based on performance to 30 September 2021,
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Since the end of the 2021 financial year, the Committee has:

« Approved annual bonus outcomes to the Executive Directors and the Group Executive management tearn, following completian of
the external audit in Decernber 20271 and undertaken a final assessment of the TSR and EPS performance conditions attached to the
March 2019 LTIP awards (based on performance to 30 September 2021}

- Made preparations for the vesting of the LTIP awards granted in March 2019

- Agreed the annual borius structure for the year ending 30 September 2022

The information that follaws has been audited (where indicated) by the Company’s auditars KPMG LLP.

Single total figure of remuneration for Directors for the year ended 30 September 2021 (audited)

Directors’ rernuneration for the year ended 30 September 2021 was as follows:

Fixed Variable
Basic  Pension/other Other remuneration Annual remuneration Total
salary &fees  supplements? benefits? sub-total bonus LTI sub-total  Remuneration
Year £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £900 £'000 £'000 £000
Executive Directors _ e
2021 500 75 16 591 - 435 435 1,026
Paul McDonald —— : e
2020 40 62 17 489 264 928 1197 1,686
. 2021 3s0 31 15 417 - 30 Elull 718
Nick Keveth
2020 285 43 16 344 187 712 899 1,243
Non-Executive Directors
Bruce 2021 B 154 ] - - 154 - - - ‘\54_
Thompson® 2020 24 - : 24 - - - 24
2021 &7 - - &7 - - - 67
Chloe Ponsonby - -
2020 56 - - 56 - - - 56
2023 57 - - 57 - - - 57
Bindi Foyle® : )
2020 17 - - 7 - - - 17
! 2021 42 - 42 - - - 42
Victor Chavezs — e —
2020 - - - - - B -
) 2021 23 - - 23 - - - 23
Pim Vervaat
2020 56 - - 56 - - - _ 56
. 2021 24 - - 24 - - - 24
David Evans
2020 140 - - 140 - - - 140

Note to total figura of remuneration table

1 The LTIP amount for 2021 relates to the long-term incentive award granted in March 2019 for which the outcome was tased on performance over the three-year peniod to
30 Seprember 2021, For the purposes of this table and i fine with disclesare requirerrents, the 2021 LUTIP values bave been calculated using an sverage share price guer the
three-month penod fram 1 July 2021 to 30 September 2021 of £22 53. This 15 higher than the share price at the ume these awards were made to partcipants and accordingly
around 45% of the value shown is attnibutable to share prce appreciation (£194k for Paul McDonald ard £134k for Nick Keveth). The LTIF armounts for 2020 relate 1o the long-
term incentive award which was granted w December 2017 Thease 2020 figures have been updated from the figores shown in last year's table ta reflect the actual value of
vested shares Lsing the share price at the vesbing date 1235 (02) (rather than the estirated value provided Jast years This is also s hine with disclosare requirements.

2 Paul McDonald 15 a mermber of the Group's rraney purchase scherre and part of his pension contrbanon is paid into the pensicn scheme {2021, £6k) with the rermainder paid

as a salary supplement (2021 £69k) Paul's 2020 iigure has been re-stated 1o include £10k contrbution made to roney purchase scheme. Nick Keveth's contribanon is paid

entirely as a salary supplement (2021 £51k).

Berefits for 2021 include a car allowance, the cast of prvate health insurance, critical iiness cover and executive medical

LN

Bruce Thompson was appainted tc the Board as Non-Executive Director on 1 March 2020 and appeinted as Char gn 2 Decarber 2020
Bindi Foyle was appointad 1o the Board as Non-Executive Director with effect fram 1 May 2020 and tock over 3s Chan of the Audit Cornmittee on 29 January 2021
Victor Chavez was appointed ta the Board as Non-ExecLtive Duector with effect from 1 December 2026,

Y- SV

Fin~ vervaat and David Evans stepped off the Board on 29 Janwary 2021 and 2 December 202G respectively
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ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION

Role and composition of the
Remuneration Committee

The Board is ultimately accountable for executive rermuneration
and delegates this responsibility to the Remuneration Comnmittee.
The Remuneration Committec is responsible for developing and
implementing a remuneration policy that supports the Group’s
strategy and for determining the Executive Directors” individual
packages and terms of service together with those of the other
members of the Group Executive management team. When
setting the remuneration terms for Executive Directors, the
Committee reviews and has regard to workforce remuneration
and related policies and takes close account of the UK. Corporate
Governance Code requirements for clarity, simplicity, risk
rnitigation, predictability, proportionality and alianment to culture.

The Remunreration Committec’s terms of reference are available
on the Company’s website and include:

Determining and agreeing with the Board the policy for the
remuneration of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer, Chair, the Company Secretary and such other
members of the senicr management team as it chooses to
consider or is designated to consider {currently the Group
Executive management team), having regard to remuneration
trends across the Group
Putting in place @ remuneration structure that supparts strategy
and promotes long-term sustainable success — with executive
remuneration ahgned to Company purpose and values and
clearly linked to the successful delivery of the Company's
long-term strategy — and which attracts, retains and motivates
executive management of the quality required to run the
Company successfully without paying more than is necessary,
having regard to views of shareholders and other stakeholders
Reviewing the pay arrangements put in place for the
broader workforce
Within the terms of the agreed policy, determining the total
individual remuneration package of each Executive Directar
including, where appropriate, bonuses, incentive payments,
share options and pension arrangements
Determining the targets for the performance-related bonus
schemes for the Executive Directors and the Group Executive
management team

+ Reviewing the design of all share incentive plans for approval by
the Board and sharehclders
For any such discretionary plans, determining each year whether
awards will be made, the overall amount of such awards,
the indvidual awards 1o Executive Directors and the Group
Executive management team (and others) and the performance
targets 1o be used
Agreeing termination arrangements for senior Executives

The Committee currently comprises Chloe Ponscnby (Chair),

Bruce Thompson, Bindi Foyle and Victor Chavez (who joined on

1 December 2020). Pim Vervaat and David Evans were members

of the Committee during the year until they stepped down from
the Board on 29 January 2021 and 2 Decernber 2020 respectively.
By invitation of the Committee, meetings are also attended by the
CEO, CFO and the Company Secretary (who acts as secretary to
the Committee), who are consulted on matters discussed by the
Committee, unless those matters relate to their own remuneration.
Advice or information s also sought directly from other employees
where the Committee feels that such additional contributions will
assist the decision-making process.

The Committee is authorised to take such internal and external
advice as it considers appropriate in connection with carrying

out its duties, including the appointment of its own external
remuneration advisers. During the year, the Committes was
assisted 1n its work by FIT Remuneration Censultants LLP. FIT was
appointed in December 2019 and has provided advice in relation to
general remuneration matters and the review of the remuneration
policy. Fees paid to FIT in relation to advice provided to the
Committee during the year to 30 September 2021 were £67,032
{excluding VAT), charged on a time/cost basis FIT also provided
advice to the Company on technical share plan implementations
matters but other than this did not provide any other services to
the Company. FIT is a member of the Remuneration Consultants
Group and, as such, voluntarily operates under the Code of
Conduct in relation to executive remuncraticn consulting in the
UK. The Committee s satisfied that the advice they received from
FIT was objective and independent.

The Committee addressed the following main topics during the
last year:

Concluded the comprehensive review of Executive Directors’
remuneration which culminated in the preparation of a revised
remuneration policy that was approved by shareholders at the
2021 AGM
Following the AGM, engaged with and sought the views of
major shareholders to understand the reasons behind their
AGM votes
Reviewed guidance froem investor bedies and institutional
shareholders
Reviewed and approved the remuneration packages for our
current Executive Directors

+ Approved the annual bonus cutcomes to the Executive
Directors in November 2020 and the annual bonus plan for the
2027 financial year
Reviewed and confirmed the vesting of the LTIP awards granted
in December 2017
Reviewed and approved the terms of the 2021 LTIP awards and
monitored the performance of the outstanding awards against
their performance targets
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For added flexibility, the rules atlow for the Committee to decide not
1o pro-rate (or pro-rate to a lesser extent) if it dacides it is appropriate
to de 5o, and to allow vesting to be riggered at the point of leaving
by reference to performance to that date, rather than waiting until
the end of the performance pericd. On a change of control, any
vesting of awards will be subject 1o assessment of performance
against the performance conditions and normally be pro-rated.

Where a buy-out award is made under the Listing Rules then the
leaver provisions would be determined at the time of the award.

Chair and Non-Executive Directors

All Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment rather
than service contracts and are appointed on a rolling annual basis,
which may be terminated on giving three months’ notice at any
time by either party.

Chair and Non-Executive Director appointments are subject to
Board approval and election by shareholders at each Annual
General Meeting.

All service contracts and letters of appointment are available for
Inspection at the Company's registered office.

External appointments

The Company recognises that its Executive Directors may be
invited to become Non-Executive Directors of other companies.
Such Non-Executive duties can braaden a Director's experience
and knowledge which can benefit Avon Protection, Subject to
approval by the Board, Executive Directors are allowed to accept
Non-Executive appointments, pravided that these appointments
are not likely to lead to conflicts of interest, and the Committee
will consider its approach to the treatment of any fees received by
Executive Directors in respect of Non-Executive roles as they arise.

Consideration of shareholder views

The Comimittee is cornmitted to an ongoing dialogue with
shareholders and welcomes feedback on Directors’ remuneration.
The Committee seeks to engage directly with major sharehclders
and their representative bodies on changes to the Policy. The
Committee also considers shareholder feedback received in
relation to the remuneration-related resolutions each vear
following the AGM. This, plus any additional feedback received
from time to time {including any updates to shareholders’
remuneration guidelines), is then cansidered as part of the
Committee’s annual review of remuneration poficy and

its implementazicn.

Inits review of current remuneration and the proposed Policy
being put forward, the Committee conducted a comprehensive
consultation exercise which elicited feedback from shareholders
helding over 65% of shares in issue, as well as from the main
shareholder representative bodies. The Committee was very
grateful for the views received. The feedback, which was largely
positive, was used constructively to shape our final proposals.
Further details regarding the consultation exercise can be found
in the Annual Statement on page 76.

Consideration of employment conditions elsewhere
in the Group

The Committee dosely monitars the pay and conditions of the
wider workforce and the design of the Directors’ Remuneration
Policy is informed by the policy for employees acrass the Group.

While employees are not formally consulted an the design of the
Directors” Remuneration Policy, the Board recelves views through
a Global Employee Advisory Forum comprising of representatives
from our Culture Champion network. Another way in which the
Board engages with employees across the Group on remuneration
is through the Employee Opinion Survey, which includes a section
dedicated 10 pay and benefits. The results of this are shared with
the Board.

Differences in pay policy for Executive Directors
compared to employees more generally

As for the Executive Directors, general practice across the Group is
to recruit employees at competitive market levels of remuneration,
incentives and benefits to attract and retain employees, accounting
for national and regional talent pools. When considering salary
incregses for Directors, the Committee will take into account

salary increases and pay and employment conditions across the
wider workforce. The pension contribution for future Executive
Director appointments will be consistent with that for the general
workforce and under the Policy the contributions for the current
CEQ and CFO will transition to the workforce level by 1 October
2023. All employees are able to earn annual bonuses for delivering
exceptional performance, with corporate performance measures
aligned o those sat for the Exacutive Directors. All employees,
including the Executive Directors, have the opportunity to
participate in the tax-approved share incentive plans.

There are some differences in the structure of the Remuneration
Pahcy for the Executive Directors compared to that far other
employees within the grganisation, which the Commuttee believes
are necessary to reflect the differing fevels of seniority and
responsibility. At senior levels, remuneration is increasingly long-
term, and ‘at risk’ with an increased emphasis on petformance-
related pay and share-hased remuneration. This ensures the
remuneration of the Executives is aligned with both the long-term
performance of the Company and the interests of shareholders.
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Legacy arrangements

For the avoidance of doubs, in approving this Remuneration Policy,
authority was given to the Company to honour any previous
commitments entered into with current or former Directors

(such as the payment of a pension or the unwinding of legacy
share schemes or historic share awards granted before the approval
of this policy) that remain outstanding.

Approach to recruitment remuneration

New Executive Directors will be offered a basic salary in line with
the Policy. This will take into consideration a number of factors
including external market forces, the expertise, experience and
calibre of the individual and current level of pay. Where the
Committee has set the salary of 2 new appointment at a discount
to the market level initially until proven, they may receive an
uplift or a series of planned increases to bring the salary to the
appropriate market position over time. For external and internal
appaintments, the Committee may agree that the Company

will meet appropriate relocation and/or incidental expenses

as appropriate,

Annual bonus awards, LTIP awards and pensicn contributions
would not be in excess of the levels stated in the Policy.

Depending on the timing of the appointment, the Committee may
deem it appropriate to set different annual bonus performance
conditions for the first performance year of appointment. An LTiP
award can be made shortly following an appointment (assuming
the Company is not in a €lose period). In the case of an internal
appointment, any variable pay element awarded in respect of

the pricr role would be allowed to pay out according to its terms,
adjusted as relevant to take into account the appointment,

In addition, the Committee may offer additional cash and/or
share-based buyout awards when it considers these to be in the
bestinterests of the Company (and therefore shareholders) to
take account of remuneration given up at the ndividual's former
employer. This includes the use of awards made under 94.2 of
the Listing Rules. Such awards would be capped at a reasonable
estimate of the value foregone and would reflect, as far as possible,
the delivery mechanism, rime horizans and whether performanee
requirements are attached to that remuncration. Shareholders will
be informed of any such payments at the time of appointment
and/ar in the next published Annual Repart.

For the appointment of a new Chair or Non-Executive Director, the
fee arrangement would be set in accordance with the approved
Remuneration Policy.

Service contracts, [etters of appointment and policy
on payments for loss of office

Executive Directors

The Company's policy is that Executive Directors should normally
be employed under a contract which may be terminated by either
the Company or the Executive Director giving no mere than 12
months’ notice.

The Company may terminate the contract with immediate cffect
with or without cause by making a payment in lieu of notice by
monthly instalments of salary and benefits, with reductions for

any amounts received from providing services to others during this
period. There are no obligations to make payments beyond those
disclosed elsewhere in this report.

The Remuneration Committee strongly endorses the obligation on
an Executive Director to mitigate any loss on early termination and
will seek to reduce the ameunt payable on termination where it is
appropriate to do so. The Committee will also take care to ensure
that, while meeting its contractual obligations, poor performance
15 not rewarded. The Executive Directors’ contracts contain early
terrmination provisions consistent with the Policy outlined above.

The Group may pay outplacemnent and professional legal fees
incurred by Executives in finalising their termination arrangements,
where considered appropriate, and may pay any statutory
entitlements or settle compromise claims in connection with a
termination of employment, where considered in the best interests
of the Company. Outstanding savings/shares under all-employee
share plans would be transferred in accordance with the terms of
the plans.

A pro-rated bonus may be paid subject to performance, for the
period of active service anly. Outstanding share awards may vest

in accordance with the provisions of the various scheme rules.
Under the Deferred Bonus Plan, the default treatment is that any
outstanding awards will continue on the normat timetable, save for
forfeiture for serious misconduct. Clawback and malus provisions
will also apply. On a change of control, awards will generally vest on
the date of a change of control, unless the Committee permits (or
recjlires) awards to roll over inte equivalent shares in the acquirer.

Under the LTIF, any outstanding awards will ordinarily lapse,
however in ‘good leaver’ cases the default treatment is that awards
will vest subject to the original performance condition and time
proration and the holding pericd will normally continue to apply.
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Selection of performance measures and targets
Annual bonus

The Executives’ annual bonus arrangements are focused on the
achievermnent of the Cormpany’s short and medium-term financial
objectives, with financial measures selected to closely align the
performance of the Executive Directors with the strategy of the
business and with sharehaolder value creation. Where non-financial
objectives are set, these are chosen to support the delivery of the
longer-term strategic milestones and which link to those KPls of
most relevance to each Director’s individual responsibilities,

Details of the measures used for the annual bonus are given in
this Rernuneration Report.

Long-Term Incentive Plan

The ain of the Plar is to maotivate Executive Directars and ather
senior executives t© achieve performance superior to the Company's
peers and to maintain and Increase earnings levels whilst at the same
time ensuring that it 1s not at the expense of longer-term shareholder
returns. This is reflected in the Plan’s performance conditions which
are based on relative TSR and EPS growth.

The Committee will review the choice of performance measures
and the appropriateness of the performance targets prior to each
LTIP grant.

The TSR measure takes the total return received by the Company's
shareholders in terms of share price growth and dividends over a
three-year period and compares it with the total returns received
by shareholders in companies within a predetermined and
appropriate camparator group. The Remuneration Committee’s
intention is 1o reward only TSR performance which outperforms
the comparator group.

The EPS measure is based on growth in adjusted earnings per
share over the performance period. The target range is a sliding
scale set at the time of award taking account of internal and
external forecasts, to encourage continuous iImprovement and
incentivise the delivery of stretch performance. The Committee
will also assess the Group's ROCE performance when approving
the vesting cutcome under the EPS element of awards.

Flexibility, discretion and judgement

The Remuneration Committee operates the annual bonus and LTIP
according to the rules of each respective plan which, consistent
with market practice, include discretion in a number of respects

in relation to the operation of each plan. Discretions include:

- who partidipates in the plan, the quantum of an award and/or
payment and the timing of awards and/or payments

« determining the extent of vesting
treatment of awards and/or payments on a change of control
or restructuring of the Group

« whether an Executive Directar or 3 senior manager is a good/
bad leaver for incentive plan purposes and whether the
proportion of awards that vest do so at the time of [eaving or at
the normal vesting date(s)

how and whether an award may be adjusted in certain
circumstances (e.g. for a rights issue, a corporate restructuring
or for special dividends)

+ what the weighting, measurgs and targets shoutd be for the
annyal bonus plan and LTIP awards from year to year

the Committee also retains the ability, within the policy, if
events accur that cause it to determine that the conditions set
in relation t© an annual bonus plan or a granted LTIP award are
no longer appropriate or unaple to fulfil their original intended
purpose, 1o adjust targets and/or set different measures or
weightings for the apglicable annual bonus plar and LTIP awards
with, in the case of LTIP awards held by Executive Directors,
adjusted performance conditions being not materially less
difficuit ta satisfy than the original conditions would have been
but for the relevant event(s)

- the ability to override formulaic outcomes in Iine with policy

All assessments of performance are ultimately subject © the
Committee’s judgement and discretion is retained to adjust
payments in appropriate circumstances as outlined in this Policy.
Any discretion exercised (and the rationale) will be disclosed.
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[llustration of the application of the Policy

The balance between fixed and variable ‘at risk” elements of remuneration changes with performance. Qur palicy results in a significant
proportion of remuneration received by [xecutive Directors being dependent on performance. The charts below iliustrate how the
Palicy would function for minimum, on target and maximum performance for each Executive Director in 2021/22

CEO CFO
£'00D
£3,000
£2,599
£2.500 17%
£2,149
£2,000 } 35%
£1,500 /
£1,378 / /
33%
F 30% [ 25%
£1,000
F23% 3
£608
£500 £443 £448
£335
£223
£0
Min Target Max Max with Min Target Max Max with
grawth growth
W Total Fixed Remunaration = Annual Bonys ~, PSF [ share Frice Growth

Assumptions for the chart above
Minimum: Comprises fixed pay made up of base salary levels (applying from 1 Gctober 2021), the value of pension at 15% of annual
basic salary and other benefits estimated at the value shown in the single total figure of remuneration table for 2021. For Nick Keveth,
we have assumed a retirement date of 31 March 2022 (and therefere he will receive half of his annual base salary during the 2022
financial year).
On-target: bonus achieved at 50% of the maximum opportunity, i.e 62.5% of salary and with the on-target level of vesting under the
LTIP taken to be 50% of the face value of the award at grant, i.e. 87.5% of salary. Nick Keveth will not receive an LTIP award in 2022 but
he will be eligible for a pro rata bonus for the 2022 financial year.
Maximum: full bonus achieved and LTIP vesting in full i.e. 125% of salary bonus payout (pro rated for Nick Keveth) and LTIP awards 1o
the value of 175% of salary vesting for Paul McDonald only.
Share price appreciation of 50% has been assumed for the LTIP awards under the final ‘Max with growth’ scenario.
Amounts relating to all-employee share schemes have, for simplicity, been excluded from the charts.



Element of
Remuneration

Purpose and
Link to Strategy

. ..

Operation

Maximum Potential Value

Performance Targets

Share
Ownership
Guidelines

T increase alignment
between Executives
and shareholders.

Executive Directors are regjuired
[Q retain at [east 50% of their net
of tax vested awards until the
in-employrment sharehalding
gurdeline is met

Nit cost options which have vested
but are yet to be exercised and
deferred bonus awards subject

to a time condition only may be
considered to count towards the
in-employment shareholding on

a noticnal post-tax basis.

Executive Directors are required

ta build up and maintain an
in-employment shareholding
worth 200% of salary (100% for
ather senior management).

Executive Directors are normally
required to hold shares at a
level equal to the lower of their
shareholding at cessation and
200% of salary for two years
post-employment {excluding
shares purchased with own
funds and any shares from share
plan awards made before the
approval of this palicy).

Not applicable.

Chair

and Non-
Executive
Directors’
fees and
benefits

To provide
compensation in hine
with the demands of
the roles at & level that
attracts high calibre
irdividuals and reflects
their experience ard
knowledge

Fees are narmaily reviewed annualfy
takirg irte account factors such as the
time commitreent and cortributior of
the rale and market levels in comparies
of comparable size and complexity.

Tre Chairss paid an all-irclusive fee for
all Board responsibilities.

Fees for the other Non-Executive
Directors may include a base fee

and additional fees for further
respansibilities (for example, chairship
of Board cormmittees or holdirg the
office of Senior independent Director).

The Conrpany repays any reasonable
expenses that a Non-Executive Director
INCurs - ¢arrying out their duties as a
Director, including travel, hospitality-
related and other modest benefits ard
any tax labilities thereon, if appropriate.

If there 15 a temparary yet material
increase in the time commutments for
Non-Executive Directors, the Board may
pay extra fees or a pro-rata basis 1o
recognise the additional workload.

No prescribed maxirmum fee or
maximum fee incréase.

Increases will be informed by
taking Into account internal
benchmarks such as the salary
increase for the general workforce
and will have due regard 1o the
factors set aut in the 'Operation’
colurnm o this takle.

Not applicable.
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Element of
Remuneration

Purpose and
Link to Strategy

Operation

Maximum Potential Value

Performance Targets

Annual
Bonus

Rewards the
achicvement of annual
financial ard business
targets aligned with
the Group's KPls.

Maxirmum bonas only
payable for achieving
demandirg targets

Deferred elernent
encourages long-term
shareholdirgs and
discourages excessive
risk taking

Banus is based or porformance ir the

relevant financial year. Any paymert is
discretiorary and wilt be subject 10 the
achievement of stretching performance
targets.

Bonus 1s rormally paid in cash, except
25% of any bonus which is deferred into
shares “or two yeats.

Bonuses are not contractual ard are rot
eligible for irclusion in the calculation
of pension arrangernents,

Recovery and withholding provisions
apply in cases of miscanduct, corporate
failure, reputational damage, error in
calculaton of a banus and material
misstatermert of financial resuits.

Dividends or dividend eguwvalerts rmay
accrue on deferved shaves.

Capped at 125% of salary,

The Carrmittee sets
performance meas.Jres
and targets that are
apprapnately stretching
cach year, takirg into
account key strategic
and financial prionties
and ersurirg there is
ar appropriate balance
between incentivising
fxecutive Directors

1o mect targets, while
ensuring they do not
drive unacceptable levels
of risk orinappropriate
bebaviours.

Financial measures wilt
narmally determine at
least 75% of the bonus
apportunity and the
balance may be based or
nan-financial, strategic,
personal and/or ESG-
related objectives

A graduated scale of
targets is normally set for
each measure, with no
pay-out for performance
below a threshold level of
performance.

The Committee has
discretion to amend
the pay-out should any
farmulakc outcome rot
reflact the Committes’s
assessrmnent of overall
business performance,

Long Term
Incentive
Plan

Designed to align
Executive Directors’
Interests with those of
sharehalders and to
incentivise the delivery
of sustainable earnings
growth and supcrior
sharehglder returns.

Awards of conditional shares or nil cost
option awards which normally vest after
three years subject to the achievement
of performance targets and cartinued
service.

An additional two-year holding period
applies after the end of the three-year
vestirg penod.

Recovery and withholdirg provisiors
apply In cases of misconduct, corporate
failure, reputational damage, error

in calculation of award ard material
misstatement of financial results.

Dividend equivalerts may be paid for
awards 1o the extent they vest.

The Committes retains discretion to
adjust vesting levels in exceptional
circumstances, including bat nor limited
to regard of the overall performance of
the Compary or the grantee’s personal
performance.

Excoutive Directors may recetve
ar award of up 1o 175% of basic
salary per annum,

The Committes will consider

the prevailing share price when
deciding an the number of shares
to be awarded as part of any LTIP
grant,

A 10% in 10 years' dilution Imit
governing the issue of new
shares to satisfy all share scherne
operated by the Comparny will
apply.

Performarce measures
may nclude, and are not
limited to, relative "SR, EPS,
strategic measures and
E3G-related objectives.

The Committee retains
discretion to set
zlternative weightings or
performance measures for
awards over the life of the

policy.

100% of awards vest for
stretch performance, up
10 20% of ar award vests
for threshold performance
and reo awards vest below
this.

Underpins may apply.
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Policy table

The table below sets out the main components of the current Remuneration Policy for Directars, together wath further information on
how these aspects of remuneration operate. The Remuneration Committee has discretion to amend remuneration and benefits to the
extent described in the table and the written sections that foliow it.

Element of Purpose and
Remuneration Link to Strategy

Operation

Maximum Potential Value Performance Targets

Basicsalary To provide competitive

fixed remuneration,

To attract and retain
Executive Directors
of superior caltbre
in order to deliver
long-term business
SLICCESS.

Reflects irdividual
experience and role,

The Committee’s aim

is to position salaries
around the mid-market
level of companies

of a similar size, scale
and complexity

Normally reviewed annually by the
Rerruneration Committee with
increases typically effective 1 October.

Individual salary adjustments take

into account each Executive Crrector's
rale, cormpelence and performance.
Significant adjustmerts are Infrequent
ard normally reserved for matenal
changesin role, a significant increase
In the size/complexity of the Group,

or where an individual has been
appointed on a jow salary with an
intention: 10 bring them to market levels
over tme and subject 1o performance.

Cther factors which will be taken into
account will include pay and conditions
elsewhere in the Group, grogression
within the role, and competitive salary
levels in companies of a broadly similar
size and complexity.

Although there are no
formal performance
conditions, any increase

in base salary 1s only
implemented after careful
corsideration of individual
cantribution and
performance and having
due regard to the factors
set out in the ‘Operation’
column af this table,

No prescrnbed maximum
or maximum Increase.

Trenormal approach will be

to limitincreases to the average
level acrass the wider workforce,
though increases above this

level may be awarded subject

to Cemmuttee discretion to take
account of certain circumstances,
sJch as those stated

under Gperation’,

On recruitmert ar promotion,
the Committee will consider
previaus rermuneration and pay
levels for comparable companies
(for example, cormpanies of a
similar size and complexity,
industry sector or location),
wher setting salary levels. This
may lead to salary being set at a
lower or higher level than for the
previous incumbent,

ot applicable

Benefits To provide competitive  Executive Directars are entitled to As it is not possible to
fixed remuneration. benefits such as travel-related benefits calculate in advance the cost
. including a car or car allowance, of all benefits, a rnaximum s
To attract and retein medical assessments every two years, not pre-determined.
Executive Directors . i
¢ libre private health msurance_and life - level of
© superxor;al n assurance. Executves will be eligible for @maximuJm level o
order ta QEllver long- any other benefits which are irtroduced partwcwpat\of n a\\—employeg ‘
term business success. for the wider workforce on broadly _share plans is subject to the limits
sienlar terms. \mposgd by the‘relevan.t tax
authority from time to time.,
Any reasonable business-related
experses (and any tax thereon) can
be reimbursed If determined to be a
taxable benefit,
Execuative Directors will be eligible 1o
participate in any all-employee share
plar operated by the Company, on the
same terms as o21er eligible employees.
For external and irterral appointmerts
or relocations, the Company may pay
certain relocatior and/ar inaidental
BXPENSES 35 apProphate.
Pension To reward sJstaired The Compary funds contrnibutions to Compary cortribJdtion up to

cortributions by
providing retiremrent
benefits.

a Directer’s pensicn as appropriate
through contribution ta the Company's
money purckase schame or through
the provision of salary supplements
ora combination of these.

Not applicable
15% of salary (to reduce to ro

Figher thar the general workfarce

contribution level from

1 Octaber 2023).

Futdre appoirtrrerts to the Board
will receve cortributions in line
with the prevailing rate offered tc
the gereral workforce (currently
75% of salary ir the UK) ir the
country where they are based at
the e
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Remuneration Report continued

REMUNERATION POLICY REPORT

This section of the report sets out our Directors’ Remuneration
Policy which was approved by shareholders at the AGM on
29 January 2021 and took format effect from that date.

Guiding policy
The Company’s guiding policy on executive remuneration is that:

Executive remuneration packages should be clear and simple,
taking into account the linkage between pay and performance
by both rewarding effective management and by making the
anhancement of sharehalder value a witical suceess factorin
the setting of incentives, both in the short- and the long-term.

« The overall level of salary, incentives, pension and other benefits
should be competitive (but not excessive) when compared with
other companies of a similar size and global spread and should
be sufficient to attract, retain and motivaie Executive Directors
of supericr calibre in order tc deliver long-term success.
Performance-related components should form a significant
propartion of the overall rernuneration package, with maximum
total potential rewards being earned through the achievement
of challenging performance targets based on measures that
are linked to the Company’s KPls and to the best interests
of shareholders.

Considerations when determining
remuneration policy

The Committee undertock a comprehensive review of the current
Directors’ Remuneration Policy during 2020 to ensure, primarily,
that it continues to: (i) support the strategy and promote the
long-term sustainable success of the Group, {ii) align executive
remuneration with Company culture, purpose and values and
¢learly provide linkage to the successful delvery of the Company’s
long-term strategy, (i) attract, retain and motivate executive
management of the guality required to run the Company
successfully (without paying more than is necessary), and (iv) have
regard to the views of our shareholders and other stakeholders
and appropriately reflect the best practice expectations of
institutional Imvestars.

The UK. Corporate Governance Code has been a key touchstone
and we have been careful to take full account of the remuneration-
related provisions in our design considerations. With regard to how
we have sought to comply with the six factors outlined in Provision
40 of the Code for example, we believe the following are worth
noting in particular:

Clarity - Our remuneration framework is structured to support
financial delivery and the achievement of strategic objectives,
aligning the interests of Executive Directors with those of our
shareholders. Qur Policy is transparent and well understood by
our senior executive team. It has been clearly articulated to our
shareholders and representative bodies (both on an ongoing
bhasis and during consultation when changes are being made),

Simplicity - Our remuneration framework is straightforward

to communicate and operate. We have operated the same
simple and transparent overarching structure for many years
and appliea it on a consistent basis across all employees.

Risk - Our incentives have been structured to ensure that they
are aligned with the Board's system of risk management and risk
appetite. Inappropriate risk-taking is discouraged and mitigated
through, for example (i) the operation of arrangements that
provide an appropriate balance of fixed pay to short- and lang-
term incentive pay and through multiple performance measures
based on a blend of financial. non-financial and sharehnlder
return targets, (i) the deferral of a proportion of annual bonus
into shares and the operation of a post-vesting helding period
for the LTIR, i) the operation of significant in-employment

and post-employment shareholding guidelines, and (iv) the
operation of robust recovery and withholding provisions.
Predictability — Our incentive plans are subject to individual
caps, with our share plans also subject to market standard
dilution limits. The Committee has full discretion 1o alter the
pay-out level or vesting outcome to ensure payments are
appropriately aligned with the underlying performance of

the Company

Proportionality - Ensuring Executive Directors are not
rewarded for failure underscores our approach to remuneration
(e.g. the significant proportion of cur packages is based on long-
term performance targets linked to the KPIs of the Company,
through our ability and openness to the use of discretion

o ensure appropriate outcomes, and through the structure

of our Executive Directors' contracts). There is a clear link
between individual awards, delivery of strategy and our long-
term performance. As mentioned above, formulaic incentive
outcomes are reviewed by the Committee and may be adjusted
having consideration to overall Group performance and wider
workforce remuneration policies and practices.

Alignment to culture - Our Policy is aligned to Avon
Pratection's culture and values. The Committee strives 1o instil a
sustainable performance and continuous improvement culture
at the managernent level that can cascade down throughout
the Company. The Board sets the framework of KPls against
which we monitor the performance of the Company and the
Committee links the perfarmance metrics of our incentive
arrangements to those KPIs, We are also keen to foster a culture
of share ownership throughout the Company and operate
all-employee share arrangements in pursuit of this cbjective.

Further details of the role of the Committee and its decision-
making process can be found in the Annual Report on
Rermuneration on page 86.
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Remuneration at a glance

The key elements of Executive Directors’ remuneration packages
and our approach to implementation in 2022 are summarised below:

Remuneration 2021 Remuneration 2022
Salary CEOQ £500,000 CEQ £513,750
{annwal base) CFO £350,000 CFQ £359,625

Pensien 15% of salary for current Executive Directors  15% of salary
FIXED - reducing to workforce contribiution rate The CEQ's pension will reduce to 7.5% of
PAY from 1 QOctober 2023 {new hures aligned salary upon the appeintment of a new
with workfarce contribution rate of 75% CFO. The new CFC will be aligned with the
of salary) workforce contribution rate of 7.5% of salary
Benefits Includes car allowance, private health No change
insurance and life insurance
Maximum 125% of salary No change
Opportunity
Operation « Performance measures: revenue (20%) Ng change
ANNUAL operating profit (40%) cash conversion
BONUS {20%), strategic objectives (20%)
-+ 25% of the overall armount deferred
into shares which vest after two years
- Malus and clawback provisions apply
Award level CEO V75% of salary The exact terms of the 2022 LTIP will be
CFO 150% of salary agreed by the Committee in January 2022
Operation - Performance measures relative TSR a?d will be setoutin the NS at the time
; of grant
LONG-TERM {50% ofrawardj and EPS with a ROCE
underpin (50% of award)
INCENTIVES
- Performance measured over three years
« Two-year additional holding period
applies to vested awards
+ Malus and clawback provisions apply
1 I 200% of sal Noch
SHAREHOLDING nemployment of salary o change
GUIDELINES Post- 200% of salary to be held for No change
employment Wo years post-employment
Executive remuneration
2021 actual vs maximum under policy
£2,095,098
42%
Paul McDonald Nick Keveth £1467.433

£1,025,905

O rsp
Fd sanus
B Fixed Pay

£1,025905

2021 Maximum

2021 Actual

£718457

2021 Actual 2021 Maximum
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Remuneration Report continued

Application of Policy in 2022

The Committee will seek to implement the Policy as follows:

Base salaries

In line with the salary increase given to the wider workforce, Paul
McDonald’s base safary will be increased from £500,000 to £513,750
and Nick Keveth's from £350,000 to £359,625, a 2.75% Increase
respectively.

Annual bonus

Consistent with the approved Policy, the maximum annual bonus
opportunity will be 125% of salary, with 25% of any bonus earned
deferred into shares for two years. The bonuses will be based on
operating profit (409%), cash conversion (20%), revenue (20%) and
strategic objectives (20%6). The targets are commercially sensitive
but will be disclosed in full on a retrospective basis in next

years report,

LTIP

The Committee intends to grant LTIP awards to senior Executives
in 2022. Due to the strategic review of the body armor business,
the terms of the LTIP awards will be determined by the Committee
in January 2022 and details of the measures and targets will be
communicated in the accompanying RNS announcement.

Departure of Nick Keveth

Nick Keveth informed the Board of his intenticn to retire from the
Board by no later than 31 March 2622, as announced on 25 May
2021, Nick will recerve his salary, benefits and pension for the time
he remains In employment. As a retiree, he will be treated as @
good leaver under the incentive schemes with awards vesting on
their normal vesting dates, subject to a pro rata reduction for time
and performance testing (where relevant).

Shareholder and employee views

In advance of last year's AGM, we undertook a comprehensive
review of our Policy which included a wide-reaching consultation
exercise. While the Policy received support from 88% of
shareholders, the Committee is aware that Resolution 2 1o approve
the Directors’ Rernuneration Report received votes against from
23.7% of the votes cast. Following the AGM, we engaged with the
shareholders who voted against to understand the reasons for this.
Further information on this is set out in this Remuneration Report,
including a change to the proposed timing of pension alignment
for Paul McDonald, reflecting shareholders’ views in this area.

On behalf of the Remuneration Committee, | would like to thank
the shareholders that took part in the engagement process. We
remain committed to engaging proactively with shareholders and
advisory bodies on remuneration matters.

Under the UK. Corporate Governance Code, we are required to
establish a mechanism for gathering the views of the waorkforce

on all matters, including pay. The Board has considered carefully
the maost effective way of achieving this and has decided to move
away from a designated employee engagement NED to the
creation of a Global Employee Advisory Forum. In our business with
cmployees across seven sites (six of which are in the U.S), it was

felt that this 1s a better and mere practical approach as it ensures
local views are captured and reported back to the Board in a timely
manner. This will include a session on pay and how executive pay is
aligned with pay generally for all employees.

I am always happy 1o hear from the Company's shareholders
and you can contact me via the Company Secretary if you have
any guestions on this report or more generally in relation to the
Company's remuneration.

¢ Prososy
0

Chloe Ponsonby
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

14 December 2021



Remuneration Report

During the year, the Remuneration
Cammittee implemented the
Directors’ remuneration policy which
was approved by shareholders,
ensuring an appropriate alignment
between Company performance
and reward outcomes. "

Governance

LETTER FROM THE CHAIR OF THE
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the Directors'
Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 September 2021
This includes the foltowing three sections:

« This Annual Statement which summarises the work of the
Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’) in 2021.

+ The Directors’ Remuneration Policy (the ‘Policy’) which was
approved by shareholders at the 2021 AGM and sets the
parameters within which Directors are remunerated

- The Annual Report on Remuneration which provides (i details
of the remuneration earned by Directors and the link between
Company perfermance and pay in the year ended 30 September
2021 and (i) how we intend to implement the Palicy in 2022

The Annual Statement and the Annual Report on Remuneration
will, together, be subject to the usual advisory sharehalder vote

at the AGM on 28 January 2022. The Policy, which was approved in
January 2021 will continue to apply for the 2022 financial year, the
second year of the three year Policy.

Remuneration outcomes for FY2021

The bonuses for 2021 were dependent on a scorecard of measures
which induded operating profit (40%), cash conversian (20%),
revenue (20%) and the delivery of strategic objectives (20%).

The threshold targets for the Group revenue and operating

profit metrics were not met and therefore no bonus accrued
under these measures. While the threshold target under the

cash conversion metrics was exceeded and certain non-financial
strategic objectives were achieved, the Executive Directors waived
any potential bonus they could have earned for the year. Therefore
there were no bonus awards for the Executive Directors. Jetails of
the targets can be found on page 88.

Vesting of the long term incentive plan awards made on 20 March
2019 was based on relative TSR and EPS growth aver the three-year
performance period. The Group's three-year TSR was 67.5% which
ranked the Company in the top quartile of the peer group resulting
in this part of the award vesting in full. The 2021 adjusted basic EPS
of 60.6¢ was below the threshold target and s none of this part of
the award will vest. Therefore 50% of the awards will vest

75
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Audit Committee Report continued

Internal control

The Committee regularly reviews the effectiveness of the Group's
systemn of internal controls and risk management. This involves
the monitoring and review of the effectiveness of internal audit
activities, which included a review of the audits carried out
including the recommendations arising, management's responses
and actions to address recommendations and approving the
internal audit programme and resourcing for 2022.

The Internal Audit programme is comprised of risk-based audits
undertaken by Deloitte. Deloitte report directly to the Audit
Committee who considered and approved the seupe of the

2021 internal audit programme to be undertaken. The Charr

of the Committee also holds separate meetings with Deloitte,
without executive management being present. During the year,
Deloitte focused their internal audit work on the Group's risk
managemeant processes, a post implementation review of the SAP
ERP system implemented in November 2020 in the former 3Mm
ballistic manufacturing sites, Cyber Security and the Team Wendy
governance and controls environment,

Several improvemnents were identified in respect of developing
and enhancing the Group’s risk management processes, better
documenting the operation of cantrols and improved access
controls within the SAP ERP systems.

As part of the internal control framework, site controllers and plant
managers are obliged to positively confirm, on a bi-annual basis,
that the controls as documented in the internal contre! manual
are in place and are being adhered to, with specific reference to
key controls such as bank and control account reconciliations. This
process has been in place for the year under review and up te the
date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts. It has been
reviewed by the Board and continues to be monitored by the
Committee, which remains satisfied with the arrangements.

As part of its work, and in line with its terms of reference,

the Committee also considers the discharge of the Board’s
responsibilities in the areas of corporate governance, financial
reporting and internal contrel, including the internal management
of risk, as identified in the Code and the FRC guidance on Risk
Management, Internal Control and Related Financial Business
Reporting. Risk rmanagement activities are dealt with in more detail
in the Principal Risks and Risk Management report cn pages 52

10 57 and the Corporate Governance Report on pages 64 10 67,

Audit Committee effectiveness review

The evaluation of the effectiveness of the Audit Committee was
conducted alongside the Board effectiveness review, information
on which is provided in the Corporate Governance report on page
66. The review concduded that the Audit Committee continued to
operate effectively during the year.

Bod e

BindiFoyle
Chair of the Audit Committee

14 Decernber 2021



..M...73

External auditors

The Audit Committee considers the appointment of the external
auditor each year. KPMG LLP (KPMG’) were appointed as the Group's
external auditors for the 2019 audit following a tender process in 2018,
2021 is KPMG's third year as the Group's external auditor and Andrew
Campbell-Orde has acted as audit partner since KPMG's appaintment.

The Committee oversees the relationship with the extarnal
auditors, and monitors all services provided by, and fees payable

to them, to ensure that potential conflicts of interest are considered
and that an objective and professional relationship is maintained

In particutar, the Committee reviews and manitors the
independence and objectivity of the external auditors and the
effectiveness of the audit process. At the outset of the annual
audit process, the Committee receives a detailed audit plan from
the auditors, identifying their assessment of the key risks and their
intended areas of focus. This is agreed with the Committee to
ensure coverage is appropriately focused.

The Committee also holds separate discussians with the external
auditor, without executive management being present. In addition,
I held separate meetings with the external auditor during the
course of the year.

Review of the effectiveness of the external auditor

The Committee evaluates the effectiveness of the external auditor
annually. This evaluation includes a review of the effectiveness of
the external audit process, consideration of whether management
had been adequately challenged, interaction with the Cormmittee
and quality of the audit work. The 2020 review included reports
from the external auditor and Management Incorporating
feedback against a formal assessment framework from key
members of the Group's finance team and those employees

who hadg interacted with KPMG during the audit. This report

was reviewed at the Committee’s meeting in May 2021, QOverall
feedback was positive and where opportunities for irmprovernent
were identified in respect of earlier discussion with management
of developrnents and changes during the year, KPMG were asked
to take account of that feedback in the planning for future audit
activity. KPMG and management also undertook to work together
te more clearly define the information required from management
during the audit w aid increased audit efficiency. This review
concluded that the audit was conducted 1o a good standard

with appropriate focus and challenge on the key audit risks.

KPMG have discussed more generally the firm's process for
enhancing audit quality which includes intermal quality reviews,
and the | had direct discussions with the KPMG Head of Audit,
UK to discuss the firm’s quality improvement plans.

Audit fees and auditor re-appointment

During 2021, the Committee reviewed and approved the proposed
audit fees and terms of engagement for the 2021 audit and
recommended 10 the Board that it proposes ta shareholders that
KPMG be re-appointed as the Group's external auditor for 2022 at
the AGM to be held on 28 January 2022

Auditor independence

To ensure the independence and objectivity of the external
auditors and avold a situation where the auditor's familiarity
with the Group’s affairs results in excessive trust, the Committee
maintains a formal Auditor Independence Palicy. The Policy
follows the ethical guidance on auditor independence issued by
the FRC in December 2019 and was reviewed during the year to
ensure it remained appropriate. Under the Policy all non-audit
services permitted by the FRC require the specific approval of
the Audit Committee.

The policy also establishes guidelines for the recruitment of
employees or former employees of the external auditor, To
ensure comphance with this policy, the Audit Committee carried
out a review during the year, this included consideration of the
remurieration received by KPMG for audit services, audit-refated
services, and non-audit work.

The breakdown of the fees paid to the external auditor is included
irnote 2.5 of the financial statements. No non-audit services were
provided by KPMG during the vear.

Interactions with Financial Reporting Council

The Group received a letter in July 2021 from the Conduct

Committee of the FRC regarding its annual review of annual

accounts, strategic reports and directors’ reports of public and

large private companies. The FRC requested additional information

on three accounting disclosure areas in the Group's 2020 Annual !
Report and Accounts. These were a further explanation for

using alternative performance measures (APMs), further APM :
reconciliations and further cfarification on the classification of the
revolving credit facility as a current liability The Group, following
Board approval, respended to the FRC with information on each
of the three disclosure areas and confirmation of the inclusion

of additional disclosures in this Annual Report along with the
restatement of the ROCE for the FY20. The FRC dosed the review
process following the Group's response. No changes to the 2020
Annual Report were necessary as a result of the FRC's ravfew.

In their letter, the FRC also highlighted for consideration our
presentation of certain other items in the Graup’s 2020 Annual
Report and Accounts and, following this, we have made a small
number of miner disclesure improvements in this Annual Report,
including the incorporation of a new section focusing on the
Group's Adjusted Performance Measures on page 101,

The FRC's review was based on the Annual Report and Accounts

and did not benefit from detailed knowledge of the business or

an understanding of the underlying transactions entered into.

It was, however, conducted by staff of the FRC who have an .
understanding of the relevant legal and accounting framework

The review carried out by the FRC provides no assurance that the

Annual Report and Accounts were correct in all material respects;

the FRCs rale is not to venfy the information provided but to

consider compliance with reporting reguirernents.
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Audit Committee Report continued

The external auditor explained their audit procedurss to test the
canrying value of acquired intangible assets and, based on the work
undertaken, KPMG reported no inconsistendies or misstatements that
waere material in the context of the financial statements as a whole.

Further analysis and detail on the Group's acquired intangible
assets is set outin note 3.1 of the financial statements.

Development costs

The Group capitaliscs the development costs of new products and
processes as intangible assets or property, plant and equipment.
Initial capitalisation and any subsequent impairment are based

on management’s judgement of technolegical and economic
feasibility, including regulatory approvals required and forecast
customer demand. In determining the amounts to be capitalised
the Group makes assumptions regarding the expected future cash
generation of the project, discount rates to be applied and the
expected period of benefits, If either technological or economic
feasibility is ngt demonstrated then the capitalised costs will be
written off to the income statement.

Fallowing a review of the key issues in relation to the valuation
of the Group's development costs, including armor business
assets discussed further below, the Committee concurred
with management that the carrying value as included in the
30 September 2021 halance shect was appropriate.

The external auditor explained their audit procedures 10 test
development costs and, based on the work undertaken, KPMG
conciuded the carrying values were acceptable, Further analysis
and detail on the Group’s development costs are set out in note 3.1
of the financial statements.

Impairment of armor business assets

Gn 12 November 2021 the Group announced the next-generation
VTP ESAPI body armor product had failed first article testing. This
followed a similar result in December 2020 for the legacy DLA
ESAPI body armor product. It was also announced that the Group

is experiencing further delays in achieving final product approval
for the DLA ESAPI product following the successful completion of
ballistic testing in August 2021, thereby pushing expected revenues
from the second quarter into the third quarter of FY22. As a result,
the Board concluded it is in the best interests of our stakeholders as
a whole to undertake an orderly wind-down of the armor business.

The Committee specifically considered the following significant
judgements in this area:

+ The extent 1o which the failure of the VTP ESAPI body armor
product is an adjusting event that provides evidence of
conditions that existed at the end of the reperting period.
Estimates of armor future cash flows included in the
30 Septamber 2021 impairment review.

Following a review of these judgements, the Committee concurred
with management that the decision to fufly impair armor assets to
recoverable amounts in the 30 September 2021 balance sheet was
appropriate and that no further impairments were required at the
higher levels tested.

The external auditor explained their audit procedures to test the
impairment of armor business assets and, based cn the work
undertaken, KPMG concluded proposed charges were acceptable.
Further detail on armor related impairments are set outin nate 3.1
of the financial statements.

Estimation of the defined benefit pension assets
and obligations

The Group operated a contributory defined benefit plan to provide
pension and death benefits for the employees of its UK. Group
companies employed before 31 January 2003. The plan was closed
to future accrual of benefits on 1 October 2009.

The investments held by the pension scheme include both quoted
and unguoted securities, the latter which by their nature involve
assumptions and estimates to determine their fair value. Where there
is no active market for the unguoted securities tha farr value of these
assets is estimated by the pension trustees based on advice received
from the investment manager whilst also using any available market
evidence of any recent transactions for an identical asset. The
assumptions used in valuing unguoted investments are affected by
current market conditions and trends which could result in changes
in fair value after the measurement date.

Estimation of the defined benefit pension obligation involves
significant judgemenits concerning future changes ininflation,
mortality rates, and the selection of a suitable discount rate,

as well as the future performance and valuation of the scheme’s
assets. Changes to these actuarial judgements could

have a significant impact on the estimated pension cbligation.

An independent actuary is engaged to estimate the defined
benefit pension obligation, undertaking a valuation of the
scheme's assets and assessment of current and future pension
liabilities. The Committee reviewad a report from the independent
actuary on the appropriateness of the assumptions used in
assessing the assets and liabilities of the scheme and agreed that
the defined benefit pension obligation was being estimated
appropriately with reasonable judgements being applied.

The external auditor applied their audit procedures to test the
carrying value of the net pensicn obligation and, based on the
work undertaken and assessment of the actuarial judgements
used, reported no inconsistencies or misstatements that were
material in the context of the financial statements as a whole.
Further analysis and detail on the Group’s defined benefit
pension scheme is set out in note 6.2 of the financial statemenits.
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- To oversee the refationship with the external auditor and make
recommendations to the Board in relation to the re-appointment
of the external auditor and monitor the external auditor’s
objectivity and independence,

+ Toreview the adequacy of the Company’s whistleblowing
arrangements and the provision of appropriate investigatian of
any matters raised.

To advise the Board on whether the Committee believes the
Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, is fair. balanced,
and understandable and provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Company's position and performance,
business model and strategy.

Composition of the Audit Committee

The members of the Committee are set out on page 65 of the
Corporate Governance Report. whilst the Board Chair is no longer
a member of the Committee, he isinvited 1o attend & Commitiee
meetings together with the Executive Directors.

The Committee members are all independent Non-Executive
Directors and have the appropriate range of financial and
commercial expertise necessary to fulfil the Committee's terms
of reference. The Board considers that as a serving Group Finance
Director of a UK. listed company, i have both the current and
relevant financial experience reguired te Chair this Committee

2021 Annual Report

The main areas of focus considered by the Committee during 2021
were as follows:

+ The presentation of the financial statements and the quality
and acceptability of accounting policies and practices including
the presentation of adjusted performance measures and the
adjusting items. The Committee reviewed papers prepared
by management, challenged management’s judgerments and
estimates, and reviewed the disclosure of adjusted items within
the Group's half year and full year results, agreeing that the
position taken in the financial statements is appropriate.

The clarity of the disclosures and compliance with financial

reporting standards and relevant financial and governance

Teporting requirernents. Material areas in which significant

judgements have been applied, including impairment of armor

business assets, are discussed separately in mare detail below.

+ Review of the acquisition accounting in respect of the
acquisition of Team Wendy on 2 Novemnber 2020.

» Review of the impairment of armar business assets,

+ At the request of the Board, the Committee considered whether
the 2021 Annua'! Report was fair, balanced and understandable
and whether it provided the necessary information for
shareholders t assess the Company's position and performance,
business model and strategy. Having taken account of the
other information provided to the Beard throughout the year,
the Commitiee was satisfied that, taken as a whole, the Annual
Report and Accounts was fair, balanced and understandabie.

The Committee was content, after due challenge and debate,
with the assumptions made and the jJudgements applied in the
acceunts and agreed with management’s recommendations.

in additian, the Committee reviewed and recommended the
approval of the statements on corporate governance, internal
control and risk management in the Annual Report and Accounts
and the half year and all trading statements.

Significant judgements and estimates considered
by the Audit Committee

After discussions with management and the external auditor, the
Committee determined that the key risk of material misstatement
of the Group’'s 2021 financial statements arose in the following areas:

Identification and valuation of acquired intangible assets.
+ Development costs.

Impairment of armor business assets.
+ Estimation of the defined benefit pension obligation.

Identification and valuation of acquired
intangible assets

The valuation of intangible assets acquired as a result of acquisitions
involves significant jJudgement and changes in underlying
assumptions could have a significant impact on the carrying value
of these assets.

Acquired intangibles include customer relationships, brands and
trademarks, patents, and crder books. The fair value of assets
acquired is determined using complex valuation technigques
including the forecasting and discounting of future cash flows.
Thisincludes assumptions such as discount rates and estimates
for growth rates, weighted average cost of capital and useful lives
which are inherently jJudgemental,

Following a review of the key issues in relation to Group's acquired
intangible assets, the Committee concurred with management that
the carrying value as included in the 30 September 2021 balance
sheet was appropriate.



Audit Committee Report

The Committee has continued
to monitor the integrity of the
Group’s financial statements
and supported the Board with
its ongoing monitoring of the
Group’s risk management and

internal controf systems. "

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHAIR’S OVERVIEW

During the year, the Audit Committee continued its key oversight rcle
for the Board of the Group's financial management and reporting to
reassure shareholders that their interests are properly protected.

The Audit Committee works 10 a set programme of activities, with
agenda items established to coincide with the annual financial
reporting calendar. The Committee reports regularly to the Beard
on its work.

During the 2027 financial year, the Committee has continued

1o monitor the integrity of the Group's financial statements and
supported the Board with its ongoing monitoring of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems. The Committee
also determined the focus of the Group's internal audit activity,
reviewed Its findings, and verified that recommendations were
being appropriately implemented.

In accordance with the Code, the Committee continued to have
oversight of the Group's whistleblowing function, known as "Speak
Up' tagether with the associated palicies and procedures. The
Committee raceived regular updates an the number and types

of Speak Up reports and agreed follow up actions throughout the
year from the General Counsel.

During 2021 the Audit Committee undertock a full evaluation
exercise of KPMG's audit approach, to ensure the effectiveness of
the external audit function. Reviewing the results of the evaluation
of the external audit process, we are satisfied with both the
auditor's independence and audit approach.

The Audit Committee acts on behalf of the full Board, and the
matters reviewed and managed by the Committee remain the
responsibility of the Directors as a whole

Main responsibilities of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has delegated authority from the Board set
out in its written terms of reference. The terms of reference for the
Audit Committee are available for inspection at the Company's
registered office and on our website.

The key ohjectives of the Audit Committee are:

- To provide effective governance and control over the integrity
of the Group's financial reporting and review the significant
financial reperting judgements.

+ Tosupport the Board with its ongoing monitoring of the
effectiveness of the Group's system of internal controls and risk
management systems.

« To monitor the effectiveness of the Group's internal audit
function and review its material findings.
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target of 33% female representation on the Board and continue
1o work to achieve the same minimum target representation for the
Group Executive team and their direct reports.

Further information, including the number of women in senior
management and within the organisation is shown in the
Sustainability Report on page 34.

Activities during 2021

During the year, the Committee:

commenced the search for a new Chief Financial Officer o
replace Nick Kaveth when he stands down in March 2022;
considered and confirmed the appointment of Chloe Ponsonby
as the Senior Independent Director following the departure of
Fim Vervaat,
+ considered and confirmed the appointment of Victor Chavez as
Non-Executive Director;
reviewed the compaosition of the Board and its succession plan;
- reviewed progress made on the recruitment for senior pasitions,
including a new Group Chief Operating Officer;

= carried out an annual review of the Committee's Terms of Reference;

recommended re-election of the Board at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting; and
reviewed the Board performance evaluation process.

Board changes

As setout in last year's report, David Evans stepped down from the
Board in December 2020 and | replaced him as Chair, Pim Vervaat
stood down from the Board at the 2021 AGM and Chlae Ponsonby
took the role of Senior Independent Director.

Victor Chavez CBE was appointed to the Board as Non-Executive
Director or 1 December 2020 The recruitment process for Victor's
appointment was disclosed in last year's report. Victor's biography,
together with those of all Board Directors, is included on page 62.

As announced to shareholders on 25 May 2021, after what will be
approaching five years, Nick Keveth will be retinng from the Board
on or before the end of March 2022. The recruitment process to find
Nick's replacement commenced over the summer, led by me as
Chair of the Committee. Independent executive search consultants
Korn Ferry were retained and provided with 2 detailed description
of the role and asscdiared skills and experience required. Korn

Ferry compiled a lang list of potential candidates based on initial
interviews, from which a shortlist of candidates was selected by

the Committee.

Shortlisted candidates have been interviewed initially by the Chief
Executive, Company Secretary and myself, and subsequently by Bindi
Foyle and Nick Keveth. Preferred candidates were then interviewed
by Chloe Ponsonby and Victor Chavez to ensure the candidates

were exposed to all of the Directors. We expect to be in a position

to provide an update on Nick’s replacement on or before the date

of the AGM in January. Korn Ferry has no other connection with the
Company orits Directors.

The Committee have previously agreed that all Directors should
be put forward for re-appointment by shareholders each year

at the AGM. Taking into account the performance and value

that each Director has brought to the Board, the Committee has
considered whether the appointment of each Non-Executive and
Executive Director should be renewed for a further year and has
confirmed that this is indeed the case. Accordingly, resolutions
to re-appoint each Director are being put to shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM.

Succession planning

The Committee reviews succession planning for the Board formally
at least once a year in order to ensure the Board is adequately
prepared for potential changes to key Board positions. In addition,
the Committee reviewed the executive leadership needs of the
Group during the year and progress was made on the longer term
succession planning of the Group Executive management team and
their direct reports and this will remain a pricrity for the coming year.

Alongside this, the Committee also retains oversight of the
pragrammes in place to assess and facilitate talent development
amengst the management teams to ensure there is a structured
approach to growing, developing and retaining the Company’s
future leaders.

Committee evaluation

The evaluation of the effectiveness of the Committee was
conducted as part of this year's Board performance evaluation.
The outcame of the 2021 Committee review was positive and
highlighted the need for the Committee 1o retain focus on
succession planning for Non-Executive and Executive Director rales
in 2022 and to play 2 stronger rale in the aversight of the internal
talent pipeline. Further detail on the result of the Board evaluation
exercise is included on page 66 of the Corporate Governance Report.
.
- - B
-l gL

Bruce Thompson
Chair of the Nomination Committee

14 December 2021
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The Committee regularly
reviews the Board’s structure
and gives full consideration
to succession planning for
Directors and other senior
executives, to ensure we are
best resourced to deliver the

Group’s strategy. i i

Nomination Committee Report

LETTER FROM THE CHAIR OF
THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises all the Non-Executive Directors.

Main responsibilities
The main responsibilities of the Committee are as follows.

+ Toregularly review the Board's structure, size and composition,
taking into account the challenges and opportunities facing the
Group and the skills, knowledge and expenience needed by the
Board and to make recommendations to the Board with regard
1o any change.

+ To putin place and periodicaily review succession plans for
Directors and, more generally, senior executives.

« Tolead the process for Board appointments and make
recommendations te the Board.

The Committee’s terms of reference are available within the
Corporate Governance section of the Company's website and
are reviewed annually.

All Directors are appointed by the Board foilowing a ngorous selection
process and subsequent recommendation by the Commitiee.

Diversity

The Board recognises the benefits of diversity and believe that

the Board's perspective and approach is greatly enhanced by
gender, age and cultural diversity. The Nomination Cemmittee

is responsible for the Board's policy in this area. Diversity of skills,
background, knowledge, international and industry experience,
and gender, amongst many other factors, will be taken inte
consideration when seeking to appeint new Directors to the Board.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, all Board appointments will always
be made on merit. The Board's Diversity Policy can be found in the
Corporate Governance section of the Company's website.

The Balance@Avon inmiative, supported by the Committes, aims

to help develop and promote our female leadership, create a forum
where we can identify, nurture and develop the female leaders

of the future and ensure that all women at Avon Protection thrive
in their careers. The initiative is driven by a steering group which
collaborates on long-term ideas to help shape the future face of
Avon Protection and create an agenda and platform to help build
our future female talent pipeline.

During 2021 we have supported a number of Balance@Avan
initiatives, including international Women's Day and the launch of
a female mentoring programme We have achieved our minimum
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This Committee also reviews the interim, preliminary and

annual statements and has primary responsibility for making a
recommendation on the appointment, reappointment and remaoval of
external auditors,

Relations with shareholders

The Directors regard regular communications with shareholders as
extremely important. All members of the Board receive copies of
analysts’ reports of which the Company is made aware and receive
an investor relations report from the Chief Finandial Officer at every
Board meeting. The Board reparts formally to its shareholders in a
number of ways, including via regulatory news announcements,
press releases, routine reporting obligations, a detalfed Annual
Report and Accounts and, at the half year, an interim report

Regular dialogue takes place with institutional shareholders, including
presentations after the Company's preliminary announcements of
the half and full year results. The Board receives comments from
analyst meetings and shareholder meetings after both interim and
fimal results and at other times during the year The AGM includes a
presentation by the Chief Executive Officer on aspects of the Group's
business and shareholders have the opportunity to both ask questions
and 1o leave written questions with the Company Secretary for the
response of the Directors. Directors also make themselves available
after the AGM to talk informally to shareholders, should they wish 10
do so, and respond throughout the year 1o any carrespondence from
individual sharehalders.

Special Security Agreement

On 8 December 2020, cur U.S. subsidiary Avon Protection Ceradyne,
LLC (APC) and the Company entered into a Spedial Security
Agreernent with the US. Department of Defense. The SSA was
entered into in support of the US. DOD contracting and product
development elements of the ballistic protection business and
permits APC to perform classified US. defense contracts, There are 3
number of specific protocols that the Company and APC are required
to comply with under the 554, including the appointment 1o the APC
board of two independent outside U.S. directors approved by the

US. Gavernment. The 55A imposes cartain restrictions an the degree
of influence the Company can exert over APC and it is therefore
important that the Company maintains a strong relationship with the
APC Board, in order 1o ensure that we are fulfilling our own governance
obligations. The President of our Military business is an inside director
on the APC hoard. We anticipate increased engagement with APC and
the outside directors in the coming year under the governance of the
S5A.TO sUpport synergy cpportunities across APC's product portfolio
for the benefit of both our Military and First Respander businesses.

Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTR}
Disclosures in respect of the DTR requirerments under DTR 7.2.6
are given in the Directors’ Report on pages 96 to 99 and have
been included by reference.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared an 3 going concern
basis, which the Directors believe 1o be appropriate for the
following reasons:

The Directars have prepared a going concern assessment covering
the 12 month pericd from the date of approva! of these finandial
statements. The assessment, which takes account of the impact of
the strategic review of the armor business {see note 7.6), indicates
that the Group will have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities as
they fall due for that period.

As part of their assessment, the Directors considered a base case,
which reflects the impact of the strategic review of the armor
business and a severe downside scenario involving a 25% decline
in bank-determined adjusted EBITDA against the base case. Even
in this severe downside scenario, the assessment indicates that
the Group will have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities as they
fall due, and will continue to comply with its loan covenants,
throughout the forecast periad. The Group has commitied RCF
facilities of 5200 million (see note 5.1) and related loan covenants
include a imit of 3.0 times for the ratio of net debit, excluding
lease liabitities, to bank-determined adjusted EBITDA (leverage).

On this basis, the Directors are confident that the Group and
Company will have sufficient funds to continue o meet its
liabitities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the approval
of these financial statements. Accordingly the Group and Company
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing their
financial statements.

Viability Statement

The Directors have assessed the viabllity of the Group over a
three-year period 1o September 2024, taking account of the Group's
current position, the impact of the strategic review of armor and
potential impact of the principal risks documented in the Strategic
Report. Based on this assessment, the Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Group will be able to continue in cperation and
meet its liabilities as they fall due over the pericd to Seprember 2024,

In making this staternent, the Directors have considered the
resilience of the Grou, taking account of its current position, the
principal risks facing the business in severe but plausible downside
scenarios, and the effectiveness of any mitigating actions. This
assessment has considered the patential impacts of these risks on
the business modei, future performance, solvency and liquidity over
the period. In making their assessment, the Directors have taken
accounit of the Group's revolving credit facility which covers the
three-year laokout peried. During the year the Group has complied
with all covenant requirements attached to its financing facilivies.

The Directors consider the three-year lookout periad 1o be the
most appropriate as this aligns with the Group's own strategic
planning period. The Group has developed an annual business
planning process, which comprises a strategic plan, a financial
forecast for the current year and a financial projection for the
forthcoming three years, This plan is reviewed each year by the
Board as part of its strategy setting process. Once approved by
the Board, the plan provides a basis for setting all detailed financial
budgets and strategic actions that are subsequently used by the
Board to monitor performance. The forecast performance outlook
is also used by the Remuneration Committee to establish the
targets for both the annual and long-term incentive schemes.
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Performance evaluation

The Board continually strives to improve its effectiveness and conducts
an annual review of its performance and that of its Committees and
the individual Directors to enhance overall Board effectiveness. As a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic, all Board meetings were held via
video conference untif July 2021, Given this and recent appointments

it was agreed that the 2021 Board evaluation pracess would be
conducted internally using guestionnaires and interviews led by the
Company Secretary. The 2022 evaluation will be externally facilitated.

The Board evaluation questionnaire, completed by all Board
members and the Company Secretary, was sbiuciured 1o provide
Directors with the opportunity to express views on a variety of topics
including Board remit and responsibilities, skills and dynamics of the
Board, meetings and content, Group strateqy, internal control and

risk management, decision-making and communication.

A detailed discussion of the findings frorm the performance evaluation
took place at the September 2021 Board meeting. Overall, the
evaluation concluded that the Board, its Comrnittees, the individual
Directors and the Chair performed effectively during 2021, both
individually and as a collective unit. It was concluded that there had
been an improvement in the skills and expenence across the Board
following the appointments of Bruce Thompson, Bindi Foyle and
Victor Chavez. The following areas have been identified by the Board
as areas of focus for 2022 and beyond: increasing opportunities for
interaction between the Board and the wider management team
{which was hampered in 2021 due to the pandemic), greater focus on
succession planning and risk management.

Audit, risk and internal control

The Board has an established framework of internal controls covering
hoth financial and non-financial controls. In addition, there is a
process for identifying, evaluating and managing significant business
risks, including emerging risks, faced by the Group. This process was
in place throughout the 2021 financial year.

The Code requires that Directors establish procedures 1o manage
risk, oversee the internal control framework and determine the
nature and extent of the principal risks the Company is willing to
take in order 1o achieve its long-term strategic objectives.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, review the effectiveness
of the Group's system of internal controls on a cantinuing basis.
The scope of this review covers all controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls, as well as risk management.
The Audit Committee has responsibility to review, menitor and
make policy recommendations to the Board upon all such matters.

The Audit Committee keeps this system under continuous review
and formally considers its content and its effectiveness on an
annual basis. Such a system can provide only reasonable, and not
absolute, assurance against material misstatements or losses. The
section an internal control in the Audit Committee Report on page
74 and the following paragraphs describe relevant key procedures
within the Group's systerns of internal contrel and the process by
which the Directors have reviewed their effectiveness.

Systemns exist throughout the Group which provide for the creation
of three-year plans and annuat budgets; monthly reports enable
the Board to compare performance against budget and to take
action where appropriate, Pracedures are in place to identify all
major and emerging business risks and to evaluate ther potential
impact on the Group. These risks are described within the Strategic
Reporton pages 52 to 57.

Risk management

Risk is managed by the Group Executive team during the year, led by
the Risk Committee, which is led by the Company Secretary. Vanous
enhancements to the risk managernent process were implemented
during the year and these are set out In more detail in the Principle
Risks and Risk Management section on pages 52 to 57.

The Audit Committee carried out guarterly reviews of the key

risks facing the Group and risk management activities undertaken
during the year, following the risk reviews conducted by the Risk
Committee with the business leadership. The Audit Committee
also carried out a robust annual assessment of the major business
risks and emerging risks affecting the Group, including macra risks.

Internal control

There is a clearly defined delegation of autharity from the Board
to the business units, with appropriate reporting lines to individual
Executive Directors. There are procedures for the authorisation of
capital expenditure and investment, together with procedures for
post-completion appraisal.

Internal controls are in existence which provide reasonable assuranice
of the maintenance of proper accounting records and the reliability
of financial information used within the business or for publication.
The Group finance department manages the financial reporting
process to ensure that there is appropriate control and review of the
financial information including the production of the consolidated
annual accounts. Group finance is supported by the operaticnal
financial managers thraughout the Group, whao have respensibility
for providing information in keeping with the policies, procedures
and internal best practices as documented in the internal control
manual and are accountable under these.

The Board has issued a Code of Conduct which reinforces the
importance of a robust internal control framework throughout
the Group. The Board recognises that an open and honest culture
is key 10 understanding concerns within the business and to
uncovering and investigating any potential wrongdoing. The Code
of Conduct sets out the procedure whereby individuals may raise
concerns in matters of financial reporting or any other matter of
concern with management or directly with the Chair of the Audit
Committee, or anonymously through cur Speak Up’ process,

to ensure independent investigation and appropriate follow-up
action. The Code of Conduct is reviewed annually.

Although the Board itself retains the ultimate power and authority in
relation to decision making, the Audit Committee meets at least four
times a year with management and external auditors to review specific
accounting, reporting and financial contrel matters.
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This list includes appropriate strategic, financial, organisatianal
and compliance issues, including the approval of high-level
announcements, circulars, the Annual Report and Accounts and
certain strategic and management issues, which include:

+ Approval of the annual operating budget and the three-year
strategic plan.

+ The extension of the Group's activities into new areas of business
and/or geographical areas (or their cessation)

« Changes 10 the corporate or capital structure.

+ Financial issues, including changes in accounting policy, the
anproval of dividends, bank facilities and guarantees.

» Changes to the constitution of the Board.

« The approval of significant contracts, for example the acquisition
or disposal of assets worth more than £1,000,000 or the exposure
of the Company or the Group to a risk greater than £1,000,000.

+ The approval of unbudgeted capital expenditure.

« The approval of quotations and sale contracts where the sales
commission payable to an intermediary exceeds 10% of the
net invoice price.

+ Consideration and approval of all proposed acquisitions
ard mergers.

Each Director has full and timely access to all relevant information
and the Board meets regularly with appropriate contact
between meetings. All Directors receive a tailored induction to
the Group from the Company Secretary on joining the Board.
When appointed, Non-Exacutive Directors are made aware of
and acknowledge their ability to meet the time commitments
necessary to fulfil their Board and Committee duties. Procedures
are in place, which have been agreed by the Board, for Directors,
where necessary in the furtherance of their duties, 1o take
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense

and all Directors have access to the Company Secretary.

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that all Board procedures and governance requirements are
complied with, The removal of the Company Secretary is a decision
for the Board as a whale.

Attendance at meetings

Committees of the Board

Of particular importance in a governance context are the three
committees of the Board, namely the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee. Each
Committee operates under clear terms of reference, copies of
which are available on our website. Detall of the operation of each
Committee are provided within the relevant Cornmittee report.

Bindi Foyle took over as Chair of the Audit Committee on

29 January 2021 when Pim Vervaat stepped down from the Board.
The Board is satisfied that Ms Foyle has recent relevant financial
experience and her profile appears on page 63.

Bruce Thompson is Chair of the Nomination Committee but,

in accordance with the Committee’s terms of reference, is nct
permitted to chair meetings when the Committee is dealing

with matters relating to the Board Chair's position.

Chloe Ponsenby is Chair of the Remuneration Committee. The
Remuneration Committee’s principal responsibilities are to decide
on remuneration policy on behalf of the Board and 1o determine
rermuneration packages and other terms and conditions of
employment, including appropriate performance-related benefits
for the Executive Directors and ather senior executives, The
Remuneration Committee also has regard to the remuneration

of the wider workforce. More details of the activities of the
Remuneration Committee are set out in the Remuneration Report
on pages 75 1o 95.

Composition, succession and evaluation

The Nomination Committee is responsible for leading the process
for Board appeintrments and making recommendations to the
Board, putting in place plans for succession and regularly reviewing
the Board's structure, size and compaosition. The Committee takes
into account the challenges and opportunities facing the Group
and the skills, knowledge and experience needed by the Board
and makes recommendations to the Board with regard to any
changes. Further information and the activities of the Nomination
Committee during the year are detalled on page 68.

All Committee and Board meetings held in the year were quorate. Directors’ attendance during the year ended 30 September 2021 was

as follows:
Board AuditCommittee {4 scheduled R ration C: ittee Nomination Committee
{10 meetings) and 2 ad hoc mestings) {3 scheduled and 2 ad hot meetings) (3 scheduled and 1 2d hoc meeting)
Bruce Thompson 10 (1Q) 2028 5(5) 44
Bindi Foyle 900) o 6 {6) 415 44
_€hloe Ponsoniy 10 (10} 6 (6} 5 (3 414
Victor Chavez 718) 414 33 44
Nick Keveth 000 - - -
Paul McOonaid 10 (10) - - -

The maximum number of meetings which sach Director could have attended is shown in brackets.

1 Victor Chavez Joined the Board on 2 December 2020

2 Bruce Thorrpson stepped down as 8 member of the ALdit Cermittes on his appointment as Chair on 2 December 2620



Aveon Protection plc/ Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Corporate Governance Report

Introduction

This Corporate Governance Report, along with information in the
Strategic and Remuneration Reports, explains how the principles
and provisions of the UK. Corporate Governance Code 2018

{'the Code’) have been applied. A copy of the Code can be found
on www.fre.org.uk.

Statement of compliance with the Code
We are pleased to confirm that the Board has complied with all
provisions of the Code throughout 2021, with the exception of
the following:

Provision 38: The Cade stipulates that pension contribution rates
for Executive Directors should be aligned with those available to
the workforce. Pensicn contributions for new Executive Directors
are aligned with the rate available to the workforce. Following
the announcement of the retirement of Nick Keveth as Chief
Financia! Officer, Paul McDonald has volunteered 1o accepta
reduced pension contribution in line with the workforce upon
the appointment of the replacement Chief financial Officer,

the recruitment process for which is described on page 69.

Board leadership

The Board comprises twa Executive Directors and four Nen-
Executive Directars (including the Chair, Bruce Thompson). The
Board regularly reviews 1ts composition 1o ensure it has the
necessary breadth and depth of skills to support the develepment
of the Group. We believe that the Board continues to have a strong
mix of experienced individuals who provide a unigue perspective
on Company matters and bring specific skills to the Board.
Blographical details for cach member of the Board can be found
on pages 62 and 63 of this Annual Report. All Directors will stand
for reappointment by sharehaolders at the 2022 AGM.

Company purpose

The Company purpose is stated on page 2. The Board recognises
its role in establishing the purpose, values and strategy of the
Group and ensuring that these are embedded throughout the
business. Qur purpose unites us, guides our decisions and inspires
us wherever we operate.

Our culture

The Board clearly recognises the importance of culture and its link
to delivering our purpose and strategy. Assessing and maonitering
our culture is important ta ensure we retain a successful culture as
we grow. Through our employee engagement initiatives, explained
in more detail on page 34, the Board has sought to achieve greater
engagement with the workforce, The Board has considered
carefully the most effective way of achieving this engagement

and during the year decided to move away from a designated
employee engagerment NED to the creation of a Global Employece
Advisory Forum.

I our business, with employees across seven sites (six of which
are in the United States), it was felt that this is a better and more
practical approach to ensuring local views are captured and
reported back to the Board in a timely manner, Further details on
the eperation of the Globa! Employee Advisory Forum are set out
on page 58.

Division of responsibilities

There is & clear division of responsibility between the running of
the Board by the Chair and the running of the Group's business

by the Chief Executive Officer. The Chair is responsible for the
leadership of the Board and ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects
of its role. The Chief Executive Officer manages the Group and has
the primary role, with the assistance of the Board, of developing
and implementing business strategy. The Chair ensures that
meetings of Non-Executive Directors take place without the
Executive Directors present. Rules concerning the appointment
and replacement of Directors of the Company are contained in
the Articles of Association. Amendments to the Articles must be
approved by a special resalution of shareholders. One of the roles
of the Non-Executive Directors, under the leadership of the Chair,
is to undertake detailed examination and discussion of strategies
proposed by the Executive Directors, so as to ensure that decisions
are made in the best long-term interests of shareholders and take
proper account of the interests of the Group's other stakeholders.

The Non-Executive Directors are appointed by the Board on terms
which allow for termination on three months’ notice, Copies of
Executive Directors' service contracts and terms and conditions
of appointment for Non-Executive Directors are available for
inspection at the registered office.

How the Board operates

The Chair ensures, through the Company Secretary, that the
Board agenda and all relevant information is provided sufficiently
in advance of meetings and that adequate time is available for
discussion of all agenda items, in particular strategic issues. The
Chief Executive Officer and the Company Secretary discuss the
agenda ahead of every meeting. At meetings, the Chair ensures
that all Directors are able to make an effective contribution

and every Director is encouraged to participate and provide
opinions on each agenda item. The Chair always sceks to achieve
unanimous decisions of the Board following due discussion of
agenda items.

The Non-Executive Directors fully review the Group's operational
performance and the Board as a whole has, with a view to
reinforcing its oversight and control, reserved a list of powers
solely to itself which are not te be delegated to management.
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Bindi Foyle

Non-Executive Director
First appointment: May 2020

Skills and experience:

Birdi has been Group Finarce
Director of Serior plc, a
manufacturer for the aerospace,
defence, land vehicle and power
and energy markets, since

July 2017 havirg served as an
Executive Director since May
2017 Bindi joined Senior in 2006
as Group Firangial Cortroller
before becoming Director of
Investor Relations and Corporate
Communications in 2014. Prior
1o Joining Senior, she held senior
firance roles at Amersham plc
ard General Electric, havirg
praviously worked with BDO
Stoy Hayward.

Victor Chavez CBE

Non-Executive Director
First appointment: December 2020

Skills and experience:

Victor has over 30 years of
exparience In the defence and
secunty sectors. His early career
focused on telecommunications
and software before joining
Thales UK in 1999 He was
appainted Crief Executive in
2011, retiring ir 2020 having
successfully integrated and
growr the business during this
pernod. In recognition of kis
services to defence and secunty
for the U K. and France, Victor
was appointed a CBE in 2015
ard a Chevalier of the Legion
d'Honreuar ir 2020.

Miles Ingrey-Counter

Group Counsel and
Company Secretary
First appointment: October 2007

Skills and experience:

Miles is & qualified solicitor, he
jowred the Group in January 2004
and has been a member of the
Group Executive mMaragement
teamn since 2008, Miles also has
responsibility for 2l Group HR
matrers and s Chair of the Avon
Protection Retiremert ard Death
Benefits Plan. Prior to Joiring
Avon Protection, Miles was a
solicitor with Osborne Clarke LLP.

uERE
cl ]}
Board gender diversity Independence
FEMALE EXECUTIVE
3% {including CEQ and CFG}

40%

4 3

MALE NON-EXECUTIVE
67% {excluding the Chair)
60%

The above graphs do nctinclude the Corpany Secretary
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Bruce Thempson

Chair
First appointment: March 2020
Appointed Chalr: Decerr ber 2020

Skills and experience:

Bruce joired the Board in

March 2020, During his executive
career, Bruce was Chief Executive
Officer of Diploma PLC. the

FTSE 250 speciahsed techrical
pradacts and services business,
far over 20 years. Prior to joinirg
Diploma, Bruce was a director
with the technology and
management consulting firrm
Arthur D Little Inc, both in the
UK. and the U S He is carrently
the Senior irdependert
Nor-Executive Director of
discoverlE Group plc.
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Paul McDonald

Chief Executive Officer
First appointment: February 2017

Skills and experience:

Prior to his appointment as

Chief Execative Officer in 2017,
Paul was Maraging Director of
milkrite | interPuls, and since
2007, a key merrber of the Group
Executive maragement team
Paul joined the Group in 2003
and spent the early part of his
career at Avon in commercial
and operational roles which,
ncluded respansibifity for all UK.
operations and the European
divisional business units.

Nick Keveth
Chief Financial Officer

First appointment: sune 2017

Skills and experience:

Nick was appoirted as Chief
Financial Officer in June 2017,
Prior to joiring Avon, Nick was
Director of Finance, Planning and
Reporting at Imperial Brands, the
FTSE 100 tobacco group. He was
with Impenaf for 12 vears and
held a variety of semor firance
roles during this period Mick
also served as a Non-Executive
Director of the Spanish listed
graup Compania de Distribucion
Integral Logista Holdings, 5 A,
aleadirg distribator of products
and services to canvenicrce
retailers in Southern Lurope,
from 2014 until 201/, Prior to
Joining Impenal Nick worked

for Pricewaterhouseloopers

for 14 years in both audit and
adviscry roles.

OUR BUSINESS IS LeED BY OUR

€EXPERIENCED BOARD OF DIRECTORS

WHO FOCUS ON DEVELOPING
THE GROUP'S STRATEGY AND
SUPPORTING MANAGEMENT

TO EXECUTE AGAINST IT.

Board membership key
B Audit Committee

B Nomiratior Committes

B Remuneration Committee

€ Chair

Chloe Ponsonby

Non-Executive Director
Senior Independent Director
First appointment: March 2015

Skiils and experience:

Chlos has spert her 20-year
career in financial services, first
in equity fund management at
Jupiter, and then in investrert
hanking at Altam, Onel
Secdrities inow owned by Stfel)
and currertly at Parmure Gordon
where she 15 a Senior Managing
Director, She s a Chartered
Financial Analyst ard has a first
class Economics degree from
the University of Manchester.

EEEN

M ndependert Director
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What did we talk to them about?

G.obal Emnloyee Advisory Forum topics includ'ng communicat'on,
COVID-19 and business strategy have been d scussad Through this apen
channel we seek employees’ hanest feedback Leadersh’p events and tne
{EO Roadshow Q&AM event provide our leadership team with the chance to
update our employees on business si-ategy, the year in review and looking
o tne future

Outcomes

Dezailed feedback fram surveys and the Culture Champions have contnbuted
toward e newly revised renunerztion parncy for aur hourly paid emaloyees
and an incgase in commun cation from leadership ta address emplayee
questions more frequently.

We sougnt 10 engage with ail major snaehaiders who voted against tne
resclution to approve the Dreciors Remuneration Po'icy (which received
23.7% votes agamst) at last year’s AGM to better understand their reasans.
Responses from sharehalders mdicated two main issues: 1) the salary
ncreases applied to Executive D rectors for FY21 and 2) the timing of the
Executive Directors’ pension reduc tions, wgse conir Hution rates were
due to reduce to the workforce 'evel from 1 Ociober 2023, rather tan f«om
1 January 2023

As explained on page 94, Executive Direcior pension contrbut'ons will now
be aligned 10 the wider workforce an appoimtment of the replacerrent Chief
Financ'al Officer, expected 10 pe in eary 2022

The majority of our praduct development pipe'ine is designed in
partnership with our customers to ensure we ave in active dizlogue and
that their performance requirerrents are et

We have developed long-standing re'at'onships with our customers which
provide opportunities 1o work with user groups to ensure their evolving
operational needs ave anticipated in ‘uture product develapments.

We sel out our expeciations on the standards of behav'cur of our supoliers
and business pariners which reflects our own Group-wde smandards and
we nave a Supkler Code of Conduct to supoort ths We engage w'th our
supp 1e7s on how 1o petter build long-term relaticnships

Consistent delivery of quality materials and services from our .ong-term
suppitess and g Clear ynderstanding of our expeciations.

We 1alked 10 the studenrs 'n our 'ocal communies aboul wnat 1's like 1o
have g career in STEM, Tne career patns Tney can take 3nd how 1o get there

Dur'ng FY21 we made 545,132 'n chartable conitrbutions 1o the lacal
communities and organisations C ose o our empioyees. We actvely
encourage erployees 1o Use the cnasitanle gving opt ans we previde.

The Strategic Report on pages 16 to 59 was approved by the Board of Directors on 14 Decermber 2021 and sigred on its bebalf by:

Paul McDonald
Chief Executive Officer

Nick Keveth

Chief Financial Officer
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ENGAGING WITH OUR STAKEHOLDERS

The Board acknowledges tnat posit've Inzeraction with ail stakeholders is key to underpinn'ng positive engagement and “ully ‘n‘orrred decision-raking on mater'a’ ssues.
As part of ensuring that the requirermnents of secnon 172 are mer, staseholder engagernent by The Board and the w der pusiness takes place across the Grous atall eve's

The Board recognises tna: in order to ensu-e the
continued success of the Groun, all decis'ons must be
taken with regard to the long-rerm autcorme of any
ceurse of act'on and 1ts impact o1 all stakeholders. 'n
accordance with section 172 of the Act, each of our
Cirectors acts ' the way that he or she considers,

i good faith, would be most “kely 1o pramrate

the success of the Company for the benefiz of s
Tnerioers as awhole

Throughout the year, our Directars nave nad regard,
amangs: other matters, io the:

+ likely consequences of any decisions in the
long-term

+ interests of the Company's employees

- need tofoster the Company's ousiness
refationships with supgliers, customers and ather
key stakeholders

- irpact of the Corrpany's operations on the
community and the enyvironment

« desrability of the Cor~pany manta ning a reputaticn
for hign standards of business conduct and

= need (o act faly as between members of
the Company

In add'tian, it 1s important to recognise that Directors
fulfil tneir duties, in part, through the Grous s robust
governance framework where day-to-day dec’s'on
making 1s delegated t management

Certain financial and strateg ¢ thresholds have been
determined to 1dentify ratters ~equinng Board
cansiderat'on and approval. Key decis'ons relating to
strategy and its mulementation are taken by the Board

Tne Board has a clear framewor< for determining the
matters withim 1ts remit and has aperoved Tems of
Referece for the matters delegated o 1s Comrmitiees

The Board acknow edges positive interaction with

all s:zkeholders is key 1o underpnning positive
engagement and fuly informed decision-ma«ng en
matera’issues. As part of ensuring the requiremrenits of
section 172 are met, stakchoider engagement by the
Board and the wider business takes place across the
Group, at a'l levels. Tris includes engagement with the
Group's emvlayees, shareholders, customers, suopliers
and the communities within whicn we cperate.

The Board ga'ns oversight of engagerrent with the
wider business though reports from the cxecutive
management team and througn the atzendance of
the execulive management at its meelings wnere
re‘evant. This interaction also provides an cpgortus’ty
for any stakeholder issues to be escalated by
rranagerren: tc the Board

Evidence of how the Board has discnarged its duties
and cansidered tne factors re'ating 1o section 172
are found throughout our Annual Report Spec fic
exarmples of how the Board has discmarged its dunes
n relavon to stakeholder engagemeni can be ‘ound
above. In addition 1o the surrmary of stakeholder
engagernens, ‘urther deta’ls o how the Board has
discharged 1ts duties in 2021 are included in the
Gaovernance sect ans of this repors.

How we engage with:

s\l Our people

7 addition to annual surveys o track emiplayee engageracnt and ‘eedbach, a programme has been
created to conlinue driving change across the business at local and group evel and orovide an addirional
channe! “or engagement with the Board Teams of Cu twre Champions he'p develop and cultivate
excitenent in cur workplace culture usmg responses fom surveys and feedback groups to discuss
possible sclut’'ons to focus areas identied and he o faci rate actions. Comprising of the network of
Culture Crampions, a Globa Employee Advisory Farum has farmed, meeting twice 2 year 1o provide an
additanal channel for the Board to obrain direc: feedback on current warkplace matiters.

Ourleadersnip nast montn y events, praviding al emp oyces an opporiunity W directly ask leadersnic,
inc'uding the Board, questions relat ng to business pes‘ormance, st*ategy, culture or emp.oyee
experience The CFO also nosts an annua’ roadshow providing employees with an update on the
busness and progress agains: the st-ategy Tn 515 a chance for employees to hear directy from the
CEQ and is ‘ollowed by a I've Q&A even to answer emclovee questions.

Shareholders

The Group regards regu'ar communicaucns with shareholders as extrerely important o understand
ther views and concerns. 'We censult with our sharena ders through open and frequent communications,
oredarinantly led by the Chief Executve Gfficer and Crief Financial Officer Trere ave open channels

of communication dur'ng the AGM and through the Comuany Secretay where snarehalders can raise
queastions witn the Directors, Regular dislogue takes place vath institutiona’ shareholders, including
oresenzations afer the Company’s half and full year resu'ts and other milestone announcemrents wth

a series of direct meetings throughou: the year

Customers

We partner closely with our custoraers 10 design praducts whicn enhance the capanidity of end users,
Throughout e product development process we engage with our customers 0 ensure we are resoond ng
10 their develasing needs, We have dedicated leadershis channels wo manage and prior:ise cur cusiomer

re anonstips Our Custorer' core value s at the ‘orefront of our emoloyees’ minds and they are proud of the
products we create for our custonrers and end users.

Suppliers

“hrough site visiss and 2 prog-amme of supplier audits, we ensure supgliers adhere 1o our supplier code of
conduct and quality expectations. Prampt and ‘air ayments help to build the long-term relationsh'ps we
strive for wizh al' our suppliers and we have comrizted teams 1o continue bui ding these relatonships. We
cont’nue 16 wor< with new and existng suppiiers to deve op our knowledge and product range.

Communities

We have an establisned community mmative focused on economic, socizl and enviranmental sustainatility
in our local communities With i our community miiative s our Charitable Givrig Prograrme, provid ng
match funding and donations to the organisations in areas which cur ernployess have c'ose ties with.

We also seonsar communty orogrammes with Bath Ruglby, e ud'ng Attac<ng Matns wn'ch aims to

helo develop children's nueracy $<i's, and gir's and wamen's rugby nubs helzing to:increase female

participation in the sport.
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8. Compliance and legal matters N

What happened in 2021 Mitigation Focus for 2022

« Delpitee FY22 interna' audit work
programme

- Effective expert contol poicy
suppaorted by training

- Failure 10 comply with export
conta's slows or removes ablity to

- Maintained high standards and
integration of compliance teams

ship abroad

= Prosecution, f'nes and negasive
publicity resulting from bripery
and cormuptien

Litigat'an dra'ns cost and
rmanagement time negative'y
Impacting ather areas

- Fa'lue to camp'y with government

contract opligatons results in
lass of contract

» Abilizy 10 ship products
- Financigl loss

- Repuravonal darmage

within the ousinesses

Fralised U'S_security Clearance

to suppe’t ballstic protectian U.S
DOD contracts and fina ised Specia
Security Arangement for Avan
rotection Ceradyne

Recruited additional commercial
leadership at Avon “rotection
Ceradyne

Tearm Wendy governance/control
implermenied and introducon
to Avon Proiection’s legal and
corrpliance processes

Jeloitre annual programme of
assurance work de'ivered

9. Political and economic stability NE

+ Unpredictable timmg/amount
of federal funding for First
Responder customers

+ US DO budgets/funding
witndrawn

Negative impact from COVIDA19
and 3rex'ton trade, regulation,

peaple, conracts and intellecrual

oroperty

- Sa'es and orofitabi'ity
+ Abiity 0 $p praducts
»+ Financial 'css

- Reputarniona. darrage

= Readiness and planning for
potential changes in g obal rrading
conditians from the ongoing
COVID-19 pandemic and U.5.
Presidentia elections and other
paoiltical/economic events

We rermain less exposed ta the
peliucas' instability and impact on
trading o Brexit with our LS. based
businesses canstituting around
20% of 1ne Group

Tight US, lazour markel

- Continued Resolution passed

an .5, Defense budget

- Effective ant-britsery and
corrupt'on policy supported by
train'ng

- Embedded and efective Code of
Conduct

- Efective nterna legal
and finance function

« Effective government contract
specialst knowledge reporning ar a
sen’of level

+ Close monioving of federal ‘unding

and budget vosition

- Lobby'st/government advisers and
key influencers aigned to Avon
Protection's interests

« Brexitns< assessmen: and
idenufied mitigarons ready
for mplerrentarion

- Pragramme of compl'ance training
under new compfiance brand

- Manage ongoing impact of
CaVID-19 on 200 processes

- Recrur additional supply chain/
SOUICING FesouUrce to manage
disruption 1a supply cna'n

- Focus on m'tgating potent'a.
labour shortage risk due w0 LS
vaccine mandate and ught J.S
labzour market

- Moritarand iranage impactaf US
Federal Governmen: Cont nuirg
Resa ution om L.5. DOD budget
and arder flow
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Principal Risks and Risk Management continued

6. Financial management T

Insufficient management of risks
re'ared 1@ tax, cash flows and
foreign currency exposure

- Insufficien: funding capacity

to meet strategic ob eetives

- Insufficient overhead contral and

working capital management erade
rarg ns of impair

investment ability

Soor quality financia' renartng

and Gusiness information mpacts
decis’'on maging

Costs and profitability
Reputational damage

7. Manufacturing risk 1\

Business risk

+ Shocss to the globa! sugply

chainimpact our abliity 1o
source key matevials ang

e cost of manufaciurag
Gualty contro Grocess faiure
leads to product failues or recall
E-wirgamenzal or health and
sa'ely incident resuits in plant
closure and orasecut on/fines
Poorly managed distrizut on
of logistics networs imoacts
delivery and reputation
Delays in new product
introductions

Cos:s, sares and prof tability

« Continued focus oncash
generation and working
cap'al management

- Algned reporting followng
the Tearm Wendy acquistion

- Firstyear of US dolla- reporung
veduced foreign currency
translational exnosure

Team Wendy site remained
autonomous under loca
manufacturing lead

Mazuring of the operaticns
structures and growth of cagability
and capacity of tne team under
new Cps leadersnip

Leadership team supplementad
Wil ceninuous improverrent,
qua 'ty and nea:tn and safety hires

SIOP orocess re-engineered to
ensure orders converied 1o
revenue in e w'tn fgrecast

Supp'y chan dsrupt on due
envirenmental factors and the

COVID-19 pandernic imaacted

aby ity to manu‘acture and shio
m A2, iead times lengthened

3al 'stic shell ‘msourcing
carmenced at Team Wendy

Approval delays on DLA ESAPI

Robust and professional coroorate
finance funct'on suff ciently wel'
resourced and supoarted by
network of professonal advisars
Full comphance with ban< faclity
covenant requirertents

Robust intermal fnancial contral
and reporting procedures
supported by the external

and inlerna! audit process

Effective currency hedging strategy

Robust supsher audit and

qua Ty managemeni

Writzen supply agreerrents
nplace inc'uding dual source
WISre necessary

Robust manufacturing/operational
disciplines and fully functoning
and effective sysiems

Strong site ieadersh’o

snd engaged, motvated
manufactur'ng work‘orce
msyrance and effective
BUSINESS CoNUNUTY planning
Ororitisetion of warkforce safety
and we'lbeing through the
COVID-19 sandemic

Tproved busness information
and decis'an making (capex,
opex, INventory, wark "y casitail
New investmen: committee
estanlished to review and approve
capital investments al'gned with
strategic pricritics

- _everage A°W Manufaciuring
Licence Agreement to nerease
50 semes product.on and reduce
reliance on Cadillac

Supply chain risk mm t'gation

clan obustness, define add uonal
sources for key raw materials and
COTa0NENts, iNCrease sourcing
resource, address areas of

suppy cham weakness that

nave developed througn the
CCVID-19 nandervic
Recruitintegrated business
planning lead

IAPS Next Gen FAT approva’

Renewed focus on busness
conunuity planning for our plants,
Inc'uding focus en emvironmenta /
clmate risks

Cregte emwronmental sustainability

strategy across ail sites 1o krng e
US ses up the same standard as
the Lk

Tearr Wendy aporoved as pad
supp.ier on IHPS Next Generation
helrer

DLA ESAPIFA™ approva. and
managed exit rom armar busness
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« mability to recruit and
retain talent

- Poor employee competence
and failure to train and deveop

- Dysfunctional organsational
suuctures

Supported the successful transition

o our new employees following the
corrpletion of the acquisition of

Team Wendy

- Focused o building our speciaist
roles within the operations function to

support more eff cient and consisient

« Strategy delivery

« Sales, costs and profizability

- Emgployee morale

delivery

Continued focus on employee safety
through the COVID-19 pandemic
TightUS lakour market affected
avility toincrease oLtoul, particu'arly

at Cadihac

Reviewed and aligned hourly pay rates

and benefits to market bencnmarks
across US. sites

+ HR systern strategy and prov'der agreed

- introduced employee engagernent
forum to provide feedback to the Soard

Fu.l pragramme of monthly Leadership

Insighis ta the warkforce including from
he Board Char

4. Cyber security and Information technology —

= Busmess imterrustionscash
cost of cyber crime and fraud

I™ system of communications
fa'lure couid lead to business
Coninuity event

+ Military secunty requirements
esull in excess cast and
ranagement time

Failura to compny resulzs
in logs of cantract

- AGtity taship gradicts
- Financia'oss
« Reputational darmage

5. Customer dependency\l'

Continyed maturng of the

IT aperatng model, focused

on infrastructure and systems
improverents and IT operating
effic’ency across enlarged Group
Contmued 1o stablise new 7
systemn within the ballstic business

Supported the trans.ion of
Team Wendy into the Group
ITinfrastructure and systems
incuding Office 365 ro.out

Qutsourced deskton managed
serviCes acrass all sites
Reviewed inforranon/data
storage strategy

+ Robust succession planmhg
and effective perfarmance
managemnent process

- Effective training and
development strateqy
and activit'es

+ Approoriate organisational

structure with C'ear lines o*

autnonty and communication

waintaining posit've Avon

Pratection cu'ture — Great Place

o Work

- Wellinvested and structured

HFR tearr

« |T strategy anticipates fartncoming
requirerments

« [V sufficiently resourced with
specialists to ensure cornpiance

« Robust network/IT controls and
security protocols/po'icy

» Cyberinsurance and IT disaster
recovery olan and backup

- Expand the HR team 1o support
recruiiment, dversity and training
and development

Implement new HR system to
autarrate/improve processes

Review and align indirecs staff pay
2n¢ benefits to support recruitment
and retenticn

Hold flagship talent development
programires after fiatus ‘ast year due
1o COVID-19

implement and manage disTugtan
from the LS. vaccine mandate

‘

Continue high degree af focus on
safety practices across sites !

Contnue focus on people, culture
and priontisation of actioning
ermployee feedback, aligred witn
ESG strategy

+ Leverage success.on planning
process to drive T&D actvity

Continue focus on employee safety
measures against COVID-19

- Implement new CAM and HR
systems

Imprave reporting in the ballistic
protection business and prepare
the remaining sites for rallout

mplement busness intebigence
and master data managenrent
strategy

Cotinued investment in cyber
securnty and CMMC

+ Overreiance oncustomers, eq
tne U.S. D00, and its funding
and cortract progess

- Failure o diversify custorrer base

- Saies and profitabiity

- Continued focus on priont’sing
customer reiationships and stang
glopal dealer/distibut.on newwork

- Cross-se’lng proader oroduct
porifolic outs'de the OO0 to Jest
of World and First Responder
customers through swst ng 52 es
channels and leveragng from
Team Wendy's diversified customer
NETWOrS

- COVID-19 disrugtion to order
vlacement/admin strat on/io:
tesung grocesses oy DO

= Recruited new EMEA commercia
‘ead

= Strong cusiomer relasonsn p
rranagenrent with an apoopriate
@2 structure, Comriunicaton
and customer service

- Underszanding our Mii tary
customer requirements and
farthcoming procurerrent
requiremments

- Srrategy provides for diversificat.on
of customer base with particular
‘ocus o1 Rest of Wor'd and F »st
Responder customers

+ Contmue to reet the chalenge
of naving the DOD as our main
customer “gcus on executing First
Responder and M Ttary strategy in
EMEZA and major contracrwims

DOD M50 swacking pragramme/
technology insertion st ategy

Consol'date relationshp/furure oids
with UK MOD

Maximise opportunity 1o engage
with NATQ countres under NATO
frarrework comtract



Avon Protection ple/ Avnual Revort and Accaunss 2021

Principal Risks and Risk Management continued

1. Project delivery and new product introduction risk =

- Fa.ure to 1dentify correct
slrateqic profects or 1o
de'iver them

- falure to idensify and
implerrent new products

- Failure 1o identify, conplese
and integrate acguisitions

Strateqy delivery

« Sales, costs and profitability

« Errployee morale

Continued new product programmes
and bids 1o megT custamer requ rements
Delays in ootaining final product
approvals far the DLA ESAPI body

armor plate

- Follow™g the yearend, firstarucle test

fai'ure on the VTP FSAPI body armor p ate

- Contnued rransmon of Team Wendy

10 a functioning business unit following
corrpletion on 2 Naverrber 2020
milkrice | InterPuls transit'ona. services
comypleted

Conunued progress on stabilisation of
new T sysiem in the ballistic business
M&A and Strategy Director recruited
and increased ‘ocus an strategy
process and strateqic alignment across
the organsaion

2. Market threat to core business \1/

- Lack of sales growth/
threa ta current sales

- Loss of major bids/enders

- Trreat from comroetitors

- Saies and oro“tability

- Strateqgy delivery

- Cont'nued arder coo< grow:h

Comrrenced process of integrating the
Ceradyne ballistic he met lines with the
helmets, he met liners and retention
systems “rorm Tearr Wendy

Focus on cantinuing (o grow cur marke?
share wh our Rest of Waor d and Firs:
Resgonder cusicmers

3id and won NATO frarrework contract

Buard aversignt of

clear strategy definition and
comrmunication comiined
w'th e'fective management
Product development inxed to
Croup strategy and customer
requiIrerents

- Inellectual property proteciion

consdered and imolemented
We ! resourced product

deve opmen: and programme
ranagement teams

= Clezar acquisition strategy and

+ Product dif'e

& gnrent with divisional structures
Well-resourced acquistian team
with appropriase external adviscrs
retained

« Custarrer relationsmigs pronised
and managed through dedicated
leadership channe's

rentiat’'on/
innovatian/d versification and
protection of intellectua) property

- Diversified sales channels wtn

comprenensive distrbution/
inzermediary netwark

Effect've and up-to-dae
compe:itor ronitoring and
analysis to mainta’n compertve
advantage

- IHPS first article testing and uroduct
approval

- Continue delivering new product
programmes 10 mcet customer
requirements within capex budget

« Quarterly strategy review process (o
errbed and a“'gn strategy across the
orgaisat’'an

- Consideraten of zechnolegy insertion
strategies far DOD resoiratar producs

- Wider integraticn of “eam Wendy and
approval of Team Wendy liners with
next-generation IHPS helmet

Establish formal srogramme
management ofice to oversee
programme delivery

Define £5G strategy, In particu’ar the
envirgnmenta initlatives that wil
esultin delivery of our carbon
neutal ta'get

+ Maxir'se NATO framework cantract
coporiunities and Consider
technology mransfer strategy for
customers who require Indigenous
product'on

Bid raajor milizary cpporiunities g
NATO he met, LS. Navy Mult-Miss'on
Underwater 3rea:thing Apparatus,
further DOD helrret apportunities

- Align helmet portfolio for EMZA
market

- Focus on continuing 1@ grow our
market share wtn our Fest of Wor d
and First Responder custamers
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+ The method of measuring gross and net risk by the business
units has been improved to incorporate a traditiona! Iikelihood
and impact assessment, with a set of bespoke impact
assessment measures tajlored to each business unit.

The Risk Commitiee conducts a second line assurance
assessment of those net risks which are considered by the
business units to be higher than the Group's talerance level for
that risk, with additional mitigating actions identified where
possible, This is the three lines of defence risk assurance model
under which the first line represents operational management
who own and manage risk on a day-to-day basis, utilising
effective internal contrals. The Risk Commitiee, alongside the
Group Executive management team monitor and oversee
these activities, representing governance and compliance at
the second line of defence. Delcitte currently provide the third
line, which is the independent assurance over these activities
provided by internal and other external assurance.

- The most significant risks are regularly reviewed and the Risk

Committee assesses whether key controls are effective and

risks mitigated to an acceptable level. As well as reviewing the

risk registers prepared by the business units, an annual risk

assessment has been introduced with the Strategy and M&A

Director to ensure that strategic risks are understood and the

strategy includes risk mitigation where appropriate. The output

from these reviews is reported to the Audit Committee.

Further enhancements to the risk management process have
been identified but not yet implemented. These include aligning
the process with the detalled financial modelling of risk within
the annual budgeting and ferecasting process run by the finance
team. The Audit Committee has also recognised that recruiting

a dedicated risk and assurance lead role would further support

a clear, independent second line to drive the risk management

Current risk rating

and internal audit agenda alongside maturing and embedding
the reporting and monitoring approach cutlined above. This
recruitment is a medium-term objective.

Alengside the above changes the Risk Cormmittee has continued
with the process of annually reviewing and categorising the
principal risks affecting the Group to ensure they remain current.

The principal risks are listed on the following pages. The
categorised risk themes within the principal risk areas are

shown alongside, Available mitigations in the form of control
struttures are shown next 1o each identified risk area. The erder

of significance and potential financial impact of the principal risks
on the Graup as we enter the 2022 financial year is set out in the
table below, which has been populated by reference to the net risk
assessment described above carried out during the year.

As we enter 2022, sustainabllity risk has been identified as & new
risk area to be added to the register. The Board's position and
strategy on sustainability is set cut on page 30 of this report and
the creation and delivery of that strategy will be monitored by the
Risk Committee in 2022,

The Risk Committee views this as drawing together varous
sustainability risks under a singie, new risk area:

« Environmental: the impact of climate events and supply

chain sustainability issues, which are currently covered under
Manufacturing risk (7)

Social: responsible corporate citizenship, culture and employee
engagement risks, which are currently covered under Talent
management (3)

+ Corporate reputation: governance and control risks, which are
currently covered under Compliance and legal matters (8)

. Project delivery and new product mtroduction risk

Market threat to core business

=
=2
I

(]

= 2

- B

= 3

= 3

=

w E

=

Talent management

Cyber security and informatien technoiogy
Customer dependency

Financial management

Manufacturing risk

Compliance and legal matters
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Patitical and economic stability
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Principal Risks and Risk Management

WE HAVE AN ESTABLISHED PROCESS

FOR THE IDENTIFICATION AND
MANAGEMENT OF RISK.

During the year we have enhanced the process
for the identification and management of risk,

working with the business teams to embed
risk management disciplines across the Group.

The Board is responsible for the Group's
risk framewerk and ensuring the risk
management process is robust and
continuously monitored. The Board's

role includes promating a culture that
emphasises integrity at all levels of business
operations and setting the overall policies
for risk management and centrol. The
Board has delegated responsibility for the
monitoring and review of the effectiveness
of the Group's risk framework 1o the

Audit Committee, which reviews risk on a
quarterly basis.

Having spent much of 2020 focusing on
growth obyjectives, strategic acquisitions
and the sale of the dairy business, it was
impartant in 2021 to ensure that the risk
management process continued to evolve
to meet the new risk profile of the business.
Deloitte were retained earlier in the year
10 carry out an assurance mapping review,
reviewing the current approach and
highlighting areas for improvement. The
Audit Committee concluded that, whilst
the strategic nsk areas were well defined,
understood and monitored by the Board
and Group Executive management team,
these processes should be embedded
further within the business units to enable
a more independent approach by the

Risk Committee 1o assessing Group level
risk impacts, setting policy standards

and overarching nsk methodolegy in line
with the ‘three lines of defence’ model.
Delgitte recommended improvements to
the current manual process for measuring
nisk, in order to reduce the reliance on

the guality and reliakility of management
information within the business.

The following enhancements to the risk
management process were implemented
during the year

Each business unit now has its own

risk register and, on a six month basis,
avaluates gross risks to the achievement of
business priorities, the level to which these
risks are mitigated by existing controls

and the net residual risk. We currently
mairtain risk registers for the Military
{including Respiratory and Ballistics), First
Responder and Team Wendy business
units, plus registers for operations and
central services (Finance, HR, Legal and
Compliance). An additional risk register for
IT matters owned by the IT executive team
has also been introduced.




Product development
% of ravenue’

/.75

+220bps

0006

Reason for choice

Provides a measure of the
Group's investrment in rew
products and processes.
Investment piovides a
foundation fer the Group's
future growth.

How we calculate

Total expenditure on research
and development includirg
amounts funded by custamers,
development expenditure
capitafised and amourts
expensed directly 1o the
Income Statement exoressed
as a percentage of revenue,

Comments on results

We have continued to Irvest in

selective product developmenrt.

We continue to focus on
maintairing our reputation
for technological excellence
ard innovation.

Strategic
Report

Cash
conversion’ (%)

83.2%

+1.6%

Reason for choice

Provides a measure of the
management of working capital
and the ability of the Group to
canvert profits to cash.

How we calculate

The rate of cash generated
frorn operations before the
effect of exceptional items

10 adjusted EBITDA.

Comments on results

Cash conversion was impacted
by invertory bulld-up

10 marage supply chain
challenges, partially offset by
tight contral of receivables in
our last quarter.

Adjusted earnings
par share"? (%)

60.6c

(38.5%)

006

Reason for choice

Measures the ability to generate
a return to shareholders. It
takes into account our success
in growing our business
orgarically and by acquisition
caupled with managerrent of
the Group's finarcing and tax,

How we calculate

Adiusted profitfor the year
dnaded by the weighted
average number of shares

in 1ssue. Adjusted profit
excludes exceptional rtems
and discontinued operations

Comments on results

Adjusted earrings per share
declired due to the impact

or profit from the decline in
military ballistic revenue ard
the operatioral geanng impact
on profit,

2 Aveconciliation of adjusted performance meas.res are avallable on page 101 A full glossary of terms 15 avallable on page 175

v Restated.

5.8%

Raturn on capital amployed'?
(%} (ROCE)

5.84

{16.5%)

006

Reason for choice

Measures prafitability and the
efficiency with which capital
is employed.

How we calculate

Ad|usted operating profitas a
percentage of average capital
emplayed. Capital employed
is the sum of shareholders’
funds, ran-current Habilities
and current berrowings

Comments on results

The capinal base of the Group
has increased 0 the last twa
years from the recognition

of the gain on divestmert of
mulksite [IrterPuls and the
reinvestment in the Ceradyne
and Team Wendy acquisitiors
which combired with the
profit out tarr this year, this has
resulted i a fall i ROCE.
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How we Measure our Performance

THE GROUP USES A VARIETY OF KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS WHICH

ARE IN LINE WITH OUR STRATEGY
AND INVESTOR PROPOSITION.

Closing ordar
hook'

51431 m

+40.6%

2006

Reason for choice

Provides an indication of
reverue to be recognised in
the next financial peried.

How we calculate

Orders recerved by the Group
ard not yet fulfilled Thisis
measured by the value of future
reverJe attached to orders not
yet fulfilled.

Comments on results

Our order bogk for the caming
year is strong, at $117 rillion
excluding arror, In particular, it
benefits from orders under the
NATQ respiratory contract which
are expected to drive growth in
our respiratory business.

0.1%
2020 2021

Organic ravenue
growth’ (%)

(2.9%)

-300hps

200

Reason for choice

Indicates the rate at which the
Group's business activity
is changirg overrme.

How we calculate

The growth in revenue
COMpParing current year revenue
with prior year revenue,
excluding the impact of
acquisitions.

Comments on results

Our small organic decline

ir revenue is due to military
haliistic rever e which declired
by 30 6%, while military
respiratory and first resporder
grew by 8.1% ard 1.3%
respectively.

Adjusted EBITDA
margin®? {%)

1514

-780bps

200

Reason for choice

Provides a measure of the
underlying profitability of
the ardinary activities of the
business and their potential
10 generate cash.

How we calculate

The ratio of Adjusted EBITDA
to revenue. Adjusted EBITDA
is defired as aperating

profit before depreciation,
arrortisation and exceptioral
iterrs, It excludes ary effect of
discontinued operatiars.

Comments on results

The EBITDA margin has declined
dJe to the operatioral gearing
effect of lower ballistic revenues
and overheads that are fixed in
the short-term.

1 The Directors believe that adjusted rmeasures provide a useful companson of business trends and performance
The metrics are also used intermnally to measure and manage the business
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The Group acquired 100% of the equity for a total consideration

of $132.0 millicn, being the $130.0 million initial consideration and
purchase price adjustments of $2.0 million reflecting the cash and
working capital position at dose. The net assets acquired had a book
value ¢f $22.3 million before fair value adjustments of $51.4 million
resulting in a fair value of net assets acquired of 573.7 million.

Goodwill of $58.3 million was recognised in respect of this
acquisition, representing the amount paid for future sales growth
from both new customers and new products, operating cost
synergies and employee know-how. All of the goodwill and acquired
intangibles totalling $110.0 million are expected 10 be deductible for
tax purposes over 15 years from the date of acquisition.

From the first 11 months of ownership, Team Wendy contributed
$41.0 million 1o revenue, adjusted EBITDA of $12.3 million (at an
adjusted EBITDA margin of 30.0%) and reported an operating profit
of $4.6 million. The operating profit is stated after amortisation of
acquired intangibles of $4.0 million and expensing the $2.4 million
inventory fair value step up following the sell through of the
acquired inventory.

Acquisition costs of $2.2 million were expensed in the year,
following the recognition of $7.4 million of such costs during
the 2020 financial year. Acquisition costs of $4.4 million were
paid in the period (2020: $4.8 million).

Divestment of milkrite | InterPuls

In September 2020 the Group divested the entire mitkrite | interPuls
business. As part of the sale and purchase agreement, the Group
entered into a Manufacturing Service Agreement with the purchasers
of milkrite | InterPuls to support ongoing manufacturing whilst
arrangerments are made to relocate manufacturing equipment from a
previously shared UK. facility. The Group alsc entered into agreements
to provide certain other information technology and administrative
services under a 12-month Transitional Services Agreement. As the
activities under these agreements are not part of the continuing
operations of the Group, the revenue and costs associated with these
agreements have been classified as discontinued operations. During
the year the loss from milkrite | InterPuls discontinued operations was
$1.Y million {2020: profit of $6.9 million).

Defined benefit pension scheme

The Group cperated a contributory defined benefits plan to provide
pension and death benefits for the employees of Avon Protection plc
and is Group undertakings in the UK. employed orior to 31 January
2003. The plar was closed to future accrual of benefit on 1 October
2009 and has a weighted average maturity of approximately

15 years. The net pension liability for this scheme amounted 1o

$68.3 million as at 30 September 2021 {2020: $79.6 million). During
the year the Group made payrments to the fund of $2.9 millcn

(2020: 5278 million) in respect of scheme expenses and deficit
recovery plan payments. In accordance with the deficit recovery plan
agreed following the 31 March 2019 actuarial valuation, the Group
will make payments in FY22 of $4.6 million and 549 million in FY23

In respect of deficit recavery plan payments and scheme expenses.

Financial risk management
The Group has clearly defined policies for the management of
foreign exchange risk. Exposures resulting from sales and purchases

in foreign currency are matched where possible and net exposure
may be hedged by the use of forward exchange contracts, There are
no open forward exchange contracts as ar 30 September 2021,

Credit and counterparty risk are managed through the use of credit
evaluations and credit limits.

Borrowings and overdrafts are at floating interest rates. The Group
does not carry out any interest rate hedging.

Currency effect and change of reporting currency

On 1 Octeber 2020 the Group changed its reporting currency to
LS. dollars for the 2021 financial year, reflecting the currency in
which the vast majority of the Group’s income is earned and costs
incurred. This substantially reduced the translational exposure of
the Group compared to its previous sterling reperting. Following
the change in reporting currency, the Group has a small remaining
translational exposure principally refating to the corporate costs and
some manufacturing costs in the UK. which are incurred in sterling.
A one cent movement in the exchange rate impacts operating
profit by approximately $0.2 million.

Dividends

The Board is recommending a final dividend of 306 cents

per share {2020: 23.5 cents) which together with the 14.3 cents

per share interim dividend gives a total dividend of 449 cents

(202Q: 34.5 cents), up 30% on last year, The final dividend will be paid
in pounds sterling on 11 March 2022 to shareholders on the register
at 11 February 2022 with an ex-dividend date of 10 February 2022
The final dividend will be converted into pounds sterling for payment
at the prevailing exchange rate immediately prior to payment,

Qur policy is to maintain a progressive dividend poficy Balancing
dividend increases with the rates of adjusted earnings per share
growth achieved, taking into account potential acquisition spend
and the Group's financing position. Over recent years, we have
grown the dividend per share hy 30% per annum in order to reduce
the ratio of dividend per share to adjusted earmings per share
towards two times, with the intention of growing the dividend

in line with the growth in adjusted earnings per share once the
adjusted cover ratio reaches two times.

Given the impact on the financial result for 2021 of the body armor
contract defays, the recommended dividend resuits in an adjusted
cover ratio of 13 times (2020 2.9 times). On a statutery continuing
basis the ratic was a deficit of 1.8 times (2020 cover of 0.4 times),

In recommending this year's final dividend the Board has taken intc
account that, given its expectations for 2022, the adjusted cover
ratio s expected to recover ta twa times next year.

Capital allocation policy review

Given the strong financial position, expected cash generation in

our 2022 financial year and the Board's intention not to initiate any
further major merger and acquisition activity until after our 2022
financial year the Board is undertaking a review of the Group’s capital
allocation policy. As part of the review of the capital allocation policy
the Board will consider the merits of a share buyback programme.

Nor  Kewdkk. .

Nick Keveth
Chief Financial Officer

14 December 2021
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Financial Review continued

Armor 30 Sept 2021 30 5ept 2020
Orders received $1.7m 533.6m
Closing order book - 526.6m $314m
Revenue B 56.5m $13.7m
Armer Respiratory & Head Total
2021 Adjusted $m $m m
COrders received B 1.7 2810 2827
Closing order book 26.6 1165 143.1
Revenue o o 6,5- o 418 2483
Adjusted EBITDA B B4 460 376
f\g]usted EBITDA margin _ (129.2)% 15.0% o 15.1%
Adjusted operating profit/(lgss) {10.5) 325 220
Armor Respiratory & Head Total
2021 Adjustments $m Sm Sm
Revenue - . _
FEITDA B 140 50 90
Operating profit/tlossy (384) (12.6) {51.0)
Armor Respiratory & Head Total
2021 Total $m S$m $m
Revenue 6.5 2418 248.3
EBITDA B 55 410 466
Operating profit/loss) T {48.9) 159 290

1 Arror EBITDA adjustments totslling a Credit of $14.0 million compgrise a gain of $15 7 million to reduce the provision for contingent consideraticn pavabte to 3M, less
$1.7 milicn aimor nventory Imparments.

2 Amror operating profit adustments totalling a charge of $38 4 million comprise & gain of $15.7 million ta reduce the provision far contingent consicderation payable 1o 3M, less
Ireparments relating to the armror business of $46.8 rrillon and amcrtisation of armar specific amartisation acguired intangibles of $7.3 rullicn

We have booked impairments relating to the armor business of $46.8 millien in our 2021 financial statements to fully write down the
armaor specific assets to their estimated recoverable amounts. This has been partially offset by a gain of $15.7 million to reduce the
provision for contingent consideration payable to 3M due to lower revenue expectations under the DLA ESAPI contract, resulting in a net
non cash exceptionat of $31.1 million in our 2021 financial statements. The following table sets out the canrying values of the armor assets,
the impairments reflected in the 2021 financial statements and the remaining recoverable amounts.

Carrying value Impairment  Recoverable amounts

Sm 5m $m

Acquired intangibles 115.3 (113) -
Development expenditure - 8.1 1) -
_Right of use assets T 1.7 {11.7) -
Plant and machinery“ o 144 {139 05
Leasehold improvernents - 0.1 (R} -
Inventory T 133 a7 e
Total assets/(impairment) 589 (46.8) 12
Contingent consideration provision - 21.7) 15.7 30}
Total net impact 372 31 5.1

Following completion of this impairment review, there has been no impairment of the $28.0 million of goodwil relating to the Ceradyne
acquisition or the Ceradyne helmet intangible assets of $28.9 million.

Following closure, the armer infrastructure and remaining assets will be sold and overheads reduced by <. $15 million. The estimated net
cash costs of ciosure and nght-sizing the retained organisation of between $3 to 5 million are expected to be weighted towards our 2023
financial year.

Following closure of the body armor business we will vacate three US. lease hold properties with annual lease costs of $1.7 miliion.

The net present value of these lease liabilities as at 30 September 2021 was $11.8 million, of which $3.6 million rclates to the lease for

our Lexington, Kentucky facility which expires in January 2035. Following closure of the armor business we will lock to mitigate these
liabilities through sub-letting the properties.

In our reporting going forward, we will focus on the ongoing respiratory and head protection businesses, white providing a detailed
breakdown of the outgeing armor eperations. The armor business is expected to be classified as a discontinued operation in the future.

Acquisition of Team Wendy
The acquisition of Team Wendy was completed on 2 November 2020, and our 2021 financial staternents reflect the results from the first

11 months of ownership,
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Net cash and cash flow

2020
2021 sm
$m restated
Adjusted continuing EBITDA 376 480
Fair value of share-based payments 07 18
Defined benefit pension scheme cost 1.2 09
Working capital’ 8.2) (1.7)
Cash flows from continuing operations before the impact of exceptional items 3i.3 4G.0
Acqguisition and integration costs {(4.4) (10.9)
Cash flows from continuing operations 269 291
Cash flows from discontinued operations (3.3) 9.0
Cash flows from operations 236 38.1
Payments to pension plan (29) (27.8)
Net interast 2.7} (3.5)
Repayment of lease liability (37) (2.0}
Tax excluding capital gains tax paid on divestment? (4.3) (3.5)
Purchase of property, plantand equipment m.z (7.8}
Capitalised development costs and purchased software - ) (199) ‘___&
Acquisitions net of acguired cash of $1.1 million (2020: nil) {1309) (9&
Divestments, net of costs and capital gains tax paid- 6.2) 2072
Investing and financing activities used in divestments - (2.6)
Purchase of own shares 43 -
Dividends to shareholders (12.n (8.9}
Net proceeds from loan drawdowns i4 364
Foreign exchange 06 23
{Decrease)/increase in net cash (173 1) 1276
(pening net cash, excluding lease liabilities 1477 595
(Decreaselincrease in net cash (173.1) 1276
Net loan drawdowns {1.4) (39.4)
Closing net {debt)/cash, excluding lease liabilities (26 8} 1477

1 2020 warking capital excludes $1.7 millon armor inventary impairment and $2.4 millicn inventary acquisition accodnting adjustmrents (2020 57 7 eillion inventory ecquisition

accounting adjustments). These are ncluded within changes In mventory In nofe 4.3

2 Cash fiows from divestments in the year are shown net of $80 milion capital gains tax paid Thus is included in tax paid in the Consofidated Cash Fiow Statement

Cash flows frem continuing operations before exceptional items
were 5313 million (2020: $40.0 million). Cash flows from continuing
operations before exceptional items as a percentage of adjusted
EBITDA of 83.2% (2020: 81.6%;) were impacted by the build-up

of inventory to manage the impact of longer material lead times
arising due to COVID-19 relatad supply chain disruptions, offset

by tight control of receivables and payables in the fourth quarter
of the year. We expect cash conversion to retumn in line with our
normal target of 90% or above, in 2022.

Total capital expenditure was $31.6 million (2020: $12.9 million)
including $15.0 million of capitalised development costs and
$4.9 million of IT infrastructure investment relating to the
integration of the ballistic protection business.

Dividends paid were $12.1 million (2020: 58.9 million} reflecting

the 30% increase in the 2020 final and 2021 interim dividends

The cash outflow in respect of the divestment of milkrite | InterPuls
was principally payment of $9.0 million capital gains tax offset by
fimal consideration receipts of $3 4 million.

Netdebt was $559 million (2020: net cash $118 7 million), which
includes lease liabilities of $29.1 millon (2020: $29.0 milliom). Excluding
lease liabilities, net debt was $26.8 million (2020 net cash $1477 milfion).

The move from a net cash to a net debt position is principally
due to the acquisition of Tearn Wendy which completed at the
start of November for a cash consideration net of acguired cash

of $1309 miilion, with associated acquisition costs of $4.4 million
paid in the year.

During the year we exercised our option to extend the maturity of
our $200 million revolving credit facility (RCF) to 8 September 2024.
We have a further one-year extension option which is exercisable in
2022, As at 30 September 2021 540.9 million of the RCF was drawn.

The RCF is subject 1o financial covenants measured on a bi-annual
basis. These include a limit of 3.0 times for the ratio of net debrt,
excluding lease liabilities, to adjusted EBITDA (leverage). The Group
was in compliance with all financial covenants during the current
and prior financial years.

In addition to the RCF our US. operations have access to a $5.0 million
overdraft facility

Our strong balance sheet and undrawn RCF facilities provide us
with capacity to deliver our growth strategy.

Strategic armor review

As highhghted in the Chief Executive Officer's review, the Board
has conducted an in-depth strategic review of the armor business
and concluded thatitis in the best interests of our stakeholders as
a whole to undertake an orderly wind-down of the body and flat
armor businesses, The following tables summarise the contribution
of the armor business to the Group's financial statements in cur
2021 financial statements.
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Financial Review continued

Military

Military revenues declined by 4.2% to 31475 million

(2020: 51539 million) with respiratory revenue growth of 8.1%
being offset by a 30.6% decline in ballistic revenues as a result
of delays to the US. DOD body armor contracts.

U.S. DOD revenues of $119.7 million (2020: $127.5 million), reflect
the decline in ballistic revenues offset by higher respiratory
revenues. During the year we continued to install the base
volumes for the tHPS helmet, the M69 aircrew mask and the

M53A1 mask and powered air system. Alongside this, we continued
lo see the benefit of the large installed base of two million M50
masks with strong associated revenues from filters, spares and
accessories alongside new mask deliveries across the period.

Stable Rest of World revenues of $27.8 million compared to
$26.4 million in 2020, reflects first deliveries under the NATO
framework contract.

Our opening order book for 2022 of $1292 million

(2021: $94.0 million; provides excellent revenue visibility for
2022 and is comprised of $79.2 million respiratory orders
and $50.7 million ballistic orders. $43.6 million of the order
book relates to rest of world customers with the remaining
586.3 millon U.S. DOD.

First Responder

First Responder revenue increased by 1.3%, against a strong
comparator in 2020 to $60.5 millkon {2020: $557 million). Increasing
demand from US. law enforcement agencies for the Ceradyne
ballistic helmet range following its launch through our respiratory
sales force in July 2020 resulted in growth in ballistic revenues of
81.3%, offsetting the dediine in respiratory revenues,

The momentum and benefir of adding the ballistic protection
portfolic last year continues to build and we are pleased with

the progress being made through our distribution network as
sales of ballistic helmets have delivered strong growth versus the
prior year. We have strong traction in our First Responder markets
and together with a $10.0 million opening order book gives us a
confident outlock going into the new financial year.

Team Wendy

We completed the acquisition of Team Wendy on 2 November
2020, so the results for the year include the first 11 manthe nf
ownership. Over the period we have benefitted from revenue

of $41.0 milion with broadly half of those sales being for ballistic
helmets and the balance of sales 1o a very broad range of
customers procuring non-ballistic helmets, helmet pads and liner
and retention systems.

Team Wendy benefits from a diversified customer base with
broadly twa thirds of the revenues being from Military customers
and one third fram First Responder customers. The cpening order
bock of $3.2 million for 2022 reflects the short cycle nature of the
business and the quick turnaround of order fulfilment.

Research and development expenditure

In line with our strategy and 1o maintain our leadership position

in technological excellence we continue to invest in the next
gencration of products and our total investment in research and
development {capitalised and expensed) amounted to $19.1 million
(2020: 511.8 million) of which $7.8 million (2020: $5.5 million) relates
to our respiratory portfelio, $5.4 million (2020: $4.6 million)

to the development of our helmet portfolio and $5.9 million

(2020: $1.7 million) to the armor portfolio which has subsequently
beenimpaired. Total research and development as a percentage
of revenue was 7.7% (2020: 5.5%).

2021 2024

Sm 5m

Total expenditure. 191 18

Less customer funded 2.3) 2.6)
Group expenditure 168 92

Capitalised ] (15.0) 68

Amortisation and irpairment of development expenditure 124 36

Total income statement impact 142 6.0

Revenue 248.3 2136

R&D spend as % of revenue 77% 55%

The increase in investment over the prior year primarily reflects the Group's growth with additicnal development resources and capability
across the respiratory and ballistic product portfolio being supplemented with the addition of Team Wendy.

COver the year we have made notable investment in enhancing the Supplied Air ST54 tactical self-contained breathing apparatus, the
FMB1 filter development for the NATO framework contract and developing a range of CBRN boots and gloves. There has also been a
focus on enhancements to the MCM100 underwater rebreather in @ssociation with the ongoing U.S. Navy tender process.

Development expenditure for the ballistic protection portfolio has focused on the next-generation IHPS programme, the F30 helmet
launch and $5.9 million (2020: $1.7 million) in respect of body armor first article testing.

Team Wendy has facused on developing a smal! size variant of its EXFIL ballistic helmet in respense o a customer specific requirement
as well as developing the next-generation IHPS liner pad systerm, supporting development of the F90 halmet and contributing toa US.
DOD funded research project explaring innovative helmet liner solutions to reduce traumatic brain injury.
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AVON PROTECTION HAS CONTINUED TO S€E GOOD COMMERCIAL MOMENTUM IN 202I
WITH ORDER INTAKE FOR THE YEAR OF $282.7 MILLION UP 34.9% ON LAST YEAR AND
REVENUE OF $248.3 MILLION UP 16.2%. HOWEVER, THE RESULTS FOR THE YEAR HAVE
BEEN IMPACTED BY THE DELAYS TO THE PRODUCT APPROVALS FOR THE U.S. DOD BODY
ARMOR CONTRACTS WHICH HAS TRIGGERED IMPAIRMENT CHARGES AGAINST THE ARMOR
ASSETS THERERY RESULTING IN A STATUTORY OPERATING LOSS OF $29.0 MILLION
(2020: PROFIT OF $8.9 MILLION}, AND, SUBSEQUENT TO YEAR-END. HAS LED TO A
STRATEGIC REVIEW OF THE ARMOR BUSINESS.

Our orders received for the year totalled $282.7 millicn

{2020, 52096 million) up 34.9%, reflecting strong momentum
across our portfolio of life critical personal protection systems
for the warld's militaries and first responders. Excluding Team
Wendy, which has been part of Avon Protection for 11 months
of the financial year and contributed $36.6 millien of orders,
orders received grew by 17.4% with Military growing by 24.6%
and First Respender by 0.3%.

The closing order book of $143.1 million (2020: $101.8 million)
reflects a 40.6% increase on last year, or 37.4% excluding the
$3.2 million Tearmn Wendy closing order bock.

The first-time contribution from Team Wendy supported revenue
growth of 16.2% to $248.3 million (2020: $213.6 million). Excluding
Team Wendy revenue was $208.0 million, a decrease of 2.6%.

This was a result of declining Military ballistic revenue due to the

contract delays anncunced in December 2020, offset by revenue
growth in our Military respiratory and First Respender businesses,

Adjusted EBITDA of $376 million is down 23.3% versus last year
(2020: 549.0 million). The adjusted EBITDA margin of 15.1%, down
780 bps, is impacted by the lower balfistic protection revenues,
reflecting the impact of operational gearing, with some averheads
fixed in the short-term.

Adjusted operating profit of $22.0 million (2020: $38.5 million)
is after adjusted depreciation, amortisation and impairment of
$15.6 millon (2020: $10.5 million), a decrease of 42.9% over last year,

Adjusted net finance costs increased to $3.1 million
(2020: $2.4 millicn) dug to higher bank facility costs.

After an adjusted tax charge of $0.3 million (2020: charge
of $59 million), the Group recorded an adjusted profit for
the period after tax of $18.6 million (2020: $30.2 million}.

The tax charge for the year includes benefits of $2.4 million from
prior year cradits and the revaluation of the UK. deferred tax assets
following the announced increase of the U.K. corporate tax rate to
25% from 1 Aptil 2023, In the medium-term the Group expects the
adjusted tax rate to be approximately 21% in the absence of any
increase to U.S. federal tax rates.

Adjusted basic earnings per share decreased by 38.5% to 60.6 cents
12020: 98.6 cents).

On a reported basis, after taking account of $14.2 million of
amortisation of acquired intangibles, $46.8 million of asset
impairments relating to the armaor business, a gain of $15.7 milfion
to reduce the net present value of the contingent consideration
payable 1o 3M due to lower revenue expectations under the DLA
ESAPI contract, $5.0 million of costs related to the acquisition and
integration of Team Wendy and the Ceradyne ballistic protection
business, and a $0.7 million write off of prior year capitalised
cloud computing costs, statutory operating loss was $29.0 million
(2020; profit of $8.9 million).

Statutory net finance costs of $6.6 million (2020: $6.7 million)
includes 51.3 million (2020: $1.0 million) of discount unwind 1o

the UK pension scheme and a discount unwind of $2.2 million
{2020: $2.9 million} relating to the contingent consideraticn payable
10 3M. The loss before tax was $35.6 million {2020: profit of

522 million) and, after a tax credit of 3111 million (2020 credit of
$1.6 million) reflecting the prior credits and deferred tax revaluation
included in the adjusted tax charge, the loss for the period from
continuing operations was $24.5 million (2020 profit of $3 .8 million).
Basic losses per share from continuing operations were 799 cents
(2020: earnings of 12.5 cents).

Revenue

2020

2021 5m

$m restated

Respiratory Ballistic' Total Respiratory Ballistic Total

Military 113.5 34.0 147.5 1049 430 1539

First Responder 551 54 605 567 30 59.7
Avon Pratection 168.6 394 208.0 1618 520 236

Team Wendy ) - 410 41.0 - - -

Eliminations - {0.7) 07 - - -

Total 168.6 797 2483 1616 520 21386

1 Military Ballistie revenice includes armar revences of $6 £ rrilfion (2020 513 7 miflicn)



Financial Review

Avon Protection has continued to see
good commercial momentum in 2021.
However, the results for the year have been
impacted by the delays to the product
approvals for the U.5. DOD body armor
contracts which has triggered impairment
charges against the armor assets, and,
subsequent to year-end, a strategic review
of the armor business. "

2020
2021 restated? Change
Orders received $2827m  5209.6m 349%
Closing order book $143.1m $101.8m 406%
Revenue L $248.3m s2136m 16 2%
Adjusted EBITDA 5376m $490m  {23.3)%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 151%  229% -780bps
Adjusted operating profit $22.0m $38.5m  (429)%
Adjusted net finance costs $3.01m S Am 29.2%
Adjusted profit before tax 5189m $360m  (4/6)%
Adjusted taxation $(0.3)m S59m  (949)%
_Adjusted profit after rax 5186m 5302m  (384)%
Adjusted basic earmings
per share 606c 98.6c  {325)%
Dividend per share 449¢ 34.5¢ 30.1%
Net debt/{cash) excluding
lease liabilities ) 526.8m S(}i?_.?)m
Cash conversion 83 2% 81.6% 1160bps
Statutory results B
Operating {fossi/profit? $(290)m $8.9m
_[det finance costs i S{6.6)m 4(6.7}m
{Lossi/profit before tax 5(356m  §22m
Taxation $11.0m s16m L
{Lossk/profit after tax from
continuing operations 5(24.5)m $3.8m
{Lassk/profit from discontinued
operations ) $(1m 56.9m -
Gain on divestment - $160.7m
{LossKprofit for the year S(25.6)m $171.4m .
Basic earnings per share
from continuing operations {79.9)C 12.5¢
Net debt/(cash)’ 5559m  (118.7)m

1

The Diectars believe that adjusted performance measures provids a useful
comparnscn of business trends and perfermance “he adjusted performance
measures relate to cantinuing aperstiens and exclude exceptional items including,
costs assodiated with acquisitions, amortisation of acquired intangibles, net charges
related to armer assets, discontinued cperattons and the Jnwind of the discount on
the net pensien iabity The term adjusted 15 not defined under IFRS and may not be
comparable with sirilarly ttled reasares Lsed by other companies The Group uses
these measures for planning, budgeting, and reparting purposes and for its internal
assessment of the aperational performance of the Group Further detalls on the
Adjustment Performance Measures including recanciliations to the statutory resuirs
cani be found on page 101,

2020 has been retranslated following the change in reporting currency to U5 dollars

The reparted operating 1oss Includes $14.2 mullion of armortisation of acquired
intangibles, 346 8 milion of asset Impairments relating to the armor business, a gain
of $15.7 millien to reduce the net present value of the contingent consideration
pavable 10 3M due 1o lower revenue expectations under the DLA ESAP| cantract,
55.0million of casts related to the scquisition and infegration of Tearr Wendy and
the Ceradyne ballistc protecucr business, and a $67 rrillon write off of prior vear
capitalsed cloud corrputing costs.
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We have had 2 solid start to trading in our respiratery and head
protection businesses in the first two months of the new financial
year, with revenues excluding Team Wendy ahead of last year,
despite ongoing supply chain constraints,

OQur Military respiratory business is expected 1o show consistent
delivery in the U.S. and good growth from Rest of World military
customers, in particular from the NATO framework contract, Qur
First Responder and Team Wendy businesses are both expected to
grow in line with our medium-term revenue growth expectations.

Growth expectations for FY22 and beyond are underpinned by
our long-term contracts in respiratory and head protection and
our strong opening order book excluding armaor of $116.5 million,
which provides good visibility going into the new financial year
We are continuing to experience the impact of disruption in global
supply chains and customer order pattern volatility, which we are
actively working 1o mitigate. Given the ongoing challenges, we
are taking a cautious view on the anticipated rate of growth for
£Y22 at this stage in the year and we expect our respiratory and
head pratection businesses to deliver revenue in the range of
5260 million to $290 million in FY22 (8% to 20% growth), with
further revenue of up to $25 million from the armor business
depending on the timing of DLA ESAP( product approvals.

While we expect to deliver growth, the year ahead will also be one
of transition, as we wind-down the armar business and refocus the
Group as a respiratory and head pratection business. We expect
our adjusted EBITDA margin to recover materially in FY22 as a result
of the operational gearing effect and actions to reduce overheads
as part of the body armor exit,

Qur medium-term outlookis underpinned by multi-year military
cantracts acrass the product portfolio. Growth in Rest of World
revenues in both respiratory and head protection are expected to
continue, with growth over the medium-term at least in line with
our long-term growth KPls, and the Board remains confident in the
medium-terrn prospects for Avon Protection.

Gt 1Pt

Paul McDonalid
Chief Executive Officer

14 December 2021
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in the respiratory portfolio, we have made notable investments
over the year in;

+ enhancing the 5T54 tactical self-contained breathing apparatus;
FMET filter development for the NATO framework contract;
developing a range of CBRN hoots and gloves; and
enhancements to the MCM100 underwater rebreather in
association with the ongaoing LS. Navy tender process.

Far the head protection portfolio, development expenditure has
focused on the next-generation IHPS programme and the FS0
helmet launch

in addition to the helmet in-sourcing, Team Wendy has focused

on developing an additional small sized variant of its EXFIL ballistic
helmet in respense to a customer specific requirement as well as
developing the next-generation IHPS liner pad system, supporting
development of the F30 helmet and contributing to a U.S. DOD
funded research project exploring innovative helmet liner solutions
£ reduce traumatic brain injury.

Over the long-term, the strategy of our selective product
development programme is focused on leoking to the future of
ever more sophisticated technical and operational requirements
of serving military and first responder personnel through the
development of seamlessly integrated respiratory and head
protection systems with data and communications technology.

Integration of Ceradyne and Team Wendy

In the past two years we have become a focused protection
business, with the acquisitions of Team Wendy and Ceradyne,
alongside the sale of the milknte | InterPuls dairy business. This
has transformed the Group into a leading provider of life critical
respiratory and head protection systems for mifitary and first
responder customers.

Cur priority over the past year has been on the integration

of the new businesses into Avon Protection. Cur fully aligned
management structure, through our executive leadership team,
is well established and has been augmented, as we integrate our
U.S. businesses into a standardised platfarm.

This year we have completed the transfer of the Ceradyne ballistic
protection business onto Avon Protection (T and finance systems,
and at the same time expanded senior managemcnt In this area to
support the business for the growth ahead. Our processes across
research and development, including product testing protocals,
have been aligned in order that the businesses can work together
effectively and share best practice.

Our current focus is on maximising the potential of our respiratory
and head protection businesses and exiting the armor business.
As such, the Board does not intend to initiate any further major
merger and acquisition activity until after our 2022 financial year.

Strengthening our team

As we continue to grow, it is important that we continue to
strengthen both our people and senior leadership team to
meet our long-term aspirations and to improve the diversity of
our team. During the year we have made significant progress in
strengthening our team.

Wo have appaointed Steve Genzer as a U.S. based Chief Operating
Officer (COQ), to oversee day-to-day operations across all aspects
of the business and have expanded the Group Executive leadership
team to strengthen the US. presence of our leaders, with the
addition of Jose Rizo-Patron who leads the Team Wendy business.

We have continued to strengthen the finance structures and
have added a Director of Strategy and M&4A, a Director of
Investor Relations, and a Group Financial Controller, whilst further
strengthening our US. finance team.

Commercially we have welcomed a new EMEA Sales and Business
Development Director, in addition to a dedicated Sales and Business
Development Director for our U S, DOD ballistic protection business.

In Human Resources we have appointed a U.S. Human Resources
Director and have standardised our pay and benefits structures
acrass our LS. sites.

In Operations, we have added a Quality Director and centralised
our Sourcing and Supply Chain structure under a unified system
as we migrated to an integrated global cperating platform.

To reinforce our focus on diversity and inclusion we launched

a women's mentoring programme as part of Balance@Aven.

The initiative aims to motivate, empower and help our fernale
employees understand themselves and their aims and how they
might work towards achieving them. The programme is currently
running with 18 employees in the first cohort, each having been
aliocated a ferale mentor.

Current trading and outlook

We have a global market leading position in specialist respiratory
and head protection products, with visible opportunities to
grow in these markets in both the short and medium-term. We
enter 2022 with a well-invested operating Infrastructure, which
combined with sustained investment in product development,
increased management bench strength, and a strong order book,
means that the Board has confidence in the prospects of the
business for 2022 and beyond.
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Creating a global leader in head protection

Combining Team Wendy with the Ceradyne ballistic helmet
business has created a global leader in military and first responder
helmets, helmet liners and retention systems. Ceradyne is the
technology leader in high performance rifle rated ballistic helmets
through its partnershig with the U.S. Army. In September 2021, we
were pleased tc announce that following the retender pracess,
we had been awarded a new contract tor the next-generation
U5 Army [HPS worth up to $87.6 million over two years on a dual
source basis, together with an initial $1.3 million crder for first
article testing samples for delivery in the second quarter of our
2022 financial year. Preduction under this contract will underpin
helmet revenues in 2023 and follow on from production of the
existing first generation IHPS which, following the extension in
March 2021, is due to end in 2022, During the year Team Wendy
has collaborated with Ceradyne to develop an updated lirer pad
system for the next-generation IMPS helmet which is expected to
be introduced in 2022 following completion of first articie testing.

The body armor first article test failures, acted as a catalyst to
accelerate management and process integration between

the acquired Ceradyne business and Avon Protection, with a
result that engineering systems and processes are considerably
more robust compared 1o this time 1ast year. Preparations for
the next-generation first article testing are well advanced with
regular reparting and progress updates being provided to the
Executive Directors.

Following completion of the acguisition in November 2020, Team
Wendy has performed well and in line with expectations at the
time of acguisition. Whilst Team Wendy continues 1o operate on a
standalone basis, we have integrated the business into the Avon
Protection governance, management structures and performance
management processes.

Team Wendy has also started to work together with the Ceradyne
business within Avon Protection on major tender processes as well
as opportunities tc enhance our helmet portfolio. In particular,
Team Wendy and Avon Protection have collaborated on the
development of the next-generation IHPS liner pad system and the
F90, our first combined commercial helmet for first responders and
rest of the warld militaries. The F90 helmet combines the Ceradyne
ballistic helmet shell forming capabilities and Team Wendy's liner
and retention capabilities.

- “

In addition, we have delivered procurement benefits from utilising
Aveon Protection's buying power and supplier relationships as well
as transferring the manufacturing of Team Wendy ballistic helmet
shells to in-house production.

Our combined head protection portfolio has a growing pipeline
of opportunities with the U.S. DOD, Rest of World Militaries and
First Responders that will drive growth in 2022 and beyond.

First Responder well positioned for further growth

During 2021 we have seen the benefits of offering a broader
range of respiratory and head protection products to our existing
U.5. First Respender customers, Revenues increased by 1.3%
against a strong camparator in 2020, driven by 81.3% growth in
helmet revenues.

Following the launch of the FS0Q, a lightweight mid performance
ballistic helmet, in the fourth quarter of 2021, we are confident in
delivering further growth from our First Responder customer base
in 2022,

investing for growth

We continue to focus on maintaining our reputation for
technalogical excellence and innovation across both respiratory
and head protection product lines. The strategic objective of
our product development programme 1s 1o both increase the
capability of the current platforms we provide and also to move
up the value chain by providing more advanced systems for our
specialist user groups. We continue to ensure cur development
pipeline is designed in partnership with our customers to ensure
that their exacting performance requirements are met, whilst
ensuring we have a committed and commercial route to market
10 maximise our return on investmeant.

We have continued this focus on selective new product
development in the year, with $13.2 million (2020: $10.1 million) of
investrment in new preduct development projects in respiratory
and head protection. The increase in investment over the prior year
primarily reflects the Group's growth with additional development
resources and capability across the respiratory and head pratection
product portfolio being supplemented with the additien of

Team Wendy.
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Following closure, the armor infrastructure and remaining assets

will be sold and overheads reduced by ¢. $i5 million. The estimated

net cash costs of closure and right=sizing the retained organisation
of between 53 to 5 million are expected to be weighted towards
cur 2023 financial year.

Following closure of the body armor business we will vacate three
US. leasehold properties with annual lease costs of 51.7 miltion.
The net present value of these lease liabilities as at 30 Septernber
2021 was $11.8 million, of which $8.6 million relates to the lease

for our Lexington, Kentucky facility which expires in January 2035,
Following clasure of the anmur Liusiness we will look 1o mitigate
these liabilities through sub-letting the properties.

We have booked impairments relating to the armor business of
$46.8 millicn in our 2021 financial statements to fully write down
the armor specific assets to their estimated recoverable amounts.

This has been partially offset by a gain of $15.7 miltion to reduce the

provision for contingent consideration payable to 3M due ta lower
revenue expectations under the DLA ESAPI contract, resulting in

a net non cash exceptional of $31.1 million in our 2021 financial
staternents, There has been no impairment of the $28.0 million

of goodwall relating to the Ceradyne acquisition or the Ceradyne
helmet intangible assets of $28.9 million.

2021 performance

We have seen continued good commercial momentum in 2021
with an order intake for the year of $282.7 million, representing
year-on-year growth of 34.9% and up 38.8% excluding Team
Wendy and armor. Excluding armer, order intake was $281.0 million
(2020: $176.0 million). We carry an order book excluding armor
of $116.5 million into the new financial year, an increase of

$46.2 million on last year, predominantly due to a substantial
increase in orders for our Military respiratory products under the
NATO framework contract.

Revenue of $248.3 million represents growth of +16.2% including
a first time contribution of $41.0 millien from Team Wendy.
Excluding Team Wendy, revenue declined by 2.6% with our
Military respiratory and First Responder businesses delivering
revenie growth of 8.1% and 1.3% respecuvely, while Military
ballistic revenue declined by 30.6% due to the delays in approval
for our U.S. DOD body armor contracts Team Wendy, which we
acquired in November 2020, performed well and in line with our
expectations at the time of the acouisition.

Military respiratory revenue growth of 8.1% was appreciably lower
than the 31.0% growth in orders, due to significantly increased
COVID-19 related disruption In the secend half of the year, resulting
in delays in the receipt of custemer orders, supply chain disruption
due 1o longer lead times and a tight U.S. labour market.

Ballistic protection revenues in 2021 were significantly lower than
we had anticipated, as a result of contract delays. However, given
our confidence, at the time, in the oppertunity for this business
we were committed to retaining the cost base and infrastructure
necessary 1o support our medium-term goals. This has resulted in
an adjusted EBITDA margin of 15.1% in the year.

Avon Protection a global leader in respiratory and
head protection

Locking ahead, the future of Avon Protection is centred on our
leading respiratory and head protection businesses, which both
provide significant growth opportunities for the future,

World-leading respiratory business

The respiratory business has been at the heart of Avon Protection
for well over a decade. Itis a global standard-setter and market
leader in the field of military and first responder respiratory
protection. Built on our long-standing partnership, the U.S. DOD
is the flagship customer for our Military respiratory portfolio,
providing the Group with a stable, recurring revenue base as
well as a key reference point for other military and first responder
custormers globally who look to the US. as a technology leader

in the defence sector. Alongside deliveries of new mask, powered
air and suppled air systemns under our M50, M53A1 and M69
long-term contracts, we continue to benefit from sustainable
revenues from filters, spares and accessonies 1o support the
installed base of over two million M50 general service respirators.

In addituon to the visible order pipeline with the U.S. DOD, we have
seen continued success with the broader respiratery portfolio in
meeting a wider range of needs for our global customers. The
award of the 10-year NATO framework contract in August 2020
provides NATO and associate members access to our respiratory
portfolic and wil! drive growth outside of the U.S. DOD in the
medium-term. During the year we have recefved orders totalling
548 million under this contract from six NATO members and
assoclates including Norway, Finland, Belgium, Lithuania, Denmark
and the Netherlands. We are in active dizlogue with three other
NATO members with a view to them joining the programme.
Alongside this, we have continued to deliver the sustainment
volumes of the UK. General Service Respirator and develop a
pipeline of other earlier-stage programmes that will play a part

in driving growth in the medium-term.
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This strategy is designed to grow revenue by supplying a wider
range of products to our existing customers, as well as broadening
our giobal customer base.

Over the past year, we have made further progress against these
objectives and towards growing and strengthening our respiratory
and head protection businesses. This includes growing orders
from European customers under the NATO framework contract,
and through the acquisition of our second head protection
business, Team Wendy in November 2020, Combining Team Wendy
with the Ceradyne ballistic helmet business acquired in January
2020 has created a global leader in military and first responder
helmets, helmet liners and retention systems to add to our world
leading respiratory protection business, with significant growth
opportunities for the future,

Our revenue expectations, excluding armor, in the new finandal
year and beyond remain underpinned by long-term contract
positions with the US. DOD, a growing customer base outside the
US, and a growing aftermarket revenue stream driven from the
installed base of our products, providing confidence and long-term
visibility for our future revenues.

Sustainability

The Board recognises the importance to each of our main
stakeholder groups of Environmental, Soctal and Governance
(ESG) matters. As practice and regulation in this area continues
to grow, we remain committed to delivering positive, measurable
improvement in these areas seriously, whilst recognising that we
a7e a1 the beginning of this journey.

We have acknowledged the need for a high-level sustainability
vision, which links to the Group's purpose, as a backdrop to our
strategy. We have rmany sustainability initiatives already in place
throughout our sites, across all three aspects of ESG, and over the
coming menths we will be aligning our existing intiatives across
all sites in order to put in place a clear strategy and framework for
delivery of the Group’s ESG agenda, which will include specific
targets, initiatives and commitments against which stakeholders
wilt be able to measure the Group's performance and our progress
towards our vision of being net carbon neutral by 2045,

....39

Strategic review of armor

On 12 November 2021 we announced that our next-generation
VTP ESAP] body armor product had failed first article testing. This
followed a similar result in December 2020 for the legacy DLA
ESAPI bady armor product. We alsc announced that we were
experiencing further delays to achieving final product approval

for the DLA ESAPI product following the successful completion of
ballistic testing in August 2021, thereby pushing expected revenues
from the second quarter into the third quarter of FY22

As a result, the Beard has conducted an in-depth strategic review
of the armor business. The best interests of all stakeholders, and
in particular our customers and employees in addition to our
shareholders, have been at the core of our decision-making.

We have concluded that continuing the body armor business and
re-developing the VTP ESAPI product is not in the best interests
of our stakeholders, given the lack of certainty of obtaining
product approval and of generating an acceptable return on our
investment, Were we to continue 10 invest in this product, at best,
we would be able to achieve approval in late 2022 towards the
end of the four-year contract which is due t end in March 2023
As such, the balance between risk and opportunity is one that the
Beard considers unattractive.

The Board has also evaluated selling the body and flat armor
business. The Board’s expectation is that any divestment is unlikely
to be achievable given the uncertainties surrounding the business.

As such, the Board has concluded that itis in the best interests

of our stakeholders as a who'e to undertake an orderly
wind-down of the bedy and flat armor businesses. In the short-
term, we will continue to engage with our customers and operate
the businesses in order to fulfil our contractual obligations. As at
30 Seprember 2021 our armer oraer book totalled $26.6 million,
being $20.6 million of body armor and 358 million of flat armor.
We will not pursue further armor contracts or further contract
extensians. However, we anticipate a further 520 million order
under the DLA ESAP| contract terms once product approvals
have been obtained, as well as additional orders under existing
flat armaor contracts 1o facilitate the smooth transition of these
customers to alternative suppliers. We anticipate up to $25 millicn
of revenue from our armor business this year, with similar amounts
in our 2023 financial vear. However, we will work 1o fulfil our
obligations as quickly as possible with ciosure expected during
our 2023 financial year.



We have made significant
further progress against our
strategic objectives to deljver
medium-term, sustainable
grawth, despite the challenging
operating environment, "

Chief Executive Officer’s Review

2021 HAS REGRETFULLY BEEN A
CHALLENGING YEAR FOR AVON PROTECTION
AND OUR STAKEHOLDERS. HOWEVER

WE HAVE TAKEN DECISIVE ACTION TO
ADDRESS THeE ISSUES OF OUR ARMOR
BUSINESS AND REFOCUS THE GROUP

AS A GLOBAL LEADER IN RESPIRATORY
AND HEAD PROTECTION.

Qur body armaor business has been impacted by first article testing
failures for the tegacy DLA ESAPI product in December 2020,

and the next-generation Vital Torso Protection (VTP) productin
November 2021. In response 1o these unexpected events, the
Board has undertaken a strategic review of our armer business

and concluded that an orderly wind-down of the bedy and flat
armor business to fulfil our existing body and flat armor customer
commitments is in the best interest of our stakeholdars as a whole.

This is clearly a disappcinting outcome which will impact a number
of our stakeholders, however this decisive action refocuses the
Group and the executive team on growmng our world leading
pasitions in respiratory and head protection. While naturally
overshadowed by events in armor, we have made significant
further progress in these businesses with significant levels of
investment to further underpin our position as a leading provider
of respiratory and head protection systems for military and first
responder customers.

Our strategy remains focused around three core strategic pillars:

+ Growing the care by maximising organic sales growth from our
current product paortfolio
Pursuing selective product development to maintain our
innovation leadership position

« Targeting value enhancing acquisitions to complement our
existing businesses and add additicnal growth opportunities for
the Group
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Product safety governance

Product safety and quality is at the core of
all our business practices. The majority of
our products are approved to customer or
industry safety standards which involves
rigoreus testing. Qur production employees
receive mandatory product safety training
and all our products undergo internal safety
and quality testing programmes. Where
standards require, external safety audits

are conducted on our products.

Board and internal governance

We seek to ensure diversity in the
compaosition of our Board; gender diversity,
ethnic and social backgrounds, and
personal skilis.

For mare information on how our Board
is composed, please view the Governance
section of this report on page &1.

speAdlD)

Our employees are at the heart of our
Company and are the key to our collective
success, We are committed to ensuring that
we have a supportive wark environment,
where everyone has the opportunity to
reach their full potential. We are committed
to providing a workplace culture that 15
free of harassment, intimidation, bias and
discrimination and & working environment
where every employee is treated with
dignity and respect. We have continued

to make significant progress in building
towards a diverse and inclusive culture
throughout the year. The ‘Speak Up’
platform is designed for all employees to
anonymously report any behaviour which
may be a breach of our Code of Conduct,
Respectful Workplace Palicy, or is unethical
orillegal. The Board retains oversight
of all matters raised through Speak Up,
with regular reports submitted to the
Audit Committee.
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GOVERNANCE

We remnain committed to the highest standards of governance and ethics, promating a culture of zero tolerance towards bribery and
corruption, Employees can give honest feedback, express concerns if there are any practices that they feel uncomfortable with, allowing
us 1o take corrective actions when mistakes happen. Gur ethics and business conduct programme commits us 1o conducting business
fairly, impartially and in compliance with local laws and regulations and to act with integrity and honesty in our business relationships.

For more information on governance, please refer to the Governance section on page 61.

Ethics
Code of Conduct

Our Code of Conduct (the Code’) sets

out the values and standards of behaviour
expected from all those working for or

on behalf of Avon Protection; the current
version is available in the Governance
section of our website, The Code requires
all our representatives to comply with

the laws and regulations in the countries

in which we operate, We understand

that implementing the Code across all

the markets we da business in can be
challenging given the potentially complex
differences. We therefore assess and
manage any risks and the processes behind
these to ensure we rmaintain the highest
ethical standards. We encourage everyone
to report any behaviour, which may be a
breach of the Code, or is unethical or illegal,
through our confidential ‘Speak Up' system.
Every report is then investigated, and
necessary actions are taken 1o ensure

suth bredches do not recceur.

Bribery and corruption

We have implemented effective systems

to advocate our zere-telerance appreach to
bribery and corruption. To ensure we only
work with third parties whose standards
are consistent with our own, all agents

and distributers are obiiged by written

agreement o comply with the standards
set outin the Code. Last year we created a
new Supplier Code of Conduct which we
continue to roll out across our suppliers.
In addition, a programme of supplier
audits exists to ensure suppliers adhere

to our standards,

Modern slavery

We are fully committed to respecting the
human rights of al! those working with

or for us. We do not accept any form of
child or forced labour and we will not do
business with any party who fails to uphold
these standards. We have a zero-tolerance
approach o modern slavery and are
committed to acting with integrity in all
business dealings and relationships and
to Implementing and enforcing effective
measures to ensure modern slavery s not
taking place in the business or its supply
chains, Cur Modern Slavery Act Statement
is available in the Governance sectivn of
our website for further details,

Supply chain

We have many forms of training materials
and policies in place, both in person and
online, 1o embed the ethics and integrity
reguirement across the Company. We
always investigate alleged violations

and take the necessary action.

We do not use conflict minerals, such as

tin, tungsten or gold, that originate from
countries whose natural resources include
minerals that are high in demand and are
either suffering from armed conflict or
witnessing weak or non-existent governance
and systematic violations of international law,
including human rights abuses.

Data and cyber security

Like all businesses, there s a risk that we
may be subjected to external threats
potentially causing sensitive data to

be lost, corrupted, or accessed by
unauthorised users, leading to financial

or reputational loss We have policies and
mandatory online training in place for

all employees to avoid all forms of data
breaches of confidential information.
Mandatory information security training
is also delivered throughout the year to
all employees. This includes completing
online courses on protecting personal and
sensitive data and how to recognise social
engineering attacks.

A significant number of employees
continued 1o work from home this year

and many continue to do so. Therefore, we
have continued to maintain the enhanced
manitoring of phishing attempts and

other security threats and continue to raise
awareness of these risks with our employecs.
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as leadership communication, employee
engagement, team culture and work
environment. The results are then
presented to the Board and the wider
leadership team and areas for improvement
at both site and Group level are discussed.
Qur Culture Champions then support in the
implementation of the changes and give
feedback to our employees.

Pay and benefits

During 2021 we have been working to
review our pay and benefits. Our aim has
been to align and simplify our approach,
so we are fair and consistent in the way we
treat our employees, regardless of location.

This has resulted in changes to our hourly
pay rates and bonus arrangements for
factory floor employees in all of cur
manufacturing locations and alignment of
our US. 401(k) pension plans into a single
scheme with consistent contribution

rates for all of our U.S. employees. These
changes are designed to ensure we are
competitive in local labour markets and that
we are paying fairly and consistently across
our locations.

Community engagement

We continually work with and for the
communities in which we operate,
recognising our role as a major local
employer. We have recently expanded our
partnership with Bath Rugby, to support
their Primary Education programme
centred around developing numeracy
skilfs and premaoting health and wellbeing

We also sponsor Bath Rugby's Girls
Participation Huls, a new initiative that
aims to increase female participation in
the sport.

Across all our sites, employees engage and
volunteer with their local communities,

and are encouraged 1o use the Company’s
charitable giving programme. Our Cadillac
employees started fundraising to improve
ajocal community landmark. They

far exceeded their goal, and work has
started to transform the landmark.

W

Looking forward

Our aim is to grow a diverse culture
and support all emplayees 1o give their
best. In 2022, we will continue with
both our Professional Development
Programme and, from the feedback
we gain from the women's mentonng
scheme, we will make necessary
improvements and lock ta roll it
forward for ancther year.

We will continue 1o work with our local
communities and do our partas a
major local employer and ensure that
we are fair and consistent across all our
sites when reviewing and improving
palicies and initiatives.




Sustainability continued

Diversity and inclusion continued

Across our all-employee level, we have
achieved a ratio of 41% (460 out of 1126)
female and 59% (666 out of 1126) male. We
are committed to continuously improving
the balance of female to male employees
across all of our sites.

To reinforce our focus on diversity and
inclusion, and from the feedback received
last year from our research in partnership
with the University of the West of England,
we launched a women's mentoring
programme as part of our Balance@Avon
initiative. The intiative aims to motivate,

33%

FEMALE
Gender - Board

6/

MALE
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empower and support fermale employeas to

understand themselves and their aims and
how they might work towards achieving
them. The programme is currently running
with 18 employees having been allocated
a fernale mentor and feedback from the
programme has becn positive.

Qur US. sites report equal employment
opportunities data annually 1o the US.
Government and to the State of California
under pdy equity requirements. Aftirmative
action plans are also in place which

outline goals for women and rinorities,
veterans and people with disabilities by
establishment.
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Personal development

Qur Board maintains succession planning as a key priority, ard
we strive 10 pravide ar environment that offers the correct
traring and development. We have continued with our
Professional Development Pragramme (PDP)Y, a year-forg talert
development programme, with the aim to identify, encourage
and support the next gereratior of intarnal talent to contribute
10 the business beyord the scope of their currert roles.
Participants set persoral development targets which are
worked on for the year with internal mentor suppart. Mentors
are executive team members who provide a source of adwvice
and support for the partcipants in addition to their line manager.

We believe gur employees thrive the most when they can
improve and enhance their skill sets and work on their personal

Our average U.K. gender pay gap for FY20
reported in October 2021) is 24.9%. The pay
gap is due to the Company having more
women in operations and assembly roles in
the lowest guartile (54%}) compared (¢ more
men in the top quartile (87%) and does

not stern from paying men and women
differently for the same or equivalent work.
This supports our existing focus to address
the gender balance at our Company
leadership team leveis, through initiathves
like Balance@Avon, which will help to close
the overalt pay gap with more female
represcntation at this level. Qur gender pay
gap data can be found in the Governance
section of our website.
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MALE

developmenrt. We have given oJdr employees access to tools, such as
LinkedIn Learning, to help with their career progressior and persoral
development. Lirkedin Learning has proven to be an invaluable toal
where odr errployees can complete online courses on any areas of
INterest 1o progress their career paths and expand thelr krowledge.

Employee engagement

We are committed to maintaining & high
level of employee engagement across

all sites and providing an environment
where all employees are able to fulfill their
potential We hold wellbeing and training
and developrment challenges frequently
which enable employees te work on their
personal development. We also hold an
annual CEO roadshow where emplayees
receive an update on the Company’s
performance and strategy and can directly
ask our CEQ guestions in a live event.

Maintaining high levels of communication
with all employees is a focus across the
Group and so we host manthly leadership
events in which members of the Group
Executive team and the Board provide an
update on the business, their vision for
the future and what requires further focus.
These events alsc give employees the
opportunity to ask guestions directly.

We greatly value employee feedback and
have launched a new initiative 1o celebrate

and enhance the culture at Avon Protecticn.

Culture Champions were selected from
every level of the organisation and sites
and they play a crucial role in maintaining
an open communication culture within the
Group. Their role includes speaking to cur
employees on matters such as leadership,
learning and development, and social
connaction.

We also hold employee surveys every
year to provide employees with the
opportunity to provide feedback and
suggest improvements on aspects such
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SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

Cur people drive our culture. Mativated and empowered employees representing our values ensure we deliver market leading
customer service and products. We have wellbeing, recognition and training and development Initiatives in place and look to motivate
our employees through appropriate recognition and reward programmes. Our wellbeing initiatives raise awareness of the benefits of
physical and mental health in the workplace and we provide an environment that offers the right training and development with a
combimation of formal training opportunities and on the job experiences.

Impact of COVID-19 on wellbeing

We have heightened our focus or the
wellbeing and safety of all our employees
throughout the past two years In relation
to the COVID-19 pardemic, Takirg action
to ersure safe working environments is our
urmost prionity. Whilst we have not closed ary
of our production sites during the pardemic,
we have increased employee engagement
ard are continually holdirg welibeing webinars
ard chalienges each month to imprave
employee mental and physical health.

Our webirars have been facilitated by an
external expert and have focused an topics
including heart health ard mental health,
Workirg from home can be 1solating for many,
so we have focused or supporung team
morale and helping our employees in ary way
we can. These webinars allow employees to
switch off frorm wark for an hour and ask our
expert preserters questions, ircreasing our
employes engageent and nvolvernent

Employee health & safety We are in the process of developing an Diversity and inclusion
online hub where UK. employees can
access equipment specific safety training
courses to complete in their own time and
hecome certified by the business upon
course completion. The online hub, once

We are cammitted to equality and equal
treatment for all employees and strive
to provide an environment where all
employess can fulfil their full potential.

QGur goal is zere harm and we continue to
actively promaote a strong safety culture.
We have mandatery training and policies
in place for all shop floor employees on
workplace safety and pracrices.

implemented across all sites, will play an We have achieved the tatget set by the
This year, across five of cur cperations integral part in reducing our TCIR and Harnpton-Alexander Review of 33%
sites, we recorded, in total, 19 workplace achieving our zero incident targat, In FY22, female representation including our
incigents delivering a Tota! Case Incident we will also align globally the way inwhich ~ Senior independent Director (two of six)
Rate (TCIR) of 2.9, calculated in line with we collect TOIR andl Lost Time Accidents dgta @ the Board and we have a Board Diversity
the Occupational Health and Safety across all seven sites. Policy in place, which can be found in the
Administration (OSHA) guidelines. Governance section of cur website,

We track incidents on a monthly basis and .
Fernale representation across our senior

management {in line with the Hampton-
Alexander Review definition) lies at 29%
(14 out of 49) and we are committed to
improving this in the future.

have a global target 1o reduce our Incident
rate to zerc against which we are making
progress.
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Energy efficiency

Atour UK. facility, we have recently
installed an adiabatic cooler to regulate
water temperature in our presses to reduce
our kwh usage. On a 24/7 basis (8,760
operating hours), the new adiabatic cooler
is estimatad to consume 26 MWh of power,
whereas with our previous cocling tower,
the power consumed on a 24/7 basis came
to 1,140 MWh. The new coocler shows how
we can be more energy efficient at our
UK. facility and, in the ceming months, we
intend to continue making steps towards
using less energy across all sites.

W

Looking forward

We will continue to enhance our tracking
and monitoring of CC,e and GHG
emissions across all sites and am to
implement a strategy to set intermediate
targets and report on some Scope 3
GHG emissions to help achieve our net
ZEro target.

Environmenta! issues are considered
throughout a product’s lifecycle,
fram concept to disposal, and we will

Avon Protection plc/ Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Water usage

Water consumption across all seven of cur
sites is relatively small and imited to mainly
domestic use, for drinking and sanitary
uses. Where water discharges de occur
due to product testing, these are disposed
of in line with local government guidelines.

Waste (hazardous,
general, recycling)

Qur UK. site have partnered with one of
our suppliers, AK Industries Limited, 1o
reuse packaging for all products delivered.
All packaging the site receives from AK
Industries is sent back to the supplier in
Correx packaging for them 1o reuse.

continucusly work to reduce the impact
our products and consumables have on
the envircnment.

We are also working to adopt and
implement TCFD recommendations and
UN Sustainability Development Gaoals
(SDGs) into our ESG strategy. The TCFD
recommendations aim to standardise
businesses reporting of climate-related
risks and improve business and financial

This initiative was signed off in 2021 and we
aim to start our first returnable packaging
tender at the start of FY22 with a total of
5000 hoxes being returned to AK Industries.
We are looking into expanding this initiative
across all suppliers.

Any hazardous waste generated (as defined
by the Control of Substances Hazardous to
Health and U.S. Enwironmental Protection
Agency (EPAY) is dispesed of in line with
jocal government guidelines.

Environmental incidents

There have been no environmental
incidents, as defined by the UX.
Environmental Agency or the US. EPA, at
any of our sites or in relation ta our supply
chain throughaut the 2021 financial year.

sector transparency on the financial risks
and opportunities of chimate change in
line with four areas: governance, strategy,
risk management, and metrics and
targets. The SDGs chosen will be in line
with our strategy direction, improve our
supply chain processes and ensure ethical
practices throughourt.
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ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABIUTY

As part of our commitment to being a responsible and sustainable business, we are focused on the continuous
development and improvement of our products and solutions using innovative technologies. We believe that we
can align this activity over time to minimise the impact of eur operations and our preducts on the environment.

As a manufacturer of high-tech respiratory and head protection equipment, it is our vision to be carbon net zero by 2045,
and to leverage our research and development activity and technology sclutions, customer relationships, operational
footprint and our position in our communities to deliver this. We are working on a roadmap, which we expect to be able to
publish in the coming 12 months.

We are also dedlicated to enhancing cur tracking and monitering of key sustainability priorities. As environmental legisfations
are evolving globally, we ensure compliance through regular updates to our processes demonstrated by our continued
membership of the Institute of Environmental Management and Assessment. Our UK. operations are also certified to
conform to 15O 14001:2015, which reinforces how we manage our environmental responsibilities. Three of our US. operations
are due to be certified next year, two of which are scheduled for April 2022

Emissions {(carbon, GHG)

We collect, monitor and act on data We have disclosed the details of our The toral emissions of carbon dioxide
gathered from each of our sites regarding Scope 1 and 2 greenhouse gas emissions, equivalent come 10 11,448 tonnes, this
aur greenhouse gas (GHG} emissions. following the UK. Gavernment's gives an intensity ratio of 46 tonnes
The collected data allows us to monitor Environmental Reporting Guidelines CO,e per Smillion revenue.
and examine carbon emission trends 19 i r hodolo

d K e‘ . © int d | (2019 In our metho gy This is an improvernent from 2020, with a
and 1rad rcdgress against our Interna . ™

) p € g Several factors have contributed to the revenue of 52136 million [Tearm Wendy had
sustainability goals. ) . :
Group’s energy performance this year. not yet been acquired), we recorded the

With tast year's acquisition of Team Wendy,  total emissions of carbon dioxide equivalent
our revenuc for the year lies at $248.3 million. 10 12,118 tonnes, giving an intensity ratio
of 57 tornes CO,e per $million revenue.

GHG emissions

2021 2020

Direct GHG Emissians {Scope 1) tOe 3,036 2,285

“Indirect GHG Emissions (Scope 2) 0e ‘ 8412 9833
Total GHG emissions (Scopes 1 &2) WO e 11448 12118

Intensity ratio U.K. and Global: Tonnes of GHG per $m revenue 46 57

Praportion of emissions arising from UK aperations 23% 22%

Energy consumption resuilting in the above emissions MWh» 3381 30,358

Tmportiom of energy consumption arising from U K. operations (%) 38% 40%

Note.
We have sourced from all our manufactuning sites the energy data avallable from invoices and where applicable, regional and national carben conversion factors have been

appled Please note that the data stated above are nct directly comparable an a year-on-year basis, Due ta the mid-year integranon of cur two helrets and armor busimesses,
the 2020 data does notinclude a full year of the Ceradyne ballisuc business nor Tearr Wendy, whereas the 2021 data includes bath b sinesses at full intearation,



We ARE COMMITTED TO A VISION
WHICH DEUVERS CARBON NET
ZERO BY 2045 AT THE LATEST.

As a Board we have monitored the
increasing importance of sustainability and
our environmental, social and governance
priorities for each of our main stakeholder
groups — our customers, shareholders, and
cur empioyees.

As practice and regulation in this arca
grows, we are taking cur responsibility to
deliver positive, measurable improvement
in these areas sericusly. We recognise that
we are at the beginning of this journey.

As a primarily U.S, based Group, we have
recognised that our U.S, sites are behind
our European site in terms of environmental
focus and green initiatives. As such,

we need to align our environmental
sustainability strategy across all sites to
bring the US sites up to the same standard
as the UK.

Against that backdrop cur vision as a Group
is to achieve carbon net zero by 2045 at
the latest, earlier than the UK. Government
commitment of 2050. The Board is
confident in making this commitment given
the nature of our primarily light industrial
manufacturing processes, the nature of our
supply chain and our willingness 1o invest
to deliver this outcome, even though the
detaled plan to implement this vision has
not yet been completed.

We have many sustainability initiatives
already in place throughout our sites,
across all three aspects of ESG, and over
the coming year we intend 10 align these
within a clear strategy and framework for
delivery of the Group's ESG agenda. This
will include specific targets, initiatives, and
commitments to ensure we achieve our
carbon net zero goal. One of these targets is
to certify all our U.S. operations to 15014001
which will provide a formal framework 1o
improve our environmental efficiency.

We have recognised the need for a
high-level sustainability vision, which links
to the Group's purpose, as a backdrop
our strategy. The Group's purpose has been
reviewed and redefined this year and is set
out on page 2.

In the coming financial year, the Board
intends 1o establish a dedicated ESG
sub-committee 1o act on its behalf

in defining the Group's ESG strategy
and overseeing the progression and
implementation of the initiatives
required tc deliver it.

Next year's report will set cut the Group’s
ESG strategy, which will be aligned

under the standards of the Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board and include
reference to the relevant UN Sustainable
Development Goals where we believe these
are appropriate. We continue to prepare
to comply with the recommendations of
the Taskforce on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD) and already report
against a number of the recommended
criteria, as detailed later in this report.

In recognition of the growing importance
of sustainability matters, ESG has been
added to the Group risk register as a risk
area in its own right to ensurc we are
appropriately and proactively identifying
and managing the risks tc delivery in these
three areas.

The remainder of this report sets out the
progress we have made to date on ESG
matters, of which there is much to be
proud, together with a list of measures we
expect to include in the strategy. We loak
forward to developing the ESG strategy
and working with the teams to embed
these new disciplines in our operations in
order to achieve our target carbon net zerc
goal, and to uitimately ensure sustainable
business growth for the future.




Strategic
Report

Value enhancing acquisitions

Acquisitions have been part of our growth strategy for a number of years. In the short-term, we are focused on
the integration of our current eperations and building our respiratory and head protection business organically.
In the medium to long-term, we will return to acquisitions as a driver for growth.

Strategy in action

Integration of Team Wendy

Our priority over the past year has been the integration of the
newly acquired Team Wendy business into Avon Pratection.
Whilst Team Wendy continues to operate on a standalone
basis, we have integrated the business into the Avon Protection
governance, management structures and performance
managernent processes.

Team Wendy has also started to work together with the
Ceradyne business within Avon Protection on major tender
processes as well as opportunities to enhance our heimet
poartfolio. In particular, Team Wendy and Avon Protection

have callaborated on the development of the next-generation
IHPS liner pad system and the F30, our first combined
commercial helmet for first responders and rest of the world
militaries. The F90 helmet combines the Ceradyne ballistic
helmet shell forming capabilities and Team Wendy's liner

and retent'on capabilities.

In addition, we have delivered procurement benefits from
utilising Avon Protection’s buying power and supplier
relationships as well as transferring the manufacturing of
Team Wendy baliistic heimet shells to in-house production.
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Delivering our Strategy continued

Selective product development

We have a reputation for technological excellence and innovation, with a strong tradition of

new product development.

How we achieve this

Moving up the value chain in respiratory
pratection, Whilst we will continue to expand

the portfalio of mask platforms, variant systems
and consumables to cater for the specific needs of
particular customers or applications, we are actively
developing more advanced systems targeted at
specialist customer groups.

Strategy in action

Enabling technologies and integrated systems.
The equipment of the military fighter of the future

is expected to be increasingly sophisticated, with
seamless integration of protection and technology
systems. We are investing in our expertise in
enabling technologies, to allow greater integration
of respiratory and head protection systems data and
communications technology.

EXFIL Maritime Liner System

In 2021, Team Wendy launched the
EXFIL Maritime Liner System, which
provides water-resistant protection for
coastal operators. Sealed pads made
from Team Wendy's patented Zorbium
foam are optimised to dry quickly
after routine exposure to water. The
liner's quick-drying capability helps
reduce the added helmet system
weight and discomfort that results
from waterlogged helmet pads.

Designed spedifically for Team Wendy’s
EXFIL shell geometry, the liner is
available as an aftermarket retrofit
systemn. Each system contains front,
crown and rear impact pads, as well as a
fit adjustment pack with four shim pads

This is the first aftermarket liner option
Team Wendy has made availabie for its
own helmets, allowing customers even
more flexibility and mission-oriented
usage with their Team Wendy helmet.
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Growing the core

We are recagnised as the leader within our chosen market segments.

There are further opportunities to maximise growth from our product portfolio,

How we achieve this

» Leveraging the product
and customer base. There is
considerable scope to cross-sell
the wider product portfolio to cur
existing customers and further
improve margins.

- Responding to customers’

Expanding our reach through
distribution. We participate in
growing global markets with a
large and diverse base of potential
customers, Expanding our
distribution network of agents and
dealers will allow Us to access wider

Continuing focus on operational
excellence. We have invested in a
global manufacturing capability and
supply chain to meet the high quality
requirements of our products and
customers. We pursue a continuous
improvement culture to further

reduce costs and enhance product
margins and will benefit from

market opportunities more guickly,
in both new and existing territories

growing needs, Through our focus
on innovation, we are constantly
enhancing the functionality and
capability of our product range.

As the demands of cur custamers
grow, we see a clear opportunity

to migrate them to our premium
praduct offerings as their
requirements increase.

improved operational gearing as
we optimise the utilisation of our

global operations.

Strategy in action

Broadening our European market share

The 10-year framewaork contract with the NATO Support and Procurement Agency (NSPA] enables NATO and NATO affiliated
caountries to purchase from our market leading, broad respiratory protection portfolio based around the FM50 system,
including full suite of filters, MP-PAPR, 5T53 and accessories.

During FY21 Avon Protection received orders worth up to $48 million to supply FMS5Q mask systems to six NATG member
countries and associates including Norway, Finland, Belgium, Lithuania, Denmark and the Netherlands, We are in active
dialogue with three other NATO member countries with a view ta them joining the programme.

European NATO framework contract opportunities

. Current customer through
NATO framewark

Opportuhity threugh
NATO framework ar direct
opportunities

. Direct opportunity,
urtlikely to buy thraugh
NATO framework
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Delivering our Strategy

OUR STRATEGY
IS TO GENERATE

SHAREHOLDER
VALUE THROUGH:

Growing
the core

0

Selective product
development

<

Value enhancing
acquisitions

S48 million
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HELMETS

Our helmets set industry standards in protectian-ta-weight ratios. They are modular, lightweight and customisable, which offers
customers optimal flexibility in providing desired protection in a form appropriate for specific units and objectives. We are at
the forefront of helmet technology and are currently delivering next-generation IHPS ballistic helmets to the U.S. DOD's Soldler
Protection System. We alsa offer a fuil range of bump protection and ballistic hefmets for military and first responder customers,

Fo0

Developed for the First Respander market, the F0
Ballistic Helmet features the perfect combination
of performance and lightweight materials atan
econcmical price point. Innovative ‘No Thru-Hole’
technology for mounting accessories increases the
shell’s effective protection area.

EXFIL Ballistic SL

The EXFIL Ballistic SL features a lightweight
composite shell providing 2 15% weight reduction
over the criginal EXFIL Ballistic while offering the
same unique EXFIL shell geometry for an optimal fit

N4g

The N49 Ulrra Light Weight Ballistic Helmet is for
operators who need to have the ability to move

faster, wear for longer periods with comfort and
have optimal ballistic protection.

EXFILLTP

The EXFIL LTP {Lightweight, Tactical, Polymer) bump
helmet provides impact protection and a stable,
comfortable platform for mounting night vision and
other accessories.

LINER AND RETENTION SYSTEMS

CAM FIT Retention System

The CAM FIT Retention System uses a
micra-adjustable BOA Fit System that stabilises
the weight of the helmet by distributing light,
even pressure around the head.

Zorbium Action Pad (ZAP)
7-Pad NSN Liner System

Since 2005, the ZAP 7-Pad NSN Liner System

is the standard issue system authorised for

use in ali US. Army, U.5. Marine Corps and U.S,
Navy ground combat helmets. Team Wendy has
supplied more than seven million pad sets since
the programme’s inception.

IHPS

The Integrated Head Protection System {IHPS)
is one of four major components of the LS.
Army's Soldier Protection System. The IHPS
provides lightweight and high-performance
head protection to U.S. soldiers.

SAR Backcountry

The Team Wendy SAR is the first purpose-built
search and rescue helmert to provide accessory
mounting capabilities while meeting key industrial
and mountaineering performance standards.

EPIC Air Liner System

The EPIC Alr design utilises Team Wendy's proven
Zorbiurm feam technology, offering leading-edge
impact protection without adversely affecting
weight or heat dissipation.
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Product Portfolio continued

HEAD PROTECTION

OUR HEAD PROTECTION
PORTFOLIO IS FOCUSED ON
NEXT-GENERATION BALLISTIC
HELMETS AND BUMP PROTECTION
HELMETS, AS WeLL AS HELMET
LINER AND RETENTION SYSTEMS.

LINER &
RETENTION
SYSTEMS

HELMETS
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RESPIRATORS

We are a global supplier of respirators specifically designed to meet the latest military user requirements. Leveraging this military
pedigree, we have developed respirators for first responders that also require a range of CBRN and riot control protection.

C50

The €50 mask is based on the M50 and offers high
protection, cutstanding field of vision, and superior
comfort. The C50is the leading mask used by U.S.
law enforcement agencies. The innovative design
reduces burden and allows the user to stay focused
on the mission,

POWERED AND SUPPLIED AIR

M50 and FM50

The M50 and FM50 masks are the most advanced
military generai service respiratory protection
masks to date, offering significant improvement
in comfort, usability, operational effectiveness
and protection.

Designed for specialist capabilities, cur

M53A1

The M53A% is designed to meet the unigue
requirements of military and law enforcement
Special Mission Units while providing the maximum
operational flexibility, delivering positive pressure
SCBA, PAPR and negative pressure capability. All

of these capabilities ate available from one mask
platfarm without the need to change components.

SPARES AND ACCESSORIES

We offer service support to global customers

complementary value-added sub systems
extend operational capability. Our range of
Powered Air Purifying Respirators {PAPR),
Self-Contained Breathing Apparatus (SCBA)
ar a combination of the two {C5-PAPR) can
ke deployed with our respirators to previde
clean breathable air.

UNDERWATER

Qur MCM100 s a fully closed circuit,
electronically controlled, mixed gas
rebreather suitable for arange of specialist
military or tactical diving disciplines, such
as mine clearance or explosives disposal.

through replacement filters, spares and
accessories, providing through-life suppert
to our range of respiraters and other life
sustaining equipment.

€SCAPE HOODS

Qur range of escape hoods, including the
new CH15 escape hood, provide portable
protection. The ultra-low profile makes them
more cenvenient to carry and enhances the
range of respiratory protection available 1o
escape a hostile situation,
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Product Portfolio

RESPIRATORY PROTECTION
OUR LEADING RANGE OF
RESPIRATORY PROTECTION
INCLUDES RESPIRATORS,
POWERED AND SUPPLIED AIR
SYSTEMS, FILTERS, SPARES
AND ACCESSORIES.

RESPIRATORS

SPARES &
ACCESSORIES

POWERED &
SUPPLIED AIR
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2021 Annual revenue opportunity for ballistic helmets and respiratory protection

R

Source: Company estimares.
Bukble size indicates revenue potennal in 2021

* Excluding non-addressable countnes sach as China, Russia and lran Also excludes nen-ballistic helmets, helmet

in First Responder markets*

accessones, body warn aimar, flat armor, filters, accessones, nderwater diving eguipment and escape hoods,

Link to our strategy

Growing the core

Ilncreased geographic presence

Team Wendy has increased our geograph'c
footprint from our leading U S market
pasitian via poth 1ts distributor and direct
sa es chanmels. "ar example, wins this year
in¢lude the supply of ball stic helmets

and covers 1o te Brazilian Fede-al Police
Department

Understanding sub-group
requirements

Soecialist federal and state crisis response
teams for both bal'istic and CBIN scenar 0s,
SWAT, regular “once, Correctional Cfficers
and Searcn and Rescue teams are among
our Increasing number of frst responder
custorer groups.

Maintaining onge'ng dialogue with eacn of
these grouns and key sta<eholders allows
us 1o focus on provid.ng the best products
v'a the best routes to market available

Through-life support

Derand far f Iters and spares has remained
A1gn going Nt this year as we ensure first
responders are equipned to sa*eguard
themse'ves f-or ever-changing threats.
We engage with our custamers to deliver
mantenance and "aming which will
continue 1o provide sustainasle revenues
for t1e future

O

Selective product development

Continued expansion and investment
in our portfalio

Our broad vesoiratary and head pretect on
product porfalios have been exsanded
further to meet the growing needs of

first resoonders.

This year we aunched the CFP100
particulate filzer, the F9Q ballistic helmet
and the CHIS escape nood We also
enhanced the 5754 se f-contamed
breathing apparaius and are developng
a range of CERN boots and gloves,

the COVID-19 pandemic.

The NIOSH approved CFP100
particulate filter adapts proven
technology to create our lightest
filter canister to date, With the lowest
breathing resistance of any Avon
Protection filter, user comfort is
enhanced.

Agile product development

This year we launched the CFP100
particulate filter, in response to

the changing global operational
conditions and the increasing demand
for particulate protection as a result of

$30m

SOUTH AMERICA

$62m

APAC

$240m

TOTAL

545 m

559m

NOATH AMERICA

S44m

EURQPE

e

Value enhancing acquisitions

Strengthened brand recognition

For many yea's “eam Wendy has peen at the
farefront of traurratc brain injury prevent’on,
with tiner and -etention systerns, bumro
helmets and ballistic helmets

The Team Wendy and Avon Protection
brands are historica'ly known as beng in
different parzs of the markes, and therefore
comrplerrent each other within the Group
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First Responder
Market

nts 2021

Integrated soluticns

Similar to the trend in military, there
{5 Increasing demand for integrated
and more modular body protective
solutions to ensure equipment is
rmulti-mission compatible.

Qur recent launch of the Tactical

Mask Communications system that
interfaces between headset and mask
demonstrates cur commitment to
modular and integrated solutions.

wModularity and integration with other
perscnal protection products requires
and drives an increased need to partner
with or acquire other solution providers.

THE INCREASED THREAT POSED
BY TERRORISTS AND CIVIL UNREST
IS DRIVING DEMAND FOR MORE
ADVANCED RESPIRATORY AND

HEAD PROTECTION.

Multi-mission capability
Different missions require different
levels of equipment and protection
against the range of threats,

Terrorist attacks, civil unrest and
organised crime are multiplying the
risks of CBRN and ballistic threats.

First responder units increasingly
need to consider ballistic and CBRN
protection needs and the level to
which they require protection.

Adaptable products like our powered
and supplied air range allow users 1o
tailar protection depending on the
mission, which results in efficiencies
and mission flexibility.

Integrated systems typically worn by an end user

HELMET

LASER €YE
PROTECTION

AIR PURIFYING
RESPIRATOR
AND FILTERS

SHROUD

LINER.&-

Evolving routes to market

First responders are increasingly
requiring levels of protection historically
assaciated with military applications.

Such highly specialised equipment is
increasingly being awarded in joint
first responder and military umbrella
contracts, providing procurement
access for first responders.

An example of this joint working is the
NATO framewaork, which provides first
responders with access to our advanced
respiratory portfolio.

RETENTION
SYSTEMS

COMMUNICATIONS

w There were over
5,000 pandemic-

related incidents
that involved
violence ranging
from violent
demonstrations
and riots to
targeted physical
assauft” §Jy

* Global pandemic

POWERED AIR
PURIFYING statistics measured
RESPIRATOR between January

2020 and April 2021
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2021 Annual revenue opportunity for ballistic helmets and respiratory protection

T

Saurce-Lompany estimates
Bubble size indicates revenue patential in 2621

* Excluding non-addressable countnes sach as China, Russia and Iran_ Also excludes non-ballistic helmers, helmet

in Military markets*

accessones, body worn armar, flat armor, filters, accessones, underwater diving equipment and escape hoods,

Link to our strategy

Growing the core

Technology platforms

The US. remmaing the world's .argest and most
sophisticated market, allowing us 1o retain
our product market-leadmg BasItons, This
technology is then used to expand our reach
wit rest of wor d customers.

Leveraging existing market positioning

This year we expanded cur sales 1o slx European
countries through the NATO “rarmewor < contract

Respiratory contract wins often create an
opportunity for sales of consumabile products
such as filters, snares and accessores.

Diversifying customer base

We continue 10 pursue large multi-year
replacemenst and upgrade prograTirnes with
NATO and Five Eyes countres, such as Team
Wendy's supp vy of ballist ¢ herrets to the
Austradan Defence =orce

of National Defence.

9

Selective product development

Demand driven innovation

We canunue to engage with our customers to
ensure gut development pipeline meerts their
exacung perfarmance requirerents

We have addressed customer needs with Team
Wendy's EXFIL Maritime L'ner, development

of the FM&]1 filter, the CH15 Escane Hood, and
numerous develcprrents wthin the rest of our
product range, such as tne MCM100 and the
nex-generation HPS Team Wendy has a'so

contribured to 1.5 DOD funded research projects

exoioting innovative he met ing"sout'ons 1o
reduce traurrazic brain injury.

Wendy supplied helmets at their

facility. ADF is among the government

forces in more than 55 allied nations

worldwide that wear Team Wendy
helmet systems, including the U.S.

Department of State, Brazilian Federal
Police and the Canadian Department

Ongoing customer relationships

During the year, Team Wendy received
a two-year extension on its initial
five-year contract with the Australian
Defence Force (ADF) for the EXFIL
Ballistic helmet. Team Wendy's partner
in Australia, Aquaterro, also won a
five-year contract to refurbish Team

$16m

SGUTH AMERICA

’
3595m

TOTAL

S62m
s213m

EUROPE

S] 22m

AFAC

$'1 82m

NORTH AMERICA

The 10-year NATO
framework contract provides
access to a significant portion
of the current addressable
respirator market. Wi

e

Value enhancing acquisitions

Increasing our reach

There are numerous techno’ogical and
geographica adjacencies that Avon Protection
considers as part of our [anger-terr strategy

The collaborat’on between Avon Pratection
and Tearm Wendy on tne IHPS shaws the
value of combining high-quaity portfolios to
delwver next-generation e critical persona
protection equpmert.
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Military Market

nts 2021

Evolving CBRN threats

The conunued rise of asymmetric
conflicts and access to new
technologies keep increasing the
complexity in defending against
Chemical, Biological, Radiclogical,
Nuclear (CBRN} threats.

Democratisation of cyber tools,
synthetic biology, unmanned aerial
vehicles and 3D printing all render
access and delivery of potentially
lethal substances more accessible,
which requires CBRN protection
equipment to evolve at pace, and
equipment rates to increase.

Increased integration

Various add-on equipment and
soldier upgrades require modular
compatibility to ensure multi-mission
soldier readiness.

Modernisation is enabling an increase
in systern modularity and integration
at the component level.

We are well placed to support
the integration of personal CBRN,
respiratory and head protection
given our leading positions and
strong portfolios in these fields,

Integrated systems typically worn by an end user

CONMMUNICATIONS

SHROUD
HELMET

LINER &

RETENTION
SYSTEMS
LASER €YE
PROTECTION

AIR PURIFYING
RESPIRATOR
AND FILTERS

SELF-CONTAINED
BREATHING APPARATUS

AS GLOBAL SECURITY
THREATS CONTINUE TO
EVOLVE, NEXT-GENERATION
PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT WILL

NEED TO BE DEVELOPED,
INCREASING DEFENCE AND
SECURITY SPENDING.

Reducing equipment weight

As part of modernisation programmes
soldiers must load various helmet
accessories such as headsets and night
vision goggles. This adds weight to
conventional soldier systems and has
a direct impact on soldiers’ maobility
and effectiveness.

We work closely with militaries to
address weight relicf and distribution.
By using lighter materials and
suspension in our helmets to enhance
weight distribution, we continue

1o reduce the weight burden.

w Soldiers are often
required to carry
heavy loads that can
exceed 45kg.

Increases in load
weight have been
found to reduce
endtrance time and
increase the energy
cost of walking and

running. 9y

POWERED AIR

PURIFYING

RESPIRATOR



"Our leading technology
and product offering,
together with a strong
pipeline of opportunities,
underpin our confidence
in our future growth

prospects. §§
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Strategic review of armor

On 12 Novermnber 2021 we announced that our next-generation
body armor product, known as VTP ESAPI, had failed first article
testing. We also anncunced that, while we had successfully passed
ballistic testing for the legacy body armor product, known as

DLA ESAP). we were experiencing further delays 1o achieving final
approval for this product. This would push expected revenues into
the third quarter rather than the previously anticipated second
guarter of FY22.

As a result, the Board has conducted an in-depth strategic review
of the armor business. The best interests of all stakeholders, and
in particular our customers and employees in addition to our
shareholders, have been at the core of our dedsion-making.

We have concluded that continuing the body armor business

and re-developing the VTP ESAPI product is notin the best
interests of our stakeholders as a whole, given the lack of certainty
of obtaining product approval and a return on our investment

As such, the Board has concluded that we should undertake an
orderly wind-down of the body and flat armor businesses aver
the next twe years. In the short-term, we will continue to operate
the business In order to fulfil our contractual obligations.

Dividend

The Board considers the dividend to be an important component
of shareholder returns and as such has a policy to deliver 3
progressive dividend year-on-year, reducing dividend cover
towards two times. Notwithstanding the headwinds the Group
has faced this year and the effect this has had on the financial
results, the Board is pleased to be recommending an increased
final dividend of 30.6 U.S. cents per share, making a total dividend
for the year of 449 U.5. cents per share, which is a 30% increase
on the previous year. This is in line with our pohicy and reflects
our confidence in the outlook for the Group.

Sustainability

As a Board we recognise the growing expectations of our
stakeholders on sustainability and our ESG credentials and as such
this is a key area of focus for the Board during 2022 This report
cohtains a summary of some of the excellent work already being
done in this area across the Group and an explanation of how

we intend to create and deliver our net zero plan, which will be
published in detail this time next year.

Health, safety and wellkeing of our people

Protecting the health, safety and wellbeing of our people remained
a key priority in 2021. All of our sites maintained the stringent
processes and guidelines that were first introduced in early 2020

10 ensure our sites remained safe working environments, and i

am pleased to say that all sites have remaned open throughout
the year. Positive COVID-19 cases have been deah with effectively
without putting the wider workforce at risk. At the time of writing,
we are in the process of implementing a mandatory vaccination
programme across our LLS, sites pursuant to the U.S. Government
vaccine rmandate for federal contractors.

During the year, the Board also established a Globa!l Employee
Advisory Forum as its employee engagement mechanism

in preference to nominating a Nen-Executive Director as

the employee engagement director. This has generated a
significant increase in dialogue between the Board and the
Group's employees. We have received valuable feedback on
the issues faced by employees on a day-to-day basis and their
views on various topics, including the guality of management
communication and the way we have dealt with the pandemic.

Governance and the Board

The Board remains committed to the highest standards of
corporate governance and continues to actively moniter the
effectiveness of our governance processes throughout the Group.
In 2021 we centinued to repaort against the 2018 UK. Corporate
Governance Code.

There have been various changes to the Board during the year.
Victar Chavez CBE was appointed to the Board as Non-Executive
Director on 1 December 2020 and has brought significant skills
and experience of the defence sector, Pim Vervaat stepped
dowr from the Board at the 2021 AGM and was succeeded as
Audit Committee Chair by Bindi Foyle. Chloe Ponsonby was
appointed Senior independent Director. The Board therefore
currently comprises twa Executive Directars, three independent
Non-Executive Directors and myself as Chair.

As announced to shareholders on 25 May 2021, after what will

be approaching five years in the role, our CFO Nick Keveth will
retire from the Board on or before the end of March 2022 The
recruitment process to find Nick's replacement is described in the
Nomination Committee report on page 69 and we expect 1o be
in a position to update shareholders on Nick’s replacement on or
before the date of the AGM 1n January.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board held all mestings
remotely until July 2021, when in-person Board meetings resumed.,
Despite this challenge, | helieve the Board adapted well to meeting
remotely and continued to perform effectively. We conducted

an internal Board performance evalyation this year and remain
confident that the Board continues to operate to high standards

as a cohesive body with a good balance of support and challenge.
Full details of this year's evaluation are contained in the Governance
section of this Annual Report.

Looking ahead to 2022 with confidence

Despiie the challenges of 2021, we are confident that we have
taken decisive action to re-focus the Group and to protect our
growth trajectory. The year ahead will be one of transition,

but with a strong opening order bock and a good pipeline

of new oppartunities, we expect our core respiratory and head
protection business to deliver growth in FY22 and remain
confident in the medium and long-term prospects for a
re-focused Avon 2rotection.

-
o
MR/

Bruce Thompson
Chair

14 December 2021
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Chair’s Statement

Significant progress has been
made against our strategic
objectives in strengthening
and refocusing the business
to secure medium and
long-term growth. "

| RECOGNISE THAT THIS HAS BEEN

A CHALLENGING YEAR FOR ALL OF

OUR STAKEHOLDERS AND ON BEHALF
OF THE BOARD | WOULD LIKE ONCe
AGAIN TO THANK OUR EMPLOYEES FOR
THEIR DEDICATION, PROFESSIONALISM
AND CONTINUED COMMITMENT TO

THE BUSINESS.

Since taking on the role of Chair in Decemnber 2020, | have
continued to spend ume getting t¢ know the business and its
people. Due to the imitations on travel to the U.S.in 2021 | have
been unable o physically visit any of our US. sites and this remains
a top priority for me and the rest of the Board as restrictions ease
gaing inta 2022, Despite this, | have met face to face with our
U.S-based executives and as a Board we have been able to
maintain close contact with the senicr leadership teams.

Strategy and results

At Avon Protection, our purpose is clear - to protect pecple by
relentlessly advancing the future of protection. We achieve this by
focusing on the customers’ needs and developing next-generation
technologies and solutions that enhance their performance, efficiency
and capability whilst providing ever increasing levels of pretection.

To deliver this purpose and create value for all our stakehaolders,
our strategy has three main elements, Firstly, we grow the core by
leveraging our existing product portfolio to widen our customer
base. Secondly, we invest selectively in new product development
te maintain our leadership in innovation and finally we aim to
extend our business capabilities and accelerate our organic
growth through carefully selected, value enhancing acquisitions.

2021 has been a challenging year and our financial results have
not shown the progress that we had initially expected. While arder
growth has been very streng, this has not translated into revenue
and profit growth, due principally 1o delays in product approvals
in our body armor business (see below), but also delays in receipt
of customer orders, supply chain disruption and a tight U.S.

labour market.

However, significant progress has been made against our
strategic objectives in strengthening the core respiratory and
head protection business to secure medium and long-term
growth. Record levels of investment have been made during
the year in new product development, [T systems and senior
managemeant bench strength. We enter the new financial year
with a fundamentally stronger and re-focused business, well
positioned 1o maximise the significant opportunities,



[

Organic sales growth

3%+

Through a focus on innovative products
designed for global growth markets we
target 3%-+p.a. organic revenue growth

S

Strong cash generation

90%-+

Our objective of delivering
adjusted EBITDA cash conversion of 90% or
more provides the cash flow to fund
our growth strategy

| /N

Dividend growth

Under our pragressive dividend policy, we expect to
centinue to grow dividends whilst maintaining a cover
of two times adjusted earnings per share

There are significant
opportunities for both
military and first responder
customers across both

the respiratory and head
product portfolios to drive
sustainable growth over the
medium-term, "

Value enhancing acquisitions

Wa are targeting carefully selected, value

....13

Attractive EBITDA margins

20%+

Using our proprietary product expertise to develep
market leading products, we target sustainable
adjusted EBITDA margins of greater than 20%

enhancing acquisitions to complement
our organic growth



Why Invest in Avon Protection

WE HAVE A CLEAR
STRATEGY TO
GENERATE
LONG-TERM
GROWTH




At the forefront
of traumatic brain
injury prevention

Team Wendy is a global leading manufacturer of head protection systems that
also undertakes cutting-edge research to deepen our understanding
of the brain and improve traumatic brain injury (TBI) prevention methods.
These innovative efforts include the design and adaptation of novel batlistic
helmet [iner materials with the understanding of how they can be optimised
to limit rrauma.

In 2017, Feam Wendy joined the prestigious PANTHER program - &
partnership between several groups that is funded by the U S Office of
Naval Research (ONR) — with the goal of quantifying celiular injury thresholds
for T8I Furthermore, 1T aims to optimise helmet testing and design
methodologies around those thresholds. The exact causes of brain injury are
still unknown, and there is no firm cellular injury threshold established for T8I
cause or prediction.

Phase one of PANTHER concluded in FY21 and Team Wendy engineers
led experiment execution. Research findings were featured at the 2019
Military Health System Research Symposium and a paper published in
Military Medicine in September 2021, The paper provides a scientific basis
for combat helmet test requirements to Include rotational impact tests to
account for cellular injury thresholds. The additional data would improve
the test’s conception of T8l caused by severe head impacts.

Currently, military combat helmets are evaluated by linear acceleration
thresholds, which onginated from skull fracture prediction. The study
exarmined predicted brain cell damage in both linear and rotational impact
scenarios to assess how much brain tissue stretches, and how quickly,
upon colfision. In its exploration of cellular injury levels, the team found that
Iinear tests do not fully convey the tissue stresses and strains indicated in
retational tests.

The PANTHER program continues 1o investigate what brain cells can
withstand and further refine testing models to improve protection

standards. ONR has approved continued funding for PANTHER thraugh
2024, Team Wendy will use data from the prograrm and independent
testing to better understand how cellular injury originates and, armed

with this knowledge, ultimately hopes to develop new materials and
helmet designs with unprecedented impact protection.

PANTHER PROGRAM

S/9m

received by the pragram in new

grants during 2021
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Demonstrating our Purpose continued

TARGETED

We set a clear strategy,
identifying key priorities and
the resources we require for
success — and then work to
make this a reality to grow
and evolve.
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Innovation at the
front end

We understand that the technology we develop niot only protects
pecple, but also enhances thelr performance, efficiency and capability,
allowing them to excel, whatever the mission may be.

With selective product development as one of the core pillars of our
strategy, our product development programmes span the short (one
year), mid {three year) and long (five+ years) term, 50 we maintain
and evolve our product portfolio and provide a breader range with
increasing protection for our customers.

To push boundaries further, we have a dedicated ‘Futures’ team to
engage in blue sky thinking to go beyend the art of the possible and
create cancepts that no one has thought of before.

By combining insights from next-generation technology, market trends
and drivers as well as the needs and requirements of our customers, we
continue to invest in the future technology to retain our competitive
edge and leading market positions.

The MCM100 is the perfect example of this approach in acticn. Our
MCMI00 underwater rebreather is specialist equipment for long
endurance and deep dive operations. The system ensures maximum
user capabifity during a range of military or tactical diving disciplines,
such as mine clearance or explosive disposal.

The MCM100 has epened up a significant number of new opportunities
with the U.S, and Rest of World Militaries, We have had an active year of
dive trials and supplied a number of evaluation units, which has enabled
us to demonstrate our leading next-generation technolegy to this
dermanding user group of military divers.

TOTAL R&D AS A PERCENTAGE
OF REVENUE

/./%

{2020:5.5%)

INVESTMENT IN NEW PRODUCT
DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

ST19.1T million

(2020: $11.8 millionj
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Demonstrating our Purpose continued

FEARLESS

We are the leaders in our field,
pushing the boundaries of what
others think is possible.
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Adapting to
customer needs

Capability and threats are always evolving. We are continuously working with
our customers worldwide to ensure we design, develop and defiver world
leading solutions so they always have the right protection available no matter
the threat.

This year we launched the F80 ballistic helmet, which was developed for
the first responder market and rest of world miiitaries, featuring lightweight
material with exceptional performance at an economical price point.

Team Wendy and Avon Pratection collaborated on the development of
the FA0, which 1s our first combined comrmercial helmet. Through this
collaboration, the F90 helmet combines the Ceradyne helmet shell forming
capabilities and Team Wendy's liner and retention system capabilities.

Ceradyne’s proprietary helmet shell forming and moulding technology
generates exceptional performance in the F90 through high-tech, innovative
lightweight material that assists in reducing operational fatigue. For
enhanced ballistic integrity, their innovative ‘Na Thru-Hole' technology
allows far the attachment of accessories to the ballistic helmet shell without
bolt holes penetrating through the ballistic material.

Team Wendy's EPIC Air liner system utilises their Zorbium foam technology,
offering leading-edge impact protection whilst their CAM FIT retention
system stabilises the weight of the helmet by distributing light, even pressure
around the head.

integration is at the core of our capability, and the F90 has been designed

to integrate seamlessly with ancillary equipment such as the respirator and
other head systerns. This approach to integration between soldier equipment
provides the user with the highest level of performance and protection
whilst still maintaining operational agility.

COMPOSITION

1009%

ballistic material

WE

>I1é %

lighter than the ACH helmet
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7.5 Related party transactions

Except in respect of the defined benefit pension scheme there were no related party transactions during the year or outstanding at
the end of the year (2020: 5nil). Transactions with the defined benefit pension scheme are disclosed in note 6.2, Key management
compensaticn is disclosed in note 6.1,

7.6 Post balance sheet events

Qn 12 November 2021 the Group anncunced the next-generation VTP ESAP! body armor product had failed first article testing. This
followed a similar resultin December 2020 for the legacy DLA ESAPI body armor product. It was also announced that the Group is
experiencing further delays in achieving final product approval for the DLA ESAPI product following the successful completion of ballistic
testing in August 2021, thereby pushing expected revenues from the second quarter intc the third quarter of FY22. As a result, the Board
conducted an in-depth strategic review of the armor business.

The failure of the VTP ESAPI body armor product is considered an adjusting event that provides evidence of conditions that existed at the
end of the reporting period on the basis that the product was in its current condition for testing at the reporting date. As such the Group
performed an impairment review of assets at 30 September 2021 removing all future revenue for VTP ESAPI body armor. The review also
incorporated reduced revenyue expectations for DLA ESAPI in line with minimum volumes for the base and two extension years, given
the identified uncertainty of timing of the approval following the already experienced delays during FY21, and uncertainty over whether
the customer would extend the contract. The DLA revenue assurmed reflects the Group's expectations at 30 September 2021, and is not
refated 1o post balance sheet events.

The review resulted in total non-current asset impairments of $45.1 million in respect of assets relating to the armor business acquired
from 3M a5 part of the ballistic protection acquisition. In addition, inventory provisions of $1.7 million were recognised against VTP ESAPI
armor materials. Offsetting these charges, a gain of $15.7 million was recognised to reduce the net present value of the contingent
consideration payable to 3M as a result of the reduced revenue expectations from the DLA ESAPI body armor contract.

The strategic review of the armor business concluded it is in the best interests of our stakeholders as a whole to undertake an crderly
wind-down of trading. As a result the Group expects 1o incur net cash costs of clesure and right-sizing the retained crganisation of
between $3 to 55 million over the next two years. Given the strategic review concluded after the reporting period it is considered

a non-adjusting event, and the provision for closure costs will therefore ke charged in the 2022 financial year as an exceptional item.
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Parent Company Balance Sheet

At 30 September 2021
2021 2020
Note £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets e
Tangible assets 4 4.5 38
Intangible assets 5 - 0.8
Investments in subsidiaries e <] 191.0 137
Deferred tax assets 7 2.5 28
B 198.0 1211
Current assets .
Trade and other receivables 8 20 583
{Cash and cash eguivalents 5.2 735
72 131.8
Liabilities o
Current liabilities o
Borrowings o 1 05 315
Trade and other payables 9 72 232
77 54.7
Net current {liakilities)/assets o 0.5 771
Non-current liabilities o
Borrowings " 54 39
Provisions for liabilities and charges 10 15 15
69 74
Net assets 1906 1908
Shareholders’ equity
Ordinary shares 13 310 310
Share premium account #7347
Capital redemption reserve L 0.5 05
Retained earnings 124.4 1246
Total equity 190.6 190.8

The Company has elected to take the exemption under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to present the Company profit and
loss account. The profit for the Company for the year was £12.6 million (2020: profit of £58.5 milllion).

These financial staterments on pages 160 to 168 were approved by the Board of Directors on 14 December 2021 and signed on its
behalf by:

A A 'S

Paul McDonald Nick Keveth
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer



Financial
Statements

Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 September 2021

A -

Capital
Share Sr!are redemption Hedging Retained Total
capital premium reserves reserve earnings equity
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 30 September 2019 31,Q 347 0.5 (Q,?) 70.2 1357
Profit for the year 1 - - - - 585 58.5
Dividends paid 2 - - - - {7.0) (7.0
Own shares acquired. 3 - - - - . -
Fair value of share-based payments 13 - - ) - - 18 1.8
Ceferred tax relating te employee share
schemes 7 - - - - 11 1.1
Cash flow hedges - - - 02 - 02
Deferred tax relating on cash flow hedges 7 - - - 0.2} - 0.2
At 30 September 2020 310 347 0.5 - 1246 1908
_Profitfor the year 1 - - - - 126 126
Dividends paid 2 - - - - (87) 8.7
Cwn shares acquired 3 B - - - (30 [EAM
Fair value of share-based payments 13 - - - - 0.4 04

Deferred tax relating to employee share
schemes 7 - - - - (14} (1.4)

At 30 September 2021 31.0 347 05 - 124.4 1906
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Parent Company Accounting Policies
For the year ended 30 September 2021

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation

of these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
ctherwise stazed.

Basis of preparation

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with
Financia! Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework
{'FRS 101°). In preparing these financial statemients, the Company
applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements
of international accounting standards in confarmity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (‘Adopted IFRSs'), but
makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with
Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage

of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

- presentation of a cash flow statement and related notes (IAS 7)

- comparative period reconciliations for share capital and
intangible and tangible fixed assets (paragraph 38, A5 1)

transactions with wholly owned subsidiarics (1AS 24)
« capital management (paragraph 134-136, 1AS 1)
share-based payments (paragraph 45(b) and 46 to 52, IFRS 2)

« finandcial instruments 4FRS 7}

+ compensation of key management personnel
(paragraph 17, 1AS 24)

« fair value measurement (paragraph 91-99, IFRS 13)

+ leases {paragraph 90-93, IFRS 10)

- the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

+ the requirements of paragraph 18A of |AS 24 Related
Party Disclosures

Where reguired, equivalent disclosures are given in the Group
financial statements.

Foreign currencies

The Company’s functional currency is sterling as this is the currency
of the primary economic erwironment in which the Company
operates. Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the
exchange rate ruling on the date of ransaction. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the setttement of such transacuons,
and frem the retranslation at year end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the profit and loss account.

Pensions

The Group operated a contributory defined benefits plan to
provide pension and death benefits for the emplovees of Avon
Protection plc and its Group undertakings in the UK. employed
prior to 31 January 2003, The scheme is closed 1o new entrants
and was closed 1o future accrual of benefits from 1 October 2009,
Scheme assets are measured using market values, while liabilities
are measured using the projected unit methed. One of the
Company’s subsidiaries, Avon Palyrmer Products Limited is

the employer that s legally responsible for the scheme and

the pension obligations are included in full in its accounts.

No asset or provision has been reflected in the Company's
balance sheet for any surpius or deficit arising in respect of
pension obligations.

The Company also provides pensions by contributing to defined
contribution schemes. The charge in the profitand loss account
reflects the contributions paid and pavable o these schemes
during the period. Full disclosures of the UK. pension schemes
have neen provided in the Group financial statements,

Share-based payment

The Company operates a number of equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised

as an expense. The total amount 1o be expensed over the

vesting peried is determined by reference 1o the fair value of the
options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets).
Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of options that are expected to vest, At cach balance
sheet date, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision
to original estimates, if any, in the profit and loss account, The
proceeds received net of any directly attibutable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal vafue] and share premium
when the options are exercised.

Intangible assets

Computer software is included in intangible assets at cost and
amortised over its estimated life of three 1o seven years.

Impainment charges are made if there is significant doubt as to
the sufficiency of future economic benefits to justify the carrying
values of the intangible assets based upon discounted cash flow
projections using an appropriate risk weighted discount factor.

Plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accdmulated depreciation ard any recognised imoairment losses.

Costs include the criginal purchase price of the asset and the
costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition
for its intended use including any qualifying finance expenses.

Depreciation is provided estimated to write down the depreciable
amount of relevant assets by equal annual instalments over their
estimated useful lives.

In general, the lives used are;
« Leasehold property - period of lease agreement

The residual vaiues and useful lives of the assets are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if its carrying amount 1S greater than its
estimated net realisable value. Gains and losses on dispasal are
determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts



Leases

Right of use assets and lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the contract for all leases conveying
the right to control the associated asset for a period of time.

The right of use assets are initally measured at cost, which
comprises the initial measurement of the lease liability plus an
estimate of dilapidation provisions (note 11) where required.
Subsequently the right of use assets are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation, any accumulated impairment losses
and adjusted far any re-rmeasurement of the lease liability.

Depreciation s calculated on a straight-line basis over the lifc of the
lease. In general the lives used are:

- Leasehold property - period of the lease

The lease liability is inftially measured at the present value of the
lease payments due over the life of the lease. The lease payments
are discounted at the rate implicit in the lease orif that is not readily
determined using the Company's incremental borrowing rate.

The lease term is determined with reference to any non-cancellable
period of lease contracts plus any periods covered by an option

to extend/terminate the lease if it is considered reasonably certain
that the option will Awill not be exercised. In concluding whether

or notit is reasonably certain an option will be exercised for new
leases management has considered the three-year strategic
outlook for the Group and other operational factors.

Subsequently the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying value to reflect interest on the liability and reducing the
carrying value to reflect lease payments made.

The carrying value of lease liabilities and associated assets will
be re-measured to reflect any changes to the lease or other
assumptions applied.

The Company is a lessee and does not act as lessor.

Investments in subsidiary undertakings

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are recorded at cost plus
incidental expenses less any pravision for impairment. Impairment
reviews are performed by the Directors when there has been an
indication of potential impairment.

Deferred taxation

Because of the differences between accounting and taxable
profits and losses reported in each period, temporary differences
arise on the amount certain assets and liabilities are carried

at for accounting purposes and their respective tax values.
Deferred tax is the amount of tax payable or recoverable on
these temporary differences.

Financial
Statements

Deferred tax liabilities arisc where the carrying amount of an asset
is higher than the tax value {maore tax deduction has been taken).
This can happen where the Company invests in capital assets,

as governments often encourage investment by allowing tax
depreciation to be recognised faster than accounting depreciation,
This reduces the tax value of the asset relative to its accounting
carrying amount. Deferred tax liabilities are generally provided on
all taxable temporary differences. The pericds over which such
temporary differences reverse will vary depending on the life of
the related asset or liability.

Neferrad tav assets arise where the carrying amount of an asset is
lower than the tax value (less tax benefit which has been taken).
Deferred tax assets are recognised only where the Company
considers it probable that it will be able to use such losses by
offsetting them against future taxable profits.

However the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or hability in 2 transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the enacted or substantively
enacted rates that are expected to apply when the asset s realised
or the liability is settled.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are classified as measured at amortised
cost. The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured at amortised costs. Loss
allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash eguivalents include cash at bank and in hand,
highly liguid interest-bearing securities with maturities of three
months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown
within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

Trade payables

Trade payables are abligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers.

Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment
is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities. They are initially recognised at fair value and
subseguently held at amortised cost.
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Provisions

Provisions are recagnised when:

+ the Company has a legal or constructive obligation as a result
of a past event
itis probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated

Where there are a number of similar obligations, for example
where a warranty has been given, the likelihood that an outflow
will be required in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole, A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligation may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initiatly at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred and subsequently stated at amortised cost.
Borrowing costs are expensed using the offective interest method.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability in the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by shareholders, while intenm dividends are recogrised
in the period i1 which the dividends are paid.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
eguity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where the Company purchases its own share capital {treasury
shares) through employee share ownership trusts, the
consideration paid, including any directly attnbutable incremental
costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from shareholders’ funds
until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where

suUch shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction
costs and the related income tax effects, is included in
shareholders' funds.



Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 September 2021

1 Parent Company

As a Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income is published, a separate profit and loss account for the Parent Company is
omitted from the accounts by virtue of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. The Parent Cempany's profit for the financial year

was £12.6 million (2020: £58.5 million).

The audit fec in respect of the Parent Company i$ set out in note 2.5 1 the Group financial statements,

2 Dividends

Details of the Company’s dividends are set outin note 5.6 to the Group financial statements.

3 Employees

The tatal remuneraticn and associated costs during the year were,

2021 2020

£m £m

Wages and salaries 46 5.0
Social security costs 07 0.5
Other pension costs 02 0.2
Share-based payments 05 1.4
6.0 71

Detailed disclosures of Directors’ remuneration and share options, including disclosure of the highest paid Director, are given on page 87

1090

The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors) during the year was 56 (2020: 44), all of whom were classified

as administrative staff.

4 Tangible assets
Right of use assets
£m
Cost _
_Ar1 October 2020 29
Additions 09
At 30 September 2021 108
Depreciation charge B
_AU1 October 2020 &1
Charge for the year 02
At 30 September 2021 63
Net book value
At 30 September 2021 45
AL 30 September 2020 38

Right of use assets relate to the Group’s leased properties.
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5 Intangible assets

Computer software
£m
Cost :
ALY October 2020 ] 1.0
Transfer to Group company (1.0
At 30 September 2021 ) -
Amortisation charge ) _
At 1 October 2020 ) 02
Transfer 1o Group company .2)
At 30 September 2021 ) -
Netbookvalue - - @
At 30 September 2021 -
At 30 Septermber 2020 08
6 Investments in subsidiaries
£m
Cost and net baok value
AT 1 October 2020 ) B 137
Additions ) ) 773
Disposals -
At 30 September 2021 191.0

During the year the Company made an additional cash investrment in Avon Protection Holdings Limited of £77.3 million to support the
funding of the Team Wendy acquisinon

The investments consist of a 100% (unless indicated as otherwise) interestin the following subsidiaries:

Country in which

Principal activity Registered office incorporated
Avon Polymer Products Limited The manufacture and distnbution Hampton Park West, Melksham, SN12 6NB, UK. UK
) i of respiratory protection systems 3 7 B _
_Awon Protection Holdings Limited  (nvestment company Hampton Park Wesrt, AMelksham, SN1Z6NB UK UK. _
Avon Rubber Pension Trust Limited  Pension Fund Trustee Hampton Park West, Melksham, SN126NB, UK UK,

Details of investments held by these subsidiaries are given in nate 74 to the Group financial statements.
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7 Deferred tax assets

Accelerated

Share capital Other Temporary
Options allowances Differences Total
£m £m £m £m
At 30 September 2019 ) 09 a1 04 14
(Charged)/credited to profit for the year 03 - 0.2 05
Charged to Other Comprehensive Income - - 10.2) 02
Charged to equity 1.1 - - 11
At 30 September 2020 23 01 04 28
{Charged)/credited to profit for the year A (01) 11 ~ 1.1
_Charged to Other Comprehensive Incame - - =
Charged to equity {14) - - (14}
At 30 September 2021 1.0 - 15 25
8 Trade and other receivables
2021 2020
£fm £m
Other receivables o - 0.2 1.7
Prepayrments 1.8 1.7
Amounts owed by Group undertakings - 549
20 583

Amounts due from Group undertakings in the prior period were unsecured and interest bearing with interest rates priced on the relevant
LIBROR plus a margin of 4.25-4.5%. The loans were repaid in the current year.

9 Trade and other payables

2021 2020

£m £m

Trade payables S _ 06 1.0
Accruals 17 65
Amounts due to Group undertakings 4.9 15.7
7.2 23.2

Amounts due to Group underiakings are unsecured, interest free, have na fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand.

10 Provisions for liabilities and charges

Property

cbligations

£m

Balance at 30 September 2019 1.6
Provision reversed during the year 0.1
Balance at 30 September 2020 . 15
Provision reversed during the year -
Balance at 30 September 2021 1.5
2021 2020

Analysis of total provisions £m £m
Non-current 1.5 15
1.5 1.5

Provisions relate to property obligations arising in relation to leased premises of the Company which are subject to dilapidation risks
and are expected 1o be utilised within the next 10 years. Property provisions are subject to uncertainty in respect of any final negotiated
settlement of any dilapidation claims with landlords.
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11 Borrowings

The Group has a revolving credit facility with a total commitments of $200 million across six lenders with an accordion option of an

additional $50 million, Further details regarding credit risks are disclosed in note 5.4 to the Group financial statements.

2021 2020
£m £m
Current
Bank loans - 30
Leas-e liabilities 0.5 05
Non Current } ]
_Lease liabilities 5.47 59
Total borrowings 59 374
The table below presents the contractual maturity analysis in respect of lease liabilities on an undiscounted basis:
As at As at
30September2021 30 September2020
£m £m
In one year or less, or on demand B 08 02
Two to five years 35 35
More than five years 53 6.2
Total lease liabilities a7 106

Lease liabilities relate to land and buildings (right of use assets) leased by the Company for its office space and manufacturing facilitics of

its trading subsidiaries. The leases typically run for a period of 9 years and have no extension options.

12 Share capital

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 5.5 to the Group financial statements.

13 Share-based payments

The Company operates an equity-settled share-based performance share plan (PSP), details of which are disclosed in note 63 tothe

Group finandial statements.



Notice of Annual General Meeting

Other
Information

THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take, you are recommended to seek your own financial advice from your bank
manager, stockbroker, solicitar, accountant or other independent financial adviser authorised under the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000. If you have sold or otherwise transferred all of your shares in Avon Protection ple (formerty known as Avon Rubber plic),
please forward this document, together with the accompanying documents, as scon as passible either to the purchaser or transferee
or to the person who arranged the sale or transfer 5o they can pass these documents to the person who now holds the shares.

Notice of Annual General Meeting for the year ended Resolution 11

30 September 2021

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting (AGM)

of shareholders of Avon Protection plc {fermerly known as Avon
Rubber p.l.c) (the ‘Company’) will be held at Hampton Park West,
Semington Road, Melksham, Wiltshire on 28 January 2022 at
10:30am for the purposes set cut below.

You will not receive a form of proxy for the AGM in the post.
Instead, you will receive instructions to enable you to vete
electronically and how to register to do so. You may requést a hard
copy proxy form directly from the registrars, Link Group, 10th Floor,
Central Square, 29 Wellington Street, Leeds, L51 40L {telephone
number: 0371 664 0300 or +44 371 664 0300 if overseas).

Ordinary business

To consider and, if thought fit, pass resolutions 1-12 (inclusive)
as Ordinary Resolutions:

Resolution 1

To receive the Company's accounts and the reports of the
Directors and the Auditors for the year ended 30 September 2021.

Resolution 2

To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report {other than
the part containing the Directars’ Remuneration Policy) for
the financial year ended 30 September 2021.

Resolution 3

To declare a final dividend of 30.6 US. cents per ordinary
share as recommended by the Directors.

Resolution 4

To re-elect Paul McDonald as a Director of the Coempany.
Resolution 5

To re-elect Nick Keveth as a Director of the Company.
Resolution 6

To re-clect Bruce Thompson as a Director of the Company.
Resolution 7

To re-elect Chloe Ponsonby as a Director of the Company.
Resolution 8

To re-elect Bindi Foyle as a Director of the Company.
Resclution §

To re-elect Victor Chavez CBE as a Director of the Company.
Resolution 10

To re-appoint KPMG LLP as auditer of the Company, to hold
office until the conclusion of the next general meeting at
which accounts are laid before the Company.

To authorise the Directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration.

Resolution 12

That, in accordance with sections 366 and 367 of the Companies
Act 2006 ('the Act'), the Company and all its subsidiaries during
the period for which this resolution has effect be and are hereby
authorised, in aggregate, ta:

{a) make political donations to political parties or to independent
election candidates not exceeding £100,000 in total;

(b} make political donations 1o political organisations (other than
poltical parties) not exceeding £100,000 in total; and

(<) incur any political expenditure not exceeding £100,000 in total,

during the period beginning with the date of the passing of this
resolution and ending at the close of business on 28 December
2022 or, if sooner, the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.
For the purpase of this resoluticn ‘political donatien’, ‘palitical
party’, ‘political organisation’, ‘independent election candidate’
and political expenditure’ are to be construed in accordance with
sections 363, 364 and 365 of the Act.

Special business

To consider and if thought fit, pass resolution 13 as an Ordinary
Resolution and resolutions 14 — 17 finclusive) as Special Resolutions:

Resolution 13

That in accordance with section 5571 of the Act, the Directors be
generally and unconditionally authorised to allot Relevant Securities
fas defined in the notes 1o this resolution) comprising equity
sequrities (as defined by section 560 of the Act) up to an aggregate
nominal amount of £10,341,097 but subject to such exclusions

or other arrangements as the Directors may deem necessary or
expedient in relation to treasury shares, fractional entitlements,
record dates, legal or practical problems in or under the laws of
any territory or the requirements of any regulatory body or stock
exchange, provided that this authority shall, unless renewed, varied
or revoked by the Company, expire on the date 15 months after
the date of this resolution or, if earlier, the date of the next AGM

of the Company save that the Company may, before such expiry,
make offers or agreements which would or might require Relevant
Securities 1o be allotted and the Directors may allot Relevant
Securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement notwithstanding
that the authority conferred by this resolution has expired.

This resolution revokes and replaces all unexercised autharities
previously granted ta the Directors to allot Relevant Securities
but without prejudice to any allotment of shares or grant of
rights already made, offered or agreed to¢ be made pursuant to
such autharities.
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Resolution 14

That, subject to the passing of resolution 13, the Directors be
authorised 1o allot equity securities (as defined by section 560 of
the Act) for cash under the authority conferred by that resolution
and/or to sell ordinary shares held by the Company as treasury
shares for cash, as if section 561 of the Act did not apply to any
such allotment or sale, provided that this power shall:

{a) be limited 1o the allotment of equity securities or sale of
treasury shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£1,551,164; and

{b) expire on the date 15 months after the date of this resolution
or, if earlier, the date of the next AGM of the Company (unless
renewed, varied or revoked by the Company prior to or on
that date) save that the Company may, before such expiry
make an offer or agreernent which would or might require
equity securities to be allotted (or treasury shares to be sold)
after such expiry and the Directers may allot equity securities
(or sell treasury shares) in pursuance of any such offer or
agreement notwithstanding that the power conferred by this
resolution has expired.

Resolution 15

That, subject to the passing of resolution 13, the Directors be
authorised, in addition to any authcrity granted under resolution
14, to allot equity securities {as defined by section 560 of the Act)
for cash under the authority conferred by that resolution and/
or to sell ordinary shares held by the Company as treasury shares
for cash, as if section 561 of the Act did not apply to any such
allotment or sale, provided that this power shall

{a) belimited 10 the allotment of equity securities or sale of
treasury shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£1,551,164;

{b) be used for the purpeases of financing (or refinancing, if the
authority is to be used within six months after the original
transacticn) a transaction which the Directors have determined
to be an acquisition or other capital investment of a kind
contemplated by the Staternent of Principles on Disapplying
Pre-Emption Rights most recently published by the Pre-
Empticn Group prior to the date of this Notice, and

(c) expire on the date 15 months after the date of This resolution
or, if earlier, the date of the next AGM of the Company (unless
renewed, varied or revoked by the Company prior to or on that
date) save that the Company may, before such expiry make
an offer or agreement which would or might require equity
securities te be allotted {or treasury shares to be sold) afrer
such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities
tor sell treasury shares) in pursuance of any such offer or
agreement notwithstanding that the power conferred
by this resoluticn has expired.

Resolution 16

That the Company be and s hereby unconditionally and generally
authorised for the purpose of section 701 of the Act to make
market purchases (within the meaning of section 633(4) of the
Act) of ardinary shares of £1 each in the capital of the Company
provided that:

{a) the maximum number cf shares which may be purchased is
3,102,329;

{b) the minimum price {excluding expenses) which may be paid
for each share is £1;

(c) the maximum price {excluding expenses) which may be paid
for cach ordinary share is an amount equal to the higher of:

(i) 105% (one hundred and five per cent) of the average of
the middle market quotations of the Company’s ordinary
shares as derived from the Daily Official List of the London
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the day on which such share is contracted to
be purchased:;

(i) the value of an ordinary share calculated on the basis of
the higher of the price quoted for the last independent
trade of and the highest current independent bid for any
number of the Company’s ordinary shares on the London
Stock Exchange Daily Official List at the time the purchase
is agreed; and

() this authority shali expire on the date 15 months after the
date of this resolution o, If earlier, the date of the next AGM
of the Company (except in relation 1o the purchase of shares
the contract for which was concluded before the expiry of
such authority and which might be executed wholly or partly
after such expiry) unless such authaority is renewed prior to
such time.

Resaolution 17

That a general meeting of the Company {other than an AGM),
may be ralled on not less than 14 clear days’ notice.

By order of the Board

Miles ingrey-Counter
General Counsel and Company Secretary



Explanatory notes relating to the resolutions

The Board believes that the adoption of resolutions 110 17 will
promote the success of the Company and is in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders as & whole. The Board
unanimously recommends that all sharcholders should vote

in favour of all the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM.

tach of the Directors of the Company intends to vote in favour
of all resolutions in respect of their own beneficial holdings.

Resolution 1 - Report and Accounts

The Directors are reguired by law to present to the AGM the
accounts, and the reports of the Directors and Auditors, for
the vear ended 30 September 2021. These are contained in
the Company's 2021 Annual Report.

Resolution 2 — Directors’ Remuneration Report

This resolution seeks shareholders” approval of the Directors’
Remuneration Report far the year ended 30 Septernber 2021
contained on pages 86 to 95 of the 2021 Annual Report. As

in previous years, the vate is advisary only and the Directars'
entitlement to remuneration is not conditional on it being passed.

Resolution 3 - Declaration of final dividend

A final dvidend can only be paid after the shareholders have
approved it at a general meeting. The Directors recommend that a
final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 30 September
2021 of 30.6 US. cents be paid. Subject to approval, the final
dvidend will be paid on 11 March 2022 to cligible shareholders
on the Company’s register of members at close of business on

11 February 2022 The dividend will be converied inte pound
sterling for payment at the prevailing exchange rate prior to
payment. The exchange rate will be notified to shareholders
through a Regutatory News Service in advance of the dividend
payment date.

Resolutions 4 to 9 — Re-appointment of Directors

Fach member of the Board has offered himself/herself for
election or re-election in accordance with best practice corporate
governance standards. The Board unanimously recommends that
they each be elected or re-elected as Directors of the Company.
The Chair confirms that each of the Non-Executive Directors who
are seeking re-election at the AGM continues te be an effective
member of the Board and 10 demaonstrate their commitment to
their rale. Chloe Pansonby in her capacity as Senior Independent
Director, has confirmed that Bruce Thompson is an effective Chair
and demenstrates commitment to his role as Chair.

Biographical details for each Director are set out on pages 62 and
63 of the 2021 Annual Report.

Resolutions 10 and 11 - Re-appointment of auditor
and authorisation for the Directors to set the auditor’s
remuneration

The Company is required to appoint an auditor at each general
meeting at which its accounts are presented. The Board is
recommending to shareholders the re-appointment of KPMG LLP
as the Company’s auditor for the financial year commencing on

1 October 2022,

Other
Information
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Resolution 12 - Authority to make political donations

The Act requires companies to obtain shareholders’ authority
befare they can make donations to political organisations or incur
political expenses. It is not proposed or intended to alter the
Company's policy of not making political donations, within the
normal meaning of that expression. However, this resolution is
proposed to ensure that the Company and its subsidiaries do not,
because of any uncertainty as 1o the bodies or activities covered
by the Act, unintentionally commiit any technical breach of the
Act by making political donations. Resolution 12, if passed, will
give the Roard autharity to make pelitical donations until the
close of business on 28 December 2022 o, if sconer, the next
AGM of the Company (when the Board intends to renew this
authority), up to an aggregate of £100,000 for the Company

ard its subsidiary companies.

Resolution 13 - Directors’ authority to allot

This resolution deals with the Directors’ autharity to allot Relevant
Securities in accordance with section 551 of the Act. The authority
granted at the last AGM is due 1o expire at the conclusion of this

year's AGM and accordingly it is proposed to renew this authority.

This resolution will, if passed, authorise the Directors to allot
Relevant Securities up to a maximum nominal amount of
£10,341,097, which is equal to approximately one-third of the

issued share capital of the Company as at 14 December 2021 in
accordance with institutional shareholder guidelines. The Directors
have ne present intention of exercising this authonty. The authority
granted by this resolution wll expire on the date 15 months after
the date of this resolution or, if earlier, the date of the next AGM

of the Company.

In this resolution, Relevant Securities means:
{a) sharesinthe Company cther than shares allotted pursuant to:

- an employee share scheme (as defined by section 1166 of
the Act);

- aright to subscribe for shares in the Company where the
grant of the right Jtself constituted a Relevant Security; or

- aright to convert securities into shares in the Company
where the grant of the right itself constituted a Relevant
Security; and

(b} any right 1 subscribe for or to convert any security intc shares
in the Company other than rights to subscribe for or convert
any security into shares allotted pursuant to an employee share
scheme (as defined by section 1166 of the Act). References to
the allotment of Relevant Securities in this resclution include
the grant of such rights.



Avon Protection plc/ Annuai Report and Accounts 2021

Notice of Annual General Meeting continued

Resolution 14 - General disapplication of

pre-emption rights

This resolution will, if passed, give the Directors power, pursuant

to the authority to allot granted by resolution 13, to allot equity
securities (as defined by section 560 of the Act) or sell treasury
shares for cash without first offering them to existing shareholders
in proportion to their existing holdings up to a maximum norninal
amount of £1,551,164 which represents approximately 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital as at 14 December 2021 and renews
the autherity given at the AGM in 2021.

The figure of 5% reflects the Pre-Emption Group 2015 Statement
of Principles for the disapplication of pre-emption rights (the
‘Staternent of Principles’). The Directors will have due regard to the
Statement of Principles in relation 1o any exercise of this power, in
particular they do not intend to allot shares for cash on a non-pre-
emptive basis pursuant to this power in excess of an amount equal
to 7.5% of the total issued ordinary share capital of the Company
in any rolling three-year periad, withaut prior consultation with
shareholders save as permitted in connection with an acquisition
or specified capital nvestment as descrnbed in the notes for
resolution 15.

The power granted by this resolution will expire on the date 15
months after the date of this resolutian or, if earlier, the date of
the next AGM of the Company.

The Directars have no present intention to exercise the authority
conferred by this resolution.

Resolution 15 — Additional disapplication of
pre-emption rights

This resolution seeks a further power pursuant to the authority
granted by resalution 14, to allat equity securities (as defined by
section 560 of the Act) or sell treasury shares for cash without
first offering them to existing shareholders in proportion to their
existing holdings up to a maximum nominal ameunt of £1,551,164
which represents approximately 5% of the Company's issued
share capital as at 14 Decemnber 2021, This is in addition to the

5% referred 1o in resolution 14 above.

The power granted by this resolution will expire on the date 15
manths after the date of this resclution or, if earlier, the date of
the next AGM of the Company.

The Directors will have due regard to tha Statement of Principles

in relation to any exercise of this power and in parucular they
confirm that they intend to use this power only in connection with
a transaction which they have determined to be an acquisition

or other capital investment (of a kind contemplated by the
Statemeni of Principles most recently published prior to the date
of this Notice) which is announced contemporanecusly with

the announcement of the issue, or which has taken place in the
preceding six-month period and is disclosed in the announcement
of the issue.

Resolution 16 — Authority to purchase own shares

This resclution secks authority for the Company to make market
purchases of its own shares and is proposed as a special resolution.
if passed, the resolution gives authority for the Company to
purchase up to 3,102,329 ardinary shares of £1 each, representing
approximately 10% of the Company’s issued share capital as at

14 December 2021

The resolution specifies the minimum and maxirmum prices which
may be paid for any ordinary shares purchased under this authority.
The autharity will expire on the earlier of the date 15 months after
the date of this resolution and the Company's next AGM. The
Company purchased no shares in the period from the last AGM to
14 December 2021 under the existing authonty.

The Directors have no present intention of exercising the authority
o make market purchases; however, the authonty provides the
flexibility to allow them to do so in the future.

The Directors will exercise this authority only when, in the light

of market conditians prevailing at the time, they believe that

the effect of such purchases will be to increase the earnings per
ordinary share having regard to the intent of the guidelines of
institutional investors and that such purchases are in the best
interests of shareholders generally. Other investment opportunitics,
appropriate gearing levels and the overall position of the Company
will be taken into account before deciding upon this course of
action. In the event of any purchase under this autherity, the
Directors would either hold the purchased ordinary shares in
treasury or cancel them.

Bonus and incentive scheme targets for Executive Directors
would not be affected by any enhancement of earnings per share
following a share re-purchase.

As of 14 December 2021, there were options to subscribe
outstanding over 410,609 shares, representing 1.32% of the
Company's 1ssued share capital. If the authority given by resolution
13 were to be fully exercised, these options would represent 147%
of the Company's issued share capital after cancellation of the
re-purchased shares. As of 14 December 2021, there were no
warrants cutstanding over shares.



Resolution 17 — Notice of Meeting

Resolution 17 is a resotution to allow the Company ta hold general
meetings (other than AGMs) an 14 days' notice.

Before the introduction of the Companies (Shareholders’ Rights)
Regulations in August 2009, the Cormpany was able to call general
meetings (other than AGMSs) on 14 clear days’ notice. One of

the amendments that the Companies (Shareholders’ Rights)
Regulations 2009 made 1o the Act was to increase the minimum
nctice pericd for listed company general meetings to 21 days, but
with an ability for companies to reduce this period back to 14 days
{other than for AGMS) provided that.

(i the Company offers facilities for shareholders to vote by
electronic means; and

(i} thereis an annual resolution of shareholders approving the
reduction in the minimum notice period from 21 days to
14 days.

Resolution 17 is therefore proposed as a special resolution to
approve 14 days as the minimum period of notice for all general
meetings of the Company other than AGMs, The approval will be
effective unul the Company’s next AGM, when itis intended that
the approval be renewed. The Company will use this notice period
only when permitted to do so in accordance with the Act and
when the Directors consider it appropriate to do so.

Notice of Meeting notes

The following notes explain your general rights as a shareholder
and your right to attend and vote at this AGM or to appaint
somecne else to vote on your behalf.

1. To be entitled to vote on the business of the AGM (and for the
purpose of the determination by the Company of the number
of votes they may cast), shareholders must be registered in the
Register of Members of the Company by 6:30pm on 26 January
2022. Changes to the Register of Members after the relevant
deadline shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any
person to vote on the business of the AGM.

2. Shareholders are entitled to appoint another person as a proxy
o exercise all or part of their rights to attend and to speak and
vote on their behalf at the AGM. A shareholder may appoint more
than one proxy in relation 10 the AGM provided that each proxy
is appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different crdinary
share cr ordinary shares held by that shareholder. A proxy need
not be a shareholder of the Company. Whilstwe welcome your
attendance this year at the AGM in person, to ensure that your
vote is cast should the attendance arrangements need to change,
the Board strongly encourages you 1o exercise your vote on the
business of the AGM and asks you to complete a proxy formto
appoint the ‘Chair of the Meeting' as your proxy.

3. Inthe case of joint holders, where more than one of the joint-
holders purports to appeint a proxy, only the appointment
submitted by the most senior holder will be accepted. Seniority
is determined by the order in which the names of the Joint
holders appear in the Company’s Register of Members in respect
of the joint holding {the first named being the maost senior).
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A vote withheld is not a vote in law, which means that the vote
will not be counted in the calculation of votes for or against the
resolution. If no voting indication is given, your proxy will vote
or abstain from voting at his or her discretion, Your proxy will
vote (or abstain from voting) as he ar she thinks fitin relation

to any other matter which is put before the AGM.

You can vote either:

by logging on to www.signalshares.com and following
the instructions;

you may request a hard copy form of proxy directly from the
reqistrars, Link Group, on Tel: 0371 664 0300 (+44 371 664 0300
if overseas). Calls are charged at the standard geographical
rate and will vary by provider. Calls outside the United
Kingdom will be charged at the applicable international
rate. Lines are open between 09:00-17:30, Monday to Friday
excluding public holidays in England and Wales; or

in the case of CREST members, by utilising the CREST
electronic proxy appointment service in accordance with
the procedures set out below.

In order for a proxy appointment to be valid, a form of proxy must
be completed. In each case the form of proxy must be received
by Link Group at 10th Floor, Central Square, 29 Wellington Strect,
Leeds, LS1 401 by 10:30am (GMT) on 26 January 2022

6.

If you return more than one proxy appointment, either by
paper or electronic communication, the appointment received
last by the Registrar before the latest time for the receipt of
proxies will take precedence. You are advised to read the terms
and conditions of use carefully. Electronic communication
facilities are open to all shareholders and those who use them
will not be disadvantaged.

CREST members who wish to appeint a proxy or proxies
through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may
do so for the AGM (and any adjournment of the AGM) by using
the procedures described in the CREST Manual (available from
www.euroclearcom/site/public/EUl). CREST Personal Members
or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST
members who have appeinted a service provideris), should
refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who
will be able 10 take the appropriate action on their behalf.

In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made by
means of CREST 1o be valid, the appropriate CREST message

{a 'CREST Proxy Instruction’) must be properly authenticated in
accordance with Euroclear UK. & Ireland Limited's specifications
and must contain the information required for such
instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The message
must be transmitted sc as to be received by the issuer’s agent
(IDRA10) by 10:30am (UK. time) on 26 January 2022, For this
purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to mean the time

{as determined by the timestamp applied to the message

by the CREST application host) from which the issuer’s agent
is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the
manner prescribed by CREST. After this time, any change of
instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be
communicated to the appointee through other means.
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CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors
or voting service providers should note that Euraclear UK. &
Ireland Limited does not make available special procedures

in CREST for any particular message. Normal systemn timings
and Iimitations will, therefare, apply in relation to the inpug of
CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST
member concerned 1o take {or, if the CREST member is a CREST
personal member, or sponsored member, or has appointed a
vOting service provider(s), to procure that their CREST sponsor
or voting service provider(s) take(s) such action as shall be
necessary to ensure that a message 1§ transmitted by means
of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection,
CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors
or voting system providers are referred, in particular, to those
sections of the CREST Manual concerming practical limitations
of the CREST system and timings. The Company may treat

as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances

set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Secunties
Regutations 2001.

. Any corporation which is a shareholder can appoint one or

maore corporate representatives who may exercise on its behalf
all of its powers as a shareholder provided that no more than
one corporate reprasentative exercises powers in refation to
the same shares,

. As at 14 December 2021 (being the latest practicable business

day prior to the publication of this Notice), the Company’s
issued share capital consists of 31,023,292 ordinary shares,
carrying one vote each. Therefore, the total vating rights in
the Company as at 14 December 2021 are 31,023,292,

. Under Section 527 of the Act, shareholders meeting the

threshold reguirements set out in that section have the

right to require the Company to publish on a website a
statement setting out any matter relating to: (i) the audit of

the Company's financial statements (including the Auditor’s
Report and the conduct of the audit) that are to be laid before
the AGM; or (i) any circumstances connected with an auditor
of the Company ceasing 1o hold office since the previous
meeting at which annual financial statements and reports were
laid in accordance with Section 437 of the Act (in each case)
that the shareholders propose to raise at the relevant meeting.
The Company may not require the shareholders requesting any
such website publication to pay Its expenses in complying with
Sections 527 or 528 of the Act. Where the Company is required
o place a statement on a website under Section 527 of the
Act, it must forward the statement to the Company’s auditor
not later than the time when it makes the statement available
on the website. The business which may be dealt with at the
AGM for the relevant financial vear includes any statement that
the Company has been required under Section 527 of the Act
to publish on a website,

13. The following documents are available for inspection from the
date of this Notice until the conclusion of the AGM:

copies of the Directors’ letters of appointment or service
contracts; and
a copy of the current Arricles of Assaciation of the Company.

Due 10 COVID-19, we ask that any persons wishing to inspect these
at the Company's registered office contact the Company Secretary
in advance of their visit.

Scanned copies will also be available on request from the
Company Secretary.

You may not use any electronic address (within the meaning of
Section 333(4) of the Act) provided in either this Notice or any
related documents (including the form of proxy) 1o communicate
with the Company for any purposes other than those

expressly stated,
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Glossary of Financial Terms and Abbreviations

Term Definition
Adjusted basic
earnings per share Adjusted profit for the year divided by the we.ghted average nurnber of shares in issue

Adjusted dividend cover

The ratic of adjusted basic earings per share from continuing operations to the total dividend for

the year
Adjusted EBITDA Adjustea EBITDA 15 defined as adjusted operating profit before depreciation, amarusation and
impalrment of non-current assets. It excludes any effect of discortinued operatons
Adjusted EBITDA margin The ratio of Adjusted EBITDA to revenue

Adjusted operating profit

Operat’'ng profit adjusted to exclude exceptional items

Cash conversion percentage

Closing order book

lhe ratio of cash generated from operations before the effect of exceptional nerns, as a percentage
of adjusted EBITDA

Orders held by the Group at tne end of the year which are not yet fulfilled

Continuing operations

The segments of the Group that are expected to still be operating in the future

Discontinued operations

The segmenits of the Group that no longer function within the core business and which are
separately disclosed within the Income Statement

Dividend cover

The ratio of basic earnings per share from continuing cperations to the total dividend for the year

Dividend pershare

Dividends paid/proposed, divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue

EBITDA

The Group's earnings before charging interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and impairment of
non-current assets

Exceptional Items

Transactions are classified as exceptional items where they relate to an event thar falls outside of the
underlying trading activities of the business and where individually, or in aggregate, they have a material
impact on the financial statemenss

Intellectual Property

Intangible property created by the Group through research and development, that is protected
through patents, copyrights or trademarks

Net debt

Net debt is the Group's drawn bank debt, overdrafts and lease obligations net of any cash

Orders received

The orders received throughout the year and recognised as revenue together with orders in the clesing
order book

Return on capital employed

Adjustec operating profit as a percentage of average capitel employed. Caoital ernployed 's the sum of
shareholders’ funds adjusted for non-current liabilities and current borrowings

Total research and
development as % of revenue

Total expenditure on research and development expressed as a percentage of revenue

Term Explanation

50 Series N Range of masks based on the proven technology of the M50 mask system

BPS . Basis Points

CBRN Chernical, Biolagical, Radiological, Nuclear

CE CE markings indicate conformity to health and safety standards sold within the European Economic Area
DLA Dcfensg Logistics Agency

DOD 7#—_Department of Defense

ESAPI Enhanced Small Arms Protective Insert
ﬂ_ Foreign Exchange

FY Financial Year

GSR ”__ General Service Respirator

H1/H2 o First half of the inancial year Dctober — March)/Second half of financial year (April - September)

IHPS Integrated Head Protecton Systern -

MOD Ministry of Defence

NATO Narth Atlantic Treaty Organization

NIOSH National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health. NIOSH approval indicates conformity to health and

L safety standards of products sold within North America
NSPA The NATO Support and Procurement Agency, the executive body of the NATC Support and Procurement
Organisation (NSPO, of which all 30 NATQ nations are members) _

_?APR Powered Alr Purifying Respirator

RoW Rest of World )

SCBA Self-Contained Breathing Apparatus o _

SWAT Special Weapons and Tactics

vTP Vital Torso‘Protection
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Shareholder Information

Shareholder information

As at 30 November 2021 the Company had 1,368 shareholders,
of which 833 had 1,000 shares or fewer.

Financial calendar

Half year results are usually announced in May and year end results
in November.

in respect of the year ended 30 September 2021 the AGM will be
held on 28 January 2022 at Harnpton Park West, Semington Road,
Melksham, Wiltshire, SN12 6NE, England.

Corporate information
Registered office

Hampton Park West, Semington Road, Melksham, Wiltshire,
SN12 6NB, England.

Registered

In England and Wales No. 32565

VAT No. GB 137 575 643

Board of Directors

Bruce Thompson (Chair and Non-Executive Director)
Paul McDanaild (Chief Executive Officer)

Nick Keveth ({Chief Financial Officer)

Chloe Ponsonby (Non-Executive Directar)

Bindi Foyle (Non-Executive Director)

Victor Chavez CBE {(Non-Executive Directar)

Company secretary

tiles Ingrey-Counter

Auditor
KPMG LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

@ Copynght Avon Protection ple 2021

Registrars and transfer office

Link Group, 10th Flocr, Ceptral Square, 29 Wellington Street, Leeds,
LS1 4DL

Tel: 0371 664 0300 (+44 371 664 0300 if overseas)

{Calls are charged at the standard geographical rate and will vary
by provider, iines are open $:00am-5:30pm, excluding public
holidays in England and Wales).

Financial Advisor
Rothschild & Co

Brokers
Peel Hunt LLP
Jefferies Group LLC

Financial PR

MHP Communications

Lawyer
White & Case LLP

Principal bankers
Barclays Bank PLC
Comerica Inc.
NatWest

Fifth Third

Bank of Ireland

Cic

Website

www.avon-protection-piccom

All Team Wendy product names referenced in this Annual Report
are trademarks of Team Wendy LLC. Team Wendy LLC is part of the
Avon Protection ple group of companies.
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